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Annual Report 2016

2016 saw good sales momentum
across Pharmaceuticals, Vaccines
and Consumer Healthcare

and further pipeline progress



We are a global science-led
healthcare company.

Our three world-leading businesses
research and deliver innovative
medicines, vaccines and consumer
healthcare products.

Front cover case study

- At GSK, innovation underpins each of our three businesses

We are using next generation technology
to develop new approaches to disease
management and control. In addition to

return on R&D investment and accelerate
the development of new products that can
improve patients’ lives.

our own research and development,
— we gain insights through our network of
collaborations with biotechs, other

¥ companies and academic institutions.

; f This enables more efficient trial design
? and greater use of software, analytics and

L . new technology, all of which is helping to
i increase our productivity, maximise our

=

We have an active pipeline of innovative
products across six core areas: respiratory,
HIV and infectious diseases, vaccines,
immuno-inflammation, oncology and

rare diseases.

Arthur works at our Upper Providence R&D lab

Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements

The Group’s reports filed with or furnished to the US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), including this document and written information released, or oral statements
made, to the public in the future by or on behalf of the Group, may contain forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements give the Group's current expectations or
forecasts of future events. An investor can identify these statements by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. They use words such as ‘anticipate’,
‘estimate’, ‘expect’, ‘intend, ‘will', ‘project’, ‘plan’, ‘believe’ and other words and terms of similar meaning in connection with any discussion of future operating or financial
performance. In particular, these include statements relating to future actions, prospective products or product approvals, future performance or results of current and
anticipated products, sales efforts, expenses, the outcome of contingencies such as legal proceedings, and financial results. Other than in accordance with its legal or regulatory
obligations (including under the UK Listing Rules and the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority), the Group undertakes no obligation to update
any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

The reader should, however, consult any additional disclosures that the Group may make in any documents which it publishes and/or files with the SEC. All readers, wherever
located, should take note of these disclosures. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that any particular expectation will be met and shareholders and investors are cautioned
not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements are subject to assumptions, inherent risks and uncertainties, many of which relate to factors that are beyond the Group's control or precise
estimate. The Group cautions investors that a number of important factors, including those in this document, could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed
or implied in any forward-looking statement. Such factors include, but are not limited to, those discussed under ‘Principal risks and uncertainties' on pages 253-262 of this
Annual Report. Any forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of the Group speak only as of the date they are made and are based upon the knowledge of and
information available to the Directors on the date of this Annual Report.

All expectations and targets regarding future performance should also be read together with ‘Assumptions related to 2016-2020 outlook’ on the inside back cover of this
document.

A number of adjusted measures are used to report the performance of our business. These measures are defined on page 57 and a reconciliation of core results to total results
is set out on page 66.
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2016 performance summary

£279bn

Group turnover
(up 17% AER; 6% CER;
5% pro-forma CER)?

£4 5bn

New Pharmaceutical
and Vaccine sales®
(up >100% AER; >100% CER)?

£2.66n

Total operating profit
(down 75% AER; 86% CER)2¢

£7.8bn

Core operating profit
(up 36% AER; 14% CER;
17% pro-forma CER)?

18.8p

Total earnings per share
(down 89% AER; 99% CER)°

1024p

Core earnings per share
(up 35% AER; 129% CER)?

£6.5mn

Net cash inflow from
operating activities

£3.1bn

Free cash flow?®

£3.9bn

Dividends declared
for 2016

20-30

Assets with data expected
by end of 2018

Delivering sustainable performance

@9 1st in the Access
to Medicine Index

since launch in 2008

Footnotes

3rd in the
pharmaceutical sector

for Dow Jones Sustainability Index

a AER growth rates represent growth at actual exchange rates. We use a number of adjusted, non-IFRS,

measures to report the performance of our business, as described on page 57, including core results,
free cash flow and CER and pro-forma growth rates. These measures are used by management for
planning and reporting purposes and may not be directly comparable with similarly described measures
used by other companies. Core results exclude a number of items and are presented as management
believes that core results allow the key trends and factors driving that performance to be more easily
and clearly identified by shareholders. Non-IFRS measures may be considered in addition to, but not
as a substitute for or superior to, information presented in accordance with IFRS. A reconciliation

of total results to core results is set out on page 66.

New products defined as:

Pharmaceuticals: Relvar/Breo Ellipta, Incruse Ellipta, Anoro Ellipta, Arnuity Ellipta, Eperzan/Tanzeum,
Nucala, Tivicay, Triumeq.

Vaccines: Menveo, Bexsero, Shingrix (not yet approved).

Primarily reflecting impact of £9.2 billion profit in 2015 from disposal of Oncology business.
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About us

At GSK, our mission
is to improve the
quality of human life
by enabling people

to do more, feel better
and live longer.

Footnote

a We use a number of adjusted, non-IFRS, measures to
report the performance of our business, as described on
page 57 including core results, free cash flow and CER
and pro-forma growth rates. Non-IFRS measures may be
considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for or

superior to, information presented in accordance with IFRS.

Three world-leading businesses

Our Pharmaceuticals, Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare
businesses generated combined turnover of £27.9 billion in 2016.
Each business benefits from our global commercial infrastructure,
integrated supply networks and innovative R&D.

mE 6 2
99,300 150+ 87

Number of employees Number of markets Manufacturing sites

R&D innovation underpins each of our businesses c-

In 2016, we invested £3.6 billion in R&D across our three
businesses. External partnerships and collaborations
enable us to develop and access knowledge, and increase
our understanding in new areas of science.

We focus our research across six core areas and are using
next generation technology to develop new approaches
to disease management and control.

o Respiratory diseases HIV/infectious diseases @ Vaccines

@ Immuno-inflammation @ Oncology @ Rare diseases

Efficient global operating model

We are focused on optimising our operations through restructuring,
investment and modernisation to improve profitability and efficiency.

£14on O.39% 279%

Incremental annual Total operating profit Core operating profit
savings delivered in 2016  margin in 2016 margin in 20162
(including £0.2 billion

currency benefit)
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Pharmaceuticals

Vaccines Q

Consumer &
Healthcare ‘/

Our Pharmaceuticals business
discovers, develops and
commercialises medicines to
treat a range of acute and chronic
diseases. We have a broad portfolio
of innovative and established
medicines in respiratory and HIV,
in which we are global leaders.
We focus our research across
respiratory, HIV and infectious
diseases, immuno-inflammation,
oncology and rare diseases.

G Read more on pages 20 to 27

Top three categories by sales £m
Respiratory 6,510
HIV 3,556
Established products 2,541
£16.1bn

Turnover

% of Group turnover

58%

2bn

packs of medicines
produced in 2016

Our Vaccines business has the
broadest portfolio of any company,
with vaccines for people of all

ages — from babies and adolescents
to adults and older people. We
deliver over two million vaccine
doses per day to people living

in over 160 countries.

@ Read more on pages 28 to 33

Top three categories by sales £m
Infanrix/Pediarix 769
Hepatitis 602
Meningitis 592
£4 6bn

Turnover

% of Group turnover

16% N

833m

vaccines delivered
in 2016

Our Consumer Healthcare business
develops and markets products

in Wellness, Oral health, Nutrition
and Skin health categories. Our
seven global power brands — Otrivin,
Panadol, parodontax, Poligrip,
Sensodyne, Theraflu and Voltaren,
include some of the most trusted
and best-selling brands in the world.

G Read more on pages 34 to 39

Sales by category £m
Wellness 3,726
Oral health 2,223
Nutrition 674
Skin health 570
£77.2bn

Turnover

% of Group turnover

26%

5bn

Consumer Healthcare products
produced in 2016
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Chairman’s statement

GSK made further
progress during 2016.
Operating performance
significantly improved
and there was continued
progress in the R&D
pipeline.

. J

Read more

Governance report © seepage 50

Our Corporate Governance report sets out our
corporate governance practices and includes the
reports of our Board Committees.

Remuneration @ See page 112

Our Remuneration report sets out our
remuneration arrangements for Executive and
Non-Executive Directors and includes our new
Remuneration policy for 2017.

Diversity statement @ See page 96
Our Board's Diversity policy, including gender,
sets out measurable objectives which our

Nominations Committee monitors and reports
progress towards their achievement.

Viability statement @ See page 56

Our Viability statement sets out our assessment of
the prospects of the Group over the next
three years.

| am pleased to report that GSK made
further good progress during 2016.
Operating performance significantly
improved in our three businesses and there
was continued progress in the late and early
stage R&D pipeline. In every important area,
it has been a year of solid achievement.

2016 performance

Management continues to make strong
progress in driving the sales and cost
benefits from the integration of the Novartis
businesses in Vaccines and Consumer
Healthcare. These businesses have been
transformed through the transaction and are
now true global leaders in their respective
markets, well positioned strategically and
improving financially.

In Pharmaceuticals, new product sales

have shown very good momentum,
particularly in HIV and Respiratory. New
products now make up around a quarter of
total pharmaceutical sales. This is important
given the pricing pressure faced generally by
pharmaceutical companies and the potential
introduction of generic competition to Advair
— for many years the Group’s biggest single
source of profits — in the US during 2017.

The Group's improved operational
performance also contributed to markedly
increased cash generation. Operational
cash flow also benefited strongly from
the devaluation of Sterling following the
Brexit vote in June, although the value

of non-sterling liabilities for debt funding
and contingent consideration, has also
increased.

Ordinary dividends of 80p per share have
been declared for 2016, the same level as
2015. The company expects to maintain the
same payment in 2017, in accordance with
the statements made in 2015. This level of
distribution still exceeds the free cash flow
generated by the business despite the
material improvement in cash generated

in 2016 referred to above. Given that 2017
is the last year of the three year dividend
commitment made in 2015, the Board will
be considering the appropriate dividend
policy for 2018 and beyond during the
course of the year.

CEO succession

A key area of focus for the Board through
2016 has been to manage the CEO
succession as Sir Andrew steps down
after 33 years with the company and into

a tenth year as CEO. The Board conducted
a thorough, global search for a successor,
which included internal and external
candidates.

The Board was unanimous in its decision to
appoint Emma Walmsley, previously Head
of GSK's Consumer Healthcare business,
as the new CEO. Emma has very strong
leadership skills and a clear track record of
delivery on performance. The Board believe
Emma will bring new thinking to how the
Group operates in today’s healthcare
environment, whilst at the same time
harnessing the momentum evident in
current performance.

| want to thank Sir Andrew again for his
dedicated service to GSK. Through his
commitment and leadership GSK has built
a balanced set of businesses with fine
prospects and delivered very significant
rewards to shareholders with substantial
cash returns. He has also led efforts to
address the most pressing concerns the
industry faces, ranging from reforming our
commercial model, increasing transparency
of trial results, and ensuring medicines are
priced more fairly and made more accessible
to patients worldwide. He will be much
missed within GSK and we wish him well in
his future endeavours.

Board changes during the year

We continue to refresh the Board. In 2016
we welcomed two new Non-Executive
Directors: Dr Jesse Goodman and

Dr Vivienne Cox. Jesse is Professor of
Medicine at Georgetown University and a
leader in public health, and Vivienne brings
many years experience in complex global
manufacturing organisations. Meanwhile,
Stacey Cartwright stepped down from the
Board at the end of December. My thanks go
to Stacey for nearly six years of dedicated
service to the Board.

As we enter a critical period of pipeline
activity, we have reflected this on the Board
with the creation of a new Board Science
Committee, chaired by Dr Goodman. In
addition, Dr Patrick Vallance, President R&D,
has joined the Board. Later this year, Moncef
Slaoui will step down from the Board after
28 years with the company. Moncef is a
scientist of global repute and has been a
remarkable presence at GSK, particularly

in the Vaccines business. We wish him,

too, well in the future.

In closing, | would like to thank all GSK's
employees and partners for their hard
work and dedication. The business has
outstanding people and they have made
2016 a very successful year.

AP et

Philip Hampton
Chairman
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CEQ’s statement
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~ T'he Group executed strongly in 2016,
delivering sales growth across all three
businesses, remaining disciplined on
costs and progressing our pipeline of
innovative products.

Trading performance

Group sales rose 17% at actual rates,

6% CER (5% pro-forma) to £27.9 billion,
despite the uncertainty and volatility
experienced globally in 2016. Total earnings
per share was 18.8p (down 89% at actual
GSK performed Strongly rates, 99% CER), primarily reflecting

; ; comparisons with the £9.2 billion profit
mn 2016’ with gOOd SaleS in 2015 from the disposal of the marketed

gl‘owth across all three Oncology assets. Core earnings per share
. was 102.4p® — a 12% CER increase — and
bU.SlnesseS, excellent new at the top end of our guidance for the year.

pTOdUCt momentum and We saw growth across all three of
. . the Group's businesses in 2016, with
further plpehne PIogress. a particulzr contribution from new
\_ ) Pharmaceuticals and Vaccine products.
Sales from this portfolio more than doubled
to £4.5 billion and in Pharmaceuticals,
new products accounted for 24% of sales.

HIV products, Tivicay and Triumeq, continued
to be the standout products with sales of
£2.7 billion, while our new respiratory
products — Relvar/Breo, Anoro, Incruse,
Arnuity and Nucala — also grew strongly

as did our meningitis vaccines, Bexsero and
Menveo. We expect the momentum in this
group of products to continue through 2017.

Our Consumer Healthcare business
performed strongly, with sales up 19%

at actual rates, 9% CER (5% pro-forma)
to £7.2 billion, driven by power brands
such as Sensodyne, Voltaren and Panadol
as well as growth from Flonase which

we switched from prescription to
over-the-counter.

Strong R&D innovation pipeline

We filed four assets with regulators in
2016 which, if approved, have the potential
to drive further growth in the business,
including Shingrix, our candidate vaccine
for shingles and our once-daily Closed
Triple therapy for COPD. In addition, we
also started a number of phase lll trials for
assets in HIV, respiratory and anaemia.

Footnote

a We use a number of adjusted, non-IFRS, measures to
report the performance of our business, as described on
page 57, including core results, free cash flow and CER
and pro-forma growth rates. Non-IFRS measures may be
considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for or
superior to, information presented in accordance with IFRS.

Investment in our R&D organisation
continues to deliver significant innovation.
For example, 2016 saw the European
approval of Strimvelis, our first of its kind
gene therapy for children with the very rare
condition ADA-SCID. This remarkable
technology has the potential to be a platform
for a number of other gene therapies.

The next two years will be an exciting time
for our R&D organisation, with key research
data on 20-30 assets due by the end

of 2018.

Delivering performance responsibly

GSK has a strong commitment to operating
responsibly and playing our part in meeting
some of society’s biggest healthcare
challenges.

In 2016, we took further industry-leading
steps by stopping all payments to healthcare
professionals to speak about our medicines
to other prescribers, and offered essential
vaccines at our lowest price to organisations
supporting refugees in acute need. We

also introduced a new approach to filing

and enforcing patents and IP based on a
country's economic maturity, and are working
with partners to help the world better prepare
for future epidemics such as Ebola and Zika.

| was very pleased that our efforts to
operate as a values-based company
were recognised when we came first
in the Access to Medicine Index for the
fifth consecutive time.

Outlook

The progress in 2016 highlights the
investments we have made in the Group
over the last several years to build scale
and sustainability as well as develop new
products. | expect the Group to make
continued progress in 2017 and, as we
enter a new period of leadership for the
company, | believe GSK is well positioned
to deliver long-term performance for
shareholders.

Finally, as this is my last annual report
before | retire, | would like to thank all our
employees, partners and shareholders

for their support during my time as CEO.
GSK is a very special company that touches
people’s lives across the world and which

| have been enormously privileged to lead.

o

Sir Andrew Witty
Chief Executive Officer
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By understanding our.operating environment and having
a clear strategy, against which we measure performance
and manage risks, we deliver long-term value for
shareholders and society:

The market in which we operate Our business model

We operate in a growing marketplace and our strategy R&D underpins our three businesses and we prioritise our investments
is designed to respond to the challenges and opportunities to where we see the most potential to develop innovative products for
in our sector. unmet medical needs.

o Demographic ]
change Pharmaceuticals
Changing political Vaccines
landscape
) Consumer Healthcare
o Increasing payer
emphasis on cost,
value and access
® Increased jeloJe)
expectations
of businesses
Technological
and scientific

—- advances

Commercialisation
Manufacturing and distribution

@ Read more on page 8 @ Read more on page 12
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A clear strategy for growth > How we measure success How we manage risks

Our strategic priorities provide a framework We assess our performance against We manage a number of current and

to create long-term value for shareholders a set of financial and non-financial emerging risks. Below, our Principal Risks

and society. measures, many of which form the are mapped against the primary strategic
basis of our executive remuneration. priority they are most likely to impact.

— Turnover growth
GrOW — Growth of earnings per share

Grow a balanced business and
product portfolio, centred on our
three global businesses.

— New Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines Product quality

Delivel‘ ‘é‘ pI’OdUCt performance ..R.;.S..e.;':;:.h...r;;.a.;i.léé; ......................................

DelIVeI’ more prOdUCtS Of Value tO ......................................................................
offer improved treatment for patients,
consumers and healthcare providers.

Operating profit and margin Financial control and reporting

Free cash flow Information protection

Simplify

!

Dividends declared
Net debt

Simplify the way we operate to reduce
complexity, increase efficiency and free
up resources to reinvest in the business
or return to shareholders, wherever we
see the most attractive returns.

Access to Medicine Index Patient safety

Responsible business

Dow Jones Sustainability Index Anti-bribery and Corruption

Environment, Health and Safety
Being a responsible business, and Sustainability

ashow we deliver success is as e s
important as the results we achieve.

@ Read more on page 14 @ Read more on page 16
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We operate in a growing marketplace and
our strategy is designed to respond to the
challenges and opportunities we face.

The market in which we operate

1.4bn /60%

By 2030, the world’s

population of people of the world’s population will
aged 60+ will be 1.4 billion® live in urban areas
by 2030¢

b

of the global population has
access to a mobile phone? 6 6 0/0

of the global middle class

0 will reside in Asia-Pacific
0 onmf

of global youth resides in
developing countries®

J

Future State 2030: The global megatrends shaping government. KPMG
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Our business model

)

> A clear strategy for growth > How we measure success > How we manage risks

In 2016, the global
healthcare market
continued to grow
against a backdrop

of a challenging global
economic environment.

Gilobal pharmaceutical sales were

£648 billion on a 12 month rolling

basis (September 2015-2016), up from
£605 billion during the equivalent period
(September 2014-2015). North America
remained the largest pharmaceuticals
market with a 50% share of global sales.
Europe represented 21%, Asia Pacific
(including Japan) was 21% and emerging
markets was 8%.°

Global vaccine sales totalled ~£18 billion
in 2016 and are expected to grow 5%
annually by 2022.¢

The consumer healthcare markets in which
GSK operates account for approximately
$70 billion, and are projected to grow
3-49% annually over the next five years.?

Societal trends supported market growth,
but are also contributing to challenges in
the healthcare sector, particularly on price
and affordability.

Demographic change

The world population continues to grow
and, according to the United Nations,

is predicted to reach 8.5 billion by 2030.
The proportion of elderly people is growing
and the number of people over the age

of 60 is expected to reach 1.4 billion by
2030.¢ At the same time, developing
countries are experiencing growth in their
middle classes, and by 2030 it is expected
that 60% of the world’s population will be
middle class.

In emerging markets, long-term economic
growth, increasing expectations of
healthcare provision, and changing diets
and lifestyles are increasing demand for
healthcare products, especially to treat
chronic conditions including respiratory
and cardiovascular disease. This demand
is expected to grow significantly faster in
these markets over the coming years than
in more mature economies.

In developed economies, demand for
healthcare provision continues to remain
high, although the dynamics are becoming
more complex. Trends such as higher life
expectancy are contributing towards the
increasing proportion of elderly people,
and along with improvements in medical
technology, are putting pressure on
healthcare budgets.

The changing global political landscape
Shifting attitudes to globalisation and

free trade, wage stagnation for many and
concerns about inequality are causing
significant volatility and uncertainty in
western markets.

2016 was characterised by political
uncertainty and this was exemplified

by the vote to leave the EU in the UK and
the result of the US Presidential Election.
Political uncertainty in Europe is expected
to continue in 2017 with national elections
in France and Germany.

In the US there is also uncertainty as

to how the new administration will shape
healthcare, particularly with respect to
repealing and replacing the Affordable
Care Act, prescription drug pricing and
regulation. This is coupled with questions
over the impact of the new administration’s
economic, tax and trade policies.

In the UK, it remains unclear how Brexit
will affect the country’s trading relationships,
corporate taxation policy, the movement

of people, and regulatory affairs.

Footnotes

a  World Population Ageing 2015 Highlights.
United Nations.

b IMS data (latest available at time of publishing).
Internal data and EvaluatePharma, World
Preview 2016.

d Internal forecasts based on Nicholas Hall
and Euromonitor.

e World Population Ageing 2015 Highlights.
United Nations.

f  Future State 2030: The global megatrends
shaping government. KPMG.
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The market in which we operate continued

Our strategy to create
a balanced business
and product portfolio
positions us well for
the changes in our
marketplace.

Increasing payer emphasis on cost,
value and access

Demographic changes are contributing
to increased demand for healthcare and
in turn putting pressure on government
budgets and payers. This has led to
continued focus on, and public debate
about, the industry’s approach to drug
pricing across all key markets.

In the US the ultimately unsuccessful
Proposition 61 vote, which called for
medicine price controls in California,

was the first of several drug pricing ballot
initiatives expected in the US. There has
also been increasing use of healthcare
technology assessments to consider
value for money as well as medical efficacy,
by government-appointed bodies like the
UK's National Institute for Health and Care
Excellence and Australia's Pharmaceutical
Benefits Advisory Committee.

As demand for healthcare in emerging
markets rises, governments are continuing
to reform healthcare systems to support
access. In China, the government continues
to work to realise the goals set out in the
Healthy China 2030 plan, with significant
measures taken during the year to reduce
pharmaceutical prices through the National
Price Negotiations.

During the year, the UN's High-Level Panel
on Access to Medicines report, reiterated
the rights of countries to issue compulsory
licences to access cheaper supplies of
generic drugs.

We expect the political and public scrutiny
on pricing to continue.

Technological and scientific advances

Key advances in the understanding of
human biology and genomics are leading

to fundamental changes in how we research
diseases, and the pharmaceutical industry’s
ability to develop treatments specifically

to tackle them with innovative treatment
approaches has increased substantially

in recent years. Alongside these scientific
advances, digital technology and data
analytics are enabling researchers to explore
and interpret larger volumes of biological
data from genomics and disease biology
than ever before. This is providing
opportunities to increase the speed and
efficiency of drug discovery and the
development of novel therapies that could
transform how diseases are managed.

Increasing expectations of companies
Beyond our sector-specific context, where
value, cost and affordability are so important,
society has increasing and changing
expectations of companies, particularly

of large global companies. Stakeholders

— from employees to consumers to policy
makers and influencers — expect companies
to behave with integrity and fairness; operate
transparently; be connected to their local
communities; and play their part in
addressing global challenges from health
epidemics to climate change. Responding

to this requires strong partnership and
connectivity between public and private
sector organisations.
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Our business model > A clear strategy for growth > How we measure success > How we manage risks

)

Our strategic response

Three world—leading GSKis weII_ positioned to take adva_lntage _of demographio-led de_mand for new innovative *
busi products with our three world-leading businesses in Pharmaceuticals, Vaccines and :
USINESSES, Consumer Healthcare, and our global presence in more than 150 markets. For example,
underpinned in emerging markets, where significant demographic changes and societal trends are
; ; increasing demand for healthcare, our Pharmaceuticals business sells 47% more volume
by innovative R&D than our nearest competitor. In emerging markets, we sell 70% of our vaccines, and the
region represents one-third of our Consumer Healthcare business.

0 Our strategy to create three balanced businesses helps mitigate risk because we can
access growth opportunities around the world and navigate changes both in our portfolio
and the challenges we face in today’s operating environment.

A global company As a global company, we understand the benefits of free trade and globalisation but also the i
. L importance of companies like ours having a significant local presence in the communities in :

with a SIgmﬁcant which we operate. We have a large global footprint and can make an important contribution to

local presence the markets in which we operate in, for example, through the tax we pay and the jobs we create.

Engaging with government, both directly and through industry trade bodies such as ABPI and
BIA, is an important way we can inform policy that will impact our sector. For example, through
the UK EU Life Sciences Steering Group, GSK is working closely with our peers and the UK
government to address the needs of our industry during the EU exit negotiations. Overall, we
continue to believe that Brexit will not cause a material impact on our financial position in the
long term, but may cause some disruption over the short-term.

Global and Our strategy to focus on pricing our products at a level that provides attractive volume expansion
. opportunities means we are able to access patients and consumers around the world.
sustainable . -
.. We understand payer and patient concerns about the affordability of healthcare, and we are
pricmg leading efforts to develop sustainable solutions. Our equitable pricing strategy for medicines

and vaccines is based on the country, disease area, product type and the patient’s ability to pay.
In the US, we have launched our six newest products priced similar to or below those of the
medicines we aim to replace. We are also pioneering efforts to show the impact our medicines
can have in real-world clinical practice settings.

As a research-based company, we rely on the protection of patents, regulatory data exclusivity,
and other rights, to ensure a reasonable return on our investment. However, we recognise the

@ need for a flexible approach to patent protection. In 2016, we expanded our current approach
to filing and enforcing patents by opting not to file for patent protection in least-developed and
low-income countries and by granting licences to generic manufacturers to supply versions of
our medicines in lower middle income countries (other than G20 countries).

Leadmg responsible Being a responsible business is fundamental to GSK. We understand that society requires

business approach busine_sses to beha\_/e with integrity. How we operate !s.as imp_or_tant as the financial results
we deliver: we lead industry efforts on access to medicines; clinical trial data transparency;
&.) and the fight against anti-microbial resistance. In evolving our commercial model to ensure
patients’ interests come first, we no longer pay healthcare professionals to speak on our behalf.
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R&D underpins our three businesses and we prioritise
our investments to where we see the most potential to
develop innovative products for unmet medical needs.

The market in which > Our business model
we operate

Our resources How we create value

Strong R&D Across three world-
People and culture innovation... leading businesses...

Almost 100,000 employees
bring expertise and our values
to everything they do.

Pharmaceuticals

Financial capital
Earnings, cash flow and access
to capital markets allow us to
invest in our business. Vaccines

Collaborations
and partnerships

1,500 R&D partnerships and Consumer o,
collaborations with academic Healthcare
institutions, biotechs, NGOs and »

other companies bring important
insights to our innovation.

Suppliers
Suppliers provide essential
services and materials.
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A clear strategy for growth > How we measure success > How we manage risks

The value we create

With an efficient
global operating model... For shareholders 9 9 % 1 2%

— We aim to deliver sustainable
earnings growth

2016 total 2016 core
EPS growth* EPS growth?

* Primarily reflecting comparison with £9.2bn profit p

in 2015 from disposal of marketed Oncology assets 2016 dividend

For patients and consumers 833m

— Increased access to quality products
which enable people to do more, doses of vaccines
feel better and live longer produced in 2016

— Dividends

Manufacturing

Commercialisation :
For societ
and distribution o Y Eogbn

— Healthier communities
. — . 2016 tax cha
o 6] ®0 — Economic contribution through jobs B

and taxation EZ 10m

donated to local communities
through product donations, time
and cash

For employees 7 5 )
— An environment where they feel valued countries

As part of the global roll-out,
100,000 employees and family
members in 75 countries

now have access to our
ground-breaking preventive
healthcare programme

/

Footnote

a We use a number of adjusted, non-IFRS, measures to report the performance of our
business, as described on page 57, including core results, free cash flow and CER and
pro-forma growth rates. Non-IFRS measures may be considered in addition to, but not
as a substitute for or superior to, information presented in accordance with IFRS.
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Our strategic priorities provide a framework to
create long-term value for shareholders and society.

The market in which > Our business model A clear strategy for growth
we operate
Strategic priorities Progress in 2016

Grow @

Grow a balanced business and
product portfolio, centred on our
three global businesses.

Deliver more products of value to
offer improved treatment for patients,
consumers and healthcare providers.

Simplify @

Simplify the way we operate to reduce
complexity, increase efficiency and free
up resources to reinvest in the business
or return to shareholders, wherever we
see the most attractive returns.

Responsible business

Being a responsible business, as how
we deliver success is as important as
the results we achieve.

— Gilobal sales: £27.9 billion, up 17%
AER; 6% CER; 5% pro-forma CER

— New Pharmaceutical and Vaccine
product sales were £4.5 billion,
up >100% AER; >100% CER

— Consumer Healthcare sales were
£7.2 billion (up 19% AER; 9% CER;
5% pro-forma CER), with strong
contributions from power brands

18.8p

Total earnings per share
(down 89% AER; 99% CER)

1024

Core earnings per share
(up 35% AER; 129% CER)?

2 2%

New Pharmaceutical and
Vaccine product sales

— Four filings with regulators, including
Shingrix candidate vaccine and
Closed Triple

— EU approval for Strimvelis, the
first gene therapy for rare disease
(ADA-SCID)

— 13% of Consumer Healthcare
innovation sales from products
launched in the last three years

4

filings with regulators
in 2016

— Improved core operating leverage
across all three businesses

— Incremental annual cost savings
of £1.4 billion delivered (including
£0.2 billion currency benefit)

— Continued to roll out new global
systems and standardisation
of our processes

9.3%

Total operating profit margin

2 7.9%

Core operating profit margin
(up 2.6 percentage points
pro-forma CER)?

— Expanded graduated approach
to patents and IP to widen access
to medicines

— Committed to supply essential
vaccines at the lowest price to civil
society organisations for refugees

— EMA approval for chlorhexedine,
our antiseptic gel for newborn
umbilical cord infections in
developing countries

Footnote

st

in the Access to
Medicine Index

Srd

in our sector for Dow Jones
Sustainability Index

a We use a number of adjusted, non-IFRS, measures to report the performance of our business,
as described on page 57, including core results, free cash flow and CER and pro-forma growth rates.
Non-IFRS measures may be considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for or superior to,

information presented in accordance with IFRS.
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How we measure success > How we manage risks

Key challenges in 2016

— Continued pricing pressure
in the US and Europe

— Volatility and slowing emerging
market economies

Key priorities in 2017

-

"

— Deliver our 2017 guidance

— Drive sales and market growth for respiratory,

HIV, meningitis vaccines, and power brands

— Progress the four regulatory filings made in

2016 and launch successfully if approved

— Manage impact of possible generic competition

to Advair in the US

— Continued prioritisation of
the pipeline and appropriate
deployment of resources

- Increasing global demand
for vaccines and complex
manufacturing process
leading to supply pressures

— Deliver key data on 20-30 assets by the

end of 2018 and manage prioritisation of
capital allocation

— Continue to improve efficiency and capacity

of supply chain for new and existing products

— Integration of reporting
systems and processes
following Novartis transaction

— Continue to roll out new global systems and
standardisation processes

— Continue to focus on improving cash conversion
and management of working capital

— Continue to optimise capital expenditure

— Responding to stakeholder
concerns on affordability
and access

— Continue to strengthen
values-based culture

— Ensure sustainable funding for biopreparedness
organisation to enhance preparedness against
future epidemics

— Embed flexible approach to IP and patent protection
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We assess our performance against a set of financial
and non-financial metrics, many of which form the
basis of our executive remuneration.

The market in which > Our business model > A clear strategy for growth > How we measure
we operate

Success

Growth CER %
Reported Pro-forma

£279 o
.Jbn

2015 142 3.7 [Xe] £23.9bn 6 1

2016 16.1 4.6 3 £27.9bn 6 5

Group turnover

2014 2015 2016
Growth CER% Reported  Pro-forma Reported Pro-forma
Pharmaceuticals (5)2 (7) (1) 3 4
Vaccines 1) 19 3 14 12
Consumer Healthcare (1)2 44 6 9 5
New Pharmaceutical and Vaccine product performance® ®
Growth CER %
E q 5b 2014 0.4 >100
° n 2015 2.0 >100
. . . Growth CER %
Operatlng pl’OfIt and margin ® H Total Core m
2014 15.6% (40)
Total EZ 6bn 6.6 28.7% (6)?
: 2015 _ 10.3FEALA >100
5.7 23.9% 9 ®
Core? 2016 T o
7 b 9.3% (86)
. 1} 27.9% 14 17
. Growth
Earnings per share W Total Core £% CER%
2014 49) | (40)
Total
Ota 18 8p ‘ el (12: ()
: 2015 >100 | >100
75.7 (21) (15)

Core? 102 . 4p 2016 18.8 - (gg) (?g)
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How we manage risks

Free cash flow* @

Growth £ %
£3] -
‘ N 2015  (0.2) 2.5¢ n/a
Dividends declared M Dividends
ES 9 2014
° n 2015 1.0
2016
Net debt
E 1 3 8 2014 14.4
¢ M 2015 10.7
2016 138

Access to Medicine Index ranking

1st

We have been first since the
index began in 2008

@ See page 43 for more information

Dow Jones Sustainability Index ranking

3rd

in the pharmaceutical industry

(2016: 95th percentile 2015: 89th percentile, 2014:

98th percentile)

@ See page 43 for more information

Key ® The remuneration of our executives is linked to the key indicators marked. See page 119.

Footnotes
a  Excluding divestments completed in 2013.
b New products defined as:

Pharmaceuticals: Relvar/Breo Ellipta, Anoro Ellipta, Incruse Ellipta, Arnutiy Ellipta, Eperzan/Tanzeum, Nucala, Tivicay, Triumeq.

Vaccines: Menveo, Bexsero, Shingrix (not yet approved).

¢ 2015 includes special dividend.

d  We use a number of adjusted, non-IFRS, measures to report the performance of our business, as described on page 57, including core results, free cash flow and CER
and pro-forma growth rates. Non-IFRS measures may be considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for or superior to, information presented in accordance with IFRS.

e  Free cash flow excluding payments for legal costs, restructuring, tax on the Oncology disposal and the purchase of HIV clinical assets which are treated as

intangible asset purchases.
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We manage current and emerging risks that may
impact our strategic priorities through rigorous and
consistent risk management processes.

The market in which > Our business model > A clear strategy for growth > How we measure success >
we operate
Our principal risks are regularly reviewed Principal risk and description
by the Corporate EXECULIVE TEAM 10 QSSESS ceeeeerrreeeettmniiiimiiieeetitieeetettiee ettt e eettt i ieeetttaeeerasaeeestaseeeestssseeernrsseeerrnssseesrsssseesntsseeeenssssessssieeeesnsssseessnsssneessnnnes
whether they are reflective of the most Patient safety
significant risks facing the organisation, Failure to appropriately collect, review, follow up, or report adverse events from
based on evolving internal and external all potential sources, and to act on any relevant findings in a timely manner.
factors. The table opposite lists the
principal risks that were managed across Intellectual property

the Group in 2016. It also includes our
definition of each risk and our assessment
of any change in the risk during the year,
both at a macro level and after GSK's
mitigating activities. Product quality

Failure to comply with current Good Manufacturing Practices (cGMP) or inadequate

controls and governance of quality in the supply chain covering supplier standards,
manufacturing and distribution of products.

Failure to appropriately secure, maintain and enforce intellectual property rights.

Financial controls and reporting

Failure to comply with current tax law or incurring significant losses due to treasury
activities; failure to report accurate financial information in compliance with accounting
standards and applicable legislation; failure to maintain adequate governance and oversight
over third-party relationships.

Anti-bribery and Corruption

Failure of GSK employees, consultants and third parties to comply with our
Anti-bribery and Corruption (ABAC) principles and standards, as well as all
applicable legislation.

Commercialisation

Failure to execute business strategies, or effectively manage competitive
opportunities and threats in accordance with the letter and spirit of legal,
industry or the Group's requirements.

Research practices

Failure to adequately conduct ethical and sound pre-clinical and clinical research.

In addition, failure to engage in scientific activities that are consistent with the letter and
spirit of the law and industry, or the Group's requirements.

Environment, Health and Safety and Sustainability

Failure to manage Environment, Health and Safety and Sustainability (EHS&S) risks
in line with our objectives and policies and with relevant laws and regulations.

Arrows key

T Increased risk

= No change to risk Information protection
The risk to GSK business activities if information becomes disclosed to those not
V' Decreased risk authorised to see it, or if information or systems fail to be available or are corrupted.

Supply continuity and crisis management
Failure to deliver a continuous supply of compliant finished product; inability to respond
For more extensive information on GSK risks, effectively to a crisis incident in a timely manner to recover and sustain
@ including risk impact and mitigating activities, critical operations. This risk was previously called Crisis and continuity management.
see pages 253 to 262.

See page 56 for our viability statement.
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How we manage risks

M GSK
201 6 assessment enav(i:rlgnment post rﬁﬁ?;;?;i

— The macro environment has remained stable, with patient safety regulation and standards remaining consistent.

- -

— We have improved safety data management, patient communications and product labelling. These improvements
are being incorporated throughout the organisation, leaving the GSK exposure level unchanged.

e macro risk is unchanged due to no significant changes that affect our ability to secure, maintain and
enforce patents.

— The GSK exposure level is stable, based on the maturity of our risk management processes and general
ability to enforce and defend patents where appropriate.

e macro risk is increasing regulatory scrutiny of data integrity, supply continuity an 2
shortages, accompanied by new guidance and revised legislation.

— Despite the challenging macro environment, the GSK exposure level is unchanged, reflecting effective responses
to external regulatory reviews during 2016, a greater focus on data integrity and improved governance.

— The macro environment has remained stable, due to no material change in financial reporting requirements.

— The unchanged GSK exposure level is reflective of the significant IT systems and operating model changes
that are being implemented throughout the organisation, as well as continued risk from third-party relationships.
While we expect that these system and model changes will reduce risk in the future, the risk impact from these
changes is being mitigated through strong risk management and governance, as well as the continued progress
of the global Third Party Oversight programme.

— The macro environment has remained stable, with the regulatory environment and global attitude towards
Anti-bribery and Corruption remaining within expectations. — N

— The GSK exposure level is lower as our risk management practices have gained strength and are embedded
deeper across the organisation through our ABAC programme, which builds on the Group's values and
standards and has enabled us to manage the risk more effectively.

— The macro risk level has increased due to greater industry pricing pressures and increased regulatory scrutiny
in respect of sales and promotional activities.

— The GSK exposure level is unchanged, as we implement industry-leading changes in our operating model and in
particular in the compensation model for sales representatives and our relationships with healthcare professionals.

— The GSK exposure level is unchanged based on mature internal control processes and an enhanced governance
programme, designed to promote best practice across the business units.

— The macro risk level is higher due to greater focus and increased regulatory activity on environmental issues.

— The GSK exposure level is unchanged due to our controls and governance being well established and capable
of allowing for the increased focus and regulatory activity.

— The macro risk has increased as the threat has become more sophisticated and targeted, with a higher
volume of incidents.

— The GSK exposure level is unchanged while we see the effects of the substantial progress we have made
in upgrading our level protection against cyber attacks and safeguarding our critical and sensitive data.

— Macro factors such as regulatory focus on contract manufacturers outside of the US and EU and increased
data integrity expectations, are increasing supply risk.

— The GSK exposure level is stable, based on the significant improvements delivered through our ongoing supply
remediation programmes and our increased monitoring and supervision of third parties.
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Footnote

a We use a number of adjusted, non-IFRS, measure§ip report the performance of our business, as described on page 57, including
core results, free cash flow and CER and pro-formai@owth rates. Non-IFRS measures may be considered in addition to, but not
as a substitute for or superior to, information present@@kin accordance with IFRS.

\
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Pharmaceuticals

We improve healthcare
by preventing disease,
treating illness and
seeking long-lasting

solutions for chronic
and acute conditions
including rare diseases.

A leader in respiratory

Overview

Our Pharmaceuticals business has a
portfolio of innovative and established
medicines across a broad range of therapy
areas, including respiratory and HIV, in
which we are global leaders, as well as
immuno-inflammation, anti-infectives,
urology and rare diseases. Around a
quarter of Pharmaceutical sales come from
products launched over the past four years.

Respiratory

We have the industry's broadest range of
inhaled respiratory products. Our respiratory
portfolio is the largest contributor to
Pharmaceutical sales and our expectation

is that by 2020, nine products will account
for approximately 90% of respiratory sales,
compared to four in 2015.

In the past four years, we have launched
a new generation of respiratory products
including Nucala (mepolizumab) and our
Ellipta portfolio.

HIV

Our global HIV business is managed
through ViiV Healthcare, a company
78.3% owned by GSK, with Pfizer and
Shionogi the other shareholders.

ViiV Healthcare is growing rapidly, and
accounts for over 20% of Pharmaceutical
sales. This was led by strong demand for
Tivicay (dolutegravir), an innovative integrase
strand transfer inhibitor, and Triumeq, a
single-pill treatment combining dolutegravir,
abacavir and lamivudine.

Specialty products

Our Specialty products portfolio includes
medicines such as Benlysta, a treatment

for lupus disease, and Tanzeum/Eperzan,
for Type 2 diabetes.

Classic and Established products

Our Classic and Established products
include over 400 post-patent medicines
in the areas of anti-infectives, allergy,
neurosciences, dermatology, respiratory
and urology. Many of these medicines
continue to be the top-selling brand in
their therapy area. These products are

an important part of our emerging markets
business, where we sell 47% more volume
than our nearest competitor.

As a leader in respiratory, GSK has been at the forefront
of research in this area for over 45 years.

Today we have over 13,500 patients in clinical
studies investigating chronic obstructive
pulmonary disease (COPD) in almost 40
countries. We believe that insights from this
research, alongside our early phase scientific
discovery, will help us meet patient needs
well into the future.

Our new generation of inhaled respiratory
medicines are clear evidence of the benefits

of our research. This range — including

Anoro Ellipta, the world'’s leading long-acting
muscarinic antagonist/long-acting beta-agonist
against COPD by value — is giving physicians the
unprecedented choice to provide the right
treatment to the right patient.

This year, we filed for regulatory approval

for our Closed Triple therapy in the US and
Europe. If approved, this will be the first

COPD treatment to combine three vital once-daily
treatments in a single inhaler.

This will ensure patients get the full benefits,
in one inhalation, from all their treatments.
Research shows that patients taking the
medicine experienced improved lung
function, a higher quality of life and fewer
exacerbations compared to a leading
twice-daily treatment.

Looking beyond inhaled medicines, we
are now tackling the areas of highest unmet
need in respiratory diseases.

In 2015 we launched Nucala, our first
injectable biologic treatment for severe
eosinophilic asthma. Study results showed
that, for patients using Nucala, the risk of
experiencing an asthma attack requiring
emergency hospital care was half that

of those receiving the current standard

of care.
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Grow

Sales of our Respiratory
products returned to
growth of 2% in 2016.

All growth rates are at CER, a
non-IFRS measure as described
on page 57, unless otherwise stated.

2016 performance summary

Reported Pharmaceutical sales were
£16,104 million, up 14% at actual rates
and 3% CER. Adjusting for the disposal

of the Oncology business to Novartis in
2015, pro-forma turnover was up 4% CER.

Performance reflected a return to growth

of the respiratory business, which grew 2%.
Sales of new Respiratory products launched
over the last four years, including our Ellipta
based products Breo, Anoro, Arnuity and
Incruse as well as biologic Nucala, more
than doubled to £1,052 million. HIV sales
increased 37% to £3,556 million, with the
US up 46%. This was driven primarily by
strong performances from both Triumeq
and Tivicay, with sales of £1,735 million
and £953 million.

Sales of new Pharmaceutical products
were £3,861 million and now account
for 24% of total Pharmaceutical sales.

US Pharmaceutical sales were £4,705
million and declined 1% on a reported basis
(up 1% pro-forma). Respiratory sales grew
7%, and sales of new Respiratory products
were £654 million, exceeding the decline

in Advair.

We are working hard in early stage research to find a cure for HIV/AIDS

In Europe, Pharmaceutical reported sales
declined 8% (5% pro-forma). Respiratory
sales declined by 10%, reflecting the
ongoing transition to the new Respiratory
portfolio and generic competition to
Seretide. This was partly offset by growth
in the new Respiratory products, which
recorded sales of £225 million. Established
products were down 4% to £513 million.

International sales were £4,976 million,
down 5% (4% pro-forma). Sales in Emerging
Markets were impacted by the decline in the
China business, primarily as a result of the
ongoing reshaping programme and broader
Healthcare reforms, including price
reductions.

Worldwide HIV sales increased 37% to
£3,556 million, with the US up 46%,
Europe up 29% and International up 21%.
This growth was primarily driven by strong
performance from Triumeq and Tivicay.

In 2016, we continued to implement our new
commercial model. We stopped payments
to HCPs to speak on our behalf in January
and continued our drive to recruit HCPs
as internal medical experts. In addition, we
continued to roll out digital tools to further
our medical education efforts. Following
medical product information sessions with
GSK experts in over 60 countries, 92%

of more than 42,000 HCPs agreed that
the interaction helped them make a more
informed decision benefiting patient care.
Around 79% rated their experience as
superior to similar interactions with other
pharmaceutical companies.

We have formed a unique partnership to accelerate the search

for an HIV cure.

More than 36 million men, women and children
around the world live with HIV. As a leading
research-based pharmaceutical and healthcare
company, we have a legacy of success in
developing treatments for HIV.

GSK has a strong pipeline of new medicines and
our HIV scientists continue to work towards the
goal of one day finding a cure

for the HIV/AIDS epidemic.

We continue to invest in the HIV Cure Center and
Qura Therapeutics, our unique joint-ownership
collaboration created in 2015 with The University
of North Carolina (UNC-Chapel Hill), with a single
focus on finding a cure for HIV/AIDS.

This partnership is recruiting top talent from
around the world and redefining the
traditional way of conducting research

in HIV/AIDS. One of the approaches being
investigated is known as ‘shock and kill’
which seeks to reveal the hidden virus

that persists in people with HIV infection
despite successful drug therapy, and
augment the patient’s immune system

to clear these last traces of the virus and
infected cells.
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Pharmaceuticals continued

Deliver

In 2016, we achieved
accelerated filing for the
first once-daily Closed Triple
therapy for COPD, received
approval in Europe for our
first gene therapy medicine
and obtained positive data to
support a new single tablet
two-drug HIV regimen.

Our Pharmaceuticals R&D organisation
drives discovery and development in several
areas of research, including respiratory, HIV,
infectious diseases, immuno-inflammation,
oncology and rare diseases.

2016 progress

We continued to see progress across all
stages of our R&D pipeline. In respiratory,
we filed our once-daily Closed Triple therapy
for COPD for regulatory approval in both
Europe and the US, bringing forward

our original US filing date by 18 months.
We also announced positive results from
the pioneering COPD Salford Lung Study.
The study showed that, compared to those
receiving usual standard of care, COPD
patients using Relvar/Breo Ellipta achieved
a superior reduction in exacerbations

in an everyday clinical practice setting.

We also strengthened the prospects for
our next wave of respiratory medicines
with the in-licensing of a novel anti-IL33R
antibody for severe asthma, and new data
supporting the progression of a potential
oral treatment, danirixin, into phase llb
clinical development for potential use in
treating patients with COPD.

Our HIV pipeline contains a number of
promising medicines and regimens, with
innovative formulations, mode of action and
delivery methods. We announced positive
results from two phase Il studies evaluating
a two-drug regimen combining dolutegravir
and rilpivirine (Edurant, a Janssen medicine).
By breaking the mould of conventional
three-drug treatments, this therapy could
reduce and streamline HIV medication in
the future.

We have three further HIV programmes

in phase lll: a new attachment inhibitor;
another two-drug regimen, combining
dolutegravir and lamivudine; and
cabotegravir, a once-monthly injectable
therapy, which combined with long-acting
rilpivirine could also make HIV treatment
simpler and easier to adhere to. In addition,
we announced the start of a phase Ill study
to evaluate long-acting cabotegravir as an
injection every two months, for prevention
in men who have sex with men at risk of HIV
infection. We also completed the acquisitions
of the BMS HIV pipeline and discovery
teams and programmes, which have now
been fully integrated into ViiV Healthcare's
R&D organisation.

Timeline and development stages for a pharmaceutical product (industry average)

~N

Drug Pre-clinical Clinical trials Licensing approval
discovery testing

.

Phase | ! Phase Il { Phase Ill
EE—
5-10,000
candidates iﬁ fm
Medicine available
10-20 1 dici for patients
candidates @ medicine
5-10 2-5 1-2
candidates candidates candidates
4.5 years :5.5years :7years 8.5 years 11 years 12.5 years
Source: ABPI
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assets with data expected
by the end of 2018.

We continued to strengthen our emerging
immuno-inflammation portfolio, with
regulatory filings in Europe and the US;

a subcutaneous formulation of Benlysta,
our treatment for systemic lupus disease
currently available as an IV formulation; and
sirukumab, an investigational IL-6 treatment
for rheumatoid arthritis which we are
co-developing with Janssen. If approved,
both treatments will be self-administered
at home, making them a convenient
treatment option for patients.

In 2016, we also gained approval of
Strimvelis, the first corrective gene therapy
for children suffering from the very rare
disease ADA-SCID (adenosine deaminase
severe combined immunodeficiency) —
see case study below.

We started several phase Il studies
including: one to evaluate an anti-GM-CSF
(anti-granulocyte macrophage colony-
stimulating factor) monoclonal antibody for
inflammatory hand osteoarthritis; the other
assessing an oral RIP1 kinase inhibitor, for
rheumatoid arthritis and psoriasis patients.

We also received positive phase Il data for
our first-in-class antibacterial gepotidacin, in
treating gonorrhoea, for which the US Food
and Drug Administration (FDA) has granted
fast-track status on the basis of the serious
unmet need for new medicines in this area.

In oncology, we have 11 assets in clinical
development and have seen encouraging
developments in our core areas of immuno-
oncology, cell therapy and epigenetics.
During the year, the FDA granted
breakthrough therapy status to the affinity
enhanced T-cell therapy, which targets the
antigen NY-ESO in synovial cancer that
we are developing with Adaptimmune.

During 2016, we terminated the development
of losmapimod for COPD following analysis
of phase Il results, and halted development
of the HIV maturation inhibitor 3532795 in
favour of other maturation inhibitors in our
pipeline that may have a better profile.

2017/2018 milestones

The coming two years will be significant
for the pharmaceutical pipeline, marking
the start of another intense period of R&D
activity for the company, as we expect
important data on between 20 and 30
assets in areas including HIV, respiratory,
immuno-inflammation and oncology.

Approval of GSK’s first gene therapy opens new chapter in treatment of rare diseases

e
G

"¢ Strimvelis™

The application of groundbreaking technology has resulted
in the world's first corrective gene therapy for children.

The European Commission’s approval of
Strimvelis, a one-time treatment for ADA-SCID
(adenosine deaminase severe combined
immunodeficiency) is the first authorisation of

a corrective stem cell gene therapy for children
and a major milestone in our commitment to
developing innovative transformative medicines.

ADA-SCID, which is caused by a faulty gene
inherited from both parents, affects around

15 newborns in Europe each year. A child

born with ADA-SCID does not have a healthy,
fully-functioning immune system and, as a
consequence, is unable to fight off everyday
infections. The treatment involves correcting this
often fatal disorder using the patient’s

own cells.

The development of Strimvelis follows a

collaboration between GSK and the original Italian
developers, the San Raffaele Telethon Institute for

Gene Therapy in Milan, Italy.

Working together, we took an experimental
medicine procedure and developed rigorous
manufacturing and quality control systems to
ensure it could be evaluated

by regulators.

A 100% survival rate three years after
treatment was observed for all children

in the pivotal study. Every child receiving
Strimvelis who contributed to the marketing
authorisation data package is alive today.
Patients referred for treatment will receive the
gene therapy at Ospedale San Raffaele.

We hope Strimvelis will be the first of

a number of innovative gene therapy
medicines that we will bring to patients over
the next few years.

Two further programmes using the same
platform, in metachromatic leukodystropy
and Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome, are both

in clinical trials.
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Pharmaceuticals continued

Deliver continued

Our range of partners includes
academic institutions, public-private
partnerships, and pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies.

Pharmaceuticals R&D approach

We focus our investment on areas where
we believe there are the most attractive
opportunities, having considered patient
need, market opportunity and scientific
understanding. We concentrate on
mechanisms that might slow down or
reverse the course of diseases and present
opportunities to achieve remission or cure.

Our early research efforts centre on around
30 discovery performance units. These
nimble units have their own budgets and
project accountability, so are different from
the traditional hierarchical R&D model.
They help us to maintain flexibility, create
agility, and enable us to focus on the

most promising early opportunities.

As a treatment advances, Medicines
Development Teams of multi-disciplinary
specialists ensure its progress from
investigational medicine and later stage
development to filing with regulators and
ongoing evidence generation.

Strategic issues and overall budget
management are overseen by the R&D
management team. Robust governance
boards manage investment, technical,
scientific and commercial decisions
throughout a molecule’s lifecycle.

Collaboration with external partners

is an important part of our approach.

We partner with more than 1,500
organisations around the world, including
academic institutions, public-private
partnerships, and other pharmaceutical
and biotechnology companies.

GSK joins forces with world-leading biomedical research centre.

A landmark collaboration between GSK

and the Francis Crick Institute aims to achieve
new breakthroughs in understanding and
treating diseases.

The open innovation collaboration combines
our pharmaceutical R&D expertise with the
Crick’s deep knowledge of disease biology.

Our mutual aim is to explore new avenues of
medical research and drug discovery across
arange of diseases. The collaboration takes
a ‘LinkLabs’ approach to working, with teams
of scientists from each organisation working
side-by-side in integrated teams at the
Crick’s world-leading centre of biomedical
research in the heart of London and GSK's
global R&D hub in Stevenage. GSK and the
Crick believe this fluid interchange of skills
and ideas benefits both sides, introducing
new ways of working and stimulating the

development of novel approaches to
problems. By pooling our knowledge and
resources we hope the collaboration will
ultimately improve the success rate for
discovering new medicines.

In the spirit of open innovation, research
findings from the collaboration will be

shared externally, via joint publication in
peer-reviewed journals. This will enable
important discoveries to be applied across
the research community, maximising the
potential to progress scientific understanding
and accelerate the development of
treatments for patients.

The Francis Crick Institute is a charity funded
by the Medical Research Council, Cancer
Research UK, the Wellcome Trust, University
College London, Imperial College London
and King's College London.
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Simplify

Our supply chain
transformation programme
has delivered significant
reductions in manufacturing
costs and streamlined our
external supply network.

@

Responsible
business

In 2016, we continued to reshape our
Pharmaceuticals business and reduce
complexity in our supply chain while

maintaining our commitment to quality.

Cost savings generated in the
Pharmaceutical business have contributed
to the delivery of £3 billion of annual savings
(including £0.2 billion of currency benefit)
for the Group by the end of 2016. Operating
profit margin for Pharmaceuticals was
34.1%, 3.7 percentage points higher on a
CER basis than in 2015 and 1.2 percentage
points higher on a pro-forma CER basis.

In 2016, we completed our three-year
transformation programme to move

to an end-to-end supply chain. This has
delivered improvements in customer service,
quality and productivity which, combined
with simplification of our portfolio, has
delivered a significant reduction in
manufacturing costs and streamlined our
external supply network by more than 40%.

As part of our commitment to creating

a world-class supply chain, in 2016 we
agreed a five-year global logistics contract
with an international freight company.

This contract has been a key enabler

to reduce our site costs in the year.

Our enterprise resource planning (ERP)
system is enabling better sharing of data
to improve planning capabilities. By the end
of 2016, the system was live in 10 of our 40
Pharmaceuticals manufacturing sites.

Committed to quality

We are committed to meeting the highest
standards through stringent quality control
and quality assurance processes. Our
medicines and vaccines are manufactured
according to current Good Manufacturing
Practice (cGMP) regulations, and our
internal quality management system.

In 2016, our Pharmaceutical manufacturing
sites had 66 regulatory inspections;

six had findings which we are resolving.

In July, we received a Warning Letter from
the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA)
relating to an inspection carried out 12
months earlier at GSK's Worthing, UK,
primary manufacturing site. We responded
promptly to the FDA to address the points
raised and advised them of a programme
of work which is now well advanced.

Leading the fight against antimicrobial resistance

We demonstrated our continuing commitment to tackling
antimicrobial resistance by signing up to a landmark

industry roadmap.

Resistance to antibiotics is becoming a major
public health crisis, with 700,000 people

dying every year from drug resistant infections.
The roadmap commits us, and other participating
pharmaceutical companies,

to achieving four significant targets by 2020.
These include reducing the environmental impact
of antibiotics production and ensuring they are
only used by patients who need them. The
roadmap builds on our January 2016 commitment
to the Davos Declaration to combat antibiotic
resistance.

We have been active in discovering and
developing antibiotics for more than 70 years.
Today, our pharmaceuticals focus is on developing
new antibiotics and we have an active pipeline of
new medicines. In addition, our Vaccines business
researches and develops new vaccines to prevent
bacterial infections, so saving lives and reducing
dependence on antibiotics.

Our most advanced asset in the

antibiotics pipeline is gepotidacin,

which we developed in collaboration

with the US government’s Biomedical
Advanced Research Development Authority
(BARDA). Gepotidacin is

now moving towards phase Ill studies,
following positive phase Il results in 2016.

The global health threat of antimicrobial
resistance requires a multi-stakeholder
response, as seen in the industry
collaboration beyond last year’s roadmap and
our work with BARDA. We also partner with
other governments and companies to
progress research and development into new
antibiotics.

We are a member of the Innovative Medicines
Initiative’s NewDrugs4BadBugs, and are a
long-term partner of the

Defence Threat Reduction Agency.
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Vaccines

Our Vaccines business is
one of the largest in the
world, delivering over
two million doses of

vaccines per day to
people in over 160
countries.

Candidate shingles vaccine filed

Our Vaccines business has a portfolio

of 41 paediatric, adolescent, adult, older
people and travel vaccines that offer
protection against 22 different diseases.
These include Bexsero, our meningitis B
vaccine; Menveo for meningitis A, C, W and
Y; Flu; Hepatitis; Synflorix for pneumococcal
disease; Rotarix for rotavirus gastroenteritis;
and vaccines against diphtheria, tetanus and
whooping cough, namely, Infanrix/Pediarix
and Boostrix.

Demand for vaccines continues to increase
as the world's population grows and
changes. To meet this demand, we must
deliver reliable, high quality vaccines and
push the boundaries of science and
technology to develop innovative vaccines.

Behind our commercial portfolio is our
robust research pipeline, which reflects
our expertise in virology and bacterial
infection, and across different technological
platforms. We have more than 2,000
scientists dedicated to discovering and
developing vaccines across our three
global R&D centres in the US and Europe.
As well as our internal research, we have
more than 180 R&D partnerships with
external scientists and leading academic
and public health institutions.

To help more people benefit from
vaccine protection, we use a ‘tiered
pricing’ approach, based on nations’
gross national income per head and
ability to pay. We are also one of the
largest contributors to Gavi, the Vaccine
Alliance, a public-private partnership
that aims to improve access to vaccines
in developing countries.

Following impressive clinical trial results, we have filed our
candidate shingles vaccine Shingrix with regulators in the US,

Canada and Europe.

We are seeking approval for Shingrix, our
candidate vaccine, for use in preventing shingles
— a common but potentially serious condition —
and its complications in people over 50. Shingles
sufferers develop a painful itchy rash, with up to
309% also getting postherpetic neuralgia (PHN),
an intense pain that can last for at least three
months.

More than one in three people over 50

are likely to have shingles in their lifetime.
Individuals with compromised immune
systems, such as cancer patients undergoing
chemotherapy, are especially susceptible.

A study published in 2016 found Shingrix had
909% efficacy for people over 70, maintained
for up to four years, while earlier research
showed 97% efficacy in those over 50.

This is the first time such high efficacy has
been demonstrated in a candidate vaccine for
older people, whose weakened immune
systems often leave them more susceptible to
disease. There is a possibility therefore that
the technology it is based on may open up
effective treatments for other conditions
affecting older adults.

In 2017, we expect the results of clinical
studies with Shingrix both in people at

high risk of shingles, due to the weakening of
their immune systems, and in patients
revaccinated with our candidate vaccine who
have previously received the existing vaccine.



31 GSK Annual Report 2016

Strategic report

Governance and remuneration
Financial statements

Investor information

Grow

Vaccines sales grew 14%
on a reported basis (12%
pro-forma) to £4.6 billion,
from strong performance
from our meningitis and
flu vaccines.

All growth rates are at CER, a
non-IFRS measure as described
on page 57, unless otherwise stated.

2016 performance summary

Vaccines sales grew 26% at actual rates,
14% CER and 12% pro-forma CER to
£4,592 million during 2016. Performance
was driven by sales of new products
including meningitis vaccines Bexsero and
Menveo which contributed £592 million.
There was also strong demand for Fluarix
/FluLaval which had sales of £414 million.

US sales grew 13% (12% pro-forma) with
Bexsero, Menveo and Boostrix all seeing
market and share growth while Infanrix

and Pediarix both benefited from competitor
supply issues in the market.

In Europe, sales grew 18% (16% pro-forma),
driven primarily by Bexsero sales through the
UK Government's immunisation programme
and in private market channels in several
other countries. Boostrix sales in Europe
benefited from higher demand and
competitor supply issues.

UK infants benefit from meningitis B vaccine

Sales in International markets grew 10%
(8% pro-forma), with growth primarily
driven by Synflorix, due to market expansion
in Asia and certain African countries.
Menveo sales also contributed to growth
driven by a significant tender award in
Argentina. Vaccine sales increased in
Brazil due to strong demand for Bexsero,
Menjugate and Boostrix.

The number of cases of meningitis B reported in the UK
fell significantly after babies were vaccinated with our Bexsero

meningococcal vaccine.

The UK became the first country in the world
to introduce a national infant immunisation
programme against meningitis B in late 2015,
with children being vaccinated at two and
four months and receiving a booster at
one-year-old.

Just ten months after the programme was
launched, Public Health England (PHE)
figures showed 83% percent effectiveness of
Bexsero against meningitis B.

Invasive meningococcal B disease is

the leading cause of meningitis in the
industrialised world. It develops rapidly,
typically among previously healthy children
and adolescents. About one in ten of
those who contract the disease die, with

a further 20% suffering a major physical

or neurological disability, such as limb or
hearing loss.

Bexsero is the only meningococcal B vaccine
licensed in Europe. In the past

two years, the numbers of doses of Bexsero
produced has grown from two million to a
cumulative total of ten million.
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Vaccines continued

Deliver

Our broad pipeline

includes vaccines targeting
shingles, meningitis, respiratory
syncytial virus, group B
streptococcus, and a new
vaccine concept for COPD.

o

Our Vaccines R&D work focuses on
discovering and developing vaccines to
help protect people against a broad range
of diseases and conditions across all age
groups. We have a pipeline of 14 candidate
vaccines in early, mid and late stage
development against a range of diseases.

In 2016, we received regulatory approval
to expand the indication for FluLaval in the
US to cover infants from six months of age,
rather than from three years. We obtained
approval in Europe for a label update for
Boostrix and Boostrix Polio with human
safety data to support use in pregnant
women. We also launched our Hiberix
vaccine in the US.

In 2016, we filed for regulatory approval
in North America and Europe for our
candidate vaccine for the prevention of
shingles and its complications. (See case
study on page 30.) In 2017, we plan to file
for its use in Japan.

We have a number of promising earlier
assets in our pipeline. For example, the
candidate vaccines in phase I, are for
meningococcal A,B,C WY, respiratory
syncytial virus (RSV), group B streptococcus
and exacerbations in chronic obstructive
pulmonary disease (COPD).

Following the positive scientific opinion

from European regulators for our infant
malaria vaccine Mosquirix, the World Health
Organization will start pilot implementation
of the vaccine in three sub-Saharan Africa
countries in 2018. With our partners at the
non-profit organisation PATH, we will donate
doses of Mosquirix for the pilots.

In a bid to assist with the Zika virus, we are
evaluating a new vaccine technology known
as SAM (self-amplifying mRNA), with the
National Institutes of Health. We believe
this technology may potentially induce
protective immunity against Zika.

Investment and governance

Our priorities are meeting patient needs
and addressing global health challenges
for which no vaccines yet exist, or where
significant improvements could be made.
Our vaccine R&D investment in 2016 was
£597 million, up 2% from £525 million

in 2015.

In R&D, we complemented our existing
global hubs, in Siena, Italy and Wavre,
Belgium, with the opening of a third centre,
in Rockville, Maryland, close to our major
US public health stakeholders. Our three
global centres each have their own area of
expertise in vaccine discovery and specific
assets in development while also benefiting
from scientific exchange between the three
world-class teams.

Vaccines research development cycle (industry average)

(including immunology)

Pre-clinical development

Clinical development

O

Identify Produce Pre-clinical Phase Il Proof of File Registration/
antigens antigens testi concept post-marketing
surveillance

Research

(including post-marketing surveillance)

Transfer process to manufacturing ,I

\ 1-10 years

2-3 years

2-4 years

>1 year j
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Simplify ()
We have continued to

simplify our operating model

and realised significant savings.

Responsible
business
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In 2016, we continued to further simplify
our operating model, strengthen our
manufacturing network, and reduce
supply costs.

During the year, we completed the majority
of the Novartis Vaccines business integration.
Cost savings generated in the Vaccines
business have contributed to the delivery

of £83 billion of annual savings for the Group
by the end of 2016 (including £0.2 billion
currency benefit). These savings, combined
with strong sales growth, delivered improved
operating leverage and a profit margin of
31.7%. This was 5.3 percentage points
higher than in 2015 and 7.6 percentage
points higher on a pro-forma CER basis.

Investing in our supply chain

We have 16 vaccine manufacturing sites

in 11 countries. This international presence
enables us to manufacture our vaccines

with greater capacity, efficiency and flexibility.
We aim to keep critical production steps
in-house wherever possible, and during

the year we invested in new production
facilities at our Marburg site in Germany.

This will enable us to produce all of the
active components of our Bexsero vaccine
in-house, and adds a new mumps production
line for our combined measles, mumps,
rubella and varicella vaccine.

Preparing for public health emergencies

Committed to quality

The discovery and development of new
vaccines is a complex process. Our vaccines
are manufactured to the highest quality
standards, according to current Good
Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) regulations.
In 2016, we had 45 regulatory inspections
and 38 had minor or no findings. In all

cases, we worked with regulators to

address their observations.

GSK is committed to helping whenever we can when

public health crises occur.

When Ebola broke out in West Africa, we
accelerated the development of our candidate
Ebola vaccine and, following the outbreak

of Zika, we employed our novel technology
platforms to start a vaccine discovery programme
with the US National Institutes

of Health.

However, responding after a life-threatening
disease surfaces is not enough. Vaccine research
and discovery is a lengthy process, typically taking
10 to 15 years. To have the

best chance to save lives, the global community
has to prepare itself in advance.

For this reason, we are proposing to create a
dedicated and permanent ‘biopreparedness
organisation’ (BPO) at our Global Vaccines R&D
Centre in Rockville. The planned facility would
design, develop and manufacture new vaccines
against potential public health threats, with
targeted pathogens selected and prioritised with

guidance from independent experts. It would
have dedicated and permanent R&D and pilot
production facilities, and the capacity to
respond rapidly to future global health
emergencies.

The BPO would operate on a no-profit,
no-loss basis, with funding from both
governments and non-governmental
organisations.

We also strongly support the Coalition for
Epidemic Preparedness Innovations (CEPI)
and its focus on vaccines development as a
solution to protecting against infectious
disease outbreaks. We stand ready to partner
with CEPI to advance epidemic
preparedness.
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Consumer Healthcare

Our Consumer Healthcare business develops and
markets products in Wellness, Oral health, Nutrition
and Skin health. Our portfolio includes some of the
world’s most trusted and best-selling brands, such
as Sensodyne, Voltaren and Panadol.
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Consumer Healthcare

Our Consumer Healthcare
business is a world-
leading over-the-counter
and consumer healthcare

products company.

Managing migraine symptoms

Our Consumer Healthcare business* is

split almost equally between over-the-
counter (OTC) medicines and fast moving
consumer goods (FMCG), across our four
categories of Wellness, Oral health, Nutrition
and Skin health.

Wellness

We are the global leader in Wellness, which
is our largest category, and number one in
36 countries by retail sales. We have leading
global positions in respiratory, cold and flu,
nasal decongestants, allergy, smoking
cessation, and pain management, where

we have two of the top four brands, Panado/
and Voltaren.

Oral health

We are a top three company, globally,

by sales in toothpaste and the number
one in specialist oral health, globally and
in 50 countries, with leading positions in
sensitivity, acid erosion, denture care and
gum health. In 2016, Sensodyne became
our first £1 billion consumer healthcare
brand, making it the third-largest product
by sales in the whole GSK portfolio.

Nutrition

Our Nutrition business includes Horlicks,
the long established wheat, milk and malted
barley drink.

Skin health

We are in the top three, by sales, globally
in medicated skin health which treats

such conditions as cold sores and dry

and sensitive skin. Our Abreva and Zovirax
brands hold leading positions in some

of the world's largest markets.

Power brands

We prioritise seven global power brands

— Otrivin, Panadol, parodontax, Poligrip,
Sensodyne, Theraflu and Voltaren — and

12 regional core brands, including Flonase,
Horlicks and Tums. These brands, including
Physiogel, benefit from our broad geographic
footprint and a combined focus on scientific
expertise and consumer insight.

* Represents the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture
with Novartis together with the GSK Consumer
Healthcare listed businesses in India and Nigeria.

Excedrin brought home the painful reality of migraines
with a recent virtual reality campaign.

Excedrin, one of the top over-the-counter brands
in sales in the US, launched a

virtual reality (VR) campaign to correct
misunderstandings of migraines. The campaign,
which included multi-channel

media activity, an expert celebrity panel
discussion and a high profile New York event, was
launched in March 2016. Product sales rose 15%
during the campaign and have shown double digit
growth over the year.

Excedrin created the campaign after its customer
insight research showed that

88% of sufferers felt misunderstood.

The documentary-style film featured

a ‘migraine simulator’, developed with

the help of four migraine sufferers.

The four worked with VR experts to create the
visual effects they experience during attacks,
including blurred vision, flashes, object
‘auras’, room spinning and partial blindness.

The campaign made an enormous impact on
social media, with over 17 million views and
almost 500,000 engagements, such as
shares of the film, comments and re-tweets.
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Grow

Strong growth in our

Oral health and Wellness
power brands helped
Consumer Healthcare

to a 9% increase in reported
sales (+5% pro-forma),

to £7.2 billion.

All growth rates are at CER, a
non-IFRS measure as described on
page 57, unless otherwise stated.

2016 performance summary
Consumer Healthcare sales grew 19%
at actual rates, 9% CER and 5% on a
pro-forma basis to £7,193 million.

On a category basis there was growth
in Wellness (15%), Oral health (8%) and
Skin health (4%). This was partly offset
by Nutrition which declined 8%.

At a brand level, Sensodyne, Panadol

and Otrivin performed strongly. Sales

of Sensodyne reached £1 billion for the
first time. Sales from innovation within the
last three years represented 13% of sales,
with a particular contribution from Flonase,
which was switched to OTC in Q1 2015.
Other notable launches in 2016 included
Sensodyne True White and Excedrin
Gel-tabs in the US.

Growth was broadly balanced across

our three global geographies. US sales
grew 9% to £1,761 million (5% pro-forma)
driven primarily by Sensodyne delivering
double-digit growth following the launch

of True White combined with strong
momentum from Pronamel. Within Wellness,
Flonase OTC grew strongly in the first half
following line extensions.

New over-the-counter launch extends Flonase brand

In Europe, sales grew 12% to £2,191 million
(4% pro-forma). Good momentum across
Germany, Scandinavia and ltaly was partly
offset by the impact of challenging economic
conditions in the Commonwealth of
Independent States. Voltaren grew in
double-digits as a result of the continued
success of the 12-hour variant, while in

Oral health, Sensodyne and the Gum health
portfolio also recorded strong growth.

In International markets, sales grew 8%
(5% pro-forma) to £3,241 million. Growth
was impacted by the sale of the Nigerian
beverages business on 30 September
2016 and the effective cessation of
trade in Venezuela at the end of 2015.
Demonetisation implemented in India

in November also impacted the Indian
business. Sales in the Middle East, Latin
America and China grew particularly
strongly as a result of better pricing and
new product introductions.

We continue to see success in switching products from
prescription-only to over-the-counter.

In 2016 the FDA approved Flonase Sensimist
Allergy Relief for seasonal and perennial
allergies. This builds on our success in moving
products from prescription-only

to over-the-counter (OTC) in the USA.

The product was launched in February 2017, in
time for the allergy season. In making the
product available OTC, we are meeting
consumer demand for greater control

over their personal healthcare.

The product was formerly available only on
prescription as Veramyst. In managing the
switch to OTC, we drew on the regulatory
insights of our Pharmaceuticals business
which helped us navigate through the highly
regulated pharmaceutical environment.

The new product acts on multiple inflammatory
substances and has additional features such
as being suitable for children as young as two
years old, being scent and alcohol-free, and
causing little or no drip while it is being
applied.

By bringing Sensimist under the Flonase
Allergy Relief umbrella, we aim to build on
Flonase’s market success.
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Consumer Healthcare continued

Deliver

Our success in delivering
consumer-driven, science-led
innovation enabled us to
generate our best-ever sales
from recent launches.

13%

of our sales were generated from
innovations launched over the past
three years.

The science of consumer insight

The success of our Consumer Healthcare
business is built on our ability to understand
customer needs and meet them with effective
products from our strong research pipeline.
In 2016, we refocused our investment in
innovation to ensure we achieve a high return
and delivered 30 new-to-market product
launches. During 2016, 13% of our sales
were generated from innovations launched
over the past three years — our highest

level ever.

In 2016, R&D investment in Consumer
Healthcare was £243 million (2015 —
£258 million). We prioritise investment

on our power and core brands, with our
strategic focus now on fewer but bigger
innovations. In 2016, examples included
Sensodyne True White, Excedrin Gel-tabs,
a new Eno ajwain herb flavour variant in
India and Otrivin Oxy which was launched
a record six months from conception.

We continue to see success in moving
products from prescription-only to over-
the-counter, with the approval and launch
of Flonase Sensimist Allergy Relief in the
US in 2017. (See case study on page 37).

Understanding consumers’ everyday
healthcare needs, views and product
preferences is an integral part of our new
product development process. As digital
technology becomes central to all our lives,
we are exploring ways — both internally and
in discussion with external entrepreneurs
and inventors — of harnessing digital
capability to improve consumer health.

We continued to invest in state-of-the-art
digital and real life innovation by opening
new US shopper and sensory labs.

(See case study below).

In 2016, we strengthened our commitment
to R&D in India, building headcount to

~200 people — a significant increase versus
both legacy organisations. Our increased
focus on innovation in this area is already
paying off, with seven market-first innovations
launched in the region over the course of
the year. Two of our six R&D hubs are now
based in emerging markets, a region that
represents over a third of our business.

Our new innovation labs in the US increased our ability
to understand and deliver unmet consumer needs.

Following the success of our UK innovation labs
we launched three labs based at our

new US Consumer Healthcare HQ in Warren.
They enable us to integrate customer insights into
all stages of product development, from

the original inception of an idea to an item’s
positioning on the store shelf. They include:

— An R&D suite combining flexible work
spaces with rapid prototyping capabilities;
allowing us to move swiftly from concept
to manufacture, whether of tablets, liquids,
powders or creams.

— Consumer sensory capabilities to assess
how people use products. It includes
simulated environments where our products
are often found, for example, the bathroom,
doctor’s consulting room, a shop and
pharmacy.

— A shopper science facility that enables
us to work with our retail partners on the
best way to present products in store.

Together, the labs are enabling us to discover
fresh insights and develop tailor-made
products to meet the needs

of our consumers and retailers. This helps us
to meet our ambition of becoming first choice
for shoppers and customers.
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Simplify

We continued to further
simplify and streamline our
Consumer Healthcare business
and increased our operating
profit margin.

Responsible
business
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During 2016, we completed the majority

of the integration enabling us to increase
our emphasis on core innovation and to
deliver stronger growth from our brands.
Incremental annual cost savings in 2016
helped to increase the operating profit
margin by 4.2 percentage points to 15.5%.
This was 3.4 percentage points higher than
in 2015 on a CER basis and 3.7 percentage
points higher on a CER pro-forma basis.
We remain on track to deliver the annual cost
savings anticipated, and to deliver our target
operating margin of at least 20% by 2020.

Our consolidation activities over the year
resulted in a reduction of costs and
overheads. We established common
distribution routes and shared enterprise
resource planning platforms, enabling
access to data across the organisation
and more informed decision making.

In 2016, unified branding was rolled
out to all integrated sites and more than
10,000 artwork changes were delivered.

Our streamlining efforts also involved
59 markets moving to standardised
platforms over the course of the year,
and we are on track to deliver against
our synergy targets.

Committed to quality

Our Consumer Healthcare products

are manufactured to the highest quality
standards, according to current Good
Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) regulations.
In 2016, we had 56 regulatory inspections,
all with satisfactory outcomes.

Helping communities to better identify, prevent and treat dengue fever

A GSK-led health campaign encouraged better understanding

of how to manage the disease.

Mosquito-borne dengue fever causes around
400 million infections and 20,000 deaths
each year. It is endemic in more than 100
countries, particularly across the South East
Asia and Western Pacific regions.

Paracetamol, in Panadol, can help treat some
of the symptoms of dengue fever,

so GSK Consumer Healthcare launched the
Allied Against Dengue campaign

in 2016 in Malaysia, Indonesia and the
Philippines. It brought together GSK and our
Panadol power brand with doctors, pharmacy
chains, governments and non-government
organisations.

The campaign has helped educate
seven million people about the disease.

It included 48 ‘train the trainer’ sessions,

to refresh physicians’ and pharmacists’
knowledge of the virus; the recruitment

of 21,000 voluntary ‘dengue warriors’

to spread the word about prevention and
treatment; and the distribution of ‘dengue
proficiency kits' to healthcare professionals.

Assisted by wide media coverage,

the campaign’s impact was dramatic.

In Malaysia, after three years of rising
mortality rates, the campaign contributed
towards the number of deaths falling

by 39%.

The campaign also helped increase our
regional Consumer Healthcare product
sales. In the Philippines alone, net sales
increased by 48% in Q3 2016, versus
the same period in 2015.
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Being a responsible business is central
to our strategy, how we deliver success
is as important as the results we achieve.
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We have expanded our
graduated approach to
filing and enforcing patents
and intellectual property to
widen access to medicines
in the poorest countries.

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Health for all Our behaviour Our people Our planet

1.3m 99% 75 countries 18%

Our partnership with Our mandatory annual Our Partnership for We have cut operational
Save the Children reached training on our code of Prevention programme carbon emissions (Scope
an additional 1.3 million conduct was completed is being rolled out 1 and 2) by 18% since

children in 2016 with by 99% of our employees globally and is offering 2010. Total value chain

treatments, immunisations and complementary unprecedented access to emissions have risen by

and other interventions. workers in 2016.2 preventive healthcare for 1% as we extend access
almost 100,000 employees to our medicines, and we
and their family members are working to address thi
in 75 countries.

Footnote
a The remaining 1% represents employees who did not complete the training in the required timeframe and are subject to
disciplinary action (see page 47) and employees still within the completion timeframe (e.g. new starters)
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Responsible business

By being commercially
successful and operating
responsibly, we will improve
people’s health and benefit
society, as well as create
value for our shareholders.

Creating value for society

By developing innovative healthcare
products, we directly benefit patients and
consumers. Our equitable pricing strategy,
which allows prices to reflect a country’s
ability to pay, and global footprint enables
greater access to our medicines, vaccines
and consumer healthcare products.

By delivering profitable and sustainable
business performance, we generate value
and returns for our shareholders and can
reinvest in the business. Over and above
this, wider society benefits as healthy
people are essential to building strong
and sustainable communities.

We make significant direct and indirect
economic contributions to the countries
and communities where we operate through
tax, our employment of 99,300 people

and charitable support.

A graduated approach to intellectual property

Our responsible business priorities

GSK's responsible business priorities sit
within the context of the macro-economic
and social trends that affect all companies
and wider society. These trends present

both opportunities and challenges for global
healthcare companies like GSK (see page 8).

We report our progress across four areas:
Health for all, Our behaviour, Our people,
and Our planet. We identified our priorities
in these areas by understanding the issues
that are most important to our business and
to our stakeholders.

Our longer-term commitments across the
four areas reflect global health needs and
align with GSK's strategic priorities and
our values. We detail our progress against
these commitments in our responsible
business supplement available at
www.gsk.com/responsibility.

We have expanded our approach to filing and enforcing patents
to reflect a country’s economic maturity.

In 2016, we announced that we would adapt our
current approach to filing and enforcing patents
to ensure that we balance the need

to protect our intellectual property with a
country’s economic maturity.

This means that we will no longer file patents for
medicines in the least-developed countries and
low-income countries. In lower middle income
countries, we will apply for patents when we
think it appropriate but also offer licences that
allow supplies of generic versions of our
medicines to these countries (other than G20
countries) for ten years.

In line with this approach, in 2016 ViiV
Healthcare expanded its licence agreement
with the Medicines Patent Pool for the adult
formulation of their HIV drug dolutegravir

to include the vast majority of lower

middle income countries.

The agreement enables dolutegravir to be
made available for adults through generic
manufacturers, with royalty fees tiered
depending on national gross domestic
product, following approval from regulators.
This means that 94% of people living with HIV
in the developing world are now covered by
the licence agreement.

We have also outlined our intent to commit our
future portfolio of cancer treatments

to patent pooling and will work with the
Medicines Patent Pool to explore how this can
help address the increasing burden of cancer
in developing countries.
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Measuring
progress

We have well-established, long-term
responsible commitments which sit across
four areas: Health for all, Our behaviour,
Our people and Our planet. We also
measure our performance in the Access
to Medicine Index and Dow Jones
Sustainability Index.

Access to Medicine Index

In 2016, GSK topped the Access to
Medicine Index for the fifth consecutive time.
This means we have led every edition of the
biannual index since its 2008 launch.

The Access to Medicine Index is funded by
the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation and the
UK and Dutch governments. It measures the
top 20 pharmaceutical companies’ efforts to
improve access to healthcare in developing
countries. We led our peers in three of the
2016 index’s seven categories: research
and development; pricing, manufacturing
and distribution; and product donations.

The index describes GSK as ‘the most
access-oriented company’ and recognises
our clear strategy on increasing access

to medicines, which is aligned with our
corporate strategy.

Progress against our responsible business commitments

It also cites our company-wide ownership for
access as a key strength, together with our
commitment to research and development
for low and middle income countries and
high-priority medical needs.

At the beginning of 2017 we also performed
well in the first ever Access to Vaccines
Index, leading in all three categories under
consideration.

Dow Jones Sustainability Index

In 2016, we came third in our sector in the
Dow Jones Sustainability Index. The Index
analyses the economic, environmental and
social performance of the world'’s leading
companies. Our overall percentile ranking
increased from 89th in 2015 to 95th in
2016, meaning we scored within the top
5% of our sector.

We led the industry in code of business
conduct, climate strategy, environmental
reporting and health outcome contributions,
and had strong performance in corporate
governance, marketing practices, risk and
crisis management, tax and corporate
citizenship.

Our 2016 assessment shows that three of our commitments are complete, 14 are progressing well, five are on track, and one has more
work to do. For more details about our performance, see our Responsible Business Supplement at www.gsk.com/responsibility.

Progress

Progress

Innovation for unmet medical needs

IR  Ethical conduct

Progressing well) ) ) )

Better access to medicines and vaccines i) I

Building products to better meet needs

Progrosaing wel) ) ) )

marketing practices

Promoting values in sales and

[Progressingwiel) ) ) )

Strengthening healthcare infrastructure

Progrossing wol) ) ) )

Transparency in clinical trial data

[Completed ) ) ) ) |

Fighting malaria

Progrossing wol) ) ) )

Rigorous patient and consumer safety

[Progrossing wol) ) ) )

Eliminating and controlling neglected Progressingwell) ) ) } Minimising animal testing —— ) ol
tropical diseases Ensuring ethical interactions Progressingwell) ) )
Eradicating polio Progressingwell) ) ) Promoting human rights [Ontrack ) ) ]
Access to antiretroviral treatment for HIV e MDD Working with third parties [Ontrack ) ) ]

Reducing child mortality

Progrossing wol) ) ) )

Our people Our planet

Progress

Progress

Developing our people in inspiring
and healthy workplaces

Frogressingwel) ) ) )

Aiming to be carbon neutral

Work needed -

Promoting inclusion and diversity

Ontrack ) ) |

Reducing our water impact

[Progressingwel) ) ) )

Reducing our waste

Community volunteering to
create change

[Completed ) ) ) ) )

Onvrack Y )
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Health for all

We are committed to
developing innovative
products and extending

access to healthcare to
more people, no matter
where they live or their
ability to pay.

Our approach

We are tackling some of the greatest
global health challenges by innovating to
meet unmet needs, making our medicines
and vaccines more accessible, and
strengthening healthcare systems.

Innovating for unmet needs

We aim to develop innovative products
for diseases that disproportionately affect
the world's poorest people and where
need is greatest.

In 2016, we committed to working with
governments, multinational organisations
and NGOs to enhance preparedness
against potential future outbreaks of
diseases such as Ebola and Zika. We
are supporting the Coalition for Epidemic
Preparedness Innovation (CEPI) (see case
study on page 33) and are proposing

to create a permanent ‘biopreparedness
organisation’ (BPO) at our Rockville,
Maryland Vaccines site.

Protecting refugees with essential vaccines

In 2016, our gel to help prevent umbilical
cord infections in newborns received a
positive scientific opinion from the European
Medicines Agency (EMA). Three million
babies die each year from infection, often
when the newly-cut umbilical cord attracts
bacteria — a particular issue in developing
countries. If approved by local regulators, we
will make the gel available at a not-for-profit
price and share manufacturing knowledge
so it can be widely made.

Our Mosquirix vaccine targets a significant
health threat — malaria. Phase Ill trials of the
vaccine, which received a positive opinion
from the EMA in 2015, have shown the
vaccine could have a considerable public
health impact when used in combination
with malaria control measures.

In 2016, the World Health Organization
confirmed that full funding has been
committed to enable the pilot implementation
of Mosquirix in three settings in sub-Saharan
Africa due to begin in early 2018.

Photo: Nour Wahid/Save the Children

We are supplying essential vaccines at our lowest price to civil
society organisations for use in acute humanitarian situations.

Along with their homes, livelihoods and
communities, refugees often lose easy
access to healthcare, leaving them potentially
vulnerable to vaccine-preventable disease.

In response, GSK has committed to supply
essential vaccines to internationally recognised
civil society organisations (CSOs) — such

as Médecins Sans Frontiéres and Save the
Children — at our lowest prices, for use in

acute humanitarian situations where governments
are unable to assist.

The first vaccine to be covered by this commitment
is Synflorix, our pneumococcal vaccine that
protects children against diseases such as
pneumonia. Working with partners such as Gavi,
the Vaccine Alliance, we will provide Synflorix at a
deeply discounted price to charities that fund and
deliver immunisation programmes to refugees and
displaced people. In the future, we will explore
extending this offer to other essential vaccines.

Our commitment is designed to help maintain
stable vaccination programmes during times of

great humanitarian need where governments
are unable to assist,

by developing a reliable and predictable
supply to CSOs that have stepped in.

At the same time, we will continue to work
with partners to strengthen the long-term
capacity of local health systems to support
refugees and host communities.

This pledge comes as tens of thousands

of refugees continue to flee conflict in Syria,
South Sudan and elsewhere.

It builds on decades of effort by GSK, working
with partners, to increase

access to our vaccines through charities
responding to emergencies.
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£21m

Since 2009, we have invested £21 million in
39 countries and trained 43,000 frontline
health workers who have reached 17.5
million people.

Our charitable giving in 2016 totalled
£210.2 million (2015 — £208.3 million)

il

@ Product & in-kind £127.2m
@ Cash £67.3m

® Management £12.3m

@ Time (PULSE) £3.4m

We also share our expertise, resources
and intellectual property with external
researchers. Our open innovation lab in
Tres Cantos, Spain, has built up a portfolio
of 63 research projects looking at diseases
of the developing world since 2010. It had
20 visiting scientists in 2016 and results
from the lab have led to papers in more
than 50 scientific publications. Our Africa
Non-Communicable Diseases Open Lab
is currently focusing on cardiovascular
disease, oncology, chronic respiratory
disease, chronic kidney disease and
diabetes. Its first project looks at severe
asthma across East Africa, led by Uganda’s
Makerere University.

Extending affordability and availability
We are committed to widening access to
our medicines and vaccines. Our equitable
pricing strategy is based on the country,
disease area, product type, and patient’s
ability to pay.

Since 2010, we have capped the prices
of our patented medicines and vaccines
in the least-developed countries (LDCs)
at 259% of the prices in the EU5 (France,
Germany, ltaly, Spain and the UK), as long
as our manufacturing costs are covered.

We offer our lowest vaccine prices to
organisations such as Gavi, the Vaccine
Alliance, which supports countries with

a low gross national income. In 2016, we
delivered more than 74 million doses of
our Synflorix vaccine against pneumoccal
disease and more than 35 million doses
of Rotarix, our vaccine against rotavirus
gastroenteritis.

In middle-income countries, where many
still live in poverty, our equitable pricing
approach enables more people to access
our products. In Egypt, we offer a portfolio
of prices to meet the needs of all levels

of income, including a price reduction

of Seretide inhaler devices targeted to
middle and lower income groups.

We also understand payer and patient
concerns about affordability in developed
markets and we are leading efforts to
develop sustainable solutions. For example,
in the USA, the last six GSK pharmaceutical
products were launched similar to or

below prices to the medicines we aim to
supersede. In 2016, we integrated three

of our US patient assistance programmes
into one GSK Patient Assistance Program,
which is designed to simplify and improve
the programme experience for eligible
uninsured patients and patients with a
Medicare Part D prescription Drug Plan.

In Europe, we continue to engage with

payers in all EU markets to balance affordable
cost to healthcare systems through funding
solutions which also support ongoing
innovation for medicines. We have achieved
reimbursement for our Ellipta portfolio in
most EU markets by finding local solutions
when issues of affordability challenged the
introduction of new innovation.

Strengthening healthcare systems

We reinvest 20% of our profits from the
sales of our Pharmaceuticals and Consumer
Healthcare products in LDCs to strengthen
healthcare infrastructure in these nations.
Since 2009, working with Amref Health
Africa, CARE International and Save the
Children, we have invested £21 million

in 39 countries, reached 17.5 million people
and trained 43,000 frontline health workers.

Through our pioneering partnership with
Save the Children, we reached 1.3 million
children with live-saving interventions

in 2016, bringing the total number to

2.6 million. Since 2013, over one million
children have been screened for malnutrition,
more than 86,500 under-fives have been
immunised, over 290,000 children have
been vaccinated against measles or polio,
and over 183,000 have been treated for
diarrhoea, malaria or pneumonia.
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Our behaviour

Our values underpin
everything we do - from
ensuring rigorous safety

standards to how we
interact with healthcare
professionals.

. GSK values
@ Be patient
focused

Act with
integrity

@ Demonstrate
respect for people

Operate with
transparency

: We expect all employees to act in line
. with our values.

Our approach

We aim to have a values-based culture by
training our people on the standards we
expect, encouraging the reporting of any
concerns and embedding our values into
the way we measure employee performance.

Patient and consumer safety

We manufacture our medicines and vaccines
according to current Good Manufacturing
Practice regulations and our internal Quality
Management System.

In 2016, we had 167 regulatory inspections
of our manufacturing sites and 86% of
these received no observations or minor
observations.? Eleven of the inspections
were conducted by the US Food and

Drug Administration (FDA), of which five
resulted in a Form 483 being issued to
sites, citing deficiencies to current Good
Manufacturing Practices (cGMP). None

of these observations had any direct impact
on product supply from our sites, and
corrective action plans to mitigate the
observations have been submitted to

the FDA in all cases.

Transparency in clinical trial data

GSK was the first company to sign up to
AllTrials, which campaigns for every clinical
trial to be registered and its results reported.
We have been leading the industry in clinical
study transparency over the past decade.

In 2016, we publicly posted more than
1,900 clinical study reports and more than
6,000 result summaries.

Researchers can submit proposals to
request access to the details of around
2,000 of our clinical trials through the
www.clinicalstudydatarequest.com website.
An independent panel reviews proposals
for scientific merit and to ensure patient
privacy and confidentiality are protected.

In 2016, 88 proposals were approved and
66 research teams were granted access

to anonymised patient-level data.

We have also begun providing plain
language summaries of our clinical studies
on our online clinical study register.

Working with third parties

We expect our suppliers to share our high
ethical standards. In 2016, we increased
our use of preferred suppliers, bringing
them to more than 90% of our global
purchase order spend. We continued the
roll-out of our global third-party oversight
programme, which reached a total of

43 countries across Latin America and
South East Asia. The programme aims

to drive improvements in our supply chain
and distributor network and ensure that
the third parties we engage with support
our values.

In 2016, we also completed over 70 third-
party audits on health and safety, ethics,
environment and labour rights. We also
conducted a further 1,850 audits focused
specifically on quality processes. Where
we identify areas for improvement, we
engage with the respective third parties to
develop improvement plans and track their
completion with the overall aim of enhancing
performance in the supply chain. We may
also suspend or terminate work with a
third-party if significant issues are identified.

Training our people

In 2016, we updated our Code of Conduct
and accompanying annual training to give
people a deeper understanding of how to
apply our values in their everyday activities.

In 2016, 99%° of our employees and
complementary workers completed
mandatory training on the code. The code
of conduct training enables the learner

to understand and manage the risks
associated with our business activities.
This includes anti-bribery and corruption
risk, to which we maintain a zero tolerance
approach. More than 70,000 people working
in high risk roles completed additional
in-depth anti-bribery and corruption training
to help them understand how to manage
particular challenges they may face in their
daily work.

Reporting and investigating concerns
We centrally track misconduct allegations
and concerns through our multiple Speak
Up channels. In 2016, our investigations
team received 2,568 reports, a 21%
reduction since 2015.

Footnotes

a At this time we are still awaiting 11 reports from
2016 inspections.

b The remaining 1% represents employees who did
not complete the training in the required time and are
subject to disciplinary action, as well as those who are
still within the completion timeframe (e.g. new starters).
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Employees disciplined in 2016:
breakdown of types of policy violation

2%

2%
2% 8%
3%

Vs

@ Attendance and
payroll
@ Training completion

® Marketing and
promotional activities

Code of conduct

@ Falsification of
documents

@ Good manufacturing
and distribution

practices @ Travel and expense
@ Local work regulations @ Environment, health
violations and safety
® Other

Putting patients’ interests first

Disciplinary action

We take action when employees fail to act
in line with our policies. During the year,
3,600 employees were disciplined for policy
violations (2015 — 3,574), including 499
employees for failing to complete mandatory
training (Code of Conduct and Anti-bribery
and Corruption) within the required

timeframe. Of the total disciplined, 2,499
employees received a documented warning
(2015 - 2,890), 547 had verbal warnings
(2015 — 297) and 221 were dismissed or
agreed to leave the company voluntarily
(2015 — 387). Most of these were related

to attendance and payroll which included
disciplinary actions related to employee
absence, punctuality or misstating hours
worked.

Human rights

GSKiis a signatory to the UN Global
Compact, which sets out key principles
for business on human rights. We are
committed to upholding the Universal
Declaration of Human Rights and the
International Labour Organisation’s core
labour standards.

We focus on those areas where our
operations have the biggest potential impact
on human rights. We manage human rights
risks in the supply chain by reinforcing our
requirements on labour rights and health

and safety and ensuring these are
communicated consistently through our
revised third-party contracts. We monitor
existing suppliers and screen new ones.

Our approach to tax

We understand our responsibility to pay
an appropriate amount of tax and we fully
support efforts to ensure companies are
transparent about how they manage their
tax affairs.

We pay a significant amount of tax in the UK,
where most of our global corporate functions
and significant manufacturing and R&D
facilities are located, and in other countries
around the world where we have a substantial
business and employment presence.

Over the past 16 years, we have paid
£28.9 billion in corporation tax globally.
Of this, £2.8 billion, nearly 10% of the
global total, was paid in the UK. Read
more on page 178.

We do not engage in artificial tax
arrangements — those without business
or commercial substance. At the same
time, we have a responsibility to our
shareholders to be financially efficient
and deliver a sustainable tax rate.

Further details on our approach to tax and
our tax disclosures can be found on page 55.

ralrs L

We continue to lead the industry in modernising
the way we market and sell our medicines.

Since January 2016, we stopped paying
healthcare professionals (HCPs) to speak

to other prescribers about our medicines

and vaccines. Instead, we have strengthened our
online resources to supplement information
provided by our salesforce.

We have also significantly expanded our

global team of in-house medical experts to provide
information about our medicines and vaccines to
HCPs in ways that are convenient to them. We
now have around 400 medical experts dedicated
exclusively to supporting HCPs, and a further 900
who also engage

with them as part of their roles.

Where we do pay HCPs — for activities such

as clinical or market research that help us develop
medicines and vaccines to meet patients’ needs
— we are transparent about these transactions.
We now disclose all payments made to HCPs in
32 markets

across Europe (including Russia and Ukraine),
Australia, Japan and the US.

We have also changed the way GSK

sales teams are compensated. Since January
2015, our pharmaceutical medical sales
representatives are no longer compensated
for individual sales targets. Instead they are
rewarded on their technical skills, scientific
knowledge, quality of service, and broader
business performance.

Our new approach is being well received:
following medical product information
sessions with GSK experts in over 60
countries, 92% of more than 42,000

HCPs agreed the interaction helped them
make a more informed decision, benefiting
patient care. Around 79% rated their
experience as superior to similar interactions
with other pharmaceutical companies. We
have also seen an improvement in customer
trust. Ina

survey of US HCPs in 2016, GSK ranked first
for customer trust for the fourth year

in a row, and for customer value for the

third time.
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Our people

We aim to create a safe
and inclusive environment
where everyone can reach

their full potential.

Future Leaders programme

Our approach

We need a talented and motivated workforce
to deliver against our strategy. To achieve
this, we strive to attract the best people

and to create an environment that empowers
and inspires. Our people strategy focuses
on talent, leadership, performance and
engagement.

Talent and leadership

Our talent and leadership programmes
focus on developing our employees at all
levels with the skills they need to advance
their careers.

In 2016, we welcomed 465 graduates

and postgraduates onto our Future Leaders
and Esprit programmes, including 164
from emerging markets. GSK was voted
top graduate employer for Research and
Development in The Times Top 100
Graduate Employers 2016 (for the 19th
successive year) and ranked 13th overall.

We put particular emphasis on leadership
development. In 2016, we trained around
3,500 people to support their promotion to
first and second line leader roles; continued
to evolve our global leadership development
programmes; and have found that managers
who complete them show significant
improvement in effectiveness based on
feedback from their teams.

We also trained 245 leaders as coaches,
with our strategic use of coaching being
recognised as world-class by the
International Coach Federation’s Prism
Award.

Performance and engagement

Our global performance system centres
on a set of clear expectations that
emphasises not just the results people
achieve, but the way they achieve them
in line with our values.

Listening to our people is essential for
employee engagement. Responding even
more so. During the year, we responded to
the insights from our 2015 global employee
survey, which 78% of employees completed.
Members of our CET hosted five ‘listening
sessions’ with over 200 senior leaders.
They then conducted discussions on the
topics raised, including how we evaluate
performance.

441

graduates joined our Future Leaders
programme in 2016

Building the next generation of leaders.

Our Future Leaders programme is delivering the
fresh ideas and talent needed to continue driving
our success across key markets.

It provides graduates with a breadth of potential
career pathways — from R&D and finance, to
marketing and procurement —

with the option to move between functions during
several job rotations.

Such job rotations make up 70% of the
programme, with feedback, mentoring and
coaching constituting a further 20%, and formal
training the remainder. This balance enables
graduates to develop the specific

skills to be effective in their individual role

and business, while getting a broad grasp

of the company and learning GSK's

distinctive global leadership approach.

The programme is rated highly by participants.
A recent survey of alumni

from the Future Leaders programme found
that 89% of respondents felt the rotations
helped them to develop relevant skills and
experience for their career at GSK.

The benefits to the business are also clear.
The number and geographical spread of the
intake means we have home-grown leaders
rooted in all our markets, including emerging
countries. In 2016, we had 441 new recruits
representing 59 nationalities from 58
countries — up from 130 from

eight nations in 2012.
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Women in management (%)

2014 2015 2016
SVP/VP 29 29 30
Director 40 40 42
Manager 45 45 46
Total 42 49 43
Employees by gender (number)

Male Female Total
Board 9 4 13
Management* 9,637 7337 16,874
Total 56,104 43,196 99,300

* Management: senior managers as defined in the
Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’
Report) Regulations 2013 which includes persons
responsible for planning, directing or controlling the
activities of the company, or a strategically significant part
of the company, other than the Board, including directors
or undertakings included in the consolidated accounts.

73

GSK employees from 25 countries
spent up to six months with 31 non-profit
organisations to share their skills.

To monitor progress, we have also
introduced ‘pulse’ surveys to evaluate

the impact of engagement efforts at more
regular intervals than our annual survey.

Promoting inclusion and diversity

The diverse perspectives and experiences
of our global workforce strengthen our
business and help us meet the needs

of our patients and consumers.

The percentage of women in management
rose to 43% in 2016, and women
represented 15% of our Corporate Executive
Team (CET) and 31% of our Board (this
compares with an average of 26% among
FTSE100 boards, according to the Cranfield
Board report).

In 2016, more than 200 women began
our Accelerating Difference programme,
which helps female leaders progress to
senior roles. The programme was
recognised as best practice in Cranfield
University's The Female FTSE Board
Report 2016.

We are a global organisation and we want
our leaders to represent the varied markets
we serve. Five nationalities are currently
represented on the CET and the Board.

As part of our efforts to promote an
environment where everyone feels included,
in 2016, we established a Lesbian, Gay,
Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) Council.
The Council is chaired by our President of
Pharmaceuticals R&D, endorsed by the CET,
and aims to engage and educate employees
on LGBT issues. We achieved a 100%
score in the Human Rights Campaign
Foundation's Corporate Equality Index
which rates workplaces on LGBT equality

in the US.

Making GSK a more accessible place to
work for people with disabilities is a priority
for us. We are working with the Global
Disability Council to develop an online
accessibility portal which allows employees
to find information on support or adjustments
to their working environments. We are
committed to removing barriers, increasing
understanding and ensuring that those with
disabilities have the same opportunities.

Employee volunteering

In 2016, 73 GSK employees from

25 countries contributed £3.4 million
worth of skilled services to 31 non-profit
partners in 27 countries, through our
PULSE Volunteer Partnership. They
worked on assignments aligned to
worldwide healthcare challenges and
the UN Sustainable Development Goals.

Health and wellbeing

As a healthcare company we think hard
about how we can best support not only

the health of our patients and consumers

but also our employees. Through our global
energy and resilience training programmes
and our innovative and ambitious Partnership
for Prevention programme (P4P), we have
created strong foundations.

Through P4P we now offer almost

100,000 employees and family members

in 75 countries unprecedented access

to preventive healthcare services, such

as immunisations and cancer screening,

at little or no extra cost. In 2016 we extended
these services to India, Russia and the
Commonwealth of Independent States,
keeping us on track to achieve our goal

of global coverage by 2018.

Protecting our people

We want to prevent incidents before

they occur; however, as a global business
operating in more than 150 markets,
injuries do occur.

In 2016, we had a reportable injury and
illness rate of 0.26 per 100,000 hours
worked which, according to Pharmaceutical
Safety Group (PSG) data, is comparable

to other leading companies in our sector.
Sadly, we had one fatality in 2016, a sales
representative died as a result of a road
traffic incident in India. To try to prevent
road incidents we have driver safety
programmes in India, Indonesia and Vietnam,
with 4,000 people taking part in 2016.
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Our planet

We aim to reduce our
environmental impacts
across our value chain

while extending access
to our products.

Our approach

We aim to reduce our environmental impacts
across our value chain while extending
access to our products, by minimising

our carbon footprint, water use and
operational waste.

Carbon

In 2016, our operational emissions (Scope

1 and 2) totalled 1.6 million tonnes of COqe;
this is broadly the same as the previous year
and represents an 18% decrease against
our 2010 baseline. We reduced our
emissions through a continued focus on
energy efficiency, renewable energy and
investment in sustainable buildings.

In 2016, we revised our calculation method
for our Scope 3 emissions with the current
GHG protocol methodology which now
includes the impact of purchased services,
capital investments, fuel and energy related
activities, logistics upstream in the supply
chain, and all business travel and commuting.
Based on this latest methodology, we
increased our 2010 baseline figure to

18.7 million tonnes of CO,e from 15 million
tonnes of CO,e.

In 20152, our overall carbon footprint
(Scope 1, 2 and 3) increased from

17.8 million tonnes CO,e in 2014 to
20.3 million tonnes of CO,e due to the
Novartis integration. This represents an
8.5% increase to our overall footprint
versus our 2010 baseline. Excluding
Novartis, our footprint has remained

flat from 2010-2015 despite the volume
of medicines, vaccines and consumer
healthcare products shipped from our
factories having increased by approximately
40% over the same period.

Our supply chain represents the largest
part of our value chain footprint (51%)
followed by the use of our products (30%).
Our own operations, logistics and end of
life disposal make up the remaining 19%.

As our largest value chain impact, we focus
on helping our suppliers make environmental
improvements. For example, 188 suppliers
(covering £1 billion of our spend on direct
raw materials) disclose information through
Ecodesk, an online platform to monitor and
promote environmental improvements in
our supply chain. In addition, more than
350 suppliers use our online sustainability
collaboration platform, the GSK Supplier
Exchange, to share best practice.

Certain products have a disproportionate
effect on our value chain emissions,
particularly our Ventolin propellant-based
inhalers, which emit greenhouse gases
during use. We continue to research
solutions to this issue, including changing
the way we manufacture, to reduce the
amount of propellant used, while maintaining
efficacy for patients.

Footnote

a  Our most recently available Scope 3 data is
from 2015. We will publish 2016 data online
in late 2017

Carbon emissions plus intensity ratios (as per regulations)

Tonnes COqe? 2013 2014 2015° 2016
Scope 1 emissions 1,040,928 851,113 885,155 893,418
Scope 2 emissions 788,149 744,973 730,168 716,448

Data available

Scope 3 emissions 16,630,521 16,093,060 18,690,183 May 2017
Intensity ratios 2013 2014 2015 2016
Scope 1 and 2 emissions/sales revenue

(tonnes COye/Em) 69.0 69.4 675 577
Scope 1 and 2/FTE

(tonnes CO,e/FTE) 18.4 16.3 16.0 16.2

a Carbon emissions are calculated according to the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting

Standard (revised edition).

b Data includes former Novartis sites’ emissions and headcount.
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~70%

of our sites have successfully

achieved zero waste to landfill by re-
purposing materials that would otherwise go
to waste, or by using waste-to-energy
services.

Water

Our new Water Stewardship Policy
reinforces our commitment to reduce
GSK's water impact across the value chain.
We continue to look for ways to use water
more efficiently and reduce consumption.
We used 14.5 million m® of water across
our operations in 2016, a 23% reduction
on 2010 and 3% less than 2015.

The amount we use is just one aspect of
our overall water impact across our value
chain, which includes factors such as local
water scarcity and quality, and health, social,
regulatory and reputational risks.

We focus our efforts on a small number

of high-impact GSK sites in water-scarce
regions, and on the agricultural supply chain
for our Horlicks products, which makes up
the biggest portion of our total value chain
water footprint.

GSK recognised by CDP as leaders in climate change and water

An innovative project in Rajasthan, an arid
region of India, is now replenishing the water
source for the village of Sawaipura with
around a quarter of the amount of water that
our three Horlicks factories located across
India use in their operations. Together with
Alternative Development Initiatives, an Indian
NGO, we are also supporting communities
around the Horlicks supply chain to improve
water management and agricultural yields.

Waste

We aim to reduce our operational waste

by 50% by 2020, compared with 2010.

In 2016, our operations produced 137
thousand tonnes of waste — 4% less than
the previous year and 23% below our 2010
baseline. The majority (73%) was recycled
or incinerated to recover energy, with only
5% sent to landfill. Around 70% of our sites
have now achieved zero waste to landfill

by repurposing materials that would
otherwise go to waste, or by using
waste-to-energy services.

GSK included in prestigious CDP ‘A list’ for climate and water.

Our efforts to reduce carbon emissions

were acknowledged with inclusion in the

CDP ‘Climate A List’. CDP assessed companies
globally from across ten industry sectors, we were
one of only 193 companies (9% of applicants) and
seven healthcare companies to be A-listed.

Our high rating reflects the significant steps

we have taken to help meet our goal of becoming
carbon neutral by 2050, while continuing to grow
our business and meet the healthcare needs of
more people.

This has included reducing emissions during
the manufacture of inhalers and launching our
Complete the Cycle scheme, the first of its
kind to work with pharmacists and patients to
recover and recycle inhalers. Such steps have
helped us to reduce our operational
emissions by 18% since 2010.

We were also one of only 24 (3% of
applicants) companies, and the only
healthcare company to be included in

the Water A List. This success reflects

our achievements in reducing water usage
by 239% since 2010 and our commitment to
water stewardship.
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We continued to make
progress in delivering
against our strategy as
well as the financial goals
we have set out in our
financial architecture.

Viability statement

Our viability statement sets out our
assessment of the prospects of the Group
over the next three years and is presented on
page 56.

Footnote

a We use a number of adjusted, non-IFRS, measures
to report the performance of our business, as
described on page 57, including core results, free
cash flow and CER and pro-forma growth rates.
Non-IFRS measures may be considered in addition
to, but not as a substitute for or superior to,
information presented in accordance with IFRS.

In 2016, we continued to make progress
in delivering against our strategy as well
as the financial goals we have set out in
our financial architecture. All three of our
businesses contributed to the delivery of
more broadly-based revenue growth. Our
continued focus on the execution of our
integration and restructuring programmes
accelerated the delivery of the targeted
benefits, allowing us to improve margins
and operating leverage, while still making
substantial investments behind new
products, and supply chain improvements,
as well as progressing the R&D pipeline.

We have also maintained our focus on
financial efficiency and in the allocation of
our capital, allowing us to deliver core EPS
growth? ahead of sales growth and at the
top end of our financial guidance, as well
as a significant improvement in our cash
generation and a dividend of 80 pence

per share.

Financial architecture

Our financial architecture is designed to
support the consistent execution of our
strategy and to enhance the returns we
deliver to shareholders. It is focused on
delivering more sustainable sales growth
across the company, improving operating
leverage, or profitability, and enhancing our
financial efficiency. This is with the objective
of driving growth in EPS ahead of our sales
performance and then converting more

of those earnings into cash that can be
used to invest in the business or returned
to shareholders, wherever we see the

most attractive returns.

This clear set of priorities ensures
consistency in how capital is allocated
across and between the different businesses
within GSK, with relative returns from each
business benchmarked to relevant external
comparatives using a Cash Flow Return on
Investment (CFROI) based framework of
metrics. Specific capital investments are
also benchmarked in a similar way.

Reporting framework

In addition to total or reported results,
prepared under IFRS, the Annual Report
makes reference to a number of core
performance measures which are used

by management for planning and reporting
purposes. These are non-IFRS measures
adjusted for a number of items management
believe it is useful to separate so that the
key trends driving the performance of the
business can be more clearly identified by
shareholders. Core results may, however,
vary significantly from total results as some
of the adjustments may be material, as was
the case in 2016.

The items adjusted for between total and
core results are consistent each year but
those that were most significant in 2016
include re-measurement charges related
to the liabilities for future contingent
consideration, most significantly the
consideration due to Shionogi related

to its former interest in dolutegravir, and
the value of future put options as well as
major restructuring charges.

IFRS requires us to provide for contingent
consideration liabilities related to previous
business acquisitions on the basis of the
estimated present value of any potential
future payments. These estimates could have
a broad range of outcomes. The effect of the
IFRS accounting treatment is that GSK
recognises these fair value liabilities in the
balance sheet, with any charges for re-
measurement of them reflected immediately
in other operating income. GSK will make
cash payments in the future to discharge
these liabilities but as the liabilities were
established on acquisition or through
subsequent re-measurement charges to

the income statement, the payments will

not be charged to future earnings.

Sales growth

All three of our businesses delivered

growth in line with or above the medium-
term growth expectations we laid out for
them at our Capital Markets Day in 2015.
Pharmaceuticals sales were up 14% at
actual rates and 3% CER (4% pro-forma
CER) with growth from new products more
than offsetting the decline in Seretide/Advair
sales. In addition to strong growth in HIV,
the respiratory portfolio returned to growth in
2016, up 13% at actual rates and 2% CER.

Vaccines sales were up 26% at actual rates
and 14% CER (12% pro-forma CER), driven
by strong execution across the business,
particularly around the flu and meningitis
franchises, and Bexsero in particular.

Consumer Healthcare delivered a strong
performance in the first full year of the joint
venture with sales up 19% at actual rates
and 9% CER (5% pro-forma CER) as
growth from the seven power brands more
than offset some tough comparators and
headwinds in international markets.

Operating leverage

The total operating margin was 9.3%

of sales compared with 43.1% in 2015,

the movement primarily reflecting the
combination of higher remeasurement
charges for the Consumer Healthcare put
option and the ViiV Healthcare contingent
consideration liability in 2016, and the
benefit to 2015 of the profit on the disposal
of the Oncology business in that year.
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Sales growth
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Cash flow growth

Our core operating margin improved,

driven by increased leverage in all three
businesses. The pro-forma core margin® was
up 460 basis points in total, with 200 points
coming from currency, and 260 points from
operational improvements. This was driven
by a combination of leverage from stronger
growth in the top line, and £1.4 billion
(including £200 million of currency benefits)
of additional integration and restructuring
benefits, as well as continued tight cost
control that allowed us to deliver the margin
improvements while continuing to make
important investments in all three businesses.

Accelerating the delivery of the targeted
benefits of the integration and restructuring
programme has been a key objective and we
are pleased with the progress made this year
through a sustained focus across the Group
on executing this programme. By the end of
2016 we had delivered annual benefits of
£2.8 billion, (excluding £200 million of
currency benefits), almost the full target of
the programme a year earlier than originally
planned. We are confident in delivering the
remaining £200 million during 2017 to bring
the total benefits delivered to £3 billion of
annual savings on a constant currency basis.

Financial efficiency

We continue to focus on improving our
financial efficiency and overall funding

costs while protecting our credit profile

and, in particular, our short-term target credit
ratings. Net finance costs were up slightly,
mainly due to currency.

Earnings per share

Total EPS was 18.8p (2015 — 174.3p). The
decline primarily reflected the comparison
with the £9.2 billion profit from the sale of
our marketed Oncology assets to Novartis in
2015, but also the impact in 2016 of charges
arising from increases in the valuations of the
liabilities for contingent consideration and
the put options associated with increases

in the sterling value of the Group'’s HIV and
Consumer Healthcare businesses.

EPS

Free cash flow

The impact on the decline in total EPS was
partly offset by the benefit of the improved
operating performance and reduced
restructuring charges in the year.

Core EPS of 102.4p* was up 35% at actual
exchange rates and up 12% at constant
exchange rates.

Contingent consideration

At the end of 2016, GSK had liabilities for
contingent consideration payments of £5.9
billion, of which £5.3 billion related to the
estimated present value of future payments

to Shionogi by ViiV Healthcare. The payments
to Shionogi are calculated each quarter
based on a high-teens percentage of the
revenues of the relevant products, principally
dolutegravir, with the discounted fair value of
the total future payments reflecting the current
expectations of total future sales of those
products. Further details are provided in

Note 39, ‘Contingent consideration liabilities’.

Free cash flow

Net cash inflow from operating activities
was £6.5 billion and free cash flow for

the Group was £3.1 billion?, significantly
improved on the small outflow we saw

in 2015. This was driven by our improved
operating performance, including continued
tight control of capital expenditure and
restructuring expenditure, as well as the
benefit of currency tail winds. We continue
to make progress towards our objective of
rebuilding the cash generating capacity

of the Group post the completion of the
restructuring and integration programme.

Net debt

Net debt at the end of 2016 was £13.8
billion, £3.1 billion higher than the net debt at
the end of 2015. Currency was a significant
factor with adverse translation effects driving
£2.2 billion of the increase. The remaining
increase of £0.9 billion reflected the impact
of dividends paid during the year of £4.9
billion, including the special dividend of £1.0
billion declared in 2015, being only partly
offset by disposal proceeds of approximately
£1.0 billion and free cash flow of £3.1 billion.

—>
—>

Returns to

shareholders

2017 guidance

We expect continued progress in 2017, with
all three businesses expected to continue to
benefit from recent new product launches and
from the investments we made during 2016.

The expectation for 2017 core EPS growth is
dependent on a number of factors including,
in particular, uncertainties relating to the
timing and extent of potential generic
competition to Advair in the US.

In the event that no generic version of Advair
is introduced to the US market in 2017, the
Group expects 2017 core EPS growth of
5-7% at CER®?. This is based on an expected
decline in 2017 in US Advair sales of
15-20%.

In the event of a mid-year introduction of a
substitutable generic competitor to Advair
in the US, the Group expects full-year 2017
US Advair sales of around £1 billion at CER
(US$1.36/£1), with core EPS flat to a slight
decline in percentage terms at CER®.

We are not able to give guidance for total
results as we cannot reliably forecast certain
material elements of our total results such
as the future fair value movements on
contingent consideration and put options.

Returns to shareholders

In 2016, we maintained our ordinary dividend
at 80p per share, the same level as we paid in
2015. This is in line with the commitment we
made to shareholders at the time we closed
the Novartis transaction in early 2015 to
maintain the dividend as we completed the
integration and reshaping of the Group,
despite the short-term pressures in free cash
flow that the restructuring costs would create.

A fuller review of the financial results is set
out on pages 55 to 78.

Simon Dingemans
Chief Financial Officer
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Approach to tax

We understand our
responsibility to pay an
appropriate amount of tax
while being financially
efficient and delivering

a sustainable tax rate.

Footnote

a We use a number of adjusted, non-IFRS, measures
to report the performance of our business, as
described on page 57, including core results, free
cash flow and CER and pro-forma growth rates.
Non-IFRS measures may be considered in addition
to, but not as a substitute for or superior to,
information presented in accordance with IFRS.

We understand our responsibility to pay

: an appropriate amount of tax, and fully

: support efforts to ensure companies are
transparent about how their tax affairs are
: managed. Tax is an important element of

: the economic contribution we bring to the
: countries in which we operate. We do not
i engage in artificial tax arrangements —

. those without business or commercial

: substance. We do not seek to avoid tax by
: the use of ‘tax havens’ or transactions we
would not fully disclose to a tax authority.

: At the same time, we have a responsibility
to our shareholders to be financially

. efficient and deliver a sustainable tax

. rate. As part of this approach, we look

¢ to align our investment strategies to

i those countries where we already have

. substantial economic activity, and where
: government policies promote tax regimes
¢ which are attractive to business

: investment, transparent in their intent

: and available to all relevant tax payers

: such as the UK Patent Box.

1 In 2016, the Group corporate tax charge

© was £877 million (2015 — £2,154 million)

¢ on profits of £1,939 million (2015 —

£10,526 million) representing an effective

! tax rate of 45.2% (2015 — 20.5%). The

: increase in the total tax rate primarily
reflected higher non-deductible

: remeasurement charges related to the put

. option liabilities and lower credits from the

: re-assessment of prior years’ tax charges.

: We made cash tax payments of £1,609

¢ million in the year (2015 — £2,062 million).

In addition to the taxes we pay on our
profits, we pay duties, levies, transactional

and employment taxes.

The ongoing alignment of our Group

. structure to reflect our mix of operations

: and geographies has helped us maintain
: an efficient effective tax rate. Our core tax

rate for 2016 was 21.2%¢ (2015 — 19.5%).

The core tax rate for 2017 is expected to

be in the range of 21-22%?. Given the

: Group’s momentum, changing earnings

mix and the challenging and uncertain

tax environment, (due to the factors
: described below) some moderate upward

pressure on the rate is expected over the
next few years.

: Taxrisk is managed by a set of policies
: and procedures to seek to ensure
: consistency and compliance with tax

legislation. Our Audit & Risk Committee

and the Board are responsible for
: approving our tax policies and risk

management.

We seek to maintain open, positive
relationships with governments and tax
authorities worldwide and we welcome
constructive debate on taxation policy.

There continued to be a significant
focus on tax reform during 2016,
including the OECD's Base Erosion
and Profit Shifting (BEPS’) project and
European Commission initiatives such
as the increased use of fiscal state aid
investigations. The OECD BEPS reports
clarify the important principle that tax
should be paid on profits throughout the
supply chain, where the profit making
activity takes place.

GSK supports this approach, in particular
the implementation of the OECD'’s
recommendations on ‘Country by Country
Reporting’, including the exchange of this
data between tax authorities, as being key
to its success. This data, validated against
existing information held on taxpayers, will
support their ability to ensure multinational
groups pay the right amount of tax.

While the scope and timeline for US

tax reform remain uncertain at present,
GSK would be supportive of any steps to
simplify the US tax code and to provide a
clear roadmap to make the US tax system
more efficient and competitive.

The tax implications of Brexit are
dependent on the outcome of negotiations
between the UK and EU, and are therefore
currently unknown. However, we continue
to work closely with the ABPI and BIA to
analyse implications for the industry in
order to highlight key focus areas for

the government as part of its Brexit
negotiations. The direct tax implications
are expected to be limited for GSK while
the indirect tax implications may be more
significant, including potential customs
duty costs and additional transaction

or administrative costs associated with
managing import and export obligations
on the movement of goods between the
UK and EU.

Our approach to tax is set out in detail
within the Public Policy positions section
of our website. Further details about our
corporate tax charges for the year are set
out on page 178.
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In accordance with provision C.2.2 of the 2014 revision of the

Code, GSK has assessed the prospects of the Company over a
longer period than the 12 months required by the ‘Going Concern’
provision. The Directors confirm that they have a reasonable
expectation that GSK will continue to operate and meets its liabilities,
as they fall due, over the next three years. The Directors’ assessment
has been made with reference to GSK's current position and
prospects, our strategy, the Board's risk appetite and GSK's
principal risks and how these are managed, as detailed on pages

18 and 19 in the Strategic report.

The Board reviews our internal controls and risk management
policies and approves our governance structure and code of
conduct. It also appraises and approves major financing, investment
and licensing decisions, and evaluates and monitors the performance
and prospects of GSK as a whole. The focus is largely on improving
our long-term financial performance through simplifying the operating
model, growing a diversified global business, and delivering more
products of value.

The Board reviews GSK's strategy and makes significant capital
investment decisions over a long term time horizon, based on a
multi-year assessment of return on capital, the performance of
business units, and the market opportunity in the pharmaceutical,
vaccines and consumer sectors. This approach is aligned to GSK's
model of achieving balanced growth by investing in high quality,
innovative products for patients, consumers and healthcare
providers. However, since many internal and external parameters
become increasingly unpredictable over longer time horizons, GSK
focuses its detailed, bottom-up Plan on a three year cycle. The Plan
is reviewed at least annually by the Directors, who approve business
forecasts showing expected financial impact. The Directors believe
that a three year assessment period for the Viability statement is
most appropriate as it aligns with the Company'’s well established
business planning processes that balance the long term nature of
investments in the pharmaceutical, vaccines and consumer sectors
with an assessment of the period over which analysis of near term
business performance is realistically visible.

The Plan has been stress tested in a series of robust operational
and principal risk downside scenarios as part of the Board's review
on risk. The downside scenarios consider GSK's cash flows,
sustainability of dividends, funding strategy, insurance provision and
recovery as well as other key financial ratios over the period. These
metrics have been subject to sensitivity analyses, which involve
flexing a number of the main assumptions underlying the forecasts
both individually and in combination, along with mitigating actions
that could realistically be taken to avoid or reduce the impact or
occurrence of the underlying risk.

The following hypothetical downside scenarios have been evaluated:

Scenario 1: Business performance risks. These include key
performance risks, including lower sales from new products; the
possible impact of a generic alternative to Seretide/Advair in the US;
greater adverse impact from generic competition to other GSK
products; as well as possible supply and manufacturing challenges.

Scenario 2: External and macroeconomic risks. This scenario reflects
incremental risks to the business driven by outside factors, such as
more intense competition, increased pricing pressure in both the US
and Europe as well as the potential impact of material negative
changes in the macro-economic and healthcare environment.

Scenario 3: Principal risks. This scenario includes a severe
assessment of the potential loss impact from the Principal Risks

set out on pages 253 to 262 related to patient safety, product
quality, supply chain continuity as well as anti-bribery and corruption,
all of which could fundamentally threaten our operations. These risks
are managed through mitigating activities described on pages 253
to 262.

Scenario 4: Put option exercise. This scenario evaluates the
additional funding requirements assuming the earliest potential
exercise of the outstanding put options held by our partners in the
HIV and consumer businesses.

The three year review also makes certain assumptions about the
normal level of capital recycling likely to occur and considers whether
additional financing facilities will be required and the respective level
of funding flexibility and headroom.

The results of this stress testing show that certain combinations of
these hypothetical scenarios could increase funding demands on
GSK and require mitigating changes to the Group's funding strategy.
However, in light of the liquidity available to the Group and based on
this analysis, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that, even
under these most severe stress tests, the Company will be able to
continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the
three year period of assessment.
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Presentation of Group results

Our Group financial review discusses the operating and financial
performance of the Group, cash flows and our financial position and
resources. We compare the results for each year primarily with the
results of the preceding year.

Total results

Total reported results represent the Group's overall performance.
However, these results can contain material unusual or non-
operational items that may obscure the key trends and factors
determining the Group'’s operational performance. As a result,
we also report core results, which is a non-IFRS measure.

Core results

Core results exclude the following items from total results:
amortisation and impairment of intangible assets (excluding
computer software) and goodwill; major restructuring costs,
including those costs following material acquisitions; legal charges
(net of insurance recoveries) and expenses on the settlement

of litigation and government investigations; transaction-related
accounting adjustments for significant acquisitions, and other
items, including disposals of associates, products and businesses,
and other operating income other than royalty income, together
with the tax effects of all of these items.

These items are excluded from core results either because their
impact can be significant or because their exclusion improves
comparabilities and consistency of reporting with the majority
of our peer companies. This definition of core results aligns the
Group's results better with the majority of our peer companies
and how they report earnings.

Core results reporting is utilised as one of the bases for internal
performance reporting alongside total results, cash flow generation
and a number of other metrics. Core results are presented and
discussed in this Group financial review as we believe that core
results are more representative of the performance of the Group’s
operations and allow the key trends and factors driving that
performance to be more easily and clearly identified by shareholders.
For the same reasons, the results of our four segments:
Pharmaceuticals, Pharmaceuticals R&D, Vaccines and Consumer
Healthcare are reported and measured on the same basis.

Reconciliations between total and core results, including detailed
breakdowns of the key non-core items, are set out on page 66, and
are provided to shareholders to ensure full visibility and transparency
as they assess the Group’s performance.

We also use a number of other adjusted, non-IFRS, measures

to report the performance of our business. These measures are

used by management for planning and reporting purposes and in
discussions with and presentations to investment analysts and rating
agencies and may not be directly comparable with similarly described
measures used by other companies. Non-IFRS measures may be
considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for or superior to,
information presented in accordance with IFRS.

Pro-forma growth rates

The Novartis transaction completed on 2 March 2015 and so GSK's
reported results include the results of the former Novartis Vaccines
and Consumer Healthcare businesses and exclude the results of the
former GSK Oncology business, both from 2 March 2015. For the
Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare segments, pro-forma growth
rates are calculated comparing reported turnover and core operating
profits for the year ended December 2016 with the turnover and
operating profit for the year ended December 2015 adjusted to
include the two months of sales of the former Novartis Vaccines

and Consumer Healthcare products, respectively.

For the Pharmaceuticals segment, the turnover and operating profit
for the year ended December 2015 is adjusted to exclude the two
months of sales of the former GSK Oncology business for January
and February 2015.

Reconciliations between the reported growth rates and pro-forma
growth rates, which are non-IFRS measures, are set out on page 70.

Contingent consideration

GSK has recognised a significant liability for contingent consideration
(£5,896 million at 31 December 2016 on a fair value discounted basis)
of which £5,304 million represented the estimated present value

of future amounts payable to Shionogi relating to ViiV Healthcare,
discounted at 8.5%. The payments to Shionogi are calculated

based on the sales performance over the life of the relevant products,
principally dolutegravir, as described on page 58. The effect of the
IFRS accounting treatment is that GSK recognises these fair value
liabilities in the balance sheet, with remeasurement charges reflected
immediately in other operating income. These charges are adjusted
from total results to present core results. GSK will make cash
payments in the future to discharge this liability which will not be
recorded in the profit and loss account and future earnings.

Changes to segment reporting

The completion of the Novartis transaction on 2 March 2015
changed the balance of the Group and GSK has changed its
segment reporting to reflect this. With effect from 1 January 2016,
GSK has reported results under four segments: Pharmaceuticals,
which includes HIV, Pharmaceuticals R&D, Vaccines and Consumer
Healthcare. In addition, a number of minor product reclassifications
between the segments have been made. Comparative information
has been restated accordingly.

Free cash flow

Free cash flow, which is a non-IFRS measure, is the net cash

inflow from operating activities less capital expenditure, interest and
dividends paid to non-controlling interests plus proceeds from the
sale of property, plant and equipment and dividends received from
joint ventures, associated undertakings and equity investments. It is
used by management for planning and reporting purposes and in
discussions with and presentations to investment analysts and rating
agencies. Free cash flow growth is calculated on a reported basis.
A reconciliation of net cash inflow from operations to free cash flow
is presented on page 71.

Adjusted free cash flow

Adjusted free cash flow, which is a non-IFRS measure, excludes
payments made to settle legal disputes. Such payments could
fluctuate significantly between reporting periods and removing
them allows the trends in free cash flow to be more easily identified
by shareholders. A reconciliation of net cash inflow from operations
to adjusted free cash flow is presented on page 71.

Working capital conversion cycle

The working capital conversion cycle is calculated as the number

of days sales outstanding plus days inventory outstanding, less days
purchases outstanding.

CER growth

In order to illustrate underlying performance, it is our practice to
discuss the results in terms of constant exchange rate (CER) growth.
This represents growth calculated as if the exchange rates used to
determine the results of overseas companies in Sterling had remained
unchanged from those used in the previous year. CER% represents
growth at constant exchange rates. £% or AER% represents growth
at actual exchange rates.

All growth rates included in this Report are at CER unless otherwise
stated.
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Non-controlling interests in ViiV Healthcare

Trading profit allocations

Because ViiV Healthcare is a subsidiary of the Group, 100% of
its operating results (turnover, operating profit, profit after tax) are
included within the Group income statement and then a portion
of the earnings is allocated to the non-controlling interests owned
by the other shareholders, in line with their respective equity
shareholdings (Pfizer 11.7% and Shionogi 10%). Each of the
shareholders, including GSK; is also entitled to preferential dividends
determined by the performance of certain products that each
shareholder contributed. As the relative performance of these
products changes over time, the proportion of the overall earnings
of ViiV Healthcare allocated to each shareholder will change.

In particular, the increasing sales of Tivicay and Triumeq have a
favourable impact on the proportion of the preferential dividends
that is allocated to GSK. GSK was entitled to approximately 80%
of the core earnings of ViiV Healthcare for 2016. This does not
take account of the cash payments made to Shionogi by ViiV
Healthcare which are not recorded in earnings. Remeasurements
of the liabilities for the preferential dividends allocated to Pfizer
and Shionogi are included within other operating income.

Acquisition-related arrangements

As part of the agreement reached to acquire Shionogi's interest
in the former Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare joint venture in 2012, ViiV
Healthcare agreed to pay additional consideration to Shionogi
contingent on the performance of the products being developed
by that joint venture, principally dolutegravir. The liability for this
contingent consideration was estimated and recognised in the
Group's balance sheet at the date of acquisition. Subsequent
remeasurements are reflected within other operating income.

Cash payments are made to Shionogi by ViiV Healthcare each
quarter which reduce the balance sheet liability for the contingent
consideration and as a result are not recorded in the income
statement. In 2016, the total cash payments made to Shionogi in
respect of the contingent consideration amounted to £417 million.
The payments are calculated based on the sales performance of
the relevant products in the previous quarter and are reflected in
the cash flow statement partly in operating cash flows and partly

in purchases of businesses, within investing activities. The tax relief
on these payments is reflected in the Group’s non-core and total tax
charge. The part of each payment relating to the original estimate of
the fair value of the contingent consideration on the acquisition of
the Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare joint venture in 2012 of £659 million
is reported within investing activities in the cash flow statement and
the part of each payment relating to the increase in the liability since
the acquisition is reported within operating cash flows.

Movements in contingent consideration payable to Shionogi were
as follows:

2016 2015

£m £m

Contingent consideration at beginning of the year 3,409 1,684
Additions 154 -
Remeasurement through income statement 2,162 1,874
Cash payments: operating cash flows (351) (121)
Cash payments: purchases of businesses (66) (38)
Other movements (4) 10
Contingent consideration at end of the year 5,304 3,409

The additions represented the recognition in 2016 of the preferential
dividends payable to Shionogi.

Exit rights

Pfizer may request an IPO of ViiV Healthcare at any time and if
either GSK does not consent to such IPO or an offering is not
completed within nine months, Pfizer could require GSK to acquire
its shareholding. Under the original agreements, GSK had the
unconditional right, so long as it made no subsequent distribution
to its shareholders, to withhold its consent to the exercise of the
Pfizer put options and, as a result, in accordance with IFRS, GSK
did not recognise a liability for the put option on its balance sheet.
In Q1 2016, GSK notified Pfizer that it had irrevocably given up
this right and accordingly recognised the liability for the put option
on the Group's balance sheet at an initial value of £1,070 million.
Consistent with this revised treatment, at the end of Q1 2016
GSK also recognised liabilities for the future preferential dividends
anticipated to become payable to Pfizer and Shionogi on the
Group's balance sheet.

The closing balances of the liabilities related to Pfizer's shareholding
are as follows:

2016 2015

£m £m

Pfizer put option 1,319 -
Pfizer preferential dividend 23 -

Under the original agreements, Shionogi could also have requested
GSK to acquire its shareholding in ViiV Healthcare in six month
windows commencing in 2017, 2020 and 2022. GSK had the
unconditional right, so long as it made no subsequent distribution

to its shareholders, to withhold its consent to the exercise of the
Shionogi put option and, as a result, GSK did not recognise a liability
for the put option on its balance sheet. In Q1 2016, GSK notified
Shionogi that it had irrevocably given up this right and accordingly
recognised the liability for the put option on the Group'’s balance
sheet at an initial value of £926 million. In Q4 2016, Shionogi
irrevocably agreed to waive its put option and as a result GSK
de-recognised the liability for this put option on the Group’s balance
sheet directly to equity. The value of the liability was £1,244 million
when it was de-recognised.

GSK also has a call option over Shionogi's shareholding in ViiV
Healthcare, which under the original agreements was exercisable in
six month windows commencing in 2027, 2030 and 2032. GSK has
now irrevocably agreed to waive the first two exercise windows, but
the last six month window in 2032 remains. As this call option is at
fair value, it has no value for accounting purposes.
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Group turnover

Turnover (£bn)

Group turnover for the year increased 17% at actual rates and 6%
CER to £27,889 miillion, with Pharmaceuticals up 3%, Vaccines

£27 9b o 20 up 14% and Consumer Healthcare up 9%, the growth in all three
. mn 0015 =5 businesses still reflecting the impact of the Novartis transaction
which completed on 2 March 2015. On a pro-forma basis, Group
2016 e turnover was up 5%, with Pharmaceuticals up 4%, Vaccines up 12%
and Consumer Healthcare up 5%. Sales of New Pharmaceutical
AER growth CER growth and VaCCII:](.% products were £4,453 million, a Sterling increase of
£2,465 million.
170/0 60/0 Group turnover by geographic region
2016 2015  Growth  Growth
£m £m £%  CER%
Group turnover us 10,197 8,222 24 10
2016 (resti?;ds) Growth  Growth Europe G 5150 16 6
£m £m £% CER% International 10,194 9,251 10 1
Pharmaceuticals 16,104 14,157 14 3 27889 23,923 17 6
Vacenes i 2°° °0 " Group turnover outside of the US and Europe represented 37% of
Consumer Healthcare 7198 6,038 1© ° total Group turnover in 2016 (2015 — 39%).
Segment turnover 27889 23,851 17 6
Corporate and other Sales from new Pharmaceutical and Vaccine products
unallocated turnover - 72 2016 2015 Growth  Growth
Group turnover 27889 23923 17 6 _ £m gmo s CERR
Respiratory
Relvar/Breo Ellipta 620 257 >100 >100
Anoro Ellipta 201 79 >100 >100
Arnuity Ellipta 15 3 >100 >100
Incruse Ellipta 114 14 >100 >100
Nucala 102 1 >100 >100
CVMU
Eperzan/Tanzeum 121 41 >100 >100
HIV
Tivicay 953 588 62 45
Triumeq 1,735 730 >100 >100
Pharmaceuticals 3,861 1,713 >100 >100
Bexsero 390 115 >100 >100
Menveo 202 160 26 16
Vaccines 592 275 >100 96
4,453 1,988 >100 >100

In 2015, we identified a series of New Pharmaceutical and Vaccine
products that were expected to deliver at least £6 billion of revenues
per annum on a CER basis by 2020. Those products, plus current
clinical pipeline asset, Shingrix, are as set out above and, as a group
are defined as New Pharmaceutical and Vaccine products. Sales of
the New Pharmaceutical Vaccine products are now expected to
reach £6 billion of revenues per annum on a CER basis up to two
years earlier (2018).

Sales of New Pharmaceutical and Vaccine products were £4,453
million and represented approximately 22% of Pharmaceuticals and
Vaccines turnover.
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Pharmaceuticals

Turnover (£bn)

5 80 / 2014 154
of Group turnover 2019 e
2016 16.1
AER growth CER growth
14% 3%
Pharmaceuticals turnover
2015
2016 (restated)  Growth  Growth
£m £m £% CER%
Respiratory 6,510 5,741 13 2
Cardiovascular, metabolic
and urology 860 858 - (11)
Immuno-inflammation 340 263 29 15
Other pharmaceuticals 2,297 2,445 (6) (14)
Established products 2,541 2,528 1 (8)
HIV 35656 2,322 53 37
16,104 14,157 14 3

Pharmaceuticals

Pharmaceuticals turnover was £16,104 million, up 14% at actual
rates and 3% CER, but adjusting for the disposal of the Oncology
business to Novartis, up 4% pro-forma. HIV sales grew 37%. The
Respiratory portfolio returned to growth with sales up 2%, continuing
the transition globally to newer products. Respiratory sales grew 7%
in the US and 3% in International, but declined 10% in Europe. Sales
of New Pharmaceutical products were £3,861 million, a Sterling
increase of £2,148 million, which more than offset the Sterling
decline in Seretide/Advair sales of £196 million. Sales of Established
products declined 8%, with declines in all regions, but particularly
International, reflecting the loss of exclusivity for Valtrex in Canada,
the impact of market reforms and the continued reshaping of the
business in China and the impact of biennial price revisions in Japan.
The overall impact of pricing to net sales of Pharmaceuticals was
around -1%.

US Pharmaceuticals turnover of £4,705 million declined 1% in
2016 on a reported basis and grew 1% on a pro-forma basis. The
pro-forma performance reflected a 7% growth in the Respiratory
portfolio, partly offset by the impact of generic competition to
Avodart, down 63% to £70 million, and Lovaza, down 59% to
£43 million. Relenza sales were also down 91% to £7 million
following a reallocation of government funding. Sales of new
Respiratory products totalled £654 million and the growth of
these products exceeded the decline in Advair. Advair sales fell
139% to £1,829 million, representing a 7% volume decline and

a 6% negative impact of price. Ventolin sales were up 23% to
£421 million, benefiting from competitor supply constraints early
in the year, while Flovent sales declined 11% to £378 million,
reflecting pricing pressures in the ICS market. Benlysta sales
increased 18% to £277 million with ongoing demand growth.

In Europe, Pharmaceuticals turnover declined 8% to £2,867 million
on a reported basis and 5% on a pro-forma basis. Respiratory sales
declined 10% to £1,383 million reflecting the ongoing transition to
the new Respiratory portfolio and generic competition to Seretide
which declined 24% (16% volume decline and an 8% negative
impact of price) to £835 million. This was partly offset by growth in
the new Respiratory products, which recorded sales of £225 million.
Established products sales were down 4% to £513 million.

International Pharmaceuticals sales of £4,976 million were down
5% on a reported basis and 4% on a pro-forma basis. Sales in
Emerging Markets declined 4% reported and 3% on a pro-forma
basis, impacted by the decline in the China business (down 12%
primarily as a result of the ongoing reshaping programme and
broader Healthcare reforms including price reductions) but also
by recent divestments in the International region, and the limitation
of trading in Venezuela. In Japan, Pharmaceutical sales were
down 5% on a reported basis and 5% pro-forma to £1,425 million,
impacted by biennial price revisions on older products as well as
supply interruptions to Avodart early in the year. Respiratory sales
in Japan grew 3% with strong growth of the new Respiratory
products, up 57% to £118 million, more than offsetting the
decline in Adoair sales.
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Respiratory

Respiratory sales in 2016 increased 2% to £6,510 million, reflecting
the continuing transition of the Respiratory portfolio to newer
products. Growth in the new Respiratory products, which recorded
combined sales of £1,052 million, including Relvar/Breo Ellipta sales
of £620 million, more than offset the decline in Seretide/Advair.
Flixotide/Flovent sales decreased 8% to £637 million and Ventolin
sales grew 15% to £785 million.

In the US, Respiratory sales increased 7% to £3,306 million

(14% volume growth and a 7% negative impact of price). The growth
of new Respiratory products more than offset the 13% decline in
Advair (7% volume decline and a 6% negative impact of price).

The new Ellipta products recorded combined sales of £583 million,
including Breo Ellipta sales of £344 million, with Nucala, the
treatment for severe asthma, reporting sales of £71 million.
Established Respiratory assets included Ventolin, with sales up
23% to £421 million, and Flovent, which declined 11% to £378
million. Ventolin sales benefited from competitor supply constraints
early in the year, while Flovent continued to be impacted by ongoing
pricing pressures in the ICS market.

European Respiratory sales were down 10% to £1,383 million, with
Seretide sales down 24% to £835 million (16% volume decline and
an 8% negative impact of price), reflecting continued competition
from generics and the transition of the Respiratory portfolio to newer
products. The new Respiratory products recorded combined sales
of £225 million in 2016, including Relvar Ellipta sales of £140 million.

Respiratory sales in the International region increased 3% to

£1,821 million with Emerging Markets up 7% and Japan up 3%. In
Emerging Markets, sales of Seretide were down 3% at £476 million,
while Ventolin grew 13% to £219 million. In Japan, the growth in the
new Respiratory products offset the Adoair decline of 12%.

Cardiovascular, metabolic and urology

Sales in the category were down 11% to £860 million. The Avodart
franchise was down 14% to £635 million, primarily due to a 63%
decline in the US following the launch of generic competition in Q4
2015. Sales of Eperzan/Tanzeum were £121 million, primarily in the
US. Prolia was divested at the end of 2015 and therefore no sales
were recorded in 2016, compared with £43 million in 2015.

Immuno-inflammation

Immuno-inflammation sales grew 15% to £340 million. Sales of
Benlysta were £306 million, up 19%, with sales in the US of
£277 million, up 18%.

Other pharmaceuticals

Sales in other therapy areas decreased 14% to £2,297 million.
Dermatology sales declined 12% to £393 million, adversely
affected by supply constraints, while Augmentin sales were flat
at £563 million. Sales of products for Rare diseases were flat
at £423 million, and included sales of Volibris, which were up
1% to £172 million.

Established products

Established products turnover fell 8% to £2,541 million, with Valtrex
sales down 37% to £118 million driven by a decline in Canada, down
91% to £5 million, following the loss of exclusivity. Zeffix sales were
down 24% to £111 million and Lovaza sales in the US fell 59% to
£43 million.

HIV

HIV sales increased 37% to £3,556 million, with the US up 46%,
Europe up 29% and International up 21%. The growth in all three
regions was driven by Triumeq and Tivicay.

Triumeq and Tivicay sales were £1,735 million and £953 million,
respectively. Epzicom/Kivexa sales declined 27% to £568 million,
and Selzentry sales declined 9% to £125 million. There were also
continued declines in the mature portfolio, mainly driven by generic
competition to both Combivir, down 38% to £23 million, and Lexiva,
down 26% to £51 million.
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Vaccines

Turnover (£bn)

1 6 O / 2014 | 3.2
of Group turnover 2015 4 2
AER growth CER growth
26% 14%
2015
2016 (restated) Growth  Growth
£m £m £% CER%
Rotarix 469 417 12 1
Synflorix 504 381 32 19
Fluarix, FluLaval 414 268 54 38
Bexsero 390 115 >100 >100
Menveo 202 160 26 16
Boostrix 470 358 31 18
Infanrix, Pediarix 769 733 5 (5)
Hepatitis 602 540 11 1
Priorix, Priorix Tetra, Varilrix 300 260 15 5
Cervarix 81 88 (8) (14)
Other 391 336 17 6
4592 3,656 26 14

Vaccines sales grew 26% at actual rates and 14% CER, but 12%
pro-forma to £4,592 million. Growth benefited from the strong
performance of Bexsero across all regions, higher demand for
Fluarix/FluLaval in the US and International and a tender award for
Menveo in International. Further growth was driven by Synflorix due
to market expansion in International and a tender award in Europe.
Boostrix sales benefited from higher demand in Europe and
International. Growth was partly offset by Infanrix/Pediarix due to
supply constraints in International, as well as unfavourable CDC
stockpile movements for a number of products across the portfolio.

In the US, sales grew by 13% and 12% on a pro-forma basis to
£1,599 million. Growth was driven by market and share growth for
Bexsero, Menveo and Boostrix, improved supply and higher demand
for Fluarix/FluLaval and competitor supply issues that benefited
Infanrix/Pediarix. This growth was partly offset by adverse stockpile
movements on Menveo and an unfavourable comparison with the
benefit to 2015 from CDC stockpile movements on Infanrix/Pediarix,
Boostrix and Rotarix.

In Europe, sales grew 18% and 16% on a pro-forma basis to
£1,423 million. Growth was driven primarily by Bexsero sales in
private market channels in several countries including Spain and
Italy, and in the UK following its inclusion in the NHS immunisation
programme. Boostrix sales benefited from higher demand and
competitor supply issues. Sales increased in Germany driven

by improved supply of Hepatitis vaccines and higher demand for
Encepur and Rabipur. Sales growth was also helped by a tender
award for Synflorix in Poland but Infanrix/Pediarix sales were
adversely impacted, mainly in Germany, France and ltaly, by a
competitor's return to the market during the year. Growth was
also partly offset by the unfavourable comparison with 2015 when
Menveo sales in the UK benefited from a catch-up tender win.

In International, sales grew 10% and 8% on a pro-forma basis to
£1,570 million. Growth was driven primarily by Synflorix, due to
market expansion in Nigeria, higher demand in Africa and private
market demand in Asia. The growth in Menveo sales was driven by

a tender award in Argentina and Rotarix sales benefited from higher
demand in Brazil and Japan. Further growth in the region was driven
by Brazil due to strong demand for Bexsero, Menjugate, and Boostrix.
Fluarix/FluLaval sales grew due to higher uptake in Australia. Growth
in the region was partly offset by lower sales of Infanrix/Pedlarix, due
to supply constraints, and lower Hepatitis vaccines sales, due to
wholesaler destocking in China following the introduction of new
private market distribution regulations.
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26%

of Group turnover

2014

2015 |

6.0

AER growth CER growth
19% 9%
2015
2016 (restated) Growth  Growth
£m £m £% CER%
Wellness 3,726 2,970 25 15
Oral health 2,223 1,875 19 8
Nutrition 674 684 1) (8)
Skin health 570 509 12 4
7193 6,038 19 9
2015
2016 (restated) Growth  Growth
£m £m £% CER%
us 1,761 1,430 23 9
Europe 2,191 1,798 22 12
International 3,241 2,810 15 8
7198 6,088 19 9

The Consumer Healthcare business represents the Consumer
Healthcare Joint Venture with Novartis together with the GSK
Consumer Healthcare listed businesses in India and Nigeria,
which are excluded from the Joint Venture. Results do not include
the trading performance of the Nigeria beverages business in Q4
2016 following its sale on 30 September 2016.

Sales grew 19% at actual rates and 9% CER to £7,193 million,
benefiting significantly from the inclusion of sales of the former
Novartis products for the first time for the first two months of the
period. Pro-forma growth was 5% of which price contributed 2%,
and volume 3%. Strong performances were delivered by the power
brands within the Oral health and Wellness categories and across all
regions. Sales from innovation within the last three years represented
approximately 13% of sales, with a particular contribution for
Flonase, which was switched to OTC in Q1 2015. Other notable
launches in 2016 included Sensodyne True White and Excedrin
Gel-tabs in the US.

US sales grew 9%, 5% pro-forma, to £1,761 million. Sensodyne
delivered double-digit growth, benefiting from the launch in 2015

of Repair and Protect and the launch of True White in the first quarter
of 2016, together with distribution gains for Pronamel and the newly
launched Pronamel Strong & Bright variant. Flonase OTC delivered
high single-digit growth, with a strong performance in the first half
of 2016, driven by new formats, but impacted in the second half by
increasing private label competition. Excedrin grew in double-digits,
driven by the Gel-tab launch and new digital campaigns, and

Tums also delivered double-digit growth, benefiting from supply
improvements. This was partly offset by a decline in Aquafresh
sales due to increased competitive pressures and a re-alignment

of investment behind power brands.

Sales in Europe grew 12% to £2,191 million and were up 4%

on a pro-forma basis, driven primarily by performances within the
Wellness and Oral health categories. Voltaren continued to deliver
double-digit growth, driven largely by the 12-hour variant and with
strong performances across all key markets. Oral health sales grew
in mid single-digits, with strong growth in Sensodyne and the Gum
health portfolio, partly offset by a flat performance in Aquafresh, due
to increased competitive pressures. At a market level, sales grew well
in Italy, Scandinavia, the UK and Germany, partly offset by a decline
in sales in CIS due to the impact on consumer spending of the
weaker economic environment.

International sales of £3,241 million grew 8% with pro-forma

growth of 5%. Growth was delivered in many priority markets,
primarily through the power brands across the Oral health and
Wellness categories. This was partly offset by the impact of the sale
of the Nigeria beverages business at the end of Q3 2016 as well as
the affect of the restructuring of activity in Venezuela at the end of
2015. Growth of the International region was also affected by the
combined impact on the Indian business of the demonetisation
implemented in November and a more general slowing of the health
food drink category which impacted the performance of the Nutrition
category and Horlicks in particular. Elsewhere, strong growth was
delivered in the Middle East, Latin America and China. The growth

in the Middle East was driven by strong momentum across the power
brands, particularly Otrivin, Panadol and Sensodyne. Double-digit
performances were delivered in Brazil and Argentina as a result of
better pricing and new product launches within Oral health. China
delivered high single-digit sales growth with contributions across

the portfolio and with Sensodyne and Voltaren in particular benefiting
from e-commerce and retail distribution expansion.
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Total results

Turnover (£bn)

£279m
‘ N 2015 239

2016 279

AER growth CER growth

17% 6%

Total operating profit (£bn)
£26on oo
‘ n 2015 103

AER growth CER growth

(75)% (86)%
The total results of the Group are set out below.

2016 2015 Growth
% of % of

£m turnover £m  turnover £% CER%
Turnover 27,889 100 23,923 100 17 6
Cost of sales (9,290) (83.3) (8,853) (37.0) 5 1)
Selling, general and
administration (9,366) (83.6) (9,232) (38.6) 1 (6)
Research and
development (3,628) (13.0) (3,560) (14.9) 2 (6)
Royalty income 398 1.4 329 1.4 21 16
Other operating income/
(expense) (3,405) (12.2) 7715 32.2
Operating profit 2,598 9.3 10,322 43.1 (75) (86)
Net finance costs (664) (653)
Profit on disposal of
interest in associates = 843
Share of after tax
profits of associates
and joint ventures ) 14
Profit before taxation 1,939 10,526 82 (92)
Taxation (877) (2,154)
Profit after taxation
for the year 1,062 8,372 87) (98)
Profit attributable to
shareholders 912 8,422
Earnings per share (p) 18.8 174.3 89 (99)
Earnings per ADS
uss$) 0.51 5.33

Cost of sales

Cost of sales as a percentage of turnover was 33.3%, down 3.7
percentage points in Sterling terms and 2.4 percentage points in
CER terms compared with 2015. This reflected improved product mix,
particularly the impact of higher HIV sales in Pharmaceuticals, but also
in Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare and lower restructuring costs
as well as an increased contribution from integration and restructuring
savings in all three businesses.

These benefits were partly offset by continued adverse pricing
pressure in Pharmaceuticals, primarily Respiratory, as well as
continued investments in the supply chain.

Selling, general and administration

SG&A costs were 33.6% of turnover, 5.0 percentage points lower
than in 2015 and 4.3 percentage points lower on a CER basis. This
primarily reflected lower restructuring costs as well as the benefits
from the Pharmaceuticals restructuring programme and integration
benefits in Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare, partly offset by
investment in promotional product support, particularly for new
launches in Respiratory, HIV, Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare.

Research and development

R&D expenditure was £3,628 million (13% of turnover), 1.9% higher
than in 2015 and 5.6% lower on a CER basis. This reflected the
benefit from cost reduction programmes in Pharmaceuticals,
Consumer Healthcare and Vaccines R&D and lower restructuring
costs, partly offset by increased investment, particularly in
Pharmaceuticals, reflecting investments in a number of new
programmes and the costs of the acquired BMS HIV programme.

Other operating income/(expense)

Net other operating expense of £3,405 million (2015 - £7,715 million
income) primarily reflected further accounting charges related to
remeasurement of the contingent consideration liability related to

the former Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare joint venture, along with
remeasurement of the value attributable to the Consumer Healthcare
Joint Venture put option and the liabilities first recognised in Q1 2016
for the Pfizer and Shionogi put options and preferential dividends

in ViiV Healthcare. These remeasurements were driven by the
unwinding of the discount applied to these future liabilities as well

as updated trading forecasts and changes in the exchange rate
assumptions used, updating them to period-end rates, which have
increased the estimated total sterling values of GSK's Consumer
Healthcare and ViiV Healthcare businesses.

These charges were partly offset by milestone income of £152
million in relation to the disposal of ofatumumab that was completed
in 2015 and gains on a number of other divestments made during
the year, including the remaining shares held by the Group in Aspen
Pharmacare. The net other operating income of £7,715 million in
2015 included the profit on the disposal of the Oncology business
to Novartis of £9,228 million.
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Operating profit

Total operating profit was £2,598 million in 2016 compared with
£10,322 million in 2015 which benefited from the net disposal
gains recorded following the disposal of the Oncology business
as part of the Novartis transaction.

Operating profit benefited from improved operating leverage

driven by sales growth and a more favourable mix across all

three businesses, together with lower levels of restructuring costs
compared with 2015. However, there were further accounting
charges related to remeasurement of the contingent consideration
liability related to the former Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare joint venture,
along with remeasurement of the value attributable to the Consumer
Healthcare Joint Venture put option and the liabilities first recognised
in Q1 2016 for the Pfizer and Shionogi put options and preferential
dividends in ViiV Healthcare.

Contingent consideration cash payments are made to Shionogi
and other companies, which reduce the balance sheet liability and
hence are not recorded in the income statement. Total contingent
consideration cash payments in 2016 amounted to £431 million
(2015 — £459 million). This included cash payments made by ViiV
Healthcare to Shionogi in relation to its contingent consideration
liability (including preferential dividends) which amounted to

£417 million (2015 — £159 million). In 2015 a milestone payment
of £300 million was made to Novartis in relation to the Vaccines
acquisition.

Net finance costs

Strategic report
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2016 2015
Finance income £m £m
Interest and other income 70 99
Fair value movements 2 5
72 104

Finance expense
Interest expense (701) (719)
Unwinding of discounts on liabilities (16) (16)
Remeasurements and fair value movements 4) (8)
Other finance expense (15) (14)
(736) (757)

Share of after tax profits of associates and joint ventures
The share of profits of associates and joint ventures was £5 million
(2015 — £14 million).

Profit before taxation

Taking account of net finance costs and the share of profit of
associates, profit before taxation was £1,939 million compared
with £10,526 million in 2015.

Taxation
2016 2015
£m £m
UK current year charge 241 156
Rest of world current year charge 1,326 2,924
Charge in respect of prior periods (149) (508)
Total current taxation 1,418 2,572
Total deferred taxation (541) (418)
Taxation on total profits 877 2,154

A tax charge of £877 million on total profit represented an effective
tax rate of 45.2% (2015 — 20.5%) and reflected the non-deductibility
of certain items included within the transaction-related adjustments,
particularly the remeasurements of the put options related to ViiV
Healthcare and the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture.

Non-controlling interests

The allocation of earnings to non-controlling interests amounted to
£150 million (2015 — (£50) million), including the non-controlling
interest allocations of Consumer Healthcare profits of £203 million
(2015 — £14 million) and the allocation of ViiV Healthcare losses of
£88 million (2015 — £143 million) including the impact of changes
in the proportions of preferential dividends due to each shareholder
based on the relative performance of different products in the year.
The allocation also reflected the impact on the contribution of some
of the Group's other entities with non-controlling interests primarily
as a result of net losses in those entities arising from exchange.

Earnings per share

The total earnings per share was 18.8p, compared with 174.3p

in 2015. The decrease primarily reflected the benefit in 2015 from
the disposal of the Oncology business to Novartis that closed in
March 2015, together with the impact in 2016 of charges arising
from increases in the valuations of the liabilities for contingent
consideration and the put options associated with increases in
the Sterling value of the Group’s HIV and Consumer Healthcare
businesses, partly offset by improved performance and reduced
restructuring costs.

Dividends

The Board declared four interim dividends resulting in a total dividend
for the year of 80 pence, in line with the dividend declared in 2015.
See Note 16 to the financial statements, ‘Dividends’.
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Core results reconciliation — 31 December 2016

Intangible Intangible
Total asset asset Major Legal Transaction  Divestments Core
results  amortisation impairment  restructuring charges -related and other results
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Turnover 27,889 27889
Cost of sales (9,290) 547 7 297 86 2 (8,351)
Gross profit 18,599 547 7 297 86 2 19,538
Selling, general and administration (9,366) 514 162 (7) (8,697)
Research and development (3,628) 41 13 159 (81) 28 (3,468)
Royalty income 398 398
Other operating income/(expense) (3,405) 3,914 (509) -
Operating profit 2,598 588 20 970 162 3,919 (486) 7771
Net finance costs (664) 4 8 (652)
Share of after tax profits of associates
and joint ventures 5 5
Profit before taxation 1,939 588 20 974 162 3,919 (478) 7124
Taxation (877) (130) 5) (217) 14) (439) 173 (1,509)
Tax rate 45.2% 21.2%
Profit after taxation 1,062 458 15 757 148 3,480 (305) 5615
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 150 487 637
Profit attributable to shareholders 912 458 15 757 148 2,993 (305) 4,978
Earnings per share 18.8p 9.4p 0.3p 15.6p 3.0p 61.6p (6.3)p 102.4p
Weighted average number of shares (millions) 4,860 4,860
Core results reconciliation — 31 December 2015
Intangible Intangible
Total asset asset Major Legal Transaction  Divestments Core
results  amortisation impairment  restructuring charges -related and other results
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Turnover 23,923 23,923
Cost of sales (8,853) 522 147 563 89 12 (7520)
Giross profit 15,070 522 147 563 89 12 16,403
Selling, general and administration (9,232) 7 1,009 221 88 (7,907)
Research and development (3,560) 41 52 319 52 (3,096)
Royalty income 329 329
Other operating income 7715 2,061 (9,776) -
Operating profit 10,322 563 206 1,891 221 2,238 9,712) 5,729
Net finance costs (653) 5 12 (636)
Profit on disposal of associates 843 (843) -
Share of after tax profits of
associates and joint ventures 14 (16) 2
Profit before taxation 10,526 563 206 1,896 221 2,238 (10,559) 5,091
Taxation (2,154) (161) (50) (441) (21) (352) 2,186 (993)
Tax rate 20.5% 19.5%
Profit after taxation 8,372 402 156 1,455 200 1,886 (8,373) 4,098
(Loss)/profit attributable to
non-controlling interests (50) 500 (10) 440
Profit attributable to shareholders 8,422 402 156 1,455 200 1,386 (8,363) 3,658
Earnings per share 174.3p 8.3p 3.2p 30.1p 4.1p 28.8p (178.1)p 75.7p
Weighted average number of shares (millions) 4,831 4,831
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Items adjusted from total results to present core results

Total results are adjusted for a number of items in order to present
core results, as explained on page 57. The items are discussed
below.

Intangible asset amortisation and impairment

Intangible asset amortisation was £588 million, compared with
£563 million in 2015. Intangible asset impairments of £20 million
(2015 — £206 million) included impairments of R&D and commercial
assets. Both of these charges were non-cash items.

Major restructuring and integration

Major restructuring and integration charges of £970 million have
been incurred (2015 — £1,891 million), reflecting the phasing of
planned restructuring projects following the completion of the
Novartis transaction in 2015, as well as reduced charges for
Pharmaceuticals restructuring projects as this programme enters

its later stages. Cash payments made were £1,077 million (2015

— £1,131 million) including the settlement of certain charges accrued
in previous quarters.

Charges for the combined restructuring and integration programme
to date are £3.7 billion, with cash charges of £2.9 billion and cash
payments to date of £2.7 billion. The anticipated total cash charges
of the combined programme were expected to be up to £3.65 billion
and the non-cash charges up to £1.35 billion. The programme
delivered incremental cost savings of £1.4 billion in 2016, including a
currency benefit of £0.2 billion, and has now delivered approximately
£3.0 billion of annual savings (including the currency benefit). The
programme remains on track to deliver the originally targeted total
annual savings of £3 billion on a constant currency basis during
2017. An estimated £300 million of additional cash charges are
expected in 2017 along with some residual non-cash charges.

Legal charges

Legal charges of £162 million (2015 — £221 million) included the
benefit of the settlement of existing matters as well as provisions for
ongoing litigation. Cash payments were £233 million compared with
£420 million in 2015.
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Transaction-related adjustments

Transaction-related adjustments resulted in a net charge of

£3,919 million (2015 — £2,238 million). This primarily reflected
accounting charges for the remeasurement of the liability and the
unwinding of the discounting effects on the value attributable to the
Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture put option held by Novartis,
the remeasurement and the unwinding of the discounting effects on
the contingent consideration relating to the acquisition of the former
Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare Joint Venture and the value attributable to
the put options and preferential dividends payable to Pfizer and
Shionogi.

) 2016 2015
Charge/(credit) £m £m
Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture put option 1,133 83
Contingent consideration on former Shionogi-ViiV
Healthcare Joint Venture (including Shionogi
preferential dividends) 2,162 1,874
ViiV Healthcare put options and Pfizer preferential
dividends 577 -
Other adjustments 47 281
Total transaction-related charges 3,919 2,238

The aggregate impact of unwinding the discount on these future and
potential liabilities was £905 million (2015 — £757 million), including
£464 million on the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture put option,
£334 million on contingent consideration on the former Shionogi-
ViiV Healthcare Joint Venture, and £58 million on the ViiV Healthcare
put options and preference dividends. The remaining charge of
£3,014 million was driven primarily by changes in exchange rate
assumptions as well as updates to trading forecasts.

During 2016, GSK and Shionogi made several amendments to

the Shareholders’ Agreement for ViiV Healthcare regarding the
Shionogi put option and the GSK call option. The estimated liability
for Shionogi's put option was initially recognised on GSK's balance
sheet at the end of Q1 2016 and de-recognised in December 2016,
directly to equity, when it stood at £1,244 million. An explanation of
the accounting for the non-controlling interests in ViiV Healthcare

is set out on page 58.

Divestments and other items

Divestments and other items included equity investment disposals,
including the disposal of the remaining Aspen Pharmacare
investment, dividends and impairments, milestone income on
ofatumumab, a number of other asset disposals, and certain other
adjusting items. Divestments and other items in 2015 included

the profit on the disposal of the Oncology business to Novartis.
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Core results

Turnover (£bn)

2014 23.0
£2790n
2015 239
2016 27.9
AER growth CER growth
17% 6%
Core operating profit (Sbn)
2014 6.6
£7.8bn
2015 5.7
AER growth CER growth
36% 14%

We use core results, which is a non-IFRS measure, among
other metrics including total results and cash flow generation,
to manage the performance of the Group. Non-IFRS measures
may be considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for or
superior to, information presented in accordance with IFRS.
The definition of core results is set out on page 57.

Cost of sales

2016 2015 Growth
% of % of
£m  turnover £m  turnover £% CER%
Cost of sales (8,351) (29.9) (7520) (31.4) 11 5

Cost of sales as a percentage of turnover was 29.9%, down 1.5
percentage points in Sterling terms and 0.3 percentage points in
CER terms compared with 2015. On a pro-forma basis, the cost of
sales percentage decreased 1.8 percentage points compared with
2015 and was down 0.6 percentage points in CER terms. This
reflected improved product mix, particularly the impact of higher
HIV sales in Pharmaceuticals, but also in Vaccines and Consumer
Healthcare, as well as an increased contribution from integration
and restructuring savings in all three businesses, partly offset by
continued adverse pricing pressure in Pharmaceuticals, primarily
Respiratory, as well as continued investments in the supply chain.

Selling, general and administration

2016 2015 Growth
% of % of
£m  turnover £m  turnover £% CER%
Selling, general and
administration (8,697) (81.2) (7907) (83.1) 10 2

SG&A costs were 31.2% of turnover, 1.9 percentage points lower
than in 2015 and 1.2 percentage points lower on a CER basis.

On a pro-forma basis, SG&A as a percentage of sales reduced by
2.2 percentage points, 1.5 percentage points CER. This primarily
reflected tight control of ongoing costs as well as the benefits from
the Pharmaceuticals restructuring programme and integration
benefits in Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare, partly offset by
investment in promotional product support, particularly for new
launches in Respiratory, HIV, Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare.

Research and development

2016 2015 Growth
% of % of
£m  turnover £m  turnover £% CER%
Research and
development (3,468) (12.4) (3,096) (12.9) 12 3

R&D expenditure was £3,468 million (12.4% of turnover), 12% higher
than in 2015 and 3% higher on a CER basis, reflecting increased
investment, particularly in Total Pharmaceuticals, which increased
5% CER. The operations of Pharmaceuticals R&D are broadly split
into Discovery activities (up to the completion of phase lla trials)

and Development work (from phase Ilb onwards) each supported by
specific and common infrastructure and other shared services where
appropriate. Phase IV costs and other administrative expenses are
reported in SG&A and are not included in the table below.

2016 2015 Growth

£m £m £% CER%

Discovery 848 744 14 6
Development 1,275 1,136 12 4
Facilities and central support functions 505 433 17 9
Total Pharmaceuticals 2,628 2,313 14 5
Vaccines R&D 597 525 14 2
Consumer Healthcare R&D 243 258 ®) (12
Research and development 3,468 3,096 12 3

The most significant factor driving Total Pharmaceuticals R&D
growth was progression of the ViiV Healthcare HIV portfolio,
including programmes acquired from BMS earlier in the year. The
increase in Discovery was also driven by progression of the early
stage Oncology portfolio and early investment in Bioelectronics.
Development growth was primarily due to the start of new Phase llI
programmes, including HIV, respiratory and anaemia, partly offset
by the benefit from R&D cost reduction programmes. The increase
in facilities and central support functions costs partly reflected
investment in new data warehousing and analytics to transform the
way data is harnessed across R&D together with a re-allocation of
central support costs.

Royalty income

Royalty income was £398 million (2015 — £329 million) primarily
reflecting increased royalty income from Gardasil sales as well as
the benefit of a catch-up adjustment to prior-year estimates.

Core operating profit

Core operating profit was £7,771 million, up 36% at actual rates
and 14% higher in CER terms than in 2015 on a turnover increase of
6%. The core operating margin of 27.9% was 3.9 percentage points
higher than in 2015 and 1.9 percentage points higher on a CER
basis.

On a pro-forma basis, core operating profit was 17% higher in

CER terms compared with 2015 on turnover growth of 5%. The core
operating margin of 27.9% was 4.6 percentage points higher than in
2015 and 2.6 percentage points higher in CER terms on a pro-forma
basis, reflecting improved operating leverage driven by sales growth
and a more favourable mix across all three businesses as well as
delivery of restructuring and integration benefits and tight control of
ongoing costs, partly offset by continued price pressure, particularly
in Respiratory, and supply chain and R&D investments.
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Core results continued

Contingent consideration cash payments are made to Shionogi
and other companies, which reduce the balance sheet liability and
hence are not recorded in the income statement. Total contingent
consideration cash payments in 2016 amounted to £431 million
(2015 — £459 million). This included cash payments made by ViiV
Healthcare to Shionogi in relation to its contingent consideration
liability (including preferential dividends) which amounted to

£417 million (2015 — £159 million). In 2015 a milestone payment
of £300 million was made to Novartis.

Core operating profit by business
2015
2016 (restated) Growth
Margin Margin
£m % £m % £% CER%
Pharmaceuticals 7979 495 6,466 457 23 6
Pharmaceuticals R&D  (2,488) (2,168) 15 6
Pharmaceuticals 5,491 34.1 4,298 30.4 28 6
Vaccines 1,454 31.7 964 26.4 51 38
Consumer
Healthcare 1,116 185 684 11.3 63 42
8,061 289 5,946 24.9 36 16
Corporate & other
unallocated costs (290) (217) 34 58
Core operating profit 7771 279 5729 23.9 36 14

Pharmaceuticals

Pharmaceuticals operating profit was £5,491 million, 6% higher in
CER terms than in 2015 on a turnover increase of 3%. The operating
margin of 34.1% was 3.7 percentage points higher than in 2015 and
1.1 percentage points higher on a CER basis. On a pro-forma basis,
the operating margin increased 1.2 percentage points on a CER
basis, reflecting a more favourable product mix, primarily driven by
the growth in HIV sales, and the cost reduction benefit from the
Pharmaceuticals restructuring programme, partly offset by increased
investment in new product support, increased investment in R&D in
a number of new programmes, the continued impact of lower prices,
particularly in Respiratory, and the broader transition of the
Respiratory portfolio.

Vaccines

Vaccines operating profit was £1,454 million, 38% higher than in
2015 in CER terms on a turnover increase of 14%. The operating
profit margin of 31.7% was 5.3 percentage points higher than in
2015 and 5.6 percentage points higher on a CER basis. On a
pro-forma basis, the operating margin improved by 7.3 percentage
points and 7.6 points in CER terms primarily driven by improved
product mix and enhanced operating leverage from strong sales
growth, together with restructuring and integration benefits in cost of
sales, SG&A and R&D, and higher royalty income. These were partly
offset by SG&A investments to support business growth, a number
of inventory adjustments and additional supply chain investments.

Consumer Healthcare

Consumer Healthcare operating profit was £1,116 million, 42%
higher than in 2015 in CER terms on a turnover increase of 9%.
The operating margin of 15.5% was 4.2 percentage points higher
than in 2015 and 3.4 percentage points higher on a CER basis.
On a pro-forma basis, the Consumer Healthcare operating margin
was 3.7 percentage points higher on a CER basis due to
improvements in gross margin, reflecting mix benefits from the
power brand strategy and better pricing, as well as a strong
contribution from integration synergies benefiting both SG&A
and R&D as a percentage of sales.

Net finance costs

2016 2015
Finance income £m £m
Interest and other income 70 99
Fair value movements 2 5
72 104
Finance expense
Interest expense (701) (719)
Unwinding of discounts on liabilities 4) 1
Remeasurements and fair value movements 4) (8)
Other finance expense (15) (14)
(724) (740)

Net core finance expense was £652 million compared with

£636 million in 2015, reflecting the translation effect of exchange
rate movements on the reported Sterling costs of foreign currency
denominated interest-bearing instruments.

Share of after tax profits/(losses) and joint ventures
The share of profits of associates and joint ventures was £5 million
(2015 — £2 million loss).

Core profit before taxation

2016 2015 Growth
% of % of
£m turnover £m  turnover £% CER%
Core profit before tax 7124 255 5,091 21.3 40 16

Taxation

Tax on core profit amounted to £1,509 million and represented an
effective core tax rate of 21.2% (2015 — 19.5%). The increase in the
effective rate primarily reflected the Group's changing earnings mix.
See ‘Taxation' on page 178 for further details.

Non-controlling interests

The allocation of earnings to non-controlling interests amounted to
£637 million (2015 — £440 million), including the non-controlling
interest allocations of Consumer Healthcare profits of £288 million
(2015 — £137 million) and the allocation of ViiV Healthcare profits,
which increased to £324 million (2015 — £224 million) including the
impact of changes in the proportions of preferential dividends due
to each shareholder based on the relative performance of different
products in the year. The allocation also reflected the impact on
the contribution of some of the Group's other entities with non-
controlling interests primarily as a result of net losses in those
entities arising from exchange.

Core earnings per share

Core EPS of 102.4p was up 35% at actual rates and 12% in

CER terms compared with a 14% CER increase in operating profit,
primarily reflecting the increased tax rate compared with 2015 and
the greater contribution to growth from businesses in which there
are significant non-controlling interests.
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Pro-forma growth rate reconciliations

The following table sets out reconciliations between reported CER growth rates and pro-forma CER growth rates on the stated items of turnover
for 2016.

Adjustment to include Adjustment to include Adjustment to exclude
January and February January and February January and February
2015 turnover 2015 turnover of former 2015 turnover of former

Reported of former Novartis Novartis Consumer GSK Oncology Pro-forma
growth rate Vaccines products Healthcare products products growth rate
Turnover 2016 CER% CER% CER% CER% CER%
Group turnover 6 - (@) 1 5
us 10 - - 1 11
Europe 6 - 2 1 5
International 1 - (1) - -
Pharmaceuticals 3 1 4
US Pharmaceuticals 10 2 12
Europe Pharmaceuticals - 2 2
International Pharmaceuticals 3) - 3)
Emerging Markets Pharmaceuticals (4) 1 3)
Japan Pharmaceuticals (5) - (5)
Vaccines 14 ) 12
US Vaccines 13 1) 12
Europe Vaccines 18 (@) 16
International Vaccines 10 (@) 8
Menveo 16 8) 8
Other Vaccines 6 (10) (4)
Consumer Healthcare 9 (4) 5
US Consumer Healthcare 9 (4) 5
Europe Consumer Healthcare 12 (8) 4
International Consumer Healthcare 8 3) 5
Wellness 15 9) 6
Oral health 8 - 8
Nutrition (8) 1) 9)
Skin health 4 (6) (@)

The following table sets out reconciliations between reported CER growth rates and pro-forma CER growth rates for the stated core expense
headings and core operating profit for 2016.

Adjustment to include Adjustment to include Adjustment to exclude
January and February January and February January and February
2015 turnover of former 2015 turnover of former 2015 turnover of former

Core expenses and Reported Novartis Vaccines Novartis Consumer GSK Oncology Pro-forma
growth rate products Healthcare products products growth rate
operating profit 2016 CER% CER% CER% CER% CER%
Cost of sales 5 1) (@) 1 3
Selling, general and administration 2 1) ) 1 -
Research and development 3 1) - 1 3
Royalty income 16 ¢)) 2 - 17
Core operating profit 14 1 - 2 17
Pharmaceuticals operating profit 6 2 8
Pharmaceuticals operating profit
excluding R&D 6 2 8
Pharmaceuticals R&D 6 2 8
Vaccines operating profit 38 9 47

Consumer Healthcare operating profit 42 2 40
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Cash generation and conversion

A summary of the consolidated cash flow statement is set out below.

2016 2015
£m £m
Net cash inflow from operating activities 6,497 2,569
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (1,269) 6,037
Net cash outflow from financing activities (6,392) (7,103)
(Decrease)/increase in cash and bank overdrafts (1,164) 1,503
Cash and bank overdrafts at beginning of year 5,486 4,028
(Decrease)/increase in cash and bank overdrafts (1,164) 1,503
Exchange adjustments 283 (45)
Cash and bank overdrafts at end of year 4,605 5,486
Cash and bank overdrafts at end of year
comprise:
Cash and cash equivalents 4,897 5,830
Overdrafts (292) (344)
4,605 5,486
Adjusted net cash inflow from operating activities 6,730 2,989

The net cash inflow from operating activities for the year was
£6,497 million (2015 — £2,569 million). The increase primarily
reflected the improved operating performance across all segments
and a positive currency benefit. Excluding legal settlements of
£2833 million (2015 — £420 million) adjusted net cash inflow from
operating activities was £6,730 million (2015 — £2,989 million). In
addition, there were payments of restructuring and integration costs
of £1,077 million (2015 — £1,131 million) and a further tax payment
of £125 million (2015 — £1,071 million) on the sale of the Oncology
business, both of which have been funded from divestment
proceeds.

Total cash payments made by ViiV Healthcare to Shionogi in
relation to its contingent consideration liability (including preferential
dividends) in the year were £417 million (2015 — £159 million), of
which £351 million (2015 — £121 million) was recognised in cash
flows from operating activities and £66 million (2015 — £38 million)
was recognised within investing cash flows.

Free cash flow

Free cash flow is the amount of cash generated by the business
after meeting our obligations for interest, tax and dividends paid to
non-controlling interests, and after capital expenditure on property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets.

2016 2015

£m £m

Free cash inflow/(outflow) 3,087 (155)
Adjusted free cash flow 3,320 265

Free cash flow was £3,087 million for the year (2015 — £155 million
outflow). Excluding legal payments, adjusted free cash flow was
£83,320 million (2015 — £265 million) but this was also after making
restructuring and integration payments, the additional tax payment on
the sale of the Oncology business and the purchase of HIV Clinical
assets for £221 million, which are treated as intangible asset
purchases. Excluding these items, which are being funded from
divestment proceeds, the adjusted free cash flow would have been
£4,743 million (2015 — £2,467 million).

Capital expenditure and financial investment

Cash payments for tangible and intangible fixed assets amounted to
£2,352 million (2015 — £1,901 million) and disposals realised £453
million (2015 — £10,554 million). Cash payments to acquire equity
investments of £96 million (2015 — £82 million) were made and sales
of equity investments realised £683 million (2015 — £357 million).

Reconciliation of net cash inflow from operating activities to free
cash flow and adjusted free cash flow

A reconciliation of net cash inflow from operating activities, which is
the closest equivalent IFRS measure, to free cash flow is shown below.

2016 2015

£m £m

Net cash inflow from operating activities 6,497 2,569
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,543) (1,380)
Purchase of intangible assets (809) (521)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 98 72
Interest paid (732) (762)
Interest received 68 99
Dividends from associates and joint ventures 42 5
Distributions to non-controlling interests (534) (237)
Free cash flow 3,087 (155)
Legal payments 233 420
Adjusted free cash flow 3,320 265

Future cash flow

Over the long term, we expect that future cash generated from
operations will be sufficient to fund our operating and debt servicing
costs, normal levels of capital expenditure, obligations under
existing licensing agreements, expenditure arising from restructuring
programmes and other routine outflows including tax, pension
contributions and dividends, subject to the ‘Principal risks and
uncertainties’ discussed on pages 253 to 262. We may from time
to time have additional demands for finance, such as for acquisitions,
including potentially acquiring increased ownership portions of the
ViiV Healthcare and the Consumer Healthcare businesses where
minority shareholders hold put options, and share repurchases. We
have access to multiple sources of liquidity from short and long-term
capital markets and financial institutions, in addition to the cash flow
from operations, for such needs.

Investment appraisal

We have a formal process for assessing potential investment
proposals in order to ensure decisions are aligned with our overall
strategy. This process includes an assessment of the cash flow
return on any individual investment (CFROI), as well as its net present
value (NPV) and internal rate of return (IRR) where the timeline for the
project is very long term. We also consider the impact on EPS and
our credit profile where relevant.

The discount rate used to perform financial analyses is decided
internally, to allow determination of the extent to which investments
cover our cost of capital. For specific investments the discount rate
may be adjusted to take into account country or other risk weightings.

Working capital

Our working capital programme has continued to make progress
with further improvements in the collection of receivables and
inventory management.

2016 2015
Working capital percentage of turnover (%) 22 23
Working capital conversion cycle (days) 193 191

The reported working capital conversion cycle days in 2015 were
distorted by a temporary favourable impact of 15 days arising from the
Novartis transaction. Excluding this impact, the conversion cycle for
2015 was around 206 days. The resulting reduction of 13 days in
2016 compared with 2015 was predominantly due to a beneficial
impact from exchange, reduced receivables days from improved
collections and reduced inventory days.
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Financial position and resources

2016 2015
£m £m

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10,808 9,668
Goodwill 5,965 5,162
Other intangible assets 18,776 16,672
Investments in associates and joint ventures 263 207
Other investments 985 1,255
Deferred tax assets 4,374 2,905
Other non-current assets 1,199 990
Total non-current assets 42,370 36,859
Current assets
Inventories 5,102 4716
Current tax recoverable 226 180
Trade and other receivables 6,026 5615
Derivative financial instruments 156 125
Liquid investments 89 75
Cash and cash equivalents 4,897 5,830
Assets held for sale 215 46
Total current assets 16,711 16,5687
Total assets 59,081 53,446
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings (4,129) (1,308)
Contingent consideration liability (561) (306)
Trade and other payables (11,964) (8,885)
Derivative financial instruments (194) (153)
Current tax payable (1,305) (1,421)
Short-term provisions (848) (1,344)
Total current liabilities (19,001)  (13,417)
Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings (14,661) (15,324)
Deferred tax liabilities (1,934) (1,522)
Pensions and other post-employment benefits (4,090) (3,229)
Other provisions (652) (420)
Contingent consideration liability (5,335) (3,549)
Other non-current liabilities (8,445) (7,107)
Total non-current liabilities (35,117) (31,151)
Total liabilities (54,118)  (44,568)
Net assets 4,963 8,878
Equity
Share capital 1,342 1,340
Share premium account 2,954 2,831
Retained earnings (5,392) (1,397)
Other reserves 2,220 2,340
Shareholders’ equity 1,124 5114
Non-controlling interests 3,839 3,764
Total equity 4,963 8,878

Property, plant and equipment

Our business is science-based, technology-intensive and highly
regulated by governmental authorities. We allocate significant
financial resources to the renewal and maintenance of our property,
plant and equipment to minimise risks of interruption to production
and to ensure compliance with regulatory standards. A number of
our processes use hazardous materials.

The total cost of our property, plant and equipment at 31 December
2016 was £22,164 million, with a net book value of £10,808 million.
Of this, land and buildings represented £4,223 million, plant and
equipment £3,481 million and assets in construction £3,104 million.
In 2016, we invested £1,544 million in new property, plant and
equipment. This was mainly related to a large number of projects

for the renewal, improvement and expansion of facilities at various
worldwide sites. Property is mainly held freehold. New investment

is financed from our liquid resources. At 31 December 2016, we
had contractual commitments for future capital expenditure of £496
million and operating lease commitments of £840 million. We believe
that our facilities are adequate for our current needs.

We observe stringent procedures and use specialist skills to
manage environmental risks from our activities. Environmental issues,
sometimes dating from operations now modified or discontinued,
are reported under ‘Our planet’ on page 50 and in Note 46 to the
financial statements, ‘Legal proceedings’.

Goodwill

Goodwill increased during the year to £5,965 million at 31
December 2016, from £5,162 million. The increase primarily
reflected the impact of exchange movements.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets include the cost of intangibles acquired from
third parties and computer software. The net book value of other
intangible assets as at 31 December 2016 was £18,776 million
(2015 — £16,672 million). The increase in 2016 reflected the impact
of exchange movements, development costs capitalised during the
year of £240 million, partly offset by the amortisation and impairment
of existing intangibles of £796 million and £29 million, respectively.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

We held investments in associates and joint ventures, with a carrying
value at 31 December 2016 of £263 million (2015 — £207 million).
The market value at 31 December 2016 was £502 million (2015 —
£267 million). The largest of these investments was in Innoviva Inc.
which had a book value at 31 December 2016 of £138 million

(2015 — £112 million). The market value at 31 December 2016 was
£278 million. See Note 20 to the financial statements ‘Investments
in associates and joint ventures'.
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Other investments

We held other investments with a carrying value at 31 December
2016 of £985 million (2015 — £1,255 million). The decrease in the
carrying value during the year was primarily due to the sale of the
Group's remaining stake in Aspen Pharmacare Holdings Limited
which had a book value at 31 December 2015 of £383 million.
The most significant of the investments held at 31 December 2016
was in Theravance Biopharma, Inc. which had a book value at 31
December 2016 of £248 million (2015 — £93 million). The other
investments included equity stakes in companies with which we
have research collaborations, which provide access to biotechnology
developments of potential interest and interests in companies that
arise from business divestments.

Derivative financial instruments: assets

We had current derivative financial instruments held at fair value
of £156 million (2015 — £125 million). The majority of this amount
related to foreign exchange contracts both designated and not
designated as accounting hedges.

Inventories
Inventory of £5,102 million increased from £4,716 million in 2015.
The increase primarily reflected the impact of exchange movements.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables of £6,026 million increased from
£5,615 million in 2015, primarily reflecting exchange movements.

Derivative financial instruments: liabilities

We held current derivative financial instruments at fair value of
£194 million (2015 — £153 million). This primarily related to foreign
exchange contracts both designated and not designated as
accounting hedges.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables amounting to £11,964 million increased
from £8,885 million in 2015, reflecting the Pfizer put option related
to ViiV Healthcare recognised in the year, an increase in accruals for
customer returns and rebates and the impact of exchange
movements.

Provisions

We carried deferred tax provisions and other short-term and
non-current provisions of £3,434 million at 31 December 2016
(2015 — £3,286 million) of which £344 million (2015 — £352 million)
related to legal and other disputes and £554 million (2015 — £816
million) related to the major restructuring programme. Provision
has been made for legal and other disputes, indemnified disposal
liabilities, employee related liabilities and the costs of the
restructuring programme to the extent that at the balance sheet
date a legal or constructive obligation existed and could be
reliably estimated.

Pensions and other post-employment benefits

We account for pension and other post-employment arrangements
in accordance with IAS 19. The deficits, net of surpluses before
allowing for deferred taxation were £2,084 million (2015 —
£1,584 million) on pension arrangements and £1,693 million
(2015 — £1,387 million) on unfunded post-employment liabilities.
The increases in the deficits were predominantly driven by lower
discount rates that we used to discount the value of the liabilities,
together with an increase in the UK inflation rate assumptions
and a stronger US Dollar at the year end, partly offset by special
funding contributions to the UK schemes and significant UK
asset gains.

Other non-current liabilities

Other non-current liabilities of £8,445 million at 31 December 2016
(2015 — £7,107 million) included £7,420 million (2015 — £6,287
million) related to the present value of the estimated amount payable
by us in the event of full exercise of Novartis’ right to require us to
acquire its 36.5% shareholding in the Consumer Healthcare Joint
Venture. Further details are provided in Note 3, ‘Key accounting
judgements and estimates’.

Contingent consideration liabilities

Contingent consideration liabilities amounted to £5,896 million at
31 December 2016 (2015 — £3,855 miillion), of which £5,304 million
(2015 — £3,409 million) represented the estimated present value of
amounts payable to Shionogi relating to ViiV Healthcare and £545
million (2015 — £405 million) represented the estimated present
value of contingent consideration payable to Novartis related to the
Vaccines acquisition. The liability due to Shionogi included £224
million in respect of preferential dividends of which £154 million was
recognised directly in equity in the year. The liability for preferential
dividends due to Pfizer at 31 December 2016 was £23 million. An
explanation of the accounting treatment of our interests in ViiV
Healthcare is set out on page 58.

Net debt
2016 2015
£m £m
Cash, cash equivalents and liquid investments 4,986 5,905
Borrowings — repayable within one year (4,129) (1,308)
Borrowings — repayable after one year (14,661) (15,324)
Net debt (13,804) (10,727)

At 31 December 2016, net debt was £13.8 billion, compared
with £10.7 billion at 31 December 2015, comprising gross debt
of £18.8 billion and cash and liquid investments of £5.0 billion.
The increase in net debt primarily reflected a £2.2 billion adverse
exchange impact from the translation of non-Sterling denominated
debt and exchange on other financing items, dividends paid to
shareholders of £4.9 billion including the special dividend of

£1.0 billion, partly offset by free cash flow of £3.1 billion and
asset disposals of £1.0 billion.

At 31 December 2016, our cash and liquid investments were held
as follows:

2016 2015

£m £m

Bank balances and deposits 2,583 3,767
US Treasury and Treasury repo

only money market funds 2,248 624

Liquidity funds 66 1,439

Government securities 89 75

4,986 5,905

Cash and liquid investments of £3.2 billion (2015 — £4.2 billion) were
held centrally at 31 December 2016.
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Maturity profile of gross debt

£m equivalent

4,500

4,000

3,500

3,000

2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

2017 2018 2019
B GBP bonds

M EUR bonds W USD bonds

2022 2023 2024 2025

2027

Commercial paper

The analysis of cash and gross debt after the effects of hedging

is as follows.
2016 2015
£m £m
Cash and liquid investments 4,986 5,905
Gross debt — fixed (17288)  (16,129)
— floating (1,496) (502)
— non-interest bearing (6) 1)
Net debt (13,804)  (10,727)
Movements in net debt
2016 2015
£m £m
Net debt at beginning of year (10,727)  (14,377)
(Decrease)/increase in cash and bank overdrafts (1,164) 1,503
Increase in liquid investments - 2
Net (increase in)/repayment of short-term loans (148) 2,412
Exchange movements (1,781) (268)
Other movements 16 1
Net debt at end of year (13,804) (10,727)

2033 2034 2038 2039

B Other bank borrowings W Leases

Total equity

2042 2043

2045

At 31 December 2016, total equity had decreased from £8,878
million at 31 December 2015 to £4,963 million. This primarily
reflected the recognition of the transaction-related adjustments
of £3,919 million, the impact of the dividends paid and an increase
in the pension deficit of £500 million, partly offset by the profit for the
year and the favourable exchange translation impact from the weaker

Sterling rates.

A summary of the movements in equity is set out below.

2016 2015
£m £m
Total equity at beginning of year 8,878 4,936
Total comprehensive income for the year 2,024 7,885
Dividends to shareholders (4,850) (3,874)
Ordinary shares issued 89 73
Gain on transfer of net assets
into Consumer Healthcare JV - 2,891
Consumer Healthcare JV put option - (6,204)
Loss on transfer of equity investment to
investment in associate - (229)
Changes in non-controlling interests 32 3,370
Recognition of liabilities with non-controlling interests (2,172) -
De-recognition of liabilities with non-controlling
interests 1,244 -
Shares acquired by ESOP Trusts (74) (99)
Share-based incentive plans 319 356
Tax on share-based incentive plans 7 10
Distributions to non-controlling interests (534) (237)
Total equity at end of year 4,963 8,878
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Share purchases

In 2016, the Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) Trusts
acquired £74 million of shares in GlaxoSmithKline plc (2015 —

£99 million). Shares are held by the Trusts to satisfy future exercises
of options and awards under the Group share option and award
schemes. A proportion of the shares held by the Trusts are in
respect of awards where the rules of the scheme require us to satisfy
exercises through market purchases rather than the issue of new
shares. The shares held by the Trusts are matched to options and
awards granted.

At 31 December 2016, the ESOP Trusts held 43 million (2015 —
30 million) GSK shares against the future exercise of share options
and share awards. The carrying value of £286 million (2015 —

£75 million) has been deducted from other reserves. The market
value of these shares was £667 million (2015 — £409 million).

During 2016, no shares were repurchased. At 31 December 20186,
we held 458.2 million shares as Treasury shares (2015 — 491.5
million shares), at a cost of £6,451 million (2015 — £6,917 million),
which has been deducted from retained earnings.

No ordinary shares were purchased in the period 1 January 2017
to 13 March 2017 and the company does not expect to make any
ordinary share repurchases in the remainder of 2017.

Commitments and contingent liabilities

Financial commitments are summarised in Note 41 to the financial
statements, ‘Commitments’. Other contingent liabilities and
obligations in respect of short and long-term debt are set out in
Note 32 to the financial statements, ‘Contingent liabilities’ and
Note 31 to the financial statements, ‘Net debt’.

Amounts provided for pensions and post-retirement benefits are
set out in Note 28 to the financial statements, ‘Pensions and other
post-employment benefits’. Amounts provided for restructuring
programmes and legal, environmental and other disputes are set
out in Note 29 to the financial statements, ‘Other provisions’.

Contractual obligations and commitments
The following table sets out our contractual obligations and
commitments at 31 December 2016 as they fall due for payment.

Total Under 1 yr 1-8yrs 3-5yrs 5yrs+
£m £m £m £m £m
Loans 18,849 4,108 3,500 - 11,241
Interest on loans 9,410 705 1,069 992 6,644
Finance lease obligations 64 23 34 7 -
Finance lease charges 3 2 1 - -
Operating lease
commitments 840 153 223 140 324
Intangible assets 7,199 514 648 1,082 4,955
Property, plant & equipment 496 385 111 - -
Investments 166 79 53 32 2
Purchase commitments 52 23 29 - -
Pensions 874 136 246 246 246
Other commitments 143 45 76 22 -
Total 38,096 6,173 5990 2521 23412

Commitments in respect of loans and future interest payable on loans
are disclosed before taking into account the effect of derivatives.
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We have entered into a number of research collaborations to develop
new compounds with other pharmaceutical companies. The terms

of these arrangements can include upfront fees, equity investments,
loans and commitments to fund specified levels of research. In
addition, we will often agree to make further payments if future
‘milestones’ are achieved.

As some of these agreements relate to compounds in the early
stages of development, the potential obligation to make milestone
payments will continue for a number of years if the compounds move
successfully through the development process. Generally, the closer
the product is to marketing approval, the greater the probability

of success. The amounts shown above within intangible assets
represent the maximum that would be paid if all milestones were
achieved, and include £6.2 billion which relates to externalised
projects in the discovery portfolio. A number of new commitments
were made in 2016 under licensing and other agreements, offset

by amendments to existing agreements.

In 2016, we reached an agreement with the trustees of the UK
pension schemes to make additional contributions, including in 2016,
to eliminate the pension deficit identified at the 31 December 2014
actuarial funding valuation. The table above includes this commitment
but excludes the normal ongoing annual funding requirement in the
UK of approximately £130 million. For further information on pension
obligations, see Note 28 to the financial statements, ‘Pensions and
other post-employment benefits'.

Contingent liabilities

The following table sets out contingent liabilities, comprising
discounted bills, performance guarantees, letters of credit and other
items arising in the normal course of business, and when they are
expected to expire.

Total Under 1 yr 1-8yrs 3-5yrs 5yrs+

£m £m £m £m £m

Guarantees 172 110 3 - 59
Other contingent liabilities 109 16 40 6 47
Total 281 126 43 6 106

In the normal course of business, we have provided various
indemnification guarantees in respect of business disposals in
which legal and other disputes have subsequently arisen. A provision
is made where an outflow of resources is considered probable and
a reliable estimate can be made of the likely outcome of the dispute
and this is included in Note 29 to the financial statements, ‘Other
provisions'.

We provide for the outcome of tax, legal and other disputes when an
outflow of resources is considered probable and a reliable estimate
of the outflow may be made. At 31 December 2016, other than for
those disputes where provision has been made, it was not possible
to make a reliable estimate of the potential outflow of funds that might
be required to settle disputes where the possibility of there being an
outflow was more than remote.

The ultimate liability for such matters may vary significantly from the
amounts provided and is dependent upon the outcome of litigation
proceedings and negotiations with the relevant tax authorities. This
is discussed further in ‘Principal risks and uncertainties’ on pages
253 to 262 and Notes 14 and 46 to the financial statements,
‘Taxation’ and ‘Legal proceedings’.




76 GSK Annual Report 2016

Group financial review continued

Critical accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance
with IFRS, as adopted for use in the European Union, and also
with IFRS as issued by the IASB, following the accounting policies
approved by the Board and described in Note 2 to the financial
statements, ‘Accounting principles and policies’.

We are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported
in the financial statements. Actual amounts and results could differ
from those estimates.

The critical accounting policies relate to the following areas:
— Turnover

— Taxation (Note 14)

— Legal and other disputes (Notes 29 and 46)

— Goodwill and other intangible asset impairments (Notes 18
and 19)

— Business combinations (Note 38)
- Pensions and other post-employment benefits (Note 28).

Information on the judgements and estimates made in these areas
is given in Note 3 to the financial statements, ‘Key accounting
judgements and estimates’.

Turnover

In respect of the Turnover accounting policy, our largest business
is US Pharmaceuticals, and the US market has the most complex
arrangements for rebates, discounts and allowances. The following
briefly describes the nature of the arrangements in existence in our
US Pharmaceuticals business:

— We have arrangements with certain indirect customers whereby
the customer is able to buy products from wholesalers at reduced
prices. A chargeback represents the difference between the
invoice price to the wholesaler and the indirect customer’s
contractual discounted price. Accruals for estimating chargebacks
are calculated based on the terms of each agreement, historical
experience and product growth rates

— Customer rebates are offered to key managed care and Group
Purchasing Organisations (GPO) and other direct and indirect
customers. These arrangements require the customer to achieve
certain performance targets relating to the value of product
purchased, formulary status or pre-determined market shares
relative to competitors. The accrual for customer rebates is
estimated based on the specific terms in each agreement,
historical experience and product growth rates

— The US Medicaid programme is a state-administered programme
providing assistance to certain poor and vulnerable patients. In
1990, the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program was established to
reduce State and Federal expenditure on prescription drugs. In
2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act became law.
We participate by providing rebates to states. Accruals for Medicaid
rebates are calculated based on the specific terms of the relevant
regulations or the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act

— Cash discounts are offered to customers to encourage prompt
payment. These are accrued for at the time of invoicing and
adjusted subsequently to reflect actual experience

— We record an accrual for estimated sales returns by applying
historical experience of customer returns to the amounts invoiced,
together with market related information such as stock levels at
wholesalers, anticipated price increases and competitor activity.

A reconciliation of gross turnover to net turnover for the US
Pharmaceuticals business, including Puerto Rico, is as follows:

2015 2014
2016 (restated) (restated)
Margin Margin Margin
£m % £m % £m %
Gross turnover 13,363 100 10,093 100 8,838 100
Market driven
segments (2,749) (21) (1,761) 17) (1,274) (14)
Government
mandated and
state programs (8,070) (23) (2,357) (23) (1,697) 19)
Cash discounts (261) 2 (192 (2 (169) 2)
Customer returns (98) (1) (93) (1) (69) 1)
Prior year adjustments 109 1 142 1 169 2
Other items (457) (3) (298) (3) (181) (@)
Total deductions (6,526) (49) (4,559) (45) (3,221) (36)
Net turnover 6,837 51 5,534 55 5,617 64

Market driven segments consist primarily of Managed Care and
Medicare plans with which GSK negotiates contract pricing that

is honoured via rebates and chargebacks. Mandated segments
consist primarily of Medicaid and Federal Government programmes
which receive government mandated pricing via rebates and
chargebacks.

The increased deductions in the market driven segments of the
gross turnover to net turnover reconciliation primarily reflected
higher rebates and chargebacks on Respiratory products, and

on Advair in particular. During 2016, Advair accounted for 27% of
US Pharmaceuticals turnover and approximately 45% of the total
deduction for rebates and returns, and the Respiratory portfolio as
a whole accounted for approximately 75% of the total deduction in
the year. Advair continued to suffer pricing pressure in 2016 as the
business sought to transition its Respiratory portfolio to newer
products.

The balance sheet accruals for rebates, discounts, allowances
and returns for the US Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines businesses
are managed on a combined basis. At 31 December 2016, the
total accrual amounted to £2,218 million (2015 — £1,671 million).

A monthly process is operated to monitor inventory levels at
wholesalers for any abnormal movements. This process uses
gross sales volumes, prescription volumes based on third party
data sources and information received from key wholesalers. The
aim of this is to maintain inventories at a consistent level from year
to year based on the pattern of consumption.

On this basis, US Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines inventory levels at
wholesalers and in other distribution channels at 31 December 2016
were estimated to amount to approximately five weeks of turnover.
This calculation uses third party information, the accuracy of which
cannot be totally verified, but is believed to be sufficiently reliable for
this purpose.
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Legal and other disputes

In respect of the accounting policy for Legal and other disputes,
the following briefly describes the process by which we determine
the level of provision that is necessary.

In accordance with the requirements of IAS 37, ‘Provisions,
contingent liabilities and contingent assets’, we provide for
anticipated settlement costs where an outflow of resources is
considered probable and a reliable estimate may be made of the
likely outcome of the dispute and legal and other expenses arising
from claims against the Group. We may become involved in
significant legal proceedings, in respect of which it is not possible
to make a reliable estimate of the expected financial effect, if any,
that could result from ultimate resolution of the proceedings. In these
cases, appropriate disclosure about such cases would be included
in the Annual Report, but no provision would be made.

This position could change over time and, therefore, there can be no
assurance that any losses that result from the outcome of any legal
proceedings will not exceed by a material amount the amount of the
provisions reported in the Group's financial statements.

Like many pharmaceutical companies, we are faced with various
complex product liability, anti-trust and patent litigation, as well as
investigations of its operations conducted by various governmental
regulatory agencies. Throughout the year, the General Counsel of
the Group, as head of the Group's legal function, and the Senior
Vice President and Head of Global Litigation for the Group, who is
responsible for all litigation and government investigations, routinely
brief the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the
Board of Directors on the significant litigation pending against the
Group and governmental investigations of the Group.

These meetings, as appropriate, detail the status of significant litigation
and government investigations and review matters such as the number
of claims notified to us, information on potential claims not yet notified,
assessment of the validity of claims, progress made in settling claims,
recent settlement levels and potential reimbursement by insurers.

The meetings also include an assessment of whether or not there

is sufficient information available for us to be able to make a reliable
estimate of the potential outcomes of the disputes. Often, external
counsel assisting us with various litigation matters and investigations
will also assist in the briefing of the Board and senior management.
Following these discussions, for those matters where it is possible to
make a reliable estimate of the amount of a provision, if any, that may
be required, the level of provision for legal and other disputes is
reviewed and adjusted as appropriate. These matters are discussed
further in Note 46 to the financial statements, ‘Legal proceedings'.

Treasury policies

We report in Sterling and pay dividends out of Sterling cash flows.
The role of Treasury is to monitor and manage the Group's external
and internal funding requirements and financial risks in support of
our strategic objectives. GSK operates on a global basis, primarily
through subsidiary companies, and we manage our capital to ensure
that our subsidiaries are able to operate as going concerns and to
optimise returns to shareholders through an appropriate balance

of debt and equity. Treasury activities are governed by policies
approved annually by the Board of Directors, and most recently

on 21 July 2016. A Treasury Management Group (TMG) meeting,
chaired by our Chief Financial Officer, takes place on a monthly
basis to review treasury activities. lts members receive management
information relating to these activities.

Treasury operations

The objective of our Treasury activity is to minimise the post-tax net
cost of financial operations and reduce its volatility in order to benefit
earnings and cash flows. We use a variety of financial instruments to
finance our operations and derivative financial instruments to manage
market risks from these operations. These derivatives, principally
comprising interest rate swaps, foreign exchange forward contracts
and swaps, are used to swap borrowings and liquid assets into
currencies required for Group purposes and to manage exposure

to financial risks from changes in foreign exchange rates and

interest rates.

We do not hold or issue derivatives for speculative purposes

and GSK's Treasury policies specifically prohibit such activity.

All transactions in financial instruments are undertaken to manage
the risks arising from underlying business activities.

Capital management

Our financial strategy, implemented through the Group’s Financial
architecture, supports GSK's strategic priorities and it is regularly
reviewed by the Board. We manage the capital structure of the
Group through an appropriate mix of debt and equity.

GSK's long-term credit rating with Standard and Poor's is A+
(stable outlook) and with Moody's Investor Services (‘Moody's’)

is A2 (negative outlook). Our short-term credit ratings are A-1 and
P-1 with Standard and Poor's and Moody's respectively.

Liquidity risk management

Our policy is to borrow centrally in order to meet anticipated funding
requirements. Our cash flow forecasts and funding requirements are
monitored by the TMG on a monthly basis. Our strategy is to diversify
liquidity sources using a range of facilities and to maintain broad
access to financial markets.

Each day, we sweep cash from a number of global subsidiaries to
central Treasury accounts for liquidity management purposes.

Interest rate risk management

Our objective is to minimise the effective net interest cost and to
balance the mix of debt at fixed and floating interest rates over time.
The policy on interest rate risk management limits the amount of
floating interest payments to a prescribed percentage of operating
profit.



78 GSK Annual Report 2016

Group financial review continued

Treasury policies continued

Foreign exchange risk management

Foreign currency transaction exposures arising on external trade
flows are not normally hedged. Foreign currency transaction
exposures arising on internal trade flows are selectively hedged.
Our objective is to minimise the exposure of overseas operating
subsidiaries to transaction risk by matching local currency income
with local currency costs where possible. GSK's internal trading
transactions are matched centrally and we manage inter-company
payment terms to reduce foreign currency risk. Foreign currency
cash flows can be hedged selectively under the management of
Treasury and the TMG. These include hedges of the foreign
exchange risk arising from acquisitions and disposals of assets.
Where possible, we manage the cash surpluses or borrowing
requirements of subsidiary companies centrally using forward
contracts to hedge future repayments back into the originating
currency.

In order to reduce foreign currency translation exposure, we seek
to denominate borrowings in the currencies of our principal assets
and cash flows. These are primarily denominated in US Dollars,
Euros and Sterling. Borrowings can be swapped into other
currencies as required.

Borrowings denominated in, or swapped into, foreign currencies
that match investments in overseas Group assets may be treated
as a hedge against the relevant assets. Forward contracts in major
currencies are also used to reduce exposure to the Group's
investment in overseas Group assets. The TMG reviews the

ratio of borrowings to assets for major currencies monthly.

Counterparty risk management

We set global counterparty limits for each of our banking and
investment counterparties based on long-term credit ratings from
Moody’s and Standard and Poor's. Treasury's usage of these limits
is monitored daily by a Corporate Compliance Officer (CCO) who
operates independently of Treasury. Any breach of these limits would
be reported to the CFO immediately.

The CCO also monitors the credit rating of these counterparties and,
when changes in ratings occur, notifies Treasury so that changes can
be made to investment levels or to authority limits as appropriate.

In addition, relationship banks and their credit ratings are reviewed
regularly and a report is presented annually to the TMG for approval.

Strategic report

The Strategic report was approved by the Board of Directors on
13 March 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

Simon Dingemans
Chief Financial Officer

13 March 2017
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In this section

Chairman'’s Governance statement
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Our Corporate Executive Team

Leadership and effectiveness
Nominations Committee report
Accountability

Audi .

Relations with shareholders
Engagement activities

Corporate Responsibility Committee report
Directors’ report
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Last year, we reported
the steps taken to refresh
our non-executive
representation on the
Board to address a
number of planned
retirements. This year,
the Board's primary
focus was on executive
succession.

N\

Dear Shareholder

| am pleased to present our Corporate
Governance Report for 2016.

The Board remains committed to the highest
standards of corporate governance and
integrity. Our governance structure operates
from the Board across the Group, and we
believe that it is critical in underpinning our
ability to deliver our strategy and to create
long-term value for our shareholders.

CEO and executive management
succession

Last year, we reported the steps taken to
refresh our non-executive representation on
the Board to address a number of planned
retirements. This year, the Board's primary
focus was on executive succession. The
review of Talent and Leadership Strategy
has been an annual item of Board and
Nominations Committee discussion and
oversight. When Sir Andrew Witty indicated,
in March 20186, his intention to retire from the
Board in early 2017, we were well placed to
accelerate an orderly CEO succession and
transition plan. The process we followed is
described in the report of our Nominations
Committee on pages 94 to 96.

The Board was unanimous in supporting
the appointment of Emma Walmsley, who
previously led GSK's Consumer Healthcare
business, as our new CEO. It was felt that
her leadership skills, history of delivering
growth and driving performance and fresh
thinking made her an ideal choice.

Under Sir Andrew's leadership, GSK has
successfully developed market-leading
positions in Vaccines and Consumer
Healthcare. These provide excellent
platforms for sustainable, long-term growth,
and we are confident Emma will successfully
build on these strengths and further
strengthen the Pharmaceuticals business.
Since her appointment as CEO Designate
in September 2016, and in the run up to
assuming the role of CEO on 1 April 2017,
she is focusing completely on the transition.
She is spending time with Sir Andrew so
he can share his knowledge and experience
and make key introductions, while also
deepening her understanding of the
business, especially R&D, Pharmaceuticals
and Vaccines. She has also started to meet
with major shareholders to listen to their
views on GSK. She will share her strategic
overview and vision for the Group later in
the year. Details of her induction plan are
set out on page 91.

A further change was made to our executive
representation on the Board when Dr
Moncef Slaoui, Chairman, Global Vaccines,
indicated his intention to retire from the
Board in 2017. In addition, Dr Patrick
Vallance, President, R&D, has been
appointed to the Board.

| would like to express my gratitude to both
Sir Andrew and Moncef for their dedication
and service to GSK over the years and their
professionalism and support in facilitating an
orderly Board succession process.
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Review of our Board governance
arrangements

The Board keeps the functioning of its
governance framework under regular review.
During the year, it made the following
enhancements:

Science Committee: The Board decided
to establish a Science Committee to look
at our science, pipeline and R&D capital
allocation priorities. It is chaired by Dr Jesse
Goodman, one of our designated Scientific
and Medical Experts, and its members all
have a background in life sciences from
either a specialist or commercial perspective.
This matter has been under consideration
for some time and the timing of its
implementation has been driven by the
following considerations:

— science and innovation underpins each
of our businesses in Pharmaceuticals,
Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare;

— our R&D organisation continues to deliver
significant innovation for the Group, with
a number of decisions for potential new
medicines and vaccines coming up in the
next two years. This Committee can help
bring a greater focus to the Board's
deliberations on R&D at a critical phase
for the company;

— the Board is looking to further increase its
scientific capabilities with a search for a
third Scientific and Medical Expert and
establishing this Committee is in step with
this approach.

Finance Committee: After reviewing the
role of our Finance Committee, the Board
decided that a specific committee was no
longer required. lts responsibilities have
been reassigned to the Board or our Audit
& Risk Committee.

Culture and values

As Chairman, | am responsible for leading
and ensuring we have an effective Board.

| also actively encourage a culture and
environment in the boardroom that facilitates
debate and where our Non-Executive
Directors are able to provide constructive
challenge to management. | am pleased to
advise that | believe the Board is hard-
working and engaged, with an appropriate
balance of skills and experience. The newer
appointees are bringing fresh insights and
perspectives to further improve our decision
making. Our recent annual Board evaluation
exercise was carried out by the Company
Secretary and centred on identifying further
performance improvements. The evaluation
outcomes are set out on page 92. Our 2017
Board evaluation will be undertaken by an
independent external Board review
specialist. The last such independent
evaluation was carried out in 2014.

No less important for myself, in setting the
tone of the organisation from the top, is
promoting the values-based conduct and
behaviours of our people that flow from
the Boardroom through every artery of
the business.

| seek to ensure that everything that we as a
Board do is guided by our commitment to
our values and to being in compliance with
the local laws and regulations within which
we operate. GSK's Code of Conduct
(Code) draws together a number of our key
policies that lay the foundations of these
commitments and provides a working guide
for the way in which we apply our values
across our global operations.

Indeed, the Board felt it was important

to lead by example and has chosen to
undertake the same annual training on
our Code obligations as our employees.
The latest version of the Code, which was
updated and strengthened in April 2016,
is available in the governance area of
www.gsk.com.

UK Corporate Governance Code
compliance

| am pleased to report that we were in full
compliance with the requirements of the
Financial Reporting Council's 2014 UK
Corporate Governance Code (UK Code)

— a copy of the UK Code is available on
www.frc.org.uk. The following pages outline
our approach to corporate governance.

| commend this report to all of our
shareholders.

LAy [Fompbe—

Philip Hampton
Chairman

13 March 2017
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Board composition

Gender diversity

Board
As at date of publication

Female

Executive
As at date of publication

Female

Non-Executive
As at date of publication

Female

Tenure Non-Executive

As at 1 April 2017

Female

Sir Philip Hampton 63
Non-Executive Chairman

o
AsatiAoil2017 e e
se e Nationality
Female Appointed

1 January 2015. Deputy Chairman
from 1 April 2015 and Non-Executive
Chairman from 7 May 2015

Skills and experience

Prior to joining GSK, Sir Philip
chaired major FTSE 100 companies,
including The Royal Bank of
Scotland Group plc and J Sainsbury
plc. He has also served as Group
Finance Director at Lloyds TSB

As at 1 April 2017

Female

Group, BT Group plc, BG Group

Asat 1 April 2017 plc, British Gas plc and British

1. Upto 3years 63% Steel plc. Sir Philip was previously
2. 3-6 years 2506 appointed an Executive Direc‘tor
of Lazards and a Non-Executive
3. 7-9years 0% Director at RMC Group Plc and
4. Over 9 years 12% Belgacom SA. Until 2009, he was
Chairman of UK Financial
Investments Limited, which manages
the UK Government's shareholdings
Composition [T
As at 1 April 2017 External appointments
) ) Sir Philip is currently the Senior
1. Executive 27% Independent Director of Anglo
2. Non-Executive 73% American Plc, Chairman of its

International experience

Remuneration Committee and
member of its Audit Committee.

Sir Philip is also Chair of the
Hampton-Alexander Review

on FTSE Women Leaders, an
independent review on improving
gender balance in FTSE leadership.

As at 1 April 2017

Global us Europe EMAP
73% 100% 91% 64%

Key
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() Audit & Risk
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Sir Andrew Witty 52
Chief Executive Officer

Nationality

British

Appointed

31 January 2008. Chief Executive
Officer from 21 May 2008. Sir
Andrew is retiring from the Board
on 31 March 2017.

Skills and experience

Sir Andrew joined GSK in 1985.
He has worked in the UK, South
Africa, the US and Singapore in
various senior roles. In 2003, he was
appointed President of Europe and
joined GSK's Corporate Executive
Team. Andrew has served in
numerous advisory roles to
Governments around the world,
including South Africa, Singapore,
Guangzhou China and the UK,
where he was a member of the Prime
Minister's Business Advisory Group
from 2010-2015. He was awarded
a Knighthood for services to the
economy and to the UK
pharmaceutical industry in the

2012 New Year Honours List.
External appointments

Sir Andrew is a UK Business
Ambassador and serves on the
China-Britain Business Council
Advisory Council and the EDB
International Advisory Committee,
Singapore. Sir Andrew is also
Co-Chair of a UK EU Life Sciences
Steering Group to advise the UK
Government on life science priorities
in the context of the UK leaving the
EU, Visiting Professor to the Institute
of Global Health Innovation at
Imperial College, London, and
Chancellor of the University of
Nottingham.
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Emma Walmsley 47
CEO Designate

Nationality

British

Appointed

1 January 2017. Chief Executive
Officer from 1 April 2017

Skills and experience

Emma joined GSK in 2010 with
responsibility for Consumer
Healthcare, Europe and was
subsequently appointed President
of GlaxoSmithKline Consumer
Healthcare. She has been a member
of GSK's Corporate Executive Team
since 2011 and, in 2015, was
appointed CEO of GSK Consumer
Healthcare, a joint venture between
GSK and Novartis. Emma joined the
GSK Board on 1 January 2017 and
will formally succeed Sir Andrew
Witty as GSK CEO when he retires
on 31 March 2017.

Prior to joining GSK, Emma worked
with L'Oreal for 17 years where she
held a variety of marketing and
general management roles in Paris,
London and New York. From 2007,
she was based in Shanghai as
General Manager, Consumer
Products for L'Oreal China. Emma
was a Non-Executive Director of
Diageo plc from 1 January to 21
September 2016. She holds an MA
in Classics and Modern Languages
from Oxford University.

External appointments

None

Simon Dingemans 53
Chief Financial Officer

Nationality

British

Appointed

4 January 2011. Chief Financial
Officer from 1 April 2011

Skills and experience

Prior to joining GSK, Simon had
over 25 years of experience in
investment banking at SG Warburg
and Goldman Sachs. Simon advised
GSK for over a decade before his
appointment and was closely
involved in a number of GSK's

key strategic projects.

External appointments

Simon is Deputy Chairman of the
100 Group of Finance Directors,
having been Chairman from 2014
to early 2017.

Dr Moncef Slaoui 57
Chairman, Global Vaccines

Nationality
Moroccan, Belgian & American

Appointed
17 May 2006. Moncef is retiring from
the Board on 31 March 2017.

Skills and experience

Moncef joined GSK Vaccines in
1988 where he engineered the
development of a robust vaccines
pipeline. He then led Worldwide
Business Development for
pharmaceutical products before his
appointment to lead R&D in 2006.
He was given overall responsibility
for GSK's Oncology Business in
2010; for GSK Vaccines in 2011;
and for all Global Franchises in 2012.
Moncef is Chairman of the Board of
Directors of Galvani Bioelectronics,
the company launched in November
2016 that GSK jointly owns with
Verily Life Sciences.

Moncef has advised the US
President's Council of Advisors

on Science and Technology, was a
member of the Board of the Agency
for Science, Technology & Research
(A*STAR) until January 2011, the
PhRMA Foundation Board from
2008 to 2016 and the Advisory
Committee to the Director of
National Institutes of Health from
2011 to 2016.

He has a PhD in Molecular Biology
and Immunology from Université
Libre de Bruxelles and has published
more than 100 scientific papers
and presentations. Prior to joining
GSK, Moncef was Professor of
Immunology at the University of
Mons, Belgium.

External appointments
Moncef is a member of the
Biotechnology Industry Organization
Board in the US. He is also an
adviser to the Qatar Foundation,
and a member of the Qatar
Biomedical Research Institute
Scientific Advisory Committee.
Moncef serves as a Non-Executive
Director for the International AIDS
Vaccine Initiative (IAVI) and is a
member of the Board of Artizan
Biosciences Inc.

Dr Patrick Vallance 56
President, R&D

Nationality

British

Appointed

1 January 2017

Skills and experience

Patrick joined GSK in 2006 as
Head of Drug Discovery and was
subsequently appointed Senior
Vice President, Medicines Discovery
and Development. He has been
a member of GSK'’s Corporate
Executive Team since 2010

and was appointed President,
Pharmaceuticals R&D in January
2012. Patrick joined the GSK
Board on 1 January 2017.

Prior to joining GSK, Patrick was a
clinical academic and, as Professor
of Medicine, led the Division of
Medicine at University College
London. He has over 20 years’
experience of research clinical
medicine, general internal medicine,
cardiovascular medicine and clinical
pharmacology. He was elected to
the Academy of Medical Sciences
in 1999.

External appointments

Patrick is a Non-Executive Director
of Genome Research Limited and
UK Biobank.
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Manvinder Singh (Vindi) Banga 62
Senior Independent
Non-Executive Director

Nationality

Indian

Appointed

1 September 2015 and as Senior
Independent Non-Executive Director
from 5 May 2016

Skills and experience

Prior to joining GSK, Vindi spent
33 years at Unilever plc, where his
last role (amongst several senior
positions) was President of the
Global Foods, Home and Personal
Care businesses, and he was a
member of the Unilever Executive
Board. Vindi sat on the Prime
Minister of India's Council of Trade
& Industry from 2004 to 2014,

and was on the Board of Governors
of the Indian Institute of Management
(IIM), Ahmedabad. Vindi is also the
recipient of the Padma Bhushan,
one of India’s highest civilian
honours. Between 2015 and 2016,
Vindi was a Non-Executive Director
of Thomson Reuters Corp and a
member of its HR committee.

External appointments

Vindi is a Partner at private equity
investment firm Clayton Dubilier
& Rice. He is also Chairman of
the Supervisory Board of Mauser
Group, Chairman of Kalle GmbH,
Senior Independent Director of
Marks & Spencer Group plc and
a member of its Nominations and
Remuneration Committees. Vindi
is on the Governing Board of the
Indian School of Business (ISB),
Hyderabad, and is a member of the
Indo UK CEO Forum.

Key

= r
jh,

Professor Sir Roy Anderson 69
Independent Non-Executive
Director & Scientific Expert

Nationality

British

Appointed

1 October 2007

Skills and experience

Professor Sir Roy is a world-
renowned medical scientist with
advanced knowledge of infectious
disease epidemiology, and is
currently Professor of Infectious
Disease in the Faculty of Medicine,
Imperial College, London. He is

a Fellow of the Royal Society, the
Academy of Medical Sciences and
the Royal Statistical Society. He is
an Honorary Fellow of the Institute
of Actuaries and a Foreign Associate
Member of the National Academy

of Medicine at the US National
Academy of Sciences and the French
Academy of Sciences. Professor Sir
Roy brings scientific expertise to the
Board's deliberations.

External appointments
Professor Sir Roy is a member of
the International Advisory Board

of Holdingham Group and he is a
member of the Science Advisory
Board of the Natural History
Museum, London. He is also a
member of the Vaccine International
Advisory Board (VACCIAB) of AJ
Pharma Holding Sdn. Bhd in
Malaysia, the International
Alzheimer's Consortium at Harvard
University, Boston, and Chairman
of the Scientific Advisory Board
(SAB) of the Netherlands Centre
for One Health (NCOH).
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Dr Vivienne Cox 57
Independent Non-Executive
Director

Nationality

British

Appointed

1 July 2016

Skills and experience
Vivienne has wide experience of
business gained in the energy,
natural resources and publishing
sectors. She also has a deep
understanding of regulatory and
government relationships. She
worked for BP plc for 28 years,

in Britain and Continental Europe,
in posts including Executive Vice
President and Chief Executive of
BP’s gas, power and renewable
business and its alternative energy
unit. Vivienne was previously a
Non-Executive Director of BG
Group plc and Rio Tinto plc.
Vivienne was appointed Commander
of the Order of the British Empire in
the 2016 New Year Honours for
services to the UK Economy and
Sustainability.

External appointments
Vivienne is Senior Independent
Director of Pearson plc, a Non-
Executive Director of Stena
International and Chairman of the
Supervisory Board of Vallourec,

a supplier to the energy industry.
She is also Lead Independent
Director at the UK Government's
Department for International
Development.

Lynn Elsenhans 60
Independent Non-Executive
Director

Nationality

American

Appointed

1 July 2012

Skills and experience

Lynn has a wealth of experience

of running a global business and
significant knowledge of the global
markets in which GSK operates. She
served as Chair, President and Chief
Executive Officer of Sunoco Inc.
from 2009 to 2012. Prior to joining
Sunoco in 2008 as President and
Chief Executive Officer, Lynn worked
for Royal Dutch Shell, which she
joined in 1980, and where she held
a number of senior roles, including
Executive Vice President, Global
Manufacturing from 2005 to 2008.
External appointments

Lynn is a Non-Executive Director

of Baker Hughes Inc. and Flowserve
Corporation, a Director of the

Texas Medical Center, and a
Non-Executive Director of The First
Tee of Greater Houston. She is also
a Trustee of the United Way of
Greater Houston.
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Dr Jesse Goodman 65
Independent Non-Executive
Director & Scientific Expert

Nationality

American

Appointed

1 January 2016

Skills and experience

Dr Goodman previously served in
senior leadership positions at the
US Food and Drug Administration
(FDA), including most recently as the
FDA's Chief Scientist and previously
as Deputy Commissioner for
Science and Public Health and as
Director of the Center for Biologics
Evaluation and Research (CBER).

Dr Goodman played a leadership
role in developing the FDA's
Regulatory Science and Medical
Countermeasures Initiatives and has
worked collaboratively with industry,
academia, government and global
public health and regulatory partners
to prepare for and respond to major
public health threats, including
emerging infectious diseases,
disasters and terrorism. He led the
FDA's response to West Nile Virus
and to the 2009 H1N1 influenza
pandemic and served on the Senior
Leadership Team for the 2010 White
House Medical Countermeasure
Review. Dr Goodman brings
scientific and public health expertise
to the Board'’s deliberations.
External appointments

Dr Goodman, currently Professor of
Medicine at Georgetown University,
directs the Georgetown University
Center on Medical Product Access,
Safety and Stewardship
(COMPASS) and is an active
clinician who serves as Attending
Physician in Infectious Diseases.

He also serves as President and
Member of the Board of the United
States Pharmacopeia (USP) and as
a member of the Scientific Advisory
Board (SAB) of the Coalition for
Epidemic Preparedness Innovations
(CEPI).

Judy Lewent 68
Independent Non-Executive
Director

Nationality

American

Appointed

1 April 2011

Skills and experience

Judy has extensive knowledge of the
global pharmaceutical industry and
of corporate finance, having joined
Merck & Co in 1980 and then served
as Chief Financial Officer from 1990
to 2007 when she retired. Judy was
previously a Non-Executive Director
of Purdue Pharma Inc, Napp
Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited
and certain Mundipharma
International Limited companies
until 31 December 2014. Judy
previously served as a Non-
Executive Director of Dell Inc.,
Quaker Oats Company and
Motorola Inc.

The Board has determined that
Judy has recent and relevant
financial experience, and agreed
that she has the appropriate
qualifications and background to be
an audit committee financial expert.

External appointments

Judy is a Non-Executive Director of
Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc and
Motorola Solutions Inc. She is also
a Trustee of the Rockefeller Family
Trust and Chairperson of the Audit
Committee of Rockefeller Financial
Services, a life member of the
Massachusetts Institute of
Technology Corporation and a
member of the American Academy
of Arts and Sciences.

Urs Rohner 57
Independent Non-Executive
Director

Nationality

Swiss

Appointed

1 January 2015

Skills and experience

Urs has a broad range of business
and legal experience having served
as Chairman on a number of Boards,
most recently for Credit Suisse,

a world-leading financial services
company. Prior to joining Credit
Suisse in 2004, Urs served as
Chairman of the Executive Board
and CEO of ProSieben and
ProSiebenSat.1 Media AG. This
followed a number of years in private
practice at major law firms in
Switzerland and the US, having been
admitted to the bars of the canton of
Zurich in 1986 and the state of New
York in 1990.

External appointments

Urs is currently Chairman of the
Board of Credit Suisse Group

AG and of the Chairman’s and
Governance Committee. He is
also Chairman and member of the
Board of Trustees of Credit Suisse
Research Institute and Credit Suisse
Foundation. Urs was appointed
Vice-Chairman of the Governing
Board of the Swiss Bankers
Association in 2015.

Other Board members

Sir Deryck Maughan was
Senior Independent Non-
Executive Director and a member
of the Nominations, Audit & Risk
and Remuneration Committees
until his retirement from the
Board on 5 May 2016.

Dr Stephanie Burns was an
Independent Non-Executive
Director and a member of the
Remuneration and Corporate
Responsibility Committees until
her retirement from the Board
on 5 May 2016.

Dr Daniel Podolsky was an
Independent Non-Executive
Director and a member of the
Audit & Risk and Corporate
Responsibility Committees until
his retirement from the Board
on 5 May 2016.

Hans Wijers was an
Independent Non-Executive
Director and a member of the
Remuneration and Corporate
Responsibility Committees until
his retirement from the Board
on 5 May 2016.

Stacey Cartwright was an
Independent Non-Executive
Director and a member of the
Audit & Risk Committee until
her retirement from the Board
on 31 December 2016.
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1. Sir Andrew Witty
Chief Executive Officer

2. Emma Walmsley
CEO Designate

3. Simon Dingemans
Chief Financial Officer

4, Patrick Vallance
President, R&D

@ For biographical details, see pages 82
and 83.

David Redfern
Chief Strategy Officer

David joined CET as Chief Strategy Officer
in 2008 and is responsible for corporate
development and strategic planning. He
was appointed Chairman of the Board of
ViiV Healthcare Ltd. in April 2011 and a
Non-Executive Director of Aspen
Pharmacare Ltd.

Previously, he was Senior Vice President,
Northern Europe with responsibility for GSK's
pharmaceutical businesses in that region and,
prior to that, was Senior Vice President for
Central and Eastern Europe. David joined
GSKin 1994.

David has a Bachelor of Science degree
from Bristol University in the UK and is a
Chartered Accountant.

Claire Thomas
Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Claire was appointed to CET as Senior Vice
President, Human Resources in 2008.

Claire joined the company in 1996 as Senior
Manager, Human Resources, Sales and
Marketing Group, UK Pharmaceuticals before
becoming Director of Human Resources for

UK Pharmaceuticals in 1997. She was appointed
Senior Vice President, Human Resources,
Pharmaceuticals Europe in 2001, and Senior Vice
President, Human Resources, Pharmaceuticals
International in 2006.

Prior to GSK, she worked for Ford Motor
Company, holding various positions in Human
Resources.

Claire has a Bachelor of Science degree in
Economics, Management and Industrial Relations
from the University of Wales.

Abbas Hussain
President, Global Pharmaceuticals

Abbas joined CET in 2008 and was appointed
President, Global Pharmaceuticals in 2014,
having joined the company as President, Emerging
Markets & Asia Pacific in 2008. He joined the

ViiV Healthcare Ltd Board in October 2009.

Previously, he spent 20 years at Eli Lilly where
he held positions including President, Europe.
He also worked for Eli Lilly in Australia, the US,
India, Turkey and Germany in several roles,
including business development, sales and
marketing, and management.

He has a degree in Medicinal Chemistry &
Pharmacology from Loughborough University
and was born in Madras, India.

In January 2017, GSK announced Abbas’
decision to leave the company later in the year.

Dan Troy
Senior Vice President & General Counsel

Dan joined GSK and CET as Senior Vice
President & General Counsel in 2008.

He was previously a Partner at the Washington
law firm Sidley Austin LLP, where he principally
represented pharmaceutical companies and trade
associations on matters related to the US Food
and Drug Administration (FDA) and government
regulations. Dan was formerly Chief Counsel for
the FDA.

Dan holds a B.S. in Industrial and Labor Relations
from Cornell University and a J.D. from Columbia
University School of Law. He chairs the US
Chamber of Commerce Litigation Center.
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Phil Thomson
Senior Vice President, Communications
and Government Affairs

Phil joined CET in 2011 and was appointed
Senior Vice President, Communications and
Government Affairs in 2014. He has responsibility
for Media Relations, Investor Relations, Corporate
Responsibility, Internal Communications, Product
Communications, Government Affairs and GSK's
Global Brand and Community Partnerships.

He joined the company as a commercial trainee
in 1996, moving from pharmaceutical brand
marketing to product communications. In 1999,
he became Director of Media Relations and was
then Director, Investor Relations from 2001 to
2004, when he returned to Corporate Media
Relations as Vice President.

In July 2016, he became a Co-Opted Member
of the China-Britain Business Council.

Phil earned his degree in English and History
from Durham University.

..

o

Luc Debruyne
President, Global Vaccines

Luc joined CET in 2016 as President, Global
Vaccines, a role he has held since 2013. He joined
GSKin 1991 and worked as a commercial
strategy director in R&D, before leading the
European Commercial Centre of Excellence in
2005. In 2006, Luc became General Manager of
the Netherlands and then in 2010 Senior Vice
President and General Manager in Italy. In 2012,
he was appointed Senior Vice President, Pharma
Europe, prior to his current role. Luc is a member
of the International Federation of Pharmaceutical
Manufacturers & Associations (IFPMA) Vaccines
CEO Roundtable, as well as the Management
Committee of the Belgian Federation of
Enterprises.

He holds a Master's degree in Physical Education
from University of Leuven.

Roger Connor
President, Global Manufacturing
& Supply

Roger joined CET in 2012 and was appointed
President, Global Manufacturing & Supply (GMS)
in 2013, after working for a year as President
Designate, GMS. Roger joined GSK in 1998
from AstraZeneca and worked in a number of
finance and manufacturing strategy roles.

Prior to his current position, he was Vice
President, Office of the CEO and Corporate
Strategy, from February 2010.

He holds a degree in Mechanical and
Manufacturing Engineering from Queen'’s
University Belfast and a Masters in
Manufacturing Leadership from Cambridge
University. He is also a Chartered Accountant.

.

A

Brian McNamara
CEO, GSK Consumer Healthcare

Brian joined CET in 2016, when he was appointed
CEO, GSK Consumer Healthcare. Brian joined
GSK in March 2015 as Head of Europe and
Americas for GSK Consumer Healthcare,
following the creation of a joint venture between
GSK and Novartis. Previously, he was head of
Novartis's OTC division. Brian began his career

at Procter and Gamble. He is a board member of
the World Self-Medication Industry Association.

He earned an undergraduate degree in Electrical
Engineering from Union College in New York
and an MBA in Finance from the University of
Cincinnati.

Nick Hirons
Senior Vice President, Global Ethics
and Compliance

Nick was appointed to CET in 2014 as Senior
Vice President, Global Ethics and Compliance,
responsible for compliance, risk management
and corporate security and investigations.

Nick joined GSKin 1994 as an International
Auditor. He was later Head of Audit & Assurance,
where he combined five audit functions into an
independent team with a common risk-based
methodology. In 2013, Nick relocated to China
to establish a governance model for our China
business that created a consistent approach

to compliance.

Nick is a fellow of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants.

Further information

During the year Dr Moncef Slaoui
was a member of CET and stood down
on 31 December 2016 (see page 83).

In January 2017, Luke Miels was appointed
President, Global Pharmaceuticals; his start
date with GSK is to be confirmed.
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Corporate governance framework

The Board has a coherent corporate governance framework with clearly defined responsibilities and accountabilities. The framework is
designed to safeguard and enhance long-term shareholder value and to provide a robust platform to realise the Group's strategy to Grow,
Deliver and Simplify. Our internal control and risk management arrangements, which are described on pages 18 to 19, and 105 to 1086,
are an integral part of GSK's governance framework.

For the Board to operate effectively and to give full consideration to key matters, Board Committees have been established as set out below.

T
{ ! J ! )\

Chief Audit & Risk Remuneration Nominations Corporate Science
Executive Committee Committee Committee Responsibility Committee
Officer Committee

Read more on Read more on Read more on Read more on Read more on
Corporate page 97 page 112 page 94 page 108 page 81
Executive
s See www.gsk.com See www.gsk.com See www.gsk.com See www.gsk.com See www.gsk.com

e for terms of reference for terms of reference for terms of reference for terms of reference for terms of reference

2016 Board and Committee meeting attendance

Board Audit & Risk Remuneration Nominations Corporate Responsibility
Maximum Maximum Maximum Maximum Maximum

Members Attended possible Attended possible Attended possible Attended possible Attended possible
Sir Philip Hampton 6 6 6 6
Sir Andrew Witty 6 6
Simon Dingemans 6 6
Dr Moncef Slaoui 6 6
Professor Sir Roy Anderson 6 6 6 4 4
Vindi Banga 6 6 6 6 5 5 5 6
Dr Vivienne Cox
Appointed on 1 July 2016 3 3 3 3
Lynn Elsenhans 6 6 6 6 6 6 4 4
Dr Jesse Goodman 6 6 4 4
Judy Lewent 6 6 6 6 5 6 6
Urs Rohner 5 6 4 5
Stacey Cartwright
Retired on 31 December 2016 5 6 5 6
Dr Stephanie Burns
Retired on 5 May 2016 3 3 2 2 1 1
Sir Deryck Maughan
Retired on 5 May 2016 2 3 2 3 2 2 2 3
Dr Daniel Podolsky
Retired on 5 May 2016 2 3 2 3 1 1
Hans Wijers
Retired on 5 May 2016 3 3 2 2 1 1

Details of other regular attendees at Committee meetings, such as the Chairman, CEO and other Executive Directors, are set out in the reports of our Committees. These
reports are included later in the Corporate Governance Report.



89 GSK Annual Report 2016 )
Strategic report

Governance and remuneration

Financial statements

Investor information

2016 Board programme

Areas of focus Strategic priorities link
Strategy The Board’s oversight of the execution of our strategy included:
— Reports from our principal businesses, R&D, and GMS organisations @ @@
— Discussion and approval of the strategic combination with Verily Life Sciences to develop bioelectronic @ @ @

medicines, resulting in the Galvani joint venture

— Holding a joint Board & CET strategy day to discuss the evolution of our strategy, external landscape @ @ @
changes, competitor advantage and governance arrangements

— Reports on our pensions, insurance, tax and treasury strategies ®

— Review of our R&D pipeline and new products @ @ @
— Review of our ViV Healthcare joint venture @ @ @

Performance During the year, the Board regularly discussed:
— Reports from the CEO, the heads of our principal businesses and R&D and GMS organisations @ @ @
— The Group's financial performance @ @ @
— The annual budget and forward looking three year plan @ @ @
— Progress on our Finance transformation programme to enhance our processes and service capabilities
— Brexit impacts and planning @ @ @
Governance The Board undertook the following corporate governance duties:

— Received reports from Board Committees

— Approved the 2015 Annual Report

— AGM preparation

— Considered observations and actions from the internal evaluation of the Board's performance
— Received reports on corporate governance and regulatory developments

— Training on our Corporate Integrity Agreement (CIA), the new Market Abuse Regulations (MAR), and
our updated Code of Conduct

— Approved the appointment of new CEO and Directors

— Approved the appointment of new auditor with effect from 2018

Talent and succession  The Head of HR briefed the Board on:

— the Talent and Leadership Development strategy

Strategy key: @ Grow @ Deliver @ Simplify
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Key Board roles and responsibilities

Strong leadership

Chairman

Philip Hampton

— Leads and manages the business of the Board

— Provides direction and focus

— Ensures clear structure for effective operation of the Board
and its Committees

— Sets Board agenda and ensures sufficient time is allocated to
promote effective debate and support sound decision making

— Ensures the Board receives precise, timely and clear
information

— Meets with each Non-Executive Director on an annual basis
to discuss individual contributions and performance, together
with training and development needs

— Shares peer feedback that is provided as part of the Board
evaluation process

— Meets with all the Non-Executive Directors independently
of the Executive Directors

— Leads discussions with shareholders to whom he is
responsible for the Group’s performance

— Satisfied the Financial Reporting Council's UK Corporate
Governance Code independence test on appointment.

The Chairman’s role description
is available on www.gsk.com

Chief Executive Officer

Sir Andrew Witty

— Is responsible for the management of the business

— Develops the Group's strategic direction for consideration
and approval by the Board

— Implements the agreed strategy

— |s supported by members of the Corporate Executive Team.

The Chief Executive Officer’s role description
is available on www.gsk.com

/
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Independent oversight and rigorous challenge

Non-Executive Directors

— Provide a strong independent element to the Board

— Constructively support and challenge management and
scrutinise their performance in meeting agreed deliverables

— Shape proposals on strategy and management

— Each has a letter of appointment setting out the terms and
conditions of their directorship

— Devote such time as is necessary to the proper performance
of their duties

— Are expected to attend all Board meetings and additional
meetings as required.

Independence statement

The Board considers all of its Non-Executive Directors who are
identified on pages 84 to 85, including Professor Sir Roy Anderson
with tenure of more than nine years, to demonstrate an appropriate
degree of independence in character and judgement and to be

free from any business or other relationship which could materially
interfere with the exercise of their judgement. The independence
and commitment of those Non-Executive Directors who have served
on the Board for over six years has been subjected to a rigorous
review.

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Vindi Banga

— Acts as a sounding board for the Chairman and a trusted
intermediary for other Directors

— Leads the review annually of the Chairman’s performance,
canvassing views from the Non-Executive Directors collectively

— Discusses the results of the Chairman’s effectiveness review
with the Chairman

— Leads the search and appointment process and
recommendation to the Board of a new Chairman

— Acts as an additional point of contact for shareholders

— In doing so, maintains an understanding of the issues and
concerns of major shareholders through briefings from the
Investor Relations team and the Company Secretary.

The Senior Independent Non-Executive Director’s role
description is available on www.gsk.com

J
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Company Secretary

Victoria Whyte

Non-Executive Directors

governance matters

Timely support and advice

— Acts as a Secretary to the Board and all Board Committees

— Supports the Board and Committee Chairmen in annual agenda plan setting

— Ensures information is made available to the Board members in a timely fashion

— Facilitates the flow of information within the Board and Committees and between
Non-Executive Directors and management

— Supports the Chairman in designing and delivering Board inductions

— Coordinates ongoing business awareness and training requirements for the

— Undertakes internal Board and Committee evaluations at the request of the Chairman
— Adbvises the Directors on Board practices and procedures and corporate

— Chairs the Group's Disclosure Committee
— Acts as a point of contact for shareholders on corporate governance.

N
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Board induction

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in individually
designing and facilitating induction programmes for new Directors.
They are designed with the purpose of orientating and familiarising
new Directors with our industry, organisation, governance and
strategy to Grow, Deliver & Simplify. During the year, Emma Walmsley,
our CEO Designate, Dr Jesse Goodman, a new US-based Science
and Medical Expert, and Dr Vivienne Cox, a highly experienced
UK-based Non-Executive Director, were all appointed to the Board.

Each new Director receives a general induction. A personalised
induction is then devised which is individually tailored to each new
Director’s background, education, experience and role.

General Board induction

Executive Non-Executive All Directors
— Emma Walmsley — Dr Jesse Goodman — Director’s duties and
[ - Role of an Executive — Dr Vivienne Cox responsibilities \
Director . — GSK's Corporate
. . L — Role of a Non-Executive
— Build relationship with Director Governance structure
Chairman and the — GSK strat — GSK Corporate Integrity
Board strategy, Agreement (CIA) training
. ", competitors and ,
— Fill any capability gaps external environment — GSK's Code of Conduct
— Meet CET members training
— GSK'’s financial
structure
% \_ % \

Customised Executive Director induction

Emma Walmsley
CEO Designate

— Maximise handover opportunity with CEO

— Continue to build knowledge of business and external
environment

— Engage broadly across the business and externally in
‘listening” mode

— Define her leadership brand as CEO

— Finalise her strategy, its narrative and financial plan

— Define the culture/ways of working for the CET and the
wider GSK Group

— Legal responsibilities and duties of a CEO

-

Board, business awareness and training

To ensure that our Non-Executive Directors develop and maintain

a greater insight and understanding of the business, they are invited
to attend internal management meetings, including meetings of

the CET, Research Advisory Board, the Research & Development
Management Team (RDMT), the Portfolio and Discovery Investment
Boards, the Global Pharma Operations Committee, the US
Commercial Leadership Team and the Risk Oversight and
Compliance Council (ROCC). They also meet employees

informally during visits to the Group's operations and at

receptions held around Board meetings.

Customised Non-Executive Director induction

Dr Jesse Goodman Dr Vivienne Cox

Scientific & Medical Expert

— R&D and Vaccines
deep dives

— Site visits to: Ware,
Stevenage and Wavre

— Corporate Responsibility
Committee induction

— Briefing on US business
and commercial model

— Site visits to: Ware,
Stevenage and Wavre

— Remuneration and
Corporate Responsibility
Committee inductions

N J

The Chairman meets with each Director annually on a one-to-one
basis to discuss his or her ongoing training and development
requirements. The Board is kept up-to-date on legal, regulatory
and governance matters through regular papers and briefings
from the Company Secretary and presentations by internal and
external advisers.

During 2016, the Board members undertook specific refresher
training on GSK'’s CIA and on the new MAR regulations and
agreed to undertake training on GSK's Code of Conduct.
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2016 Internal evaluation of the Board

i Internally facilitated by the i The Company Secretary drew
i Company Secretary at the i all the responses together

i Chairman’s request. i from the information gathering
i H i stages of the evaluation

i process and discussed them

i with the Chairman.

i She prepared an online survey
i comprising a small number
: of focused questions.

Phase one
Preparation

Phase two Phase three Phase four

Interviews Review Outcomes

! The Company Secretary had  The Company Secretary

i follow-up face-to-face or i prepared a Board paper for

i telephone interviews with i the January 2017 meeting

: Board members to discuss ¢ that formed the basis of the

! their responses and to invite i discussions with the Board. ]
¢ members to provide any i Learning points/successes and
i clarifications and further i areas of focus for the Board i
i insights and perspectives on i were identified and are set out

i the performance of the Board.  : i below.

Successes Areas of focus for 2017

— The CEO succession process had been a — Create more opportunities for deeper strategic
comprehensive, reflective and informative process, discussions, particularly on the evolution of the
which concluded successfully to schedule. pharmaceuticals industry, the competitive landscape,

h K cul f .
— Work to increase the Board's visibility and therapy areas and GSK culture and performance

understanding of the pipeline and R&D organisation — |dentify ways to further improve the Board’s
had been appreciated. decision making.
— The creation and establishment of the Science — Further increase Board oversight of science and
Committee would further enhance the Board's innovation in collaboration with the new Science Committee.

oversight of the Group's R&D. — Consider how data from the new IT systems can

— New Board members had settled in quickly and contribute to greater understanding and hence help
made immediate and positive contributions following evolve the business strategy.
comprehensive inductions.

— The Board had successfully created increased
opportunity for strategic debate.
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2016 Board performance action points

Progress against the conclusions of the 2015 Board evaluation review, internally facilitated by our Company Secretary, is set out below.

Action points Progress/Achievements
Strategy — Assist newer Directors with additional background briefing materials Additional materials are now provided on the
ahead of debates on strategy. company'’s Board portal.
— Arrange more regular discussion of medium and longer term strategy The Board agenda was compiled to include more
with fresh insights from different perspectives. opportunities to consider strategy from different
perspectives.
— Implement suggestions to further enhance the effectiveness of the The Board provided positive feedback on the
annual Board & CET strategy meetings. 2016 meetings held at the newly acquired
Siena sites.
Executive — Further increase the focus on executive succession plans and ensure The Board was well positioned to operate its
succession and the effectiveness of the disaster recovery plan. executive succession plans, that resulted in
NED refreshment appointments to the Board and CET. These are

described in more detail in the report of the
Nominations Committee on pages 94 to 96.

— Consider alternative suggestions for Non-Executive Director refreshment. New approaches to identifying potential scientific
and medical experts were utilised during 2016,
supported by external recruitment experts.

Deep dives — Consider further deep dives particularly on: The 2016 Board meeting programme was adjusted
and sites visits R&D strategy and pipeline, product launches, US pricing, joint ventures, to consider these matters during the year.
new business models and GMS.

— Consider holding one site visit to an operational site each year. The joint Board & CET strategy meetings in
September 2016 were held in Siena, ltaly at the
manufacturing and R&D facilities acquired as a
result of the Novartis transaction. The Board had
the opportunity to meet employees and were able to
learn at first-hand how these facilities, people and
processes had been integrated into the wider Group.

Shareholders — Review and look to further enhance how the company communicates During the year, the Board and Audit & Risk
with shareholders. Committee continued to enhance quarterly reporting
to assist shareholders’ understanding of the
company's performance and standing.

Board materials — Continue the drive to make Board/Committee materials more concise
and logistics and also effective in highlighting issues and concerns.

The Chairman, Committee Chairmen and the
Company Secretary focused on these issues in
the preparations for, and when chairing, meetings
— Allow for social time for Board members to get to know each other during 2016.

better given the number of new Board members.

— Aim to have less presentation time and more time for discussion and
debate at meetings.
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ominations Committee Report
Dear shareholder

7, Philip Hampton 2016 was a busy year for the Committee.

gﬁ:}lr:?;:ms Commitiee Our CEO, Sir Andrew Witty, indicated in March 20186, his intention
to retire from the Board in early 2017, after nearly 10 years as CEO
and almost 32 years with GSK. Our principal focus for 2016 then
became the CEO succession process and related executive
management succession planning.

CEO and executive management succession

The Committee has for some years annually scrutinised the
robustness of succession planning arrangements for the Executive
Directors and each executive management role. The annual review
of Talent and Leadership Strategy has been a key and regular item of
Board and Committee discussion and oversight. The overall aim of
this process is for the Board and Committee to seek assurance that
there is a continuous and adequate supply of high-quality internal
candidates to potentially step up to the Board and CET as required.

Role

The Committee reviews and recommends to the Board:

— the structure, size and composition of the Board and
the appointment of Directors, members to the Board
Committees and the CET

— succession to the Board and the CET.

Membership

) ) ) The Committee engaged Egon Zehnder and Korn Ferry, who
Committee members Committee member since

- specialise in the recruitment of high calibre Board directors. Using
Philip Hampton 27 January 2015 both firms ensured that the review process could be truly global

Chairman and no companies were inaccessible.
Professor Sir Roy Anderson 1 October 2012 ) . . .
- The Committee, with full participation of all the Non-Executive

Vindi Banga 1 January 2016 . . S S .
Directors, then spent time considering the future strategic direction

Lynn Elsenhans 27 January 2015 of the company and, with input from the executive recruitment firms,

Judy Lewent 8 May 2014 compiled a CEO role profile. The profile contained a brief of the

Urs Rohner 1 January 2017 requirements and the desired skill-set that a potential successor

Sir Deryck Maughan 9 July 2009 to 5 May 2016 to Sir Andrew would need. This brief was drafted to emphasise the
importance that the Board and Committee placed on the CEO

G Details of the Committee members' skills and experience being a great business leader and team builder.

are given in their biographies under ‘Our Board’ on pages

84 to 85. See page 88 for Committee member attendance The executive recruitment firms then initiated global searches

against this agreed profile across all large global pharmaceutical and

levels. . o .
healthcare companies. This yielded a pool of internal and external

The Company Secretary is Secretary to the Committee and candidates which was reduced to a shortlist of potential candidates.
attends all meetings. Other attendees at Committee meetings The firms reported regularly to the Committee as the process
may include: progressed.

Regular Attends as The shortlisted internal and external candidates then met with key
Attendees attendee  required Board members first and were subjected to interviews, continuous
Chief Executive Officer v/ assessments and reviews over an extended period. Each Non-
Head of Human Resources v Executive Director then met each shortlisted candidate at least once.
Appropriate external advisers v/ This culminated in one-to-one discussions between me and each of

our Non-Executive Directors to seek their views on the candidates.

| was very pleased that each Non-Executive Director made it clear
that they considered that the right candidate to succeed Sir Andrew
was Emma Walmsley, CEO of GSK'’s Consumer Healthcare division.
The Committee then met to agree a proposal for the Board to
recommend Emma'’s appointment as CEO Designate.

The recommendation received unanimous Board approval and on
20 September 2016 it was announced that Emma would join the
Board as an Executive Director with effect from 1 January 2017
and would become CEO with effect from 1 April 2017.
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Nominations Committee Report continued

The Committee was well-positioned to appoint Emma’s successor
and Brian McNamara, Head of Americas and Europe for GSK
Consumer Healthcare, succeeded her at the end of September
2016. Brian became a CET member with immediate effect. He joined
GSK in March 2015 after the completion of the Novartis transaction.

Since 1 October, Emma has focused her attention completely
on her transition into the role of GSK's next CEO. Details of her
transition and induction arrangements can be found on page 91.

During the year, the Committee also conducted a search and
appointment process for a new Executive Director when Dr Moncef
Slaoui, our Chairman, Global Vaccines, indicated in June 2016 his
intention to retire from the company in 2017 after over 10 years on
the Board and 28 years with GSK. Moncef will step down from the
Board on 31 March 2017 and will retire from the company on 30
June 2017.

The Committee recommended Dr Patrick Vallance’s appointment
to the Board and on 19 December the Board approved Patrick’s
appointment. He joined the Board as an Executive Director on

1 January 2017.

In addition, Luc Debruyne, our President, Global Vaccines,

since 2013, was appointed a CET member in September 2016 in
anticipation of Dr Slaoui's retirement from the CET in December
2016.

Luke Miels has been appointed President, Global Pharmaceuticals
and will join GSK and the CET later this year from AstraZeneca
where he was Executive Vice President of their European business.

Abbas Hussain, President, Global Pharmaceuticals has decided to
leave the company after serving nine years on the CET, and he has
agreed that he will leave GSK later this year.

Enhancing the Board’s scientific capabilities

The Board's scientific capabilities have recently been refreshed with
the appointment of Dr Jesse Goodman, the former Chief Scientist for
the US FDA, who was appointed to the Board on 1 January 2016. He
succeeded Dr Daniel Podolsky, who retired as planned, after 9 years
of service at our AGM in May 2016, as our designated US-based
Scientific and Medical Expert (SME). The Committee is currently
seeking to further enhance the Board's science capabilities by
engaging Korn Ferry to conduct a global search for a further
Non-Executive Director as an SME.

In addition, a new wholly independent Board Committee, the
Science Committee, was established in December 2016 to provide
oversight of GSK's R&D pipeline and scientific research strategy.
The Committee recommended to the Board that the Science
Committee be chaired by Dr Jesse Goodman. Other Non-Executive
Directors appointed to the Science Committee included our
UK-based SME, Professor Sir Roy Anderson, and Judy Lewent. The
SME currently being recruited will also be appointed to the Science
Comnmittee. In light of this new Board Committee and to ensure
effective continuity, Professor Sir Roy Anderson, who joined the
Board in 2007, has agreed to stand for re-election by shareholders
before stepping down from the Board at the 2018 AGM. The Board
has confirmed that Professor Sir Roy continues to demonstrate the
characteristics of independence in carrying out his role on the Board.

New Non-Executive Director appointment

During 2016, in addition to the search for two new Executive
Directors and a US-based SME, the Committee searched for
another Non-Executive Director. Egon Zehnder were engaged to
conduct the search, which used broad selection criteria, and
dossiers of potential Non-Executive appointees were considered by
the Committee. Candidates were shortlisted for interview on merit,
after assessing their relevant qualifications and time commitments.
After interviewing selected candidates, the Committee was pleased
to recommend to the Board Dr Vivienne Cox as a Non-Executive
Director. She was appointed to the Board with effect from 1 July
2016. The Board considered that her many years of international
business experience in global manufacturing organisations with
challenging technologies would bring fresh insights to the Board's
deliberations.

Board appointments and retirements
The ongoing refreshment of the Board has led to the following
planned changes.

Director Appointment date Retirement date
Dr Jesse Goodman 1 January 2016
Dr Vivienne Cox 1 July 2016

Emma Walmsley 1 January 2017

Dr Patrick Vallance 1 January 2017

Stephanie Burns 5 May 2016

Sir Deryck Maughan 5 May 2016

Dr Daniel Podolsky 5 May 2016

Hans Wijers 5 May 2016
Stacey Cartwright 31 December 2016
Sir Andrew Witty 31 March 2017

Dr Moncef Slaoui 31 March 2017

Egon Zehnder and Korn Ferry provide recruitment consultancy
services to the Committee, in addition to recruitment and HR
services which they provide to the company.
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Board Committee Chairman and membership changes

During the year, the Committee approved the following changes to the membership of our Board Committees.

Director Committee membership Appointment date Retirement date
Vindi Banga Nominations, Audit & Risk and Remuneration 1 January 2016
Committees member
Professor Sir Roy Anderson and Dr Jesse Goodman ~ Corporate Responsibility Committee members 1 May 2016
Dr Vivienne Cox Corporate Responsibility Committee member 1 July 2016

Dr Jesse Goodman

Science Committee Chairman

1 January 2017

Professor Sir Roy Anderson and Judy Lewent

Science Committee members

1 January 2017

Dr Vivienne Cox

Remuneration Committee member

1 January 2017

Urs Rohner Nominations Committee member 1 January 2017

Stephanie Burns Remuneration and Corporate Responsibility 5 May 2016
Committees member

Sir Deryck Maughan Nominations, Audit & Risk and Remuneration 5 May 2016
Committees member

Dr Daniel Podolsky Remuneration and Corporate Responsibility 5 May 2016
Committees member

Hans Wijers Remuneration and Corporate Responsibility 5 May 2016
Committees member

Stacey Cartwright Audit & Risk Committee member 31 December 2016

Board composition and diversity

The Committee has sought to balance the composition of the Board
and its Committees and to refresh them progressively over time so
that it can draw upon the experience of longer serving Directors
and benefit from new external perspectives and insights which

more recent appointees can bring to the Board's deliberations.

Non-Executive Directors are drawn from a wide range of industries
and backgrounds, including pharmaceuticals and R&D, vaccines,
consumer products and healthcare, medical research and academia
and financial services, and have a wealth of experience of complex
organisations with global reach. The majority of our Board have a
scientific or mathematical background and are attuned to the industry
in which we operate.

We are committed to the diversity of our boardroom just as GSK

is committed to equal opportunities for all our employees at all levels
of the organisation. The Board and management seek to encourage
a diverse and inclusive culture throughout GSK.

A key requirement of an effective board is that it comprises a

range and balance of skills, experience, knowledge, gender and
independence, with individuals that are prepared to challenge each
other and work as a team. This needs to be backed by a diversity of
personal attributes, including character, intellect, sound judgement,
honesty and courage.

The Committee is responsible for developing measurable objectives
to support the implementation of the Board's diversity policy,
including gender, and monitoring progress towards the achievement
of these objectives. Our diversity policy is in line with Lord Davies'
new voluntary target of at least 33% female Board level
representation by 2020. We currently have 31% women on our
Board and 14% on our Corporate Executive Team. Closing this

gap between Board and CET gender representation and further
increasing the pipeline of female direct reports to the CET is a
particular area of attention. Female pipeline development was also

a central theme of my review, together with Dame Alexander, across
the FTSE 350, which is continuing and developing the valuable work
that Lord Davies initiated in 2011.

The representation of women in management positions at GSK is
illustrated on page 49 as part of the gender diversity of GSK's global
workforce and alongside initiatives to promote diversity and inclusion
throughout the organisation. We also support the engagement of
executive search firms such as Egon Zehnder and Korn Ferry who
have signed up to the Voluntary Code of Conduct on gender diversity
and best practice.

We have also noted the recommendation set out in the Parker
Review Committee’s report ‘Beyond One by '21’, published in
November 2016, that each FTSE 100 board should have least one
director of colour by 2021 and have adjusted our diversity policy
accordingly to reflect this new target.

Committee evaluation

The Committee’s annual evaluation was internally facilitated by the
Company Secretary on behalf of the Committee Chairman, and
supplemented by a questionnaire circulated to Committee members.
It was concluded that the Committee continued to operate
effectively.

It was agreed for 2017 that the Committee would seek to identify
another experienced Scientific and Medical Expert and additional
consideration would be given on an ongoing basis to performance
and succession planning for the CET and top talent and GSK's
performance culture. The Committee would continue to plan for
Non-Executive Director retirements based on the evolution of
Group strategy.

Philip Hampton
Nominations Committee Chairman

13 March 2017
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Audit & Risk Committee Report

Judy Lewent
Audit & Risk Committee
Chairman

Role

The Committee reviews and is responsible for:

- financial and internal reporting processes

— the integrity of the financial statements, including the
Annual Report and quarterly results announcements

— the system of internal controls

— identification and management of risks and external and
internal audit processes

— initiating audit tenders, the selection and appointment
of external auditors, their remuneration and oversight of

their work.
Membership
Committee members Committee member since
Judy Lewent 1 April 2011
Chairman
Vindi Banga 1 January 2016

Lynn Elsenhans 1 January 2014
1 April 2011 to 31 December 2016
21 January 2005 to 5 May 2016

1 January 2007 to 5 May 2016

Stacey Cartwright

Sir Deryck Maughan
Dr Daniel Podolsky

G Details of the Committee members’ financial, accounting
or scientific experience and expertise are given in their
biographies under ‘Our Board’ on pages 84 to 85. See
page 88 for Committee member attendance levels.

The Company Secretary is Secretary to the Committee and
attends all meetings. The entire Board is invited to attend the
Committee meetings and other attendees include:

Regular  Attends as

Attendee attendee required
General Counsel v

Financial Controller v

Head of Audit & Assurance v

Head of Global Ethics and Compliance 4

Chief Medical Officer v

Chief Product Quality Officer v
External auditor v

In accordance with the FRC's Code, the Board has determined
that Judy Lewent has recent and relevant financial experience.
The Board has also agreed that Judy Lewent has the
appropriate qualifications and background to be an audit
committee financial expert as defined by the US Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, and has determined that she is independent
within the meaning of the US Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended.

In addition, Judy Lewent and Vindi Banga are also members

of the Remuneration Committee, which allows them to provide
input on the Committee's review of the Group's performance and
oversight on any risk factors relevant to remuneration matters.

Dear Shareholder

In the following pages of this report, we aim to share insights into
the activities undertaken or overseen by the Audit & Risk Committee
(the Committee) during the year. The Committee has worked largely
to a recurring and structured programme of activities. | devise this
programme with the Company Secretary and agree its content with
management and the external auditors at the start of each year.

It is then adapted as appropriate as the year progresses.

Running and concluding a successful tender of the external audit
contract was a significant undertaking for the Committee, supported
by management, during the year. This exercise, together with the
Committee's scrutiny of further enhancements and simplifications

to our internal control, risk management and financial reporting
systems and processes, is covered below.

External auditors

Conclusion of audit tender: Last year, we advised shareholders
that the Committee was putting the external audit contract out to a
competitive tender process, which the Committee initiated in July.
The process was concluded in December 2016 when the Board
appointed the Committee’s preferred choice of Deloitte LLP
(Deloitte) as the company’s new auditors. Our current external
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC), was not invited to
participate in the tender due to the prevailing rules on audit firm
rotation. They will continue in office during 2017. Subject to their
reappointment by shareholders at our 2017 AGM, they will retire
after completing the 2017 audit.

From GSK's 2018 financial year onwards, Deloitte will be appointed
in PwC's place, subject to shareholder approval. We wish to thank
each firm that participated in the tender for the professionalism and
commitment they demonstrated through the process.

A full report on the key steps, governance arrangements and outputs
from the audit tender process is given on page 102. The Committee’s
judgement was that Deloitte was best placed to succeed PwC and
deliver a high quality audit for GSK.

The Committee is currently overseeing the transition from PwC to
Deloitte to ensure that:

— PwC continues to discharge its auditing responsibilities effectively
to the end of its time in office; and

— Deloitte takes the necessary steps to ensure that it is independent
of GSK by the time it begins to observe PwC at an appropriate
juncture in 2017.

| look forward to reporting to shareholders on discharging the
activities associated with this transition in GSK's 2017 Annual
Report.
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The Financial Reporting Council Audit Quality Review:

The Committee’s confidence in the external auditor’s delivery of

a high quality and effective audit for GSK was reinforced by the
outcome of the FRC’s Audit Quality Review team's (the AQR) review
of PwC's audit of GSK'’s 2015 financial statements. The GSK audit
was selected as part of the AQR’s annual inspection of the audit
quality of the largest audit firms in the UK. The Committee discussed
the results and outcome of the review. The AQR's findings
corroborated the results of the Committee’s own independent
evaluation of PwC, which concluded that the external auditor was
effective. The Committee received a report from PwC detailing how
the 2016 audit would address the small number of findings identified
by the AQR team and was satisfied with PwC's planned response.

Competition and Markets Authority compliance statement:

The Committee considers that, during 2016, the company has
complied with the mandatory audit processes and audit committee
responsibility provisions of the Competition and Markets Authority
Statutory Audit Services Order 2014. This report describes the work
of the Committee in discharging these responsibilities.

Pre-approval of non-audit services: The Committee reviewed and
discussed adapting the company'’s approach to its existing non-audit
services policy, to comply with new requirements set out in the FRC's
revised Ethical Standards and the implementation of the EU Audit
Regulation for GSK'’s 2017 financial year. In particular, we agreed
changes to our non-audit services pre-approval process in line with
the new restrictions on auditors supplying non-audit services to UK
listed companies. These changes are outlined on page 104.

Internal framework for control and risk management
developments

This is a core discipline for the Committee. In 2018, the following
developments in the business units and across the enterprise in the
areas of communication, reporting, training and analytics helped
strengthen our culture of compliance and risk management.

Anti Bribery And Corruption (ABAC) and Third Party Oversight
(TPO) programmes: These are a high priority for the Committee and
it has overseen the following areas of progress made during the year:

— ABAC Global Risk Assessment: This new programme was
launched to significantly enhance the way our ABAC risk is
identified and prioritised across the Group. Existing ABAC
data has been centrally pooled by our Global Risk Office to help
how our ABAC risk exposure is measured. This has enabled
management to target risk mitigation techniques on the company’s
highest risk activities, business units and regions.

— TPO programme: This provides a standard framework which
governs all third party relationships and has moved from design
to deployment phase. This supplier assessment programme
operates in a large majority of our Latin America and South East
Asia markets. It is applied across our range of third parties and is
used in particular to assess suppliers deemed by GSK to be high
risk. Risk levels and corrective and preventative action tracking are
now managed via an easy-to-use reporting system by our
employees who are enrolled in this programme.

During 2017, the TPO programme is expected to cover our
global operations. This will ensure continued risk management
improvements in respect of our third party relationships,
embedding a basic TPO capability into our Supplier Lifecycle
Management software and introducing further buying experience
simplifications.

SEC settlement: In 2016, GSK entered into a settlement with the
US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) in relation to its
inquiry into past sales and marketing practices in China. Under this
settlement, the company has obligations to provide the SEC with
information on the framework and evolution of our ongoing ABAC
programme for monitoring purposes. The Committee reviews and
considers updates before they are provided to the SEC, as agreed
under the settlement.

InfoProtect: To reflect a fast evolving landscape and its potential
impacts on this key enterprise risk, our multi-year InfoProtect
programme was refreshed in 2016. Heightened attention is being
paid to those areas of our business that have the highest risk
exposure. Improvements have been prioritised for delivery to achieve
the greatest risk reduction and improve the maturity of our information
security and privacy processes. Our Chief Information Security
Officer (CISO) and our CFO (who has Board-level responsibility for
this enterprise risk) continue to ensure our cyber security defences
remain strong and effective. The CFO and CISO brief the Committee
regularly on developments.

Enhanced governance around reporting: The Committee and Risk
Oversight & Compliance Council (ROCC) receive internal control
and risk management reports throughout the year. These are based
on their respective governance responsibilities within the wider
organisational internal risk governance framework. The efficiency
and quality of this upward reporting mechanism is crucial in assisting
the Committee in properly monitoring GSK's internal framework for
control and risk management. During 2016, the Global Risk Office
has implemented the following Committee and ROCC reporting
improvements into business units and across our risk enterprise
exposures.

The Committee reporting schedules have been improved so that risk
management reports from the business units are presented to the
ROCC after they have been submitted to the Committee. This means
that the Committee’s feedback can be properly incorporated into
management's deliberations at the ROCC. In addition, our business
units now provide six monthly updates to the ROCC that concentrate
on progress against their top three risk management commitments.
This simplification has helped foster a more focused discussion at
the ROCC on each business unit’s risk management priorities.

To help the Committee improve its understanding of our enterprise
risk strategies, GSK's enterprise risk owners are encouraged to
provide commentary on the organisation’s risk tolerance in respect
of the specific risk they are responsible for mitigating. In addition,
the development of risk performance dashboards for ABAC,
Product Quality and Research Practices, has further enhanced the
Committee's ability to understand and monitor our risk exposure
levels on an ongoing basis.

Compliance activities

Building trust by embedding our Values: Our Global Ethics &
Compliance (GEC) function continues to embed its ‘Living our
Values and Building Trust’ strategy to help motivate employees to put
the company’s core values at the heart of every decision they make.
In particular, GEC deployed enterprise-wide training for employees
to coincide with the release in April 2016 of GSK's updated Code

of Conduct. This is at the heart of our compliance programme and
focuses on GSK's core values of Patient Focus and Integrity,
Respect for People and Transparency.
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In addition to delivering training to our employees across the
enterprise, GEC has also introduced the following training tools
specifically aimed at team leaders to help reinforce values based
conduct in their teams:

— Leader Led Discussion toolkit: This has been launched to enable
leaders and teams to have meaningful discussions on the
importance of GSK's values and ‘right first time’ culture. These
discussions are informal and short in length, provide opportunities
to explore GSK'’s values and for leaders and their teams to think
about what quality means in their part of the company’s business.
The toolkits use a combination of external events and research
such as academic studies around why good employees can
sometimes make poor decisions.

— Values Maturity Assessment: This is a leadership team self-
assessment tool which allows teams to assess how well values
are embedded into the business and establishes a values
improvement plan based on the outcome of the assessment.
During 2016, Values Maturity Assessments (VMA) were
undertaken by GEC across a third of GSK's business units, in line
with a values objective set by the Corporate Executive Team. This
VMA roll out is continuing in 2017 across all our business units.

GM certifications: The General Manager (GM) confirmation process
across Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines has continued throughout
2016, requiring GMs to confirm their adherence to GSK's Internal
Control Framework. A revised confirmation process was launched
in September 2016. It focused on specific risk areas, including
TPO, Health Care Professional and government official interactions,
embedding ABAC, and other risks associated with pricing and
commercial terms. In 2016, Consumer Healthcare implemented a
similar process for its GMs to confirm the operation of our internal
control framework for key risks and minimum controls.

Corporate Integrity Agreement: The Committee has oversight of

the company's responsibilities under a US Corporate Integrity
Agreement (CIA) signed with the US Department of Health and
Human Services in 2012, which is now in its final year, although
commitments with certain States regarding salesforce compensation
extend into 2019. During 2016, the Committee continued to receive
quarterly CIA compliance and assurance updates from the Head of
GEC. It also reviewed and recommended to the Board the adoption
of the annual resolutions that confirm adherence to the terms of the
CIA for inclusion in the certification reports the company provides to
the appropriate US regulatory authorities each year.

Given the success of the GM confirmation and CIA certification
processes so far and because the CIA is due to end in 2017, the
Comnmittee is keen to retain the best practice compliance disciplines
of the CIA. As aresult it is assessing GEC's proposal to roll-out

a tailored Business Unit Confirmation that combines the principles
of these two processes. This proposed simplification is designed to
provide the Committee with consolidated assurance that our internal
control framework requirements are identified and understood, and
that any possible gaps are identified and addressed at each of our
business units.
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Global reporting system platforms

The Committee was pleased to oversee significant progress being
made in moving towards more standardised, global systems which
support our end-to-end processes. Management continued to
deploy upgrades as planned, with a major system deployment
completed during the first half of 2016 to schedule and on budget.
The remaining deployments under this multi-year programme are
being completed during 2017 and early 2018, with an increasing
focus on capturing the benefits that these new standardised systems
and processes generate for GSK.

My role

Finally, my role as Chair of the Committee continues to be busy and
varied. During the year, | had significant interactions with key senior
executives and our auditors, and attended a range of management
meetings, including those of the ROCC, Consumer Healthcare,
Finance GEC and Global Manufacturing & Supply leadership teams.
| also led the audit tender process and met the bidding firms' audit
partners and teams to familiarise myself with their qualities and
capabilities and to gain an impression of what it could be like to
work with them.

Along with my Board colleagues, | was pleased to visit our
manufacturing and R&D facilities in Siena, ltaly that had been
acquired as part of the Novartis transaction in 2015. We met local
senior executives and employees and were able to learn at first-hand
how these facilities, people and processes have been integrated into
the wider Group. | was also pleased to learn how GSK's internal
control and risk management practices have been translated and
embedded in the business.

On a personal note | would like to acknowledge Sir Andrew’s
contribution to the company. He has been a visionary leader driving
GSK'’s values during his term as CEO and he led positive change in
established industry ways of working. | would like to wish him well in
his next endeavours and | very much look forward to working with his
successor, Emma Walmsley, when she succeeds him as CEO from
1 April 2017.

Judy Lewent
Audit & Risk Committee Chairman

13 March 2017
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What the Committee did during 2016

Areas of Committee focus

Iltems discussed

Frequency

Financial reporting

Reviewed integrity of draft financial statements, appropriateness of accounting policies and going concern
assumptions

Considered approval process for confirming and recommending that 2015 Annual Report is fair, balanced
and understandable

Reviewed and recommended approval of 2015 Annual Report and Form 20-F

Reviewed and approved Directors’ expenses

Reviewed and recommended approval of quarterly and preliminary results announcements and dividends
Reviewed significant issues in relation to the quarterly and preliminary results

Considered evolving market practice on the Viability Statement requirements

Reviewed and recommended inclusion of the Viability Statement for the 2015 Annual Report

Reviewed accounting developments and their impacts and key accounting issues

Reviewed GAAP vs Non-GAAP reporting

Global internal control
& compliance

Reviewed Global Pharmaceuticals, Vaccines, R&D, GMS and Consumer Healthcare business unit assurance
reports

Reviewed GSK's internal control framework

Confirmed compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley Act

Reviewed Audit & Assurance work during 2015 and approved the planned work for 2016
Undertook Corporate Integrity Agreement (CIA) training

Undertook new Market Abuse Regulation training

Received and renewed CIA compliance and assurance reports

Reviewed reports on the Operational Excellence programme

Reviewed the implementation of new systems for Group Support Functions

Received litigation reports and updates

Received ABAC investigation status reports

External auditors

Reviewed and approved audit/non-audit expenditure incurred during 2015

Considered the auditors’ report on the 2015 annual results

Performed evidence-based assessment of external auditors and the effectiveness of 2015 external audit
Considered qualifications, expertise and independence of the external auditors

Recommended the re-appointment of the external auditor and for the Committee to agree auditors’ remuneration

Approved the 2016 audit plan and audit fee proposal and set performance expectations for auditors
Considered initial results of 2016 audit
Reviewed and agreed pre-approval of budget for auditors to provide non-audit services for 2017

Undertook a competitive audit tender process and recommended to the Board two audit firms, including a
preferred firm, to be appointed for the audit of the 2018 financial statements

@OROPOOOE | WOREPROOOE® B®|PPFEEOO® ® ®

Risk

Reviewed risk management framework compliance
Reviewed risk elements of Group treasury, pensions, risk and insurance and tax policies
Received status reports on following enterprise risks: ABAC, Commercialisation, Crisis and Continuity, EHSS,

Information Protection, Management and Financial Controls and Reporting, Product Quality and Research Practices

Received an update on integration following the Novartis transaction
Received terrorism risk assessment reports

Received update on Brexit implications

Received Risk Oversight Compliance Council meeting updates
Considered emerging risks

Governance and
other matters

Confirmed compliance with UK Corporate Governance Code

Discussed evaluation exercise of Committee, agreed action plan to further improve operation of Committee
Reviewed the Committee's terms of reference

Met privately and separately with the Heads of Global Ethics & Compliance and Audit & Assurance
Confirmed that the Committee’s terms of reference had been adhered to during 2016

Received corporate governance updates

Reviewed and approved the approach to the Modern Slavery Act 2015

Met privately with the external auditors at the end of each meeting

@EROOOE® | WO EE @O®

Committee Activity Key

@ Annually @ Quarterly @ Periodically @ Standing
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In considering the quarterly financial results announcements and the financial results contained in the 2016 Annual Report, the Committee
reviewed the significant issues and judgements made by management in determining those results. The Committee reviewed papers
prepared by management setting out the key areas of risk, the actions undertaken to quantify the effects of the relevant issues and the
judgements made by management on the appropriate accounting required to address those issues in the financial statements.

The significant issues considered in relation to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out in the following
table, together with a summary of the financial outcomes where appropriate. In addition, the Committee and the external auditors have
discussed the significant issues addressed by the Committee during the year and the areas of particular audit focus, as described in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 149 to 157.

Significant issues considered by the Committee
in relation to the financial statements

How the issue was addressed by the Committee

Going concern basis for the preparation
of the financial statements

The Committee considered the outcome of management's half-yearly reviews of current and forecast net
debt positions and the various financing facilities and options available to the Group. Following a review
of the risk and potential impact of unforeseen events, the Committee confirmed that the application of the
going concern basis for the preparation of the financial statements continued to be appropriate.

Revenue recognition, including returns
and rebates (RAR) accruals

The Committee reviewed management's approach to the timing of recognition of revenue and accruals for
customer returns and rebates. The US Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines accrual for returns and rebates was
£2.2 billion at 31 December 2016 and the Committee reviewed the basis on which the accrual had been
made and concurred with management’s judgements on the amounts involved. A fuller description of the
process operated in the US Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines business in determining the level of accrual
necessary is set out in ‘Critical accounting policies’ on page 76.

Provisions for legal matters, including
investigations into the Group’s
commercial practices

The Committee received detailed reports on actual and potential litigation from both internal and external
legal counsel, together with a number of detailed updates on investigations into the Group’s commercial
practices. Management outlined the levels of provision and corresponding disclosure considered necessary
in respect of potential adverse litigation outcomes and also those areas where it was not yet possible to
determine if a provision was necessary, or its amount. At 31 December 2016, the provision for legal matters
was £0.3 billion, as set out in Note 29 to the financial statements, ‘Other provisions'.

Provisions for uncertain tax positions

The Committee considered current tax disputes and areas of potential risk and concurred with
management's judgement on the levels of tax contingencies required. At 31 December 20186, the
Group's balance sheet included a tax payable liability of £1.3 billion.

Impairments of intangible assets

The Committee reviewed management's process for reviewing and testing goodwill and other intangible
assets for potential impairment. The Committee accepted management's judgements on the intangible
assets that required writing down and the resulting impairment charge of £29 million in 2016. See

Note 19 to the financial statements, ‘Other intangible assets’ for more details.

Valuation of contingent consideration
in relation to ViiV Healthcare

The Committee considered management's judgement that following the further improved sales
performance of Tivicay and Triumeq and the significant weakening of Sterling in the latter part of the year,
it was necessary to increase the liability to pay contingent consideration for the acquisition of the former
Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare joint venture. At 31 December 20186, the Group's balance sheet included a
contingent consideration liability of £5.3 billion in relation to ViiV Healthcare. See Note 39 to the financial
statements, ‘Contingent consideration liabilities’ for more details.

Consumer Healthcare put option

The Committee considered management's judgement on the valuation of the liability recognised in respect
of Novartis’ put option over its shareholding in the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture. This included a
review of the unwinding impact of the discounting of the liability and the increase in the liability caused

by the significant weakening of Sterling in the latter part of the year.

ViiV Healthcare put options

The Committee considered the amendments to the ViiV Healthcare Shareholders’ Agreement made during
the year which resulted in the recognition of the put options held by Shionogi and Pfizer in Q1 2016 and
the subsequent de-recognition of the Shionogi put option in Q4 2016. The Committee reviewed and
agreed the accounting for the put options and concurred with management's judgement on the valuation
of the Pfizer put option of £1,319 million at 31 December 2016.
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Audit tendering

PwC has been the auditor of the company and the Group since the
inception of each in 2000. Their performance has been reviewed
annually and audit partner rotation requirements have been observed.

As indicated in last year's Annual Report, GSK decided to undertake
an external audit tender in 2016 with a view to replacing PwC from our
2018 financial year onwards. This was done in the best interests of our
shareholders and to comply with the audit firm rotation requirements.

A robust governance structure was implemented, headed by the
Audit & Risk Committee (ARC), to manage, support and deliver
a successful audit tender process.

Judy Lewent chaired the Executive Steering Committee (ESC), which
has overseen the audit tender process, evaluated the audit firms and
liaised with the ARC. The other members of the ESC were the CFO,
Group Financial Controller and Company Secretary. The Group
Financial Controller chaired the Operations Steering Committee,
which was made up of finance heads, and coordinated the audit
tender process and a cross-functional Planning Team has provided
day-to-day support and advice. These levels of governance and their
purpose are illustrated in last year's Annual Report on page 92.

The key objective of the ARC was to deliver a fair, transparent and
successful audit contract tender process with minimum disruption
to the business. It endorsed weighted selection criteria and
evaluation methodology based on GSK's expectations for the
external auditors. These were equally divided into Audit Quality
and Service and Audit Team Capability and Competence.

In addition, five critical success factors were prioritised and guided
the Committee and the Board in making their final recommendation
and decision which comprised:

Audit Approach and Strategy;

High Quality Independent Audit;

Effective Partnership;

Risk in Transitioning Auditors ‘in" and ‘out’; and
Value for Money

2016 External Audit Tender Process

After a detailed market assessment, a number of audit firms,
including some firms outside the Big Four, were approached to
participate in this process. Judy Lewent then made the final pre-
selection of Audit Lead Partners before the Request for Proposal
and data room were issued and opened to the bidding firms in July
2016. Site meetings took place at GSK House over three days in
September 2016, which was an opportunity for our finance and
functional leaders to meet with the bidding firms' teams face-to-face.

These meetings, which Judy Lewent oversaw with her ESC
colleagues, were a means of discussing GSK's audit requirements
with each firm to help them develop their proposals, and to evaluate
their technical knowledge, strengths and weaknesses and get a feel
of what it could be like to work with them. Feedback from GSK's
participants was discussed with the Committee and shared with the
audit partners prior to the submission of their audit tender proposals
in October 2016.

The bidding firms' proposals were subject to detailed evaluation

with key areas to probe identified for discussion with the audit
partners and their teams at their oral presentations to the Committee
and other GSK attendees that took place in November 2016. All
information from the evaluation stages of the process — site meetings,
written proposal submissions and oral presentations — were shared
with and discussed by the ARC at the conclusion of the process.
This enabled the ARC to recommend to the Board the appointment
of Deloitte as the preferred new auditor from two shortlisted bidding
firms, a recommendation which the Board subsequently endorsed.

GSK has now entered the transition phase of the process leading
up to Deloitte taking on the external audit contract with effect from
1 January 2018 and an update on these activities will be disclosed
in our 2017 Annual Report.

Key steps
Invitation to RFP issued Site Written Oral ARC Board
Participate and and Data [l Meetings Proposals Presentations Recommendation Decision
Interview of Lead Room Evaluation to ARC Panel
Partners Opened
N N N N N
7 7 7 7 7
May — July September October November : December
Governance
ARC Chair, i Executive Executive i ARC, Executive i ARC and i Board
CFO and and Operations i and Operations and Operations Executive
Group Financial Steering Co i Steering Co Steering Co Steering Co
Controller H
Outputs
Short listingand i Knowledge Initial feedback i Proposal i Debrief and Recommended i Successful firm
pre-selection building by firms i shared with Lead Evaluation and Final Evaluation i two firms for appointed with
of Lead Partners Partners as input ‘Exam Questions’ : of each firm appointment, with effect from 1
i to development For Oral i apreference January 2018
i of their proposals i Presentations i expressed for
i i one firm
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Auditors’ appointment

Ongoing effectiveness and quality of external audit process

The Committee is committed to ensuring on an ongoing basis that GSK receives a high quality and effective audit. In evaluating the
effectiveness of the audit process prior to making a recommendation on the re-appointment of the external auditor, the Committee
reviews the effectiveness of their performance against criteria which it agrees, in conjunction with management, at the beginning of
each year'’s audit.

The activities the Committee typically undertakes each year to satisfy itself of external audit quality and effectiveness, together with
their timelines, are set out below.

Auditor appointment Auditor expectations Formal auditor appointment § Committee evaluation
process setting and audit planning and budget setting

Matters addressed: : Matters addressed: : Matters addressed: : Matters addressed:
— review effectiveness of external

auditor against expectations set
in previous year

— review auditor’s independence,
appropriate level of qualifications,
expertise and resources

— consider whether the auditor
exhibited appropriate level
of challenge/scepticism in
their work

— consider whether to initiate or
defer an audit contract tender

— once satisfied, recommend to

the Board auditor re-appointment

— agree the performance

expectations of the auditor
for the upcoming audit

— shareholders vote at AGM on

resolutions to appoint auditor
and determine their remuneration

i — review and agree audit plan

for upcoming audit

— consider auditor’s quality control

procedures

— agree and set statutory audit fee

i — receive management feedback

on prior year's audit process
through survey covering:

— robustness of audit process

— quality of delivery, people

— review feedback from Committee

members independently as part
of annual Committee evaluation
covering:

— relationship with auditor

— quality of insights they provide
Committee on their work

— whether they have sufficient
access to auditor without
management

pre-approve budget for non-audit
services (ideally below 50% of
statutory audit fee) for following
year

at next AGM and service
- - - >
January i March i May i December
The detailed criteria the Committee uses for judging the effectiveness of the external auditor and their overriding responsibility to deliver
a smooth running, thorough and efficiently executed audit are set out below:
Performance expectations for GSK’s external auditor
Specific auditor - Discuss approach and areas of focus in advance with early engagement on understanding the implications of GSK's new operating model

responsibilities — Ensure Sarbanes-Oxley scope and additional procedures are discussed and endorsed by management and communicated on a timely
basis within GSK and PwC

— Avoid surprises through timely reporting of issues at all levels within the Group

— Ensure there is clarity of roles and responsibilities between the auditor and local management

— Respond to any issues raised by management on a timely basis

— Meet agreed deadlines

— Provide continuity and succession planning of key employees of the auditor

— Provide sufficient time for management to consider draft auditor reports and respond to requests and queries

— Employ consistent communication between local and central audit teams.

Wider auditor — Provide up-to-date advice on the new Viability statement requirement
responsibilities  _ py5ide up-to-date knowledge of technical and governance issues, including evolving market practice on the Viability statement requirements
— Serve as an industry resource; communicating best practice and industry trends in reporting and integrated reporting

— Adhere to all independence policies (including GSK's policies, the Financial Reporting Council's ISA 240 and applicable Securities
and Exchange Commission standards)

— Deliver a focused and consistent audit approach globally that reflects local risks and materiality

— Liaise with GSK's Audit & Assurance team to avoid duplication of work and Global Ethics and Compliance team to ensure common
understanding of audit outcomes

— Provide consistency of advice at all levels of the organisation
— Ultimately provide a high quality service to the Board, be scrupulous in their scrutiny of the Group and act with utmost integrity.




104 GSK Annual Report 2016

Corporate Governance continued

Accountability continued

Non-audit services

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 prohibits the engagement of the
external auditor for the provision of certain services such as legal,
actuarial, internal audit outsourcing or financial information systems
design. Where the external auditor is permitted to provide non-audit
services (such as audit-related, tax and other services), the
Committee ensures that auditor objectivity and independence are
safeguarded by a policy requiring pre-approval by the Committee
for such services. There were no contractual or similar obligations
restricting the Group's choice of external auditor.

All non-audit services over £50,000 are put out to competitive
tender with financial service providers other than the external auditor,
in line with the Group's procurement process, unless the skills and
experience of the external auditor make them the only suitable
supplier of the non-audit service under consideration. In this case, a
request for proposal is submitted by the relevant CET member to the
CFO for approval. Non-audit services spending is monitored by the
Committee on a quarterly basis and discussed with the Committee
Chairman.

The following policy guidelines on engaging the external auditor
to provide non-audit services are observed:

— ascertaining that the skills and experience of the external
auditor make them a suitable supplier of the non-audit services;

— ensuring adequate safeguards are in place so that the objectivity
and independence of the Group audit are not threatened or
compromised; and

— ensuring that the total fee levels do not exceed 50% of the annual
audit fee, except in special circumstances where there would be
a clear advantage in the company’s auditor undertaking such
additional work.

This policy, which has been maintained for a number of years by the
Committee, was reviewed in December 2016 for compliance with
the Financial Reporting Council's (FRC's) revised Ethical Standards
and the EU Audit Regulation (new regulations). The following three
key policy guidelines were considered by the Committee as part of
its review:

Fee cap: GSK's existing non-audit services fees cap of 50% of the
annual audit fee in GSK's policy is more stringent than the FRC's
new fees cap set at 70% of the average of the audit fees for the
preceding three year period. GSK's existing policy cap of 50% has
been retained.

Prohibitions: GSK's policy has been updated so that the ‘black list’
of prohibited non-audit services in the new regulations are applied
across the Group for GSK's 2017 financial year onwards. This is
subject to those exceptions outside the EU that the Committee can
approve.

Pre-approval: The FRC's new guidance for audit committees restricts
the category-wide pre-approval process in GSK's policy from 2017.
This policy has been updated so that all non-audit services:

— over £50,000 are pre-approved by the Committee Chairman
and CFO as delegated by the Committee;

— between £25,000 and £50,000 are pre-approved by the
Group Financial Controller; and

— under £25,000 are approved by a designate of the Group
Financial Controller.

Fees paid to the company’s auditor and its associates are set
out below. Further details are given in Note 8 to the financial
statements, ‘Operating profit.

Where possible, other accounting firms are engaged to undertake
non-audit services.

Audit/non-audit services three year comparison graph (€m)

40

30

2014

@ Audit and assurance services

2015 2016

@ The fee for audit and assurance services in 2015 included £8.0 million arising
from the Novartis transaction and the subsequent increase in complexity of the
Group. Approximately half of this is expected to be recurring

@ Other services, including tax, regulatory, compliance and treasury-related
services

@ Services related to the Novartis transaction

Fair, balanced and understandable assessment

One of the key compliance requirements of a group’s financial
statements is for the Annual Report to be fair, balanced and
understandable. The coordination and review of Group-wide
contributions into the Annual Report follows a well established
and documented process, which is performed in parallel with
the formal process undertaken by the external auditor.

The Committee received a summary of the approach taken by
management in the preparation of GSK's 2016 Annual Report
to ensure that it met the requirements of the FRC'’s Code.
This enabled the Committee, and then the Board, to confirm
that GSK'’s 2016 Annual Report taken as a whole is fair,
balanced and understandable.

Code of Conduct and reporting lines

We also have a number of well established policies, including

a Code of Conduct, which is available on the governance section
of our website, and confidential ‘Speak Up’ reporting lines for
the reporting and investigation of unlawful conduct. An updated
version of the Code of Conduct was published in April 2016.

Committee evaluation

The Committee’s annual evaluation was internally facilitated by
the Company Secretary, and supplemented by a questionnaire
circulated to Committee members on behalf of the Committee
Chairman. It was concluded that the Committee continued to
operate effectively. In terms of enhancements to the Committee’s
deliberations the following improvement points were agreed:

The Committee would focus on ways to further improve the
transparency of the company’s reporting to reflect best practice.

The Committee considered its ways of working and agreed
enhancements to reflect the Committee’s changing agenda.

The Committee asked management to continue to improve the
crispness of reports it received.

The Committee was keen to continue to receive regular updates on
cyber security and to understand how data analytics and technology
could help to monitor employee and supplier behaviour against the
company’s values.
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Internal control framework

The Board recognises its obligation to present a fair, balanced
and understandable assessment of GSK's current position and
prospects. The Board is accountable for evaluating and approving
the effectiveness of the internal controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and risk management
processes operated by the Group.

The Internal Control Framework (the Framework) is the means by
which the Group ensures compliance with laws and regulations, the

reliability of financial reporting and comprehensive risk management.

The Framework supports the continuous process of the Board's
identification, evaluation and management of the Group's Principal
Risks, as required by the Financial Reporting Council's (FRC's) UK
Corporate Governance Code (UK Code), and is designed to
manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of not achieving business
objectives.

A fit for purpose Framework, in conjunction with our values and
‘Speak Up' processes, ensures that the risks associated with our
business activities are actively and effectively controlled in line with
the agreed risk appetite. We believe the Framework provides
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Strategic report

Governance and remuneration

Financial statements

Investor information

To ensure effective governance and promote an ethical culture,
the Group has in place the Risk Oversight and Compliance Council
(ROCC). This team of senior leaders is authorised by the Board to
assist the Audit & Risk Committee (the Committee) in overseeing
risk management and internal control activities. It also provides the
business units with a framework for risk management and upward
escalation of significant risks. Each business unit has a risk board
structure which reports to the ROCC. The business unit Risk
Management and Compliance Boards (RMCBs) are responsible
for promoting the local ‘tone from the top’ and risk culture, as well
as ensuring effective oversight of internal controls and risk
management processes.

Each Principal Risk has an assigned risk owner who is a member
of senior management. The risk owner is responsible for reporting
on the risk management strategy for their respective Principal Risk
to the ROCC and the Committee at least once every two years.

The ROCC and the RMCBs are assisted by the Global Ethics and
Compliance division (GEC), which is responsible for advancing risk
management and the development of practices that drive compliance
with policies and support risk-based decision making. GEC actively
promotes ethical behaviours through enabling all members of the
organisation to operate in accordance with our values, and to comply
with applicable laws and regulations.
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The Audit & Assurance division (A&A), in line with an agreed
assurance plan, provides independent assurance to senior
management and the Board on how risk is being managed across
the Group. This assurance helps senior management and the Board
to meet their oversight and advisory responsibilities in fulfilling the
Group's strategic objectives and building trust with patients and
other stakeholders. A&A has a dual reporting line into the Chief
Financial Officer and the Committee.

The Committee receives regular reports from business units,
Principal Risk owners, GEC and A&A on areas of significant risk

to the Group and on related internal controls. These reports provide
an assessment on the internal control environment within each
Principal Risk area, including enhancements to strengthen the
control environment. Following the consideration of these reports,
the Committee concludes on the effectiveness of the control
environment and reports to the Board annually.

In accordance with the FRC's UK Code provisions, the Board,
through the authority delegated to the Committee, has conducted

a robust assessment of the Group's Principal Risks. This includes
the consideration of the nature and extent of risk it is willing to take in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives. The Board, through the
Committee, has maintained oversight to ensure the effectiveness of
the internal control environment and risk management processes in
operation across the Group for the whole year, and up to the date of
the approval of this Annual Report.

Governance structure of risk management

The Board's review focuses on the company and its subsidiaries
and does not extend to material associated undertakings, joint
ventures or other investments, although it considers the risk of the
company'’s participation in these activities. There are established
procedures and controls in place to identify entities whose results
must be consolidated with the Group's results.

We believe the process followed by the Board, through the
Committee, in reviewing regularly the system of internal controls

and risk management processes is in accordance with the Guidance
on Risk Management, Internal Control and Related Financial and
Business Reporting issued by the FRC.

A review of the Group’s risk management approach is further
discussed in the ‘How we manage risk’ section of the Strategic
report on pages 18 to 19. Our management of each Principal Risk
is explained in ‘Principal risks and uncertainties’ on pages 253 to
262. The Group's viability is discussed in the Group financial review
section of the Strategic report on page 56.

Board of Directors

Audit & Risk Committee

Corporate Executive Team

Risk Oversight and
Compliance Council
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Responsible for our system of corporate governance, strategy,
risk management and financial performance

Responsible for reviewing and approving the adequacy and effectiveness
of our risk management and internal controls

Supports the CEO in managing our business and activities

— Authorised by the Board to assist the Audit & Risk Committee in overseeing
the risk management and internal control activities of the Group

Business units

Risk Management and
Compliance Boards

Accountability for monitoring

Responsible for our system of corporate governance, strategy,

risk management and financial performance

— Ensure that appropriate internal controls for effective risk management
are implemented

— Complemented by Country Executive Risk Boards to ensure a consistent
approach to risk management across local geography level
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Engagement activities

We work to engage effectively with shareholders through our regular
communications, the AGM and other investor relations activities.

We announce our financial results on a quarterly basis. The annual
results are included in our Annual Report. All shareholders receive
an Annual Summary which advises them that our Annual Report and
Notice of our Annual General Meeting are available on our website.

During the year, Sir Andrew Witty and Simon Dingemans gave
presentations to institutional investors, analysts and the media
on the full year results, which are also available via webcast and
teleconference. After the first, second and third quarter results,
we hold webcast teleconferences for the same audience.

Our results are available on our website.

Our Investor Relations (IR) department, with offices in London and
Philadelphia, acts as a focal point for communications with investors.
The CEO, CFO and the Chairman maintain an active dialogue with
institutional shareholders on performance, plans and objectives
through a programme of regular meetings. During the year they held
over 24 individual meetings with investors and they have also hosted
approximately 13 group meetings with investors and potential
investors.

The Company Secretary acts as a focal point for communications
on corporate governance matters. We also have a small central
Corporate Responsibility (CR) team which coordinates strategy,
policy development and reporting specifically with respect to CR
matters. Meanwhile, the IR department communicates with socially
responsible investors and other stakeholders.

The Chairman also meets regularly with institutional shareholders to
hear their views and discuss issues of mutual importance, and
communicates their views to the other members of the Board.

The Senior Independent Non-Executive Director (SID) and all the
Non-Executive Directors are available to meet with shareholders.

Governance and remuneration meetings

A cornerstone of our investor calendar is the annual meetings
that we hold with our top 30 shareholders, key investment
industry bodies and influential proxy advisory firms to discuss
corporate governance and remuneration matters. These
sessions in December 2016, which were attended by the
Chairman, our SID, and our Committee Chairs, covered

a broad range of governance issues and were held morning
and afternoon to allow UK and overseas investors a
convenient opportunity to participate in the discussions.

Philip Hampton, the Chairman, shared updates on key areas
of focus for the Board including:

— oversight of management’s execution of strategy and
performance;

— R&D delivery and the assessment of the pipeline;

— CEO and executive team succession, including CEO
transition activities; and

— the wider evolution and refreshment of the Board.

Urs Rohner, our Remuneration Committee Chairman, took
the opportunity to discuss progress with the Remuneration
Committee's review of executive remuneration ahead of

our Remuneration policy vote at our AGM in May 2017.

In addition, Judy Lewent, who chairs our Audit & Risk
Committee, and Lynn Elsenhans, who chairs our Corporate
Responsibility Committee, provided an overview of the work
of their respective committees.

Finally, Vindi Banga, our SID, provided his insights and
perspectives into the Board's culture and dynamics, together
with his impressions of GSK's senior team, its people and
businesses.

Listening to the views of our shareholders and receiving their
feedback at and after these sessions held in the run up to the
corporate reporting and AGM season helps us to shape key
areas of our corporate governance and remuneration
disclosures.

Annual General Meeting

All shareholders are invited to attend our Annual General
Meeting which this year, like last, will be held in May at the
QEll Centre, London. It provides an opportunity to put
questions to our Board and the Chairmen of each of our
Board Committees during the formal AGM proceedings,
while providing shareholders the chance to meet informally
with our Board directors who will make themselves available
before and after the meeting.
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Corporate Responsibility Committee Report

Lynn Elsenhans
Corporate Responsibility
Committee Chairman

Role

The Committee reviews:

— external issues that have the potential for serious impact
upon GSK's business

— reputation management

— annual governance oversight of GSK's responsible business
commitments

Membership
Committee member since
1 October 2012

Committee members

Lynn Elsenhans

Chairman

Professor Sir Roy Anderson 1 May 2016
Dr Vivienne Cox 1 July 2016
Dr Jesse Goodman 1 May 2016

Dr Stephanie Burns
Dr Daniel Podolsky
Hans Wijers

6 December 2007 until 5 May 2016
1 July 2006 until 5 May 2016
10 October 2013 until 5 May 2016

@ See page 88 for Committee member attendance levels.

The Company Secretary is Secretary to the Committee and
attends all meetings. Other attendees at Committee meetings
may include:

Attends as
required

Regular
Attendee attendee
Chief Executive Officer v

Company Chairman

Chairman, Global Vaccines

General Counsel

ANIANIANIEN

Head of Communications & Government Affairs

Head of Pharmaceuticals
Head of Pharmaceuticals R&D
Head of Human Resources

NSNS

Head of External & Market Communication

Head of Global Corporate Responsibility 4

N

Other Executives

Independent external corporate
responsibility adviser v

To augment our engagement with stakeholder opinion, in May
2013, Sophia Tickell was appointed as an independent external
adviser to the Committee, a position that she had previously held
from March 2009 to July 2011. Ms Tickell has extensive experience
in the pharmaceuticals industry in improving health systems
productivity, sustainability in energy supply and distribution,

climate change policy and short-termism in financial markets.

She is the co-founder and Director of Meteos, from where she
directs the Pharma Futures Series, which aims to align better
societal and shareholder value. She holds a number of other
board and advisory roles.

Ms Tickell attended meetings of the Committee and provided
independent advice and guidance on corporate and social
responsibility matters to both the Chairman and the CEO.

Dear Shareholder

The Committee acts as custodian of the policies and practices
that define and safeguard the reputation of the company and as
Chair of the Committee | continue, together with my fellow
Committee members, to challenge and shape the company’s
responsible business agenda.

The Committee members bring a wide range of experience and
insight from across different sectors to provide oversight of the
company's responsible business opportunities and risks. During
the year, long serving Committee members Dr Stephanie Burns
and Dr Daniel Podolsky stood down from the Committee when they
retired from the Board in May. Hans Wijers, who had served on the
Comnmittee for three years, also stood down at the same time when
he retired from the Board. We have greatly appreciated the
knowledge and insights they have brought to the work of the
Committee in that time.

We are pleased to welcome Professor Sir Roy Anderson,

Dr Jesse Goodman and Dr Vivienne Cox as new members of the
Committee. Roy and Jesse, as world-renowned medical scientists
and researchers, have helped to maintain a continuity of scientific
advice to the Committee’s deliberations, while Vivienne brings a
deep knowledge of sustainable business practices developed over
many years of service, predominantly in the energy and natural
resources sectors.

The work of the Committee has this year again focused on issues
that are material to GSK's mission, strategy and values. Our
discussions have included exploring how the company seeks to
balance the need for a return on investment in innovation with the
need to price its products appropriately to drive access for a broad
range of patients. In addition, we have considered the many ways
in which GSK seeks to operate with transparency and integrity —
from its approach to R&D, to its commercial selling model and
relationships with third parties.

This year we have continued to enjoy positive engagement with
investors on our Responsible Business approach and performance,
with a particular focus on how these are integrated into the Group's
business model and strategy to help enhance investment value,
create business opportunities and mitigate risk, as well as create
broader social and environmental value.

Lynn Elsenhans
Corporate Responsibility Committee Chairman

13 March 2017
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Corporate Responsibility Committee Report continued

Main responsibilities — Our people: Enabling our people to thrive and develop as
The Committee has a rolling agenda and receives reports from individuals to deliver our mission.

members of the CET and senior managers to ensure that progress in
meeting our Responsible Business Commitments within four areas of
focus is reviewed on an annual basis:

— Our planet: Growing our business while reducing our
environmental impact across the value chain.

In addition, at each meeting the Committee considers possible
emerging issues that may have a bearing on the company’s
reputation and interaction with its stakeholders. The Committee
also reviews and approves the Responsible Business Supplement
which is available for reference on www.gsk.com/responsibility.

— Health for all: innovating to address currently unmet health needs;
improving access to our products, irrespective of where people
live or their ability to pay; and controlling or eliminating diseases
affecting the world's most vulnerable people.

— Our behaviour: Putting the interests of patients and consumers
first, driven by our values in everything we do and backed by
robust policies and strong compliance processes.

Work of the Committee during 2016
During 2016, the Committee focused primarily on the matters set out below:

Areas of Committee focus ltems discussed

Health for all — Flexible and open R&D approach for diseases of the developing world and other areas of great medical need, such as
antibiotics and dementia

— GSK's approach to pricing, in particular how to balance returns for investment in innovation alongside the need to support
access to medicines

— Vaccines strategy to support global public health priorities, including pricing models, Malaria vaccine and Ebola response

Our behaviour — Changes to how GSK engages with healthcare professionals
— Global incentive compensation program and selling competency model
— Further embedding values-based decision making in the organisation, including training and compliance
— Progress on work to align third parties with GSK's standards and expectations
— Conduct and public disclosure of clinical research, transparency of detailed data behind trial results and patient safety
— Replacement, refinement and reduction in use of animals in research and development

Our people — Organisational change and employee relations
- Inclusion and diversity
— Leadership, development and approach to performance management
— Employee health, safety and wellbeing
— Insights from the staff survey

Our planet — Environmental performance across carbon, water and waste impacts

Committee evaluation

The Committee’s annual evaluation was internally facilitated by the Company Secretary, and supplemented by a questionnaire circulated

to Committee members and the Committee’s adviser on behalf of the Committee Chairman. It was concluded that the Committee continued
to operate effectively. In terms of enhancements to the Committee’s deliberations the following points were agreed:

The Committee’s programme and meeting agendas would be devised to ensure additional time to allow fuller discussion of issues.
Consideration would be given to monitor the Group’s CR work using a scorecard approach.

Directors

Our Directors’ powers are determined by UK legislation and our A Director may cease to be a Director if he or she:
Articles of Association, which contain rules about the appointment
and replacement of Directors. They provide that Directors may be
appointed by an ordinary resolution of the members or by a resolution ~ — ceases to be a Director by virtue of the Companies Act or
of the Directors, provided that, in the latter instance, a Director the Articles

appointed in this way retires at the first AGM following his or her -
appointment.

— becomes bankrupt

suffers mental or physical ill health and the Board resolves
that he or she shall cease to be a Director

Our Articles also provide that Directors should normally be subject _
to re-election at the AGM at intervals of three years or annually if they

have held office for a continuous period of nine years or more.

However, the Board agreed in 2011 that all Directors who wish to ) . ) )
continue as members of the Board should seek re-election annually ~ ~ IS Prohibited from being a Director by law

in accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code. — resigns, or offers to resign and the Board accepts that offer

has missed Directors’ meetings for a continuous period of six
months without permission and the Board resolves that he or
she shall cease to be a Director

— is required to resign by the Board.
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Directors’ conflicts of interest

All Directors have a duty under the Companies Act 2006 to avoid a
situation in which they have, or could have, a direct or indirect conflict
of interest or possible conflict with the company. Our Articles provide
a general power for the Board to authorise such conflicts.

The Nominations Committee has been authorised by the Board
to grant and regularly review any potential or actual conflict
authorisations, which are recorded by the Company Secretary
and noted by the Board. Directors are not counted in the quorum
for the authorisation of their own actual or potential conflicts.

On an ongoing basis, the Directors are responsible for informing

the Company Secretary of any new actual or potential conflicts that
may arise or if there are any changes in circumstances that may
affect an authorisation previously given. Even when provided with
authorisation, a Director is not absolved from his or her statutory duty
to promote the success of the company. If an actual conflict arises
post-authorisation, the Board may choose to exclude the Director
from receipt of the relevant information and participation in the
debate, or suspend the Director from the Board, or, as a last resort,
require the Director to resign.

The Nominations Committee reviewed the register of potential
conflict authorisations in January 2017 and reported to the Board
that the conflicts had been appropriately authorised and that the
process for authorisation continues to operate effectively. Except
as described in Note 35 to the financial statements, ‘Related party
transactions', during or at the end of the financial year no Director
or Person Closely Associated had any material interest in any
contract of significance with a Group company.

Independent advice

The company has an agreed procedure for Directors to take
independent legal and/or financial advice at the company’s expense
where they deem it necessary.

Indemnification of Directors

Qualifying third party indemnity provisions (as defined in the
Companies Act 2006) are in force for the benefit of Directors and
former Directors who held office during 2016 and up to the signing
of the Annual Report.

Change of control and essential contracts

We do not have contracts or other arrangements which individually
are fundamental to the ability of the business to operate effectively,
nor is the company party to any material agreements that would take
effect, be altered, or terminate upon a change of control following

a takeover bid. We do not have agreements with any Director that
would provide compensation for loss of office or employment
resulting from a takeover, except that provisions of the company’s
share plans may cause options and awards granted under such
plans to vest on a takeover. Details of the termination provisions in
the company’s framework for contracts for Executive Directors are
given in the full version of the company’s 2014 Remuneration policy
report which is available at www.gsk.com in the Investors section.

Directors’ Report

For the purposes of the UK Companies Act 2006, the Directors’
Report of GlaxoSmithKline plc for the year ended 31 December
2016 comprises pages 79 to 110 of the Corporate Governance
Report, the Directors’ statements of responsibilities on pages
148 and 232 and pages 253 to 282 of Investor Information. The
Strategic report sets out those matters required to be disclosed
in the Directors’ Report which are considered to be of strategic
importance to the company, as follows:

— risk management objectives and policies (pages 18, 19
and 77 to 78)

— likely future developments of the company (throughout the
Strategic report)

— research and development activities (pages 20 to 39)
— diversity and inclusion (page 49)

— provision of information to, and consultation with, employees
(page 48)
— carbon emissions (page 50)

The following information is also incorporated into the
Directors’ Report:

Location in Annual Report

Financial statements,
Notes 17 and 19

Interest capitalised

Publication of unaudited financial information  Group financial review, page 52

Details of any long-term incentive schemes ~ Remuneration report

Waiver of emoluments by a Director Not applicable

Waiver of future emoluments by a Director Not applicable

Non pre-emptive issues of equity for cash Not applicable

Non pre-emptive issues of equity for cash
by any unlisted major subsidiary undertaking

Not applicable

Parent company participation in a placing
by a listed subsidiary

Not applicable

Provision of services by a controlling
shareholder

Not applicable

Shareholder waiver of dividends Financial statements,

Notes 15 and 43

Shareholder waiver of future dividends Financial statements,

Notes 15 and 43

Agreements with controlling shareholders Not applicable

The Directors’ Report has been drawn up and presented in
accordance with and in reliance upon English company law and
the liabilities of the Directors in connection with that report shall
be subject to the limitations and restrictions provided by such law.
The Directors’ Report was approved by the Board of Directors on
13 March 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

Philip Hampton
Chairman

13 March 2017
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In this section

2017 Remuneration policy report
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In developing our new
Remuneration policy we
have spent considerable
time listening to
shareholders. The
proposed approach
provides better
alignment, reduced
maximum pay levels
and greater simplicity.

Dear Shareholder

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

| am pleased to present to you our
Remuneration report for 2016. This
includes my annual statement, our Annual
report on remuneration, a summary of our
2017 remuneration policy and the 2017
Remuneration policy report, which
provides full details of the new policy.

The Annual report on remuneration and
this annual statement will be subject to
an advisory vote at the Annual General
Meeting (AGM) on 4 May 2017. The
Remuneration policy report will be
subject to a binding vote.

Context for Executive remuneration

at GSK

2016 has seen GSK perform strongly

with good sales growth across our
Pharmaceuticals, Vaccines and Consumer
Healthcare businesses, excellent new
product momentum, disciplined cost control
and further pipeline progress. Our results
against our key financial measures were
above target, with core earnings per share

growth being at the top end of our guidance.

In addition, Total Shareholder Return
(TSR) growth of 22% was achieved which
outperformed the FTSE 100 index over
the year.

Remuneration outcomes for 2016

All awards in relation to 2016 were made in
accordance with the Remuneration policy
approved by shareholders in May 2014. The
key decisions made by the Remuneration
Committee (the Committee) were as follows:

— The bonus outcomes for the Executive
Directors were determined by reference
to performance against the agreed
financial measures, as well as the
Comnmittee’s assessment of their
individual levels of performance. GSK
achieved performance in excess of the
relevant financial targets for the year. In
conjunction with assessments of individual
performance, this has resulted in bonus
payments being made above target, but
below maximum opportunities. Further
details of the bonus outcomes for the year
are provided on page 119, including
enhanced disclosure of the bonus targets
for the year and details of the Individual
Performance Multipliers (IPMs) that have
been applied for each Executive Director.

— Vesting of the 2014 Performance Share
Plan (PSP) awards and the matching
awards under the Deferred Annual Bonus
Plan (DABP) were based on the agreed
measures of relative TSR, adjusted
free cash flow and R&D new product
performance, each with an equal
weighting. Performance was measured
over the three years to 31 December
2016. The threshold targets for the
TSR and cash flow measures were not
met, but the maximum R&D target was
achieved, resulting in an overall vesting
level of 33.3%. Further details of the
vesting outcome for the 2014 PSP and
DABP matching awards are provided
on page 121.
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Review of Remuneration policy

During 2016, the Committee reviewed

the Remuneration policy with the objective
of maintaining alignment with strategic
goals and further aligning the policy with
best practice. The revised Remuneration
policy is designed to:

— Drive the success of the company and
the delivery of its business strategy;

— Create shareholder value;
— Simplify pay arrangements;

— Deliver an appropriately competitive
package to attract, retain and motivate
executive talent; and

— Further align remuneration arrangements
across the senior layers of the
organisation.

As part of the Remuneration policy review,
which included reviewing the packages
for the new CEO and President, R&D,

the Committee carried out an extensive
consultation process with a significant
number of our major shareholders. The
feedback received from shareholders
was greatly valued and given careful
consideration by the Committee.

The key changes which we proposed to
our Remuneration policy, with a focus on
increasing alignment with shareholders
and reducing maximum incentive
opportunities, included:

— Removal of the bonus matching plan;

— Reduction of maximum potential pay
levels;

- Simplification of the Annual bonus
scheme; and

— Increase to the CEO’s Share Ownership
Requirement.

In finalising the proposals and responding
to a number of points raised during the
shareholder consultation, the Committee
were particularly thoughtful about the
quantum of the incentives and about how
the new policy should be implemented for
Emma Walmsley in 2017. Full details of

the final changes to the policy are set out
in the Remuneration policy report on pages
137 to 1486.

Executive Director changes and
implementation of Remuneration policy
for 2017

New appointments to the Board

As discussed elsewhere in the 2016 Annual
Report, Sir Andrew Witty will be stepping
down as CEO with effect from 31 March
2017 and will be succeeded by Emma
Walmsley. As noted above, the Committee
gave careful and detailed consideration to
Emma’s remuneration package for 2017,
taking into account all relevant factors.
This included the constructive feedback
received from shareholders which resulted
in a number of refinements to the original
proposals.

Taking into account the fact that this is
Emma'’s first CEO role, reductions have been
made to all elements of her remuneration
package in comparison to Sir Andrew’s
current arrangements. Her overall package
for 2017 will be ¢.25% less than that
received by Sir Andrew. It is the Committee’s
intention to keep Emma’s package under
review in the coming years subject to her
development and performance in the role.
We would engage with shareholders
regarding any changes within the limits

set by the Remuneration policy.

A summary of Emma Walmsley's new
package is set out after the end of this letter
on page 114. Further details are provided

in the Annual report on remuneration.

Dr Patrick Vallance joined the Board in

his role as President, R&D on 1 January
2017. He will receive a base salary of
£780,000 and his pension arrangements,
annual bonus and PSP opportunities will be
in accordance with those set out in the
Remuneration policy.

Changes to the annual bonus structure
for 2017

As part of the Remuneration policy review,
the Committee decided to simplify the
structure of the annual bonus. The Individual
Performance Multiplier has been removed
and from 2017, the annual bonus will operate
on an additive basis. 70% of the bonus
opportunity will be subject to a single profit
metric of Core Group PBIT instead of two
separate measures of profit which applied
in previous years. The remaining 30% will
be subject to a scorecard of individual
objectives. This ensures that maximum
bonus opportunities can only be delivered

if maximum targets are achieved in respect
of both the financial and individual elements
of the plan.

Departing executives

As noted above, Sir Andrew Witty will be
stepping down as CEO with effect from
31 March 2017. Dr Moncef Slaoui will also
be leaving the Board on 31 March 2017,
but will remain with the company until

30 June 2017.

No termination payment will be made to
either Executive and all outstanding incentive
awards will be treated in accordance with
the Remuneration policy. A more detailed
summary of the treatment of these awards

is provided on page 136 and full details of
the payments made will be included in future
Annual reports on remuneration.

AGM

Finally, | would like to thank shareholders

for their input and engagement during the
Remuneration policy review and | welcome
all shareholders’ feedback on this report.
We look forward to receiving your support
for our new Remuneration policy and Annual
report on remuneration at our AGM on

4 May 2017.

Urs Rohner
Remuneration Committee Chairman

13 March 2017



114 GSK Annual Report 2016

Remuneration report
Chairman’s annual statement continued

Key changes to our Remuneration policy for 2017

Alignment with shareholders

Reduction in overall maximum

opportunity

Simplification

Base salary

Annual bonus

LTls

Share Ownership Requirement

Increase in the level of mandatory deferral under the annual bonus from 25% to 50%

Significant increase in Share Ownership Requirement for the CEO from 4x salary to 6.5x salary

The overall maximum incentive opportunity for all Executive Directors has been reduced

e.g. the total remuneration package of the new CEQ is ¢.25% less than that received by

the current CEO.

Removal of matching awards under the DABP plan

Change from multiplicative to additive bonus structure

Alignment of all Executive Directors’ on-target and maximum bonus opportunities

Overview of new CEO’s 2017 remuneration package

Overview Comparison with previous CEO Rationale

- £1,008,000 — 10% reduction — Lower salary awarded on
initial appointment

— 200% of salary - Significantly lower — No increase in the level

contribution to defined
contribution plan (and
a further 5% matched
contribution on salary

pension benefit than the
previous CEO's defined
benefit arrangement

of pension contribution
provided to Ms Walmsley
prior to her joining the
Board

up to £33,333 - Remains aligned with the
ie. £1,667) pension contribution
provided to other
Executives immediately
below the Board
— Target opportunity of Reduction in the target - Aligns the annual bonus
100% of salary bonus opportunity from opportunity and structure
— Maximum opportunity of 125% of salary for all Executive Directors
200% of salary

— Maximum opportunity of

Over 20% reduction in

Removal of matching

5500% of salary total long-term incentive awards under the DABP
opportunity from a simplifies the remuneration
maximum of 700% package and reduces the
of salary (which included overall incentive opportunity
awards unf:ler the PSP — 2017 PSP opportunity
and matching awards is also lower than that
under the DABP) previously awarded to Sir

Andrew Witty
— 650% of salary Significantly above the — Aligns the Share
current requirement Ownership Requirement
of 400% of salary with the maximum PSP

opportunity under the
Remuneration policy and
further aligns the interests
of the CEO with those of
shareholders

Total reduction in package
of c. 25%
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2016 at a glance

Pay for performance

Obijectives KPIs Incentive scheme outcomes
Financial: 2016 Annual bonus: financial performance
Grow a balanced business — Core Group Operating Profit T
(]
— Core Group PBIT )
— Vaccines performance Maximum
(110% target)
Non-financial: .
Health for all - Increase access to healthcare Target
Our behaviour — Putting patients and consumers first
Our people — Talent, development and diversity . . .
Our planet — Reducing environmental impacts Threshold -~ ———— oo ——————— -0 ———— —
(90% target)

Vaccines
Performance

Core Group
Operating Profit

Core Group
PBIT

® Maximum performance target @ Performance achieved

Long-term strategic objectives:

g Strong R&D innovation — R&D new products

g Efficient global
ml operating model

£ 33

— Adjusted free cash flow

Three world-leading — Relative TSR

businesses

2016 highlights summary

2014 LTI outcome — performance period ended 31 December 2016

Relative R&D
TSR new products
1/3rd 1/3rd
Adjusted
® Award lapsed free cash flow
@ Award vested 1/3rd

The following shows a breakdown of total remuneration paid to Executive Directors in respect of 2016 and 2015:

Sir Andrew Witty, CEO

Simon Dingemans, CFO

Dr Moncef Slaoui, Chairman, Global Vaccines

£8m $10m
74% 75% $8m
£6m
58%
$6m 59%
£4m
4
69% 70% $4m
42%
£2m $om 41%
26% 25%
31% 30%
£0m $0m
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

@ Fixed pay — salary, benefits and pension

Executive Directors’ shareholdings (audited)

To align the interests of Executive Directors with those of
shareholders, they are required to build and maintain significant
holdings of shares in GSK over time. Executive Directors are
required to continue to satisfy these shareholding requirements
for a minimum of 12 months following retirement from the
company. CET members are also required to build up a Share
Ownership Requirement (SOR) of 2x base salary.

Current shareholdings compared to the SOR are illustrated in
the chart opposite.

@ Performance pay — annual bonus and LTls earned

Share ownership vs SOR

Sir Andrew Witty
4x base salary*

Simon Dingemans
3x base salary

Dr Moncef Slaoui
3x base salary

® SOR @ 31.12.2016 shareholding

* Following her appointment as CEO, the SOR for Emma Walmsley will increase to 6.5x base salary.
The SOR for Dr Patrick Vallance will be 3x base salary. Their levels of ownership as at 3 March 2017
were 2.5x and 6.9x their base salaries as CEO and President, R&D respectively.
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Total remuneration for (audited)

Annual Value earned
Benefits from LTI =
bonus
awards

Total

remuneration

A. Fixed pay B. Pay for performance

The total remuneration for 2016 for each Executive Director is set out in the table below:

Dr Moncef Slaoui, Chairman,

Sir Andrew Witty, CEO Simon Dingemans, CFO Global Vaccines
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
£000 £000 £000 £000 $000 $000
A. Fixed pay
Salary @ See page 117 1,115 1,087 736 718 1,242 1,212
Benefits @ See page 117 124 110 92 82 495 545
Pension @ See page 118 520 458 147 144 875 1,316
Total fixed pay 1,759 1,655 975 944 2,612 3,073
B. Pay for performance
Annual bonus @ See pages 119 and 120 2,167 2,175 915 989 1,726 1,632
LTI awards:
Matching awards under DABP®™ 361 194 119 73 293 274
PSP® @ See page 121 2,543 2,637 1,119 1,160 1,812 2,345
Total pay for performance 5,071 5,006 2,153 2,222 3,831 4,251
A+B = Total remuneration® 6,830 6,661 3128 3,166 6,443 7324

zZ
=3
@
1]

(1) Further details in respect of the vesting of PSP and DABP awards are provided on pages 130 to 133.

(2 The Committee may in specific circumstances, and in line with stated principles, apply clawback/malus, as it determines appropriate. Following due consideration by the Committee,
there has been no recovery of sums paid (clawback) or reduction of outstanding awards or vesting levels (malus) applied during 2016 in respect of any of the Executive Directors.

Deferral of 2016 annual bonus % £000 Number of shares % £000 Number of shares % $000 Number of ADS
Amount of bonus deferred 25 542 50 458 25 432
Number of shares or ADS purchased 34,353 29,022 10,760
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Total remuneration for 2016 (audited) continued

The following sections provide details of each element of ‘Total
remuneration’, including how the Committee implemented the
approved Remuneration policy in 2016.

Comparator groups for pay and TSR

The Committee used two pay comparator groups for all roles when
considering executive pay for 2016. The primary group used for each
Executive Director was as follows:

UK cross-industry
comparator group
Sir Andrew Witty
Simon Dingemans

Global pharmaceutical
comparator group

Dr Moncef Slaoui

Anglo American(® France Sanofi
AstraZeneca Switzerland  Novartis

BG Group™ Roche Holdings
BHP Billiton UK AstraZeneca

BP us AbbVie®

British American Tobacco Amgen®

Diageo Bristol-Myers Squibb
Reckitt Benckiser Eli Lilly

Rio Tinto Johnson & Johnson
Royal Dutch Shell Merck & Co

SAB Miller Pfizer

Tesco™

Unilever

Vodafone

The global pharmaceutical comparator group is also used as the
basis for the TSR comparator group, which features in our long-term
incentive awards.

(1) Following a review of the pay comparator group during the year,
these comparators have been removed from the group for 2017.

(2) AbbVie and Amgen are included for remuneration benchmarking,
but are not included in the TSR comparator group.

When reviewing the CEQ'’s remuneration, the Committee also
references pay for a group of leading European companies
whose selection is based on their size and complexity.

Fixed pay (audited)

Salary

The table below sets out the base salaries of the Executive Directors
over the last two years. As disclosed last year, the salary increases
made in 2016 were aligned with those provided to the wider
workforce. Details of salary levels for 2017 are provided on page 135.

% Base salary

change 2016 2015

Sir Andrew Witty 2.5% £1,114,500 £1,087,300
Simon Dingemans 2.5% £735,600 £717700
Dr Moncef Slaoui 2.5% $1,242,100 $1,211,800

Benefits
The following table shows a breakdown of the grossed up cash value
of the benefits received by the Executive Directors in 2016 and 2015.

Employee benefits include all employee share plans, healthcare,
car allowance, personal financial advice and life assurance/death
in service cover.

Travel expenses include car, travel and spouse/partner costs
associated with accompanying the Executive Director on GSK
business, which are deemed to be taxable benefits on the individual.

Other benefits comprise expenses incurred in the ordinary course of
business, which are deemed to be taxable benefits on the individual
and, as such, have been included in the table below.

2016 benefits 2015 benefits
Sir Andrew Witty (£000)
Employee benefits 63 26
Travel 23 48
Other benefits 38 36
Total 124 110
Simon Dingemans (£000)
Employee benefits 30 29
Travel 38 39
Other benefits 24 14
Total 92 82
Dr Moncef Slaoui ($000)
Employee benefits 158 216
Travel 34 86
Other benefits ™" 303 243
Total 495 545

(1) For Dr Moncef Slaoui, other benefits include UK accommodation of $247,875 in 2016
(2015 - $225,806).
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Fixed pay (audited) continued

Pensions

Executive Director

Pension plan type

Member since

Sir Andrew Witty

UK defined benefit(

Simon Dingemans

Cash payment in lieu of pension®

Dr Moncef Slaoui

US and Belgian plans

(1) Sir Andrew's maximum pension entitlement is two-thirds of final salary. Since 1 April 2013, pensionable salary increases have been limited to 2% p.a. for all members. The plan has been

closed to new entrants since 2001.

(@ Since becoming a member, Sir Andrew has built up pensionable service through the different tiers of the Glaxo Wellcome Pension Plan. His current pension entitlement is a

product of his service and progression within GSK.

(3) Simon Dingemans receives a cash payment in lieu of pension of 20% of base salary in line with GSK's defined contribution pension plan rates.

The following table shows the breakdown of the pension values set out on page 116.

Sir Andrew Witty Simon Dingemans Dr Moncef Slaoui

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Pension remuneration values() £000 £000 £000 £000 $000 $000
UK defined benefit 520 472 - - - -
US defined benefit - - - - 742 1,191
Belgian defined benefit® - - - - 10 57
Employer cash contributions = - 147 144 123 68
Member contributions to defined benefit plans - (14) - - - -
Total pension remuneration value 520 458 147 144 875 1,316

(1) The pension remuneration figures have been calculated in accordance with the methodology set out in The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Group (Accounts and
Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 (Remuneration Regulations). In calculating the defined benefit pension values for 2016, the difference between the accrued pension as
at 31 December 2016 and the accrued pension as at 31 December 2015 increased by inflation (0% for UK defined benefit, 1.7% for US defined benefit, 1.7% for Belgian defined

benefit) has been multiplied by 20.

2 Amounts have been translated from Euros into US Dollars using an exchange rate of 1.11 for 2016 and 1.12 for 2015.

For Sir Andrew and Dr Moncef Slaoui, further details regarding the 2016 pension values are set out in the table below.

Accrued pension as at 31 December

2016 2015 Pension remuneration

Sir Andrew Witty £ (pa) £ (pa) value for 2016 (£000)
UK - Funded 71,591 71,648
UK — Unfunded 670,500 644,459

Total 742,091 716,107 520
Accrued pension as at 31 December

2016 2015 Pension remuneration

Dr Moncef Slaoui( $ (p.a) $ (p.a) value for 2016 ($000)

US - Funded 15,434 14,473 14

US - Unfunded 439,393 396,297 728

Belgium — Funded @ 103,230 101,010 10

US - 401(k) & ESSP - - 123

Total 558,057 511,780 875

(1) Since becoming a member of these plans, Dr Moncef Slaoui has built up pensionable service in the Belgian Plan, and in the US Cash Balance and Supplemental Pension Plans.
Annual employer cash contributions were made to the 401(k) Plan and Executive Supplemental Savings Plan (ESSP). His current pension entitlement is a product of his service

and progression within GSK.

)

Amounts have been translated from Euros into US Dollars using an exchange rate of 1.11 for 2016 and 1.12 for 2015.
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Annual bonus  The annual bonus opportunity is based on a formal review of performance against stretching financial targets. This
outcome is then adjusted to reflect individual performance by applying an Individual Performance Multiplier IPM).

The IPM is set by the Committee taking into account performance against individual objectives. The multiplier may be
set between 0% and 150%.

2016 performance against targets
For 20186, the financial measures and weightings were as follows:

Weighting 2016 performance
Performance Positioning
measure Sir Andrew Witty ~ Simon Dingemans  Dr Moncef Slaoui 2016 Target()@ Outcome (£)® against target
Core Group Operating Profit 75% 75% - £6,706m £6,914m 103%
Core Group PBIT 25% 25% 25% £6,386m £6,592m 103%
Vaccines performance - - 75% £1,038m £1,207m 116%

(1) Threshold and maximum performance targets were set at 90% and 110% of Target respectively.

(2) The Core Group Operating Profit and Core Group PBIT targets and outcomes for the purposes of annual bonus differ from Core Group Operating Profit and PBIT disclosed
elsewhere in this Annual Report, primarily because both the target and outcome numbers are calculated applying GSK budget exchange rates and not actual exchange rates.

The following table shows actual bonuses earned compared to opportunity for 2016:

2016 bonus opportunity 2016 bonus outcome

Financial

performance
Base salary Target Maximum outcome Total 2016 Total 2016
Bonus £/$000 (% of salary) (% of salary) (% salary) IPM % (% of salary) £/$000
Sir Andrew Witty £1,115 125 200 162 120 194 £2,167
Simon Dingemans £736 80 180 104 120 124 £915
Dr Moncef Slaoui $1,242 85 200 126 110 139 $1,726

The table below sets out the matters which the Committee considered in respect of the financial measures and weightings set for the

Executive Directors.

Financial performance

Core Group Operating —
Profit and Core Group
PBIT

Grroup turnover increased 6% CER on a reported basis to £27.9 billion and 5% CER on a pro-forma basis.

— Core Group Operating Profit increased by 14% CER on a reported basis and 17% CER on a pro-forma basis. Core Group PBIT

grew 14% CER on a reported basis. Both of these were ahead of target performance for 2016 but below the maximum targets.

Core operating margin of 27.9% was 4.6 percentage points higher than in 2015 and 2.6 percentage points higher in CER terms
on a pro-forma basis. This reflected improved operating leverage driven by sales growth and a more favourable mix across all three
businesses as well as delivery of restructuring and integration benefits and tight control of ongoing costs, partly offset by continued
price pressure, particularly in Respiratory, and supply chain and R&D investments.

Vaccines performance -

Vaccines sales increased 14% CER on a reported basis to £4,592 million and 12% CER on a pro-forma basis.

Overall results benefited from the strong performance of Bexsero, as well as higher demand for Fluarix/FluLaval in the US and
International and Menveo in International. Further growth was driven by Synflorix due to market expansion in International and a
tender award in Europe and Boostrix, which grew in Europe and International.

Vaccines core operating profit increased by 38% in CER terms. The operating profit margin of 31.7% was 7.6 percentage points
higher than in 2015 in CER terms on a pro-forma basis.

The results were driven primarily by improved product mix and enhanced operating leverage from strong sales growth, together
with integration and restructuring benefits in costs of sales, SG&A and R&D, and higher royalty income.
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In determining the appropriate Individual Performance Multiplier (IPM) that should be applied to the annual bonus outcome for each Executive
Director, the Committee took into account performance against a number of key strategic objectives that were set for each individual at the
start of the year.

A summary of the principal achievements of each Executive in respect of these objectives is provided in the table below:

Personal performance 2016 achievements

Sir Andrew Witty — Delivered all key financial objectives ahead of the financial plan.
— Achieved strong progress in the integration of the Novartis businesses in Consumer and Vaccines.
— New product sales more than doubled to £4.5 billion.
— Strong returns on R&D investment during the year with the approval and submission targets for late stage assets exceeded.

— Delivered sustained pipeline progress with 4 assets filed in H2 2016 (Shingrix, Closed Triple, Benlysta SC and Sirukumab)
and 4 key phase lll starts in Q4 for assets in HIV, respiratory and anaemia.

— Delivered continued improvement in the quality risk profile across all three businesses.

— Fully implemented the new commercial business model and maintained progress on delivering our responsible business
commitments, e.g. topping Access to Medicines Index for the 5th consecutive year.

— Embedded a number of critical simplification and change programmes, realising benefits from our global platforms.

— Provided effective leadership to the Group during a year of significant change, while also successfully transitioning towards
anew CEO.

Simon Dingemans — Delivered strong financial leadership for the Group during 2016.

— Continued progress on cost savings made. Total annual cost savings now at £3 billion including currency benefit of £0.2 billion and
the Group remains on track to deliver the targeted annual savings of £3 billion at CER by 2017.

— Continued successful implementation of new business operating systems. BISON and IPT successfully went live and legacy systems
have been decommissioned. CERPS accounting systems were successfully deployed in 22 markets and MERPS system deployed
in nine sites.

— All but one exit from Novartis transaction related Service Agreements have been completed and Core Commercial cycle integrated
into financial planning process.

Dr Moncef Slaoui — Led a highly successful year in the Vaccines business overall.
— Effectively managed the Vaccines’ leadership succession and transition to the new Head of Vaccines, Luc Debruyne.

— Finalised the successful creation of Galvani, a bioelectronics joint venture with Verily Life Sciences, with significant opportunity to
create value for shareholders.

— Worked towards the creation of Coalition for Epidemic Preparedness Innovations in support of biopreparedness and established
GSK's place on the founding board amongst other major vaccines organisations.

— Supported GSK's external reputation building in the global public health arena, working directly with WHO, BARDA, Wellcome Trust,
UNGA, and AMR.

Malus and clawback policy
The company’s policy on malus and clawback is set out in the company’s Remuneration policy report, (page 140) and is also available at
www.gsk.com in the Investors section.

From 1 January 2015 in respect of each financial year, the Committee discloses whether it (or the Recoupment Committee) has exercised
clawback or malus.

Disclosure will only be made when the matter has been the subject of public reports of misconduct, where it has been fully resolved, where it
is legally permissible to disclose and where it can be made without unduly prejudicing the company and therefore shareholders.

In line with these disclosure guidelines, neither the Committee (nor the Recoupment Committee) has exercised malus or clawback during 2016.
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Pay for performance (audited) continued

Value earned from long-term incentives (LTls)

In line with the Committee’s agreed principles, for each measure applicable to the 2014 and 2015 LTI awards, actual performance against
targets is reviewed and adjustments made as appropriate to reflect the impact of the Novartis transaction on the business and to ensure that
the vesting outcome reflects genuine underlying business performance. The Committee is satisfied that the adjusted targets remain suitably
stretching. Further details on any adjustments made will be provided at the time of vesting.

2014 awards with a performance period ended 31 December 2016
The Committee reviewed the performance of the PSP and DABP matching awards granted to Executive Directors against the targets set.
The performance achieved in the three years to 31 December 2016 and the vesting levels are set out in the table below.

Outcome and vesting level

Performance measures % of % of
and relative weighting Performance targets Outcome maximum award
R&D new product R&D new product sales performance measures aggregate three-year sales for new £6.72 bn 100 33.33
performance products launched in the three-year performance period and preceding two years,
(1/3rd) i.e.2012-16.
Original target Adjusted target % vesting
Maximum £5.26 bn £4.43 bn 100%
£4.78 bn £4.03 bn 75%
£4.54 bn £3.82 bn 50%
Threshold £4.30 bn £3.62 bn 25%
Adjusted free In line with the company’s agreed principles, the AFCF figures included adjustments £9.29 bn 0 0
cash flow (AFCF) for a number of material distorting items, including legal settlements, exchange rate
performance movements and special pension contributions.
(1 / 3rd) Original target Adjusted target 9% vesting
Maximum £16.22 bn £12.95 bn 100%
£15.51 bn £12.38 bn 75%
£14.10 bn £11.26 bn 50%
Threshold £13.68 bn £10.92 bn 25%
Re::tive TSR TSR ranking within comparator group’ 9% vesting Ranked 9th 0 0
erformance
?1/3rd) Maximum 1st, 2nd, 3rd 100%
4th 72%
5th 44%
Threshold? Median 30%
6th to 10th 0%

' TSR comparator group: AstraZeneca, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Eli Lilly, GSK,
Johnson & Johnson, Merck & Co, Novartis, Pfizer, Roche Holdings and Sanofi.

2 The vesting schedule is based on delivering 30% vesting for median performance.
In a comparator group of ten companies, median falls between two companies.

Total vesting in respect of 2014 awards 33.33%
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Historical vesting for GSK’s LTIs

Year of grant Performance measures Total vesting level
2014 0006 DABP matching awards were made from
2010 onwards. In 2010, DABP matching
2013 awards were wholly subject to TSR
0 0 @@ performance and had a total vesting level
of 30%. From 2011, awards were subject
2012 [T XAXRIB] to the same measures as the PSP and
vested in line with the figures shown in
2011 oa@@ the chart.
2010
00 Performance measures key
2009 00 @ R&D new product
@ Adjusted free cash flow
2008 (7] © TSR
@ Business diversification
2007 0 Lapsed

T T T T T T T T T T T
0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Update on performance of ongoing LTI awards
The Committee also reviewed the performance of the PSP and DABP matching awards granted to Executive Directors in 2015 and 2016.
The following charts provide an estimate of the vesting levels taking into account performance to 31 December 2016.

Actual vesting levels will only be determined based on performance over the full three-year performance periods. The indications below
should therefore not be regarded as predictions of the final vesting levels.

2015 award - Performance update 2016 award — Performance update
Ranked 3rd 122% of Ranked 3rd 122% of
Maximum or above £13.6bn threshold Maximum or above £13.8bn threshold
Commercially Commercially
Median £11.5bn sensitive Median £11.6bn sensitive
Threshold - —— . *********** . *********** . ********** Threshold - —— . *********** . *********** . **********
TSR Adjusted free R&D new TSR Adjusted free R&D new
(1/3rd) cash flow product (1/3rd) cash flow product
@ Estimated vesting level (1/3rd) (1/3rd) @ Estimated vesting level (1/3rd) (1/3rd)

For threshold performance, 25% of each award will vest in respect of R&D new product and AFCF measures and 30% for the TSR element. The TSR comparator group remains
unchanged from that shown on page 121 in respect of the 2014 awards.

2016 long-term incentive awards
The levels of participation in the DABP in respect of 2015 are shown in the table below, together with the maximum matching awards granted
in 2016 in respect of the deferrals of 2015 bonuses. The table also shows PSP award levels for 2016.

DABP matching awards PSP awards

2015 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016

% of total bonus Number of Face value Award level as % Number of Face value

deferred shares/ADSs of award* of base salary shares/ADSs of award*

Sir Andrew Witty 25% 40,003 shares £0.54m 600% 492,052 shares £6.69m
Simon Dingemans 50% 36,381 shares £0.49m 400% 216,512 shares £2.94m
Dr Moncef Slaoui 50% 20,854 ADSs $0.82m 500% 158,714 ADSs $6.21m

*  The face values of the awards have been calculated based on a share price of £13.59 for share awards and $39.13 for ADS awards, being the closing prices on 10 February 2016.

** The performance period for the 2016 awards is from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018.

*** DABP matching awards to UK Executives are made in the form of nil-cost options and PSP awards are made in the form of conditional shares. Awards to US Executives are made
over ADSs in the form of conditional shares.
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CEO pay comparison

2016 CEO total remuneration positioning

(£m)
12

10

. ]
*

Historic CEO remuneration

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Single figure of 6,830 6661 3,902 7207 4,386 6,807 4,562 5790
remuneration
Annualbonus  9729% 100% 42% 88% 44% 100% 59% 100%
award®
(% of maximum)
Vesting of LTI 33.3% 378% 135% 31% 24% 70% 35%® 35%®@

awards
(% of maximum)

4
U_Kd y h Globalt. | Eurquant (1) 2009 and 2010 bonus amounts include amounts paid under the Operational Efficiency
cross-industry pharmaceutica cross-industry Bonus in place for those years. The overall maximum bonus receivable was still subject
group group group to a limit of 200% of base salary.
L il B Medi ir A Witty' . .
ower quartile to edlgn to upper @ sir ndrew. . itty's @) In respect of the 2007 and 2008 PSP awards. Sir Andrew also had outstanding awards
median quartile current position

Remuneration includes salary and the expected value of incentives based on the
Committee’s agreed benchmarking methodology.

Performance graph

The following graph sets out the performance of the company relative
to the FTSE 100 index and to the pharmaceutical performance
comparator group for the eight year period to 31 December 2016.
These indices were selected for comparison purposes as they reflect
both the primary index of which GSK is a constituent and the industry
in which it operates.

280
260

60

31/12/08 31/12/09 31/12/10 31/12/11 31/12/12 31/12/13 31/12/14 31/12/15 31/12/16

—&— GSK Total Return —@— GSK Pharma Peers :«-@--- FTSE 100
Total Return Index* Total Return Index

* This index comprises AstraZeneca, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Eli Lilly, Johnson &
Johnson, Merck & Co, Novartis, Pfizer, Roche Holdings and Sanofi-Aventis.

over 195,500 and 525,000 share options, granted in 2007 and 2008 respectively,
which lapsed in full. These have not been included in the total vesting percentage due
to the distorting effect of aggregating conditional shares and share options.

Percentage change in remuneration of CEO

Sir Andrew Witty UK Employees
2016
£000 % change % change
Salary 1,115 2.5% 2.9%
Benefits 124 12.7% 0%
Annual bonus 2,167 0% (4%)

This reflects salary earned in, benefits received in and annual

bonus earned in respect of 2016 compared with 2015. For the wider
UK employee population, the salary increase includes the annual
salary review as well as any additional changes in the year, e.g. on
promotion. The increase in benefits for the CEO is not as a result

of a change to his benefit arrangements. The CEO's benefits were
higher in 2016 than in 2015 primarily as a result of an increased level
of financial planning fees. This was partially offset by a lower level of
travel. UK employee benefits are unchanged on the previous year as
there have been no changes to our benefit policies or levels. It does
not reflect any changes to the level of benefits an individual may
have received as a result of a change in role, e.g. promotion. The

UK population was considered to be the most relevant comparison
as it most closely reflects the economic environment encountered
by the CEO.
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Additional remuneration disclosures

Relative importance of spend on pay
The table shows the percentage changes in total employee pay and
the Group's dividends paid to shareholders.

2016 2015
£m £m % change
Total employee pay 8,212 8,030 2.3
Dividends 4,850 3,874 25.2

Share buyback = - -

The figures in the table above, which reflect payments made during
each year, are as set out on pages 174 and 180. However, dividends
declared in respect of 2016 were £3,892 million (2015 — £3,872
million plus a special dividend of £969 million), i.e. an increase of
0.5% excluding the special dividend. The company does not expect
to make any ordinary share repurchases in 2017.

Total employee pay is based on 99,827 employees, the average
number of people employed during 2016 (2015 — 101,192).

Service contracts

The table below sets out the relevant dates of the Executive
Directors’ service contracts, which are available for review at the
company'’s registered office during office hours. All Executive
Directors’ service contracts contain a 12-month notice period,
as set out in the Remuneration policy report.

Date of contract  Effective date Expiry date

Sir Andrew Witty 18.06.08 22.05.08 31.08.24
Emma Walmsley 20.12.16 01.10.16 30.06.34
Simon Dingemans 08.09.10 04.01.11 30.04.28
Dr Moncef Slaoui 21.12.10 21.12.10 01.08.19
Dr Patrick Vallance® 19.12.16 01.01.17 31.08.25

(1) Appointed to the Board on 1 January 2017.

Remuneration governance

Role of the Committee

The role of the Committee is to set the company’s remuneration
policy so that GSK is able to recruit, retain and motivate its
executives.

The Remuneration policy is regularly reviewed to ensure that it

is consistent with the company’s scale and scope of operations,
supports the business strategy and growth plans and helps drive
the creation of shareholder value.

Terms of reference

The Committee’s full terms of reference are available on the
company’s website. The terms of reference, which are reviewed
at least annually, were last revised in January 2017 to reflect best
practice and corporate governance developments.

Governance

The Board considers all of the members of the Committee to
be independent Non-Executive Directors in accordance with
the UK Corporate Governance Code.

Shareholder votes on remuneration matters

The table below provides details of the shareholder votes for the
most recent resolutions in respect of the Annual remuneration report
and Remuneration policy report.

Votes

Total votes Total votes Total votes withheld

2016 AGM cast (billion) for (%) against (%) (million)
Remuneration report 3.7 84.7 15.3 708
Votes

Total votes Total votes Total votes withheld

2014 AGM cast (billion) for (%) against (%) (million)
Remuneration policy 3.5 97.4 2.6 100

External appointments for Executive Directors
No Executive Directors held remunerated external appointments.

Payments to past Directors (audited)
None.

Payments for loss of office (audited)
None.

Membership
The membership of the Committee, together with appointment
dates, is set out below:

Committee members Committee member since

Urs Rohner 1 January 2015

Chairman

Vindi Banga 1 January 2016

Dr Vivienne Cox 1 January 2017

Judy Lewent 1 January 2013

Dr Stephanie Burns 1 May 2013 to 5 May 2016

Sir Deryck Maughan 1 July 2012 to 5 May 2016
Hans Wijers 10 October 2013 to 5 May 2016

Committee meetings usually include a closed session, during which
only members of the Committee are present. Other individuals may
also be invited to attend Committee meetings during the year.
Executives and other Committee attendees are not involved in any
decisions, and are not present at any discussions regarding their
own remuneration.

© Details of the Committee members' skills and experience are
given in their biographies under ‘Our Board' on pages 84 to 85.
See page 88 for Committee member attendance levels.
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The Company Secretary is Secretary to the Committee and attends
all meetings. Other attendees at the Committee include:

Committee attendees

Strategic report
Governance and remuneration
Financial statements

Investor information

Regular Attends as
Attendee attendee required
CEO v
CFO v
Head of Human Resources v
Head of Reward v
Committee Adviser — Deloitte LLP v

Judy Lewent and Vindi Banga, as members of the Audit & Risk
and Remuneration Committees, provide input on the Audit & Risk
Committee’s review of the Group's performance and oversight of
any risk factors relevant to remuneration decisions.

Adviser to the Committee

The Committee has access to external advice as required. The
Committee carried out a formal review of the independent advisers
to the Committee in 2013. As a result of this review, the Committee
reappointed Deloitte LLP (Deloitte) to provide it with independent
advice on executive remuneration. The Committee Chairman agrees
the protocols under which Deloitte provides advice and the
Comnmittee is satisfied that the advice they have received from
Deloitte has been objective and independent.

Deloitte is a member of the Remuneration Consultants’ Group and,
as such, voluntarily operates under the code of conduct in relation

to executive remuneration consulting in the UK. The code of conduct

can be found at www.remunerationconsultantsgroup.com.

What the Committee did during 2016

Areas of Committee focus

Deloitte provided independent commentary on matters under
consideration by the Committee and updates on market practice
and legislative requirements. Deloitte’s fees for advice provided to
the Committee in 2016 were £205,860. Fees were charged on a
time and materials basis. Deloitte also provided other consulting,
tax and assurance services to GSK during the year. However, the
Committee is satisfied that this does not compromise the
independence of the advice they have received from Deloitte.

Following the announcement that Deloitte will replace
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the company,

Deloitte will no longer be the named advisers to the Remuneration
Committee. The company is currently undergoing a tender process
with the intention that new advisers will be appointed by 1 July 2017.

Willis Towers Watson provided additional market data to the Committee.

Committee evaluation

The Committee’s annual evaluation was internally facilitated by
the Company Secretary and supplemented by a questionnaire
circulated to Committee members on behalf of the Committee
Chairman. It was concluded that the Committee continued to
operate effectively. In terms of enhancements to the Committee’s
work, it was agreed that it would seek to gain a deeper
understanding of the performance systems and culture and the
linkage with remuneration arrangements for the Group's top talent.

Items discussed

Remuneration policy

The Committee sets the broad structure for the Remuneration policy and
determines the remuneration of the Executive Directors, the Chairman and
other corporate officers for Board approval.

— Proposed Remuneration policy for 2017
— Engagement with shareholders

Salary review

The Committee periodically reviews and considers the remuneration
environment of Executive Directors & CET, approving annual amendments
as necessary.

- Remuneration environment (including wider employee trends)

— Executive Director and CET benchmarking, competitiveness and GSK
comparator groups

— Executive Director and CET salary recommendations and increases for 2017

Annual bonus
The Committee is responsible for setting specific performance measures
for the annual bonus.

— CEO, Executive Director & CET 2015 bonus recommendations and 2016
bonus objectives

— R&D annual bonus target metric

LTI plans

The Committee is responsible for approving LTI plan rule changes, grants,
assessments of performance, and the vesting of LTI awards for the Executive
Directors, CET and below.

— Deferred Annual Bonus Plan rules
— LTI performance outcomes and vesting of LTl awards for CET and below

— LTl grants for CET and below, including Share Value Plan awards.

Governance and other areas of focus

The Committee adheres to a robust remuneration governance framework,
ensuring alignment between internal actions and external reporting/
compliance requirements.

— Committee evaluation process

— Shareholder feedback from Annual Investor Meetings
— 2015 Remuneration report

— Remuneration considerations for 2016

— AGM and Remuneration report feedback, the external remuneration
environment and performance target disclosure for incentives plans

— Chairman’s fees

— 2016 Remuneration report disclosures
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2016 Non-Executive Directors’ fees

Chairman and other Non-Executive Directors

The company aims to provide the Chairman and other Non-Executive
Directors with fees that are competitive with those paid by other
companies of equivalent size and complexity, subject to the limits
contained in GSK's Articles of Association.

Chairman’s fees
Chairman Philip Hampton is paid a fee of £700,000 per annum,
of which he has elected to take 25% in GSK shares.

Non-Executive Directors fees

No changes to Non-Executive Director fees were made during the
year and fees remained at the levels set in January 2013. For each
Non-Executive Director, a minimum of 25% of fees is delivered as
shares deferred until the Non-Executive Director steps down from
the Board.

The Non-Executive Directors’ fees that applied during 2016 are set
out in the table below:

Per annum
Standard annual fee £85,000
Supplemental fees
Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee £80,000
Senior Independent Director and Scientific/Medical Experts £30,000
Chairmen of the Remuneration and Corporate £20,000
Responsibility Committees
Non-Executive Director undertaking intercontinental £7500
travel to meetings per meeting

The table below (audited) sets out the value of fees and benefits received by the Non-Executive Directors in the form of cash and shares or
ADS. Further details of the Non-Executive Directors’ share allocation plan are set out on page 145. Non-Executive Directors fees that are paid
other than in GBP are converted using an average exchange rate that is reviewed from time to time.

2016 2015
Non-Executive Directors’ - -
emoluments (000) (audited) Fixed fees @ Fixed fees @
Cash Shares/ADS Benefits’ Total pay Cash Shares/ADS Benefits’ Total pay
Professor Sir Roy Anderson £92 £31 £7 £130 £98 £32 £10 £140
Vindi Banga - £112 £8 £120 - £28 £1 £29
Dr Vivienne Cox™ £32 £11 £5 £48 - - - -
Lynn Elsenhans £14 £128 £54 £196 £14 £122 £63 £199
Dr Jesse Goodman( $165 $55 $268 $488 - - - -
Philip Hampton £525 £175 £13 £713 £389 £130 £3 £522
Judy Lewent $239 $80 $218 $537 $249 $83 $171 $503
Urs Rohner £84 £28 £22 £134 £85 £28 £19 £132
Dr Stephanie Burns® $51 $27 $21 $99 $91 $91 $77 $259
Stacey Cartwright® £69 £23 £5 £97 £75 £25 £7 £107
Sir Deryck Maughan® $28 $55 $44 $127 - $241 $146 $387
Dr Daniel Podolsky® $56 $50 $78 $184 $60 $181 $155 $396
Hans Wijers £32 £5 £8 £45 £75 £25 £16 £116

(1) Dr Jesse Goodman joined the Board from 1 January 2016. In accordance with the Non-Executive Directors’ Share Allocation Plan, 25% of Dr Jesse Goodman's fees will
be retained and will be re-invested in the company's ADSs at a future date, to be mutually agreed. Dr Vivienne Cox joined the Board from 1 July 2016.

(2) Dr Stephanie Burns, Sir Deryck Maughan, Dr Daniel Podolsky and Hans Wijers all retired from the Board at the AGM on 5 May 20186. Stacey Cartwright retired from the Board on

31 December 2016.

(3) Benefits primarily consist of travel and subsistence costs incurred in the normal course of business, in relation to meetings on Board and Committee matters and other
GSK-hosted events which are considered to be taxable. For overseas-based Non-Executive Directors, this includes travel to meetings in the UK.
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Directors’ interests in shares (audited)

The interests of the Directors of the company in office at 31 December 2016 and their persons closely associated (PCA) are shown in the

tables below.
Total share plan interests as at 31 December 2016
Total directors’ interests as at Shares/ADS Options
@Unvestedand Unvested and ©@Unvested and  Unvested and
3 March 31 December 1 January not subject to subject to not subject to subject to Vested but  Exercised in
2017 2016 2016 performance performance performance performance not exercised the year
Executive Directors
Shares
Sir Andrew Witty®b.cdih) 1,090,542 1,034,521 859,350 70,252 1,462,023 143,640 142,752 - 50,199
Simon Dingemans®.c.dh) 323,181 263,245 179,527 - 643,346 77523 76,811 - 19,224
Dr Moncef Slaoui(cdeg) 28,475 28,473 28,300 - - - - - -
Emma Walmsley() 161,046 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Dr Patrick Vallance® 345,947 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
ADS
Dr Moncef Slaoui(cdeg) 346,846 295,974 234,270 86,519 507,421 - - 3,810 -
Share allocation plan for Non-Executive Directors
Total directors’ interests as at Number of shares or ADS
31 December 1 January
2016 2016
3 March or date of or date of ODjvidends 31 December Allocated 31 December
2017 retirement appointment reinvested 2016 Paid out & elected 2015
Non-Executive Directors
Shares®
Professor Sir Roy Anderson 27812 25,499 23,969 1,850 25,499 - 1,530 23,969
Vindi Banga 44,825 42,705 37,303 271 7505 - 5,402 2,103
Dr Vivienne Cox 669 323 - 4 323 - 323 -
Philip Hampton 29,016 25,279 16,696 924 18,361 - 8,583 9,778
Urs Rohner 4,097 3,488 2,080 187 3,488 - 1,408 2,080
Dr Stephanie Burns®) - 44 44 - - - - -
Stacey Cartwright() - 9,631 8,469 - 9,510 - 1,163 8,347
Hans Wijers®) - 5,223 4,845 - - 5,223 378 4,845
ADS®
Lynn Elsenhans 20,809 18,205 14,839 1,177 17,205 - 3,366 13,839
Dr Jesse Goodman( - - - - - - - -
Judy Lewent 20,219 19,052 17,636 626 8,886 - 1,417 7,469
Dr Stephanie Burns( - 21,263 20,584 - - 21,198 678 20,520
Sir Deryck Maughan® - 53,294 51,937 - - 53,294 1,357 51,937
Dr Daniel Podolsky® - 38,973 37745 - 38,973 - 1,228 37745

a) Unvested shares not subject to performance of 70,252 for Sir Andrew represent 25% of the shares awarded at the end of the three year performance periods
for the 2012 and 2013 PSP grants, together with subsequent re-invested dividends. These shares are subject to further two-year vesting periods. Sir Andrew’s
unvested options not subject to performance of 143,640 represent bonus deferrals of 142,752 and Share Save options of 888.

Unvested options not subject to performance of 77,523 for Simon Dingemans represent bonus deferrals of 76,811 and Share Save options of 712.

Unvested ADS not subject to performance of 86,519 for Dr Moncef Slaoui represent bonus deferrals of 56,646, deferrals under the PSP plan of 22,743 and
Share Value Plan awards for his PCA of 7,130.

b)

=

were each awarded 99 shares under the plan. The total number of shares held within the plan are as follows:

Total Directors’ interests includes shares purchased through the GlaxoSmithKline Share Reward Plan. During 2016, Sir Andrew Witty and Simon Dingemans

Share Reward Plan (Shares) 3 March 2017 31 December 2016 1 January 2016
Sir Andrew Witty 3,616 3,541 3,132
Simon Dingemans 1,423 1,375 1,100
Emma Walmsley® 1,016 N/A N/A
Dr Patrick Vallance® 2,984 N/A N/A

Dr Moncef Slaoui is not eligible to participate in the Share Reward Plan, as this is only open to UK employees.
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c) Total directors' interests includes shares or ADS resulting from the deferral of bonus (and the subsequent re-investment of dividends) under the DABP. The totals

d

shown in the table below include bonus deferrals, but exclude any unvested matching awards which are subject to ongoing performance criteria. The amounts
represent the gross share and ADS balances prior to the sale of any shares or ADS to satisfy tax liabilities.

Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (Bonus deferrals) 3 March 2017 31 December 2016 1 January 2016

Sir Andrew Witty Shares 110,972 142,752 130,307

Simon Dingemans Shares 84,317 76,811 49,729

Dr Moncef Slaoui ADS 46,425 56,646 50,897

Emma Walmsley® Shares 73,134 N/A N/A

Dr Patrick Vallance® Shares 72,299 N/A N/A
) Total directors’ interests at 3 March 2017 includes any shares or ADS which vested due to performance being met under elements of the DABP and PSP

(2014-2016 awards), less those sold to satisfy tax liabilities on the vested amounts (see pages 130 to 133 for further details).

e) For Dr Moncef Slaoui, total directors’ interests includes ADS purchased within the 401 (k) Plan and the US Executive Supplemental Savings Plan (ESSP), and

f)

ADS awarded to Dr Moncef Slaoui's PCA under the SVP. The relevant balances are as follows:

Dr Moncef Slaoui (ADS) 3 March 2017 31 December 2016 1 January 2016
US Retirement Savings Plans 16,839 16,452 13,431
Share Value Plan 4,830 7130 7820

As an Executive Director, Dr Moncef Slaoui is not eligible to receive awards under the SVP. The SVP awards shown above reflect the holdings of Dr Slaoui's
PCA, who is also an employee of GSK. The awards are subject to three-year vesting periods and vesting is contingent on continued employment within GSK.
Any gains arising on vesting are not included in Dr Moncef Slaoui's total remuneration figures. During the year, his PCA was granted 2,300 ADS on 22
September 2016 at a grant price of $43.58 (face value of $100,234). Dr Moncef Slaoui's total share plan interests also include PSP awards held by his PCA.
These awards are subject to performance criteria relevant to employees below the CET. As at 31 December 2016, his PCA held 6,777 ADS under the PSP,
comprising awards made in 2014 (2,384 ADS), 2015 (2,258 ADS) and 2016 (2,135 ADS), all amounts including dividend re-investment.

Share Save Plan

For Sir Andrew Witty and Simon Dingemans, the unvested options not subject to performance include holdings of 888 and 712 respectively in the Share
Save Plan, in which they participate on the same terms as all other employees. No Share Save options were granted to Sir Andrew Witty during 2016.
Simon Dingemans was granted 208 options under the plan on 30 November 2016.

g) The ADS vested but unexercised options totalling 3,810 for Dr Moncef Slaoui represent the ADS options held by his PCA.
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h) The following table sets out details of options (including nil-cost options under the DABP) exercised during 2016 by Executive Directors. Dr Moncef Slaoui
did not exercise any options during the year.

Number of shares Market Gain on exercise
Type of award Date of grant under option Date of exercise Grant price price at exercise (000)
Sir Andrew Witty

DABP — deferral 28.02.13 36,442 18.03.16 - £13.82 £504
DABP - matching 28.02.13 13,757 18.03.16 - £13.82 £190
50,199 £694

Simon Dingemans
Share Save 30.10.13 216 01.12.16 £12.47 £14.69 -
DABP — deferral 28.02.13 13,799 06.05.16 - £14.50 £200
DABP — matching 28.02.13 5,209 06.05.16 - £14.50 £76
19,224 £276

In respect of options under the Share Save Plan, the remuneration receivable by an Executive Director is calculated on the date that the options first
vest. The remuneration is the difference between the amount the Executive Director is required to pay to buy the shares or ADS and the total value of
the shares or ADS on the vesting date. If the Executive Director chooses not to exercise the options on the vesting date, any subsequent increase or
decrease in the amount realised will be due to movements in the share or ADS price between the vesting date and the date of exercise. This increase
or decrease in value is the result of an investment decision by the Executive Director and, as such, is not recorded as remuneration.

In respect of nil-cost options under the DABP, the bonus which is deferred by the Director is recorded as remuneration (under annual bonus) for the year to
which it relates. The gain recorded on exercise of the nil-cost option comprises this remuneration, the total of the amounts received in re-invested dividends prior
to vesting and the gains or losses resulting from movements in the share price between the dates of grant and exercise for the initial bonus amount deferred and
the dates of dividend reinvestment and exercise for the re-invested dividends.

For the matching element of the DABP, the remuneration of the Executive Director is recorded in the year that the performance period ends and represents the
number of vested shares multiplied by the price at vesting. The gain recorded on exercise of the nil-cost option comprises the total of this remuneration and the
gain or loss resulting from the movement in the share price between vesting and exercise.

For Sir Andrew Witty:

— The gain of £503,628 recorded following the exercise of the 36,442 nil-cost options relating to the deferral of bonus earned in respect of 2012 comprises
remuneration of £452,400 recorded in 2012 as annual bonus and a net gain of £651,228 relating to the re-investment of dividends prior to vesting and
movements in the share price between grant and dividend re-investment dates and the exercise date.

— The gain of £190,122 recorded following the exercise of the 13,757 nil-cost options relating to the DABP matching award comprises remuneration of
£194,111 recorded in 2015 in relation to the DABP (see page 130) and an investment loss of £3,989 relating to the movement in the share price between
the vesting and exercise dates.

For Simon Dingemans:
— A gain of £480 resulted from the exercise of 216 options granted under the Share Save Plan.

— The gain of £200,086 recorded following the exercise of the 13,799 nil-cost options relating to the deferral of bonus earned in respect of 2012 comprises
remuneration of £171,330 recorded in 2012 as annual bonus and a net gain of £28,756 relating to the re-investment of dividends prior to vesting and
movements in the share price between grant and dividend re-investment dates and the exercise date.

— The gain of £75,531 recorded following the exercise of the 5,209 nil-cost options relating to the DABP matching award comprises remuneration of £73,499
recorded in 2015 in relation to the DABP (see page 130) and an investment gain of £2,032 relating to the movement in the share price between the vesting
and exercise dates.

i) For Non-Executive Directors, total interests include shares or ADS received as part or all of their fees under the Non-Executive Directors’ Share Allocation
Plan. Note that dividends received on shares or ADS under the plan during 2016 and January 2017 were converted into shares or ADS as at 8 February 2017.
In accordance with the share allocation arrangements for Non-Executive Directors, 25% of Dr Jesse Goodman's fees will be retained and will be reinvested in
the company’s ADS at a future date, to be mutually agreed.

j)  Dr Stephanie Burns, Sir Deryck Maughan and Hans Wijers all retired from the Board on 5 May 2016. They elected to receive their shares or ADS from the
Non-Executive Directors’ Share Allocation Plan immediately upon retiring from the Board. Dividend entitlements in respect of the Q3 and Q4 2015 and the
Q1 2016 dividends were paid in cash in accordance with the plan rules. Dr Daniel Podolsky also retired on 5 May 2016, but has not yet been paid out his GSK
ADS under the Non-Executive Directors’ Share Allocation Plan as he elected to defer payment until after Q1 2017. Stacey Cartwright retired from the Board on
31 December 2016 and elected to receive her GSK shares under the Non-Executive Directors’ Share Allocation Plan immediately following retirement.

k) Emma Walmsley and Dr Patrick Vallance were appointed to the Board from 1 January 2017.
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Deferred Annual Bonus Plan matching awards

The following tables provide details for each Executive Director in office at 31 December 2016 in respect of DABP matching awards. Market
price at grant and at vesting represent the closing share prices from the business day prior to those dates.

Performance period

Sir Andrew Witty — Shares

2013-2015 2014-2016 2015-2017 2016-2018

Market price at grant £14.54 £16.43 £15.20 £13.59
Unvested at 31 December 2015 35,947 62,857 31,503 -
Granted - - - 40,003

Face value at grant (000) - - - £544
Dividends reinvested 495 4,195 2,103 2,091
Vested (18,757) - - -
Lapsed (22,685) - - -
Unvested at 31 December 2016 - 67,052 33,606 42,094
Dividends reinvested 814 408 511
Vested (22,621) - -
Lapsed (45,245) - -
Unvested at 3 March 2017 - 34,014 42,605
Vested shares
Number of shares 13,757 22,621
Market price at vesting £14.11 £15.95
Gain: (000) (000)

Remuneration for 2015 £194 -

Remuneration for 2016 - £361

i . Performance period
Simon Dingemans - Shares

2013-2015 2014-2016 2015-2017 2016-2018 2017-2019

Market price at grant £14.54 £16.43 £15.20 £13.59 £15.77
Unvested at 31 December 2015 13,611 20,791 15,327 - -
Granted - - - 36,381 -

Face value at grant (000) - - - £494 -
Dividends reinvested 187 1,388 1,023 1,901 -
Vested (5,209) - - - -
Lapsed (8,589) - - - -
Unvested at 31 December 2016 - 22,179 16,350 38,282 -
Granted - - - 29,022

Face value at grant (000) - - - £458
Dividends reinvested 269 198 465 -
Vested (7.483) - - -
Lapsed (14,965) - - -
Unvested at 3 March 2017 - 16,548 38,747 29,022
Vested shares
Number of shares 5,209 7483
Market price at vesting £14.11 £15.95
Gain: (000) (000)

Remuneration for 2015 £73

Remuneration for 2016 - £119
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Performance period

Dr Moncef Slaoui — ADS

2013-2015 2014-2016 2015-2017 2016-2018
Market price at grant $44.27 $54.17 $46.25 $39.13
Unvested at 31 December 2015 18,325 20,073 12,500 -
Granted - - - 20,854
Face value at grant (000) - - - $816
Dividends reinvested 247 1,321 822 1,076
Vested (7011) - - -
Lapsed (11,561) - - -
Unvested at 31 December 2016 - 21,394 13,322 21,930
Dividends reinvested 251 156 257
Vested (7,215) - -
Lapsed (14,430) - -
Unvested at 3 March 2017 - 13,478 22,187
Vested ADS
Number of ADS 7011 7215
Market price at vesting $39.14 $40.57
Gain: (000) (000)
Remuneration for 2015 $274 -
Remuneration for 2016 - $293

Emma Walmsley and Dr Patrick Vallance were appointed to the Board from 1 January 2017. The following table provides details on their DABP

matching awards granted on 15 February 2017.

Granted shares

Emma Walmsley Dr Patrick Vallance

Performance period 2017-2019 2017-2019
Number of shares 31,945 21,632
Market price at grant £15.77 £15.77

Face value at grant (000) £504 £341
Unvested at 3 March 2017 31,945 21,632
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Performance Share Plan awards

The following tables provide details for each Executive Director in office at 31 December 2016 in respect of PSP awards. Market price at
grant and at vesting represent the closing share prices on those dates.

Performance period

Sir Andrew Witty — Shares

2013-2015 2014-2016 2015-2017 2016-2018
Market price at grant £14.54 £16.43 £15.20 £13.59
Unvested at 31 December 2015 505,239 437,051 448,125 -
Granted - - - 492,052
Face value at grant (000) - - - £6,687
Dividends reinvested 6,954 29,171 29,909 25,715
Vested (193,354) - - -
Lapsed (318,839) - - -
Unvested at 31 December 2016 - 466,222 478,034 517767
Dividends reinvested 5,656 5,800 6,282
Vested (157,279) - -
Lapsed (314,599) - -
Unvested at 3 March 2017 - 483,834 524,049
Vested shares:
Number of shares 193,354 157,279
Market price at vesting £13.64 £16.17
Gain: (000) (000)
Remuneration for 2015 £2,637 -
Remuneration for 2016 - £2,543

Performance period

Simon Dingemans — Shares

2013-2015 2014-2016 2015-2017 2016-2018
Market price at grant £14.54 £16.43 £156.20 £13.59
Unvested at 31 December 2015 222312 192,325 197197 -
Granted - - - 216,512
Face value at grant (000) - - - £2,942
Dividends reinvested 3,060 12,836 13,161 11,315
Vested (85,078) - - -
Lapsed (140,294) - - -
Unvested at 31 December 2016 - 205,161 210,358 227827
Dividends reinvested 2,489 2,552 2,764
Vested (69,210) - -
Lapsed (138,440) - -
Unvested at 3 March 2017 - 212,910 230,591
Vested shares:
Number of shares 85,078 69,210
Market price at vesting £13.64 £16.17
Gain: (000) (000)
Remuneration for 2015 £1,160 -

Remuneration for 2016 - £1,119
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Performance Share Plan awards continued

Performance period

Dr Moncef Slaoui — ADS

2013-2015 2014-2016 2015-2017 2016-2018

Market price at grant $44.27 $54.17 $46.25 $39.13
Unvested at 31 December 2015 154,179 128,242 136,751 -
Granted - - - 1568714

Face value at grant (000) - - - $6,210
Dividends reinvested 2,082 8,108 8,996 8,187
Vested (58,989) - - -
Lapsed (97,272) - - -
Unvested at 31 December 2016 - 131,350 145,747 166,901
Dividends reinvested 1,539 1,708 1,955
Vested (44,292) - -
Lapsed (88,597) - -
Unvested at 3 March 2017 - 147,455 168,856
Vested ADS
Number of ADS 58,989 44,292
Market price at vesting $39.76 $40.92
Gain: (000) (000)

Remuneration for 2015 $2,345

Remuneration for 2016 - $1,812
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Directors and Senior Management

Further information is provided on compensation and interests of Directors and Senior Management as a group (‘the group’). For this purpose,
the group is defined as the Non-Executive and Executive Directors, other members of the CET and the Company Secretary. For the financial
year 2016, the following table sets out aggregate remuneration for the group for the periods during which they served in that capacity.

Remuneration for 2016

&)

Total compensation paid
Aggregate increase in accrued pension benefits (net of inflation)
Aggregate payments to defined contribution schemes

24,279,911
184,582
974,193

During 2016, members of the group (and one PCA who is also an employee of GSK) were awarded shares and ADS under the company's

various share plans, as set out in the table below.

Awards Dividend reinvestment awards
Awarded during 2016 Shares ADS Shares ADS
Deferred Annual Bonus Plan 237,822 35,614 33,451 5,281
Performance Share Plan 1,828,527 260,411 323,503 49,964
Deferred Investment Awards® ® - - 13,493 284
Share Value Plan® 11,060 2,300 - -

At 3 March 2017, the group and their PCAs had the following interests in shares and ADS of the company. Holdings issued under the various
executive share plans are described in Note 43 to the financial statements, ‘Employee share schemes’ on page 223.

Interests at 3 March 2017 Shares ADS
Owned 2,262,806 421,300
Unexercised options 179,582 20,170
Deferred Annual Bonus Plan 1,235,336 165,711
Performance Share Plan 3,821,454 708,471
Deferred Investment Awards® © 118,012 23,907
Share Value Plan® 37,132 27,199

(@) Notional shares and ADS.

() Executive Directors are not eligible to receive Deferred Investment Awards or participate in the Share Value Plan.

Other share plans and dilution limits

All-employee share plans
The Executive Directors participate in various all-employee share
plans, including Share Save and Share Reward.

The Share Save Plan is an HM Revenue & Customs approved
plan open to all UK employees. Participants may save up to £250
a month from their net salaries for a fixed term of three years and
at the end of the savings period they have the option to buy GSK
shares at a discount of up to 20% of the market price set at the
launch of each savings contract. Sir Andrew Witty and Simon
Dingemans each contribute £250 and £225 respectively a month
into the Share Save Plan.

The Share Reward Plan is an HM Revenue & Customs approved
plan open to all UK employees on the same terms. Participants
contribute up to £125 a month from their gross salaries to purchase
GSK shares and the company matches the number of GSK shares
bought each month under this arrangement. Sir Andrew Witty and
Simon Dingemans each contribute the maximum of £125 a month
to buy shares under the Share Reward Plan.

Dilution limits

All awards are made under plans which incorporate dilution

limits consistent with the guidelines published by the Investment
Association. These limits are 10% in any rolling ten year period for
all plans and 5% in any rolling ten year period for executive share
plans. Estimated dilution from existing awards made over the last
ten years up to 31 December 2016 is as follows:

All GSK employee share plans  Executive share plans

10

08

06

04

02

M Actual

M Limit
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Implementation of Remuneration policy for 2017

Salary
The Committee determined the following salary increases taking into
account the average increase for the wider workforce:

2017 % change
Wider workforce(!) - 25
Sir Andrew Witty £1,114,500 0
Dr Moncef Slaoui $1,242,100 0
Simon Dingemans £754,000 2.5
Emma Walmsley® £1,003,000 N/A
Dr Patrick Vallance® £780,000 N/A

(1) Based on the average increase budget for employees below the level of CET in the UK.

(2 Effective from appointment to the role of CEO on 1 April 2017 and is 10% lower than
that received by Sir Andrew Witty. Emma Walmsley was appointed to the Board on
1 January 2017 as CEO Designate with a base salary of £850,000.

3) Effective from appointment to the Board on 1 January 2017.

Benefits

No significant changes to the provision of benefits are proposed for
2017. For full details of the policy in relation to benefits, please refer
to the details in the Remuneration policy report on page 138.

Pension
The table below provides an overview of the pension arrangements
for each Executive Director in 2017.
Pension contribution
UK defined benefit
US and Belgian plans

Sir Andrew Witty(
Dr Moncef Slaoui®
Simon Dingemans

20% of base salary in lieu of pension

Emma Walmsley®
Dr Patrick Vallance

200% of base salary and matching contributions

200% of base salary in lieu of pension

(1) Further details provided on page 118.

2 As amember of the defined contribution plan, is eligible to receive a matching award
of up to 5% on the first £33,333 of her salary in accordance with the terms of the plan
(i.e. £1,667).

Annual bonus plan

A number of changes have been made to the operation of the
Annual bonus plan for 2017 to simplify and align it for all
Executive Directors.

— The matching awards have been removed from the Deferred
Annual Bonus Plan (DABP) and the percentage of the bonus
that will be subject to mandatory deferral into shares for a
period of three years has increased from 25% to 50%.

— Financial performance will now be measured by reference
to just one profit related measure, Core Group PBIT, with
operating profit removed as a measure. Group PBIT has
been selected as being the profit measure most aligned to
shareholders.

— The calculation of the bonus will now operate on an additive
basis, with the removal of the Individual Performance Multiplier
and the introduction of a scorecard of individual objectives
aligned to the strategic goals of the business for the year.

Bonus opportunity Weighting of
% of salary performance measures
Core Scorecard
Group of individual
Target Maximum PBIT % objectives %
Emma Walmsley
Simon Dingemans 100 200 70 30

Dr Patrick Vallance

Inevitably, targets linked directly to the financial and strategic plan
are commercially sensitive. The Committee does not consider it
appropriate to disclose annual bonus targets during the year as it
may result in competitive harm. However, details of the performance
targets will be disclosed on a retrospective basis in the 2017 Annual
Report.

As Sir Andrew and Dr Moncef Slaoui will cease to be Executive
Directors during the year, in accordance with the Remuneration
policy they will receive a pro-rata on-target bonus payment for 2017.
The Committee has set role specific objectives for them for this
period. As the two individuals will cease to be Executive Directors
before the new Remuneration policy is approved, the target bonus
opportunities will be as set out in the policy approved by
shareholders in 2014 (i.e. 125% of salary for Sir Andrew and 85%
of salary for Dr Moncef Slaoui).

Legacy awards — matching awards under the DABP

2017 was the last time matching awards were made under the
DABP. These awards relate to 2016 bonus outcomes under the
2014 Remuneration policy.

The table below provides details of the level of participation in the
DABP in respect of 2016 annual bonus payments and associated
matching awards granted.

Sir Andrew Witty and Dr Moncef Slaoui did not receive matching
awards in 2017 as they will cease to be Executive Directors during
the year. However, their 2016 annual bonus payments were subject
to a 25% mandatory deferral.

% of total bonus
deferred into

2017 matching
award (number

shares shares)
Emma Walmsley™ 50 31,945
Simon Dingemans 50 29,022
Dr Patrick Vallance™ 50 21,632

(1) Matching awards based on bonus earned in respect of 2016 prior to appointment
to the Board.

Performance Share Plan (PSP) awards

It is intended that awards under the PSP will be made later in the year
following the approval of the PSP rules at the AGM on 4 May 2017.
No awards will be made in 2017 to Sir Andrew Witty and Dr Moncef
Slaoui. Awards to the remaining Executive Directors will be made at
the following levels.

2017 PSP award

(% of salary)
Emma Walmsley 550
Simon Dingemans 400
Dr Patrick Vallance 500

Performance measures

The metrics for the PSP and DABP matching awards remain
unchanged. The 2017 awards will continue to be based on three
equally weighted measures: R&D new product performance,
adjusted free cash flow and relative TSR.

TSR will continue to be measured against global pharmaceutical
peers. As in prior years, targets for R&D new products are
commercially sensitive at the time of grant. However, the Committee
intends to disclose targets in full following the end of the
performance period. In addition, the Committee will continue to
provide shareholders with interim performance updates for this
element over the course of the performance period. The adjusted
free cash flow targets will be disclosed to shareholders on a
prospective basis at the time of grant, and will thereafter be reported
in the 2017 Annual report on remuneration.
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Implementation of Remuneration policy for 2017 continued

Termination arrangements for Sir Andrew Witty and

Dr Moncef Slaoui

As announced in 2016, both Sir Andrew Witty and Dr Moncef
Slaoui will leave the Board by mutual agreement on 31 March
2017 Dr Moncef Slaoui will remain an employee of the Group until
30 June 2017.

No termination payments will be made to Sir Andrew Witty and
Dr Moncef Slaoui. Defined benefit pension arrangements and

outstanding incentive awards will be treated in accordance with
the Remuneration policy as approved by shareholders in 2014.

Full disclosure of all payments made upon cessation will be included
in the 2017 Annual report on remuneration.

Remuneration element Summary of treatment

2017 Annual bonus Will receive an on-target bonus payment
pro-rated for the proportion of the financial

year worked

2017 PSP award and Will not be granted 2017 PSP awards and no

DABP matching award DABP matching awards will be granted in
respect of their 2016 bonuses
2016 and 2015 PSP Will vest at the normal vesting dates, subject

and DABP matching awards to the achievement of performance conditions
assessed at the end of the performance

periods

2016, 2015 and 2014
deferred bonuses

Awards in respect of bonuses deferred in
respect of prior years will vest at the normal
vesting dates

In addition to the above, both Executive Directors will be required to
maintain a shareholding equal to their respective share ownership
requirements for at least 12 months after leaving the company.

Non-Executive Director fees for 2017
Non-Executive Director fees were reviewed during the year following
the last increase in January 2013.

It was agreed to increase the fees for the Chairmen of the
Remuneration and Corporate Responsibility Committees from
£20,000 to £30,000. The Chairman of the new Science Committee
will also receive a fee of £30,000. All other fees remain unchanged.
A minimum of 25% of fees will continue to be delivered as shares
deferred until the Non-Executive Director steps down from the
Board.
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Remuneration policy review

Our first Remuneration policy was approved by our shareholders

at our AGM on 7 May 2014. As required under the regulations,
shareholders are being asked to approve a new Remuneration policy
at our AGM on 4 May 2017 which it is intended will apply for the
next three financial years.

During 2016, the Committee reviewed the Remuneration policy to
ensure that the Policy continues to:

— Be aligned with best practice;
— Create shareholder value; and

— Drive the success of the company and the delivery of its
business strategy.

In addition, changes to the policy have been made to:

— Further align remuneration arrangements across the senior layers
of the organisation;

— Deliver an appropriately competitive package to attract, retain and
motivate executive talent; and

— Simplify pay arrangements.

The Committee consulted with our largest shareholders in respect of
the proposed changes and took shareholders’ feedback into account
when finalising the revised Remuneration policy. The table below
provides an overview of the main changes that are proposed in
respect of the Remuneration policy.

The full Remuneration policy that shareholders are asked to approve
is set out on pages 138 to 146.

Remuneration element Proposed changes to policy Rationale for the change

Mandatory deferral of Annual bonus — Increased from 25% to 50% of any bonus Alignment with shareholders:
earned. Further aligns executives with the long-term
interests of shareholders.
Simplification of the Annual bonus — Simplify and align structure for all Executive Simplification:
Directors. Consistent approach for all Executive Directors,

— Reduce the level of pay-out for threshold

performance to nil.

that can be clearly communicated.

Pay for performance:
Ensures that higher levels of bonus pay-out are
only received for significant performance.

Annual bonus and Performance Share Plan
(PSP) performance measures

Provide additional flexibility for the Committee
to determine the performance measures used
on an annual basis during the three year life
of the Remuneration policy.

The Committee would consult with
shareholders prior to changing the
performance measures used.

Flexibility:

In the context of the appointment of the new
CEOQ, it is considered appropriate to provide
sufficient flexibility to ensure performance
metrics chosen over the next three years will
remain aligned with the key financial and
strategic objectives of the company.

LTI opportunities

The matching element of the DABP has been
removed.

The maximum LTI opportunity for the CEO
will be reduced from 700% to 650% of
salary.

Simplification:
Going forward, the PSP will be the only
long-term incentive plan that is used.

Reduction in maximum opportunity:

Total LTI opportunity for all Executive Directors
has been reduced. In 2017, the award to the
CEO will be below the maximum opportunity
(550% of salary).

Share Ownership Requirements (SOR)

Formally include the shareholding guidelines
as part of the Remuneration policy.

Increased SOR for CEO to 6.5x salary.

Alignment with shareholders:
To provide further alignment with shareholders.
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Future policy table

Subject to shareholder approval at the company’s AGM on 4 May 2017, the Remuneration Policy for each remuneration element will be as
outlined in the table below.

Salary No material change
Purpose and link to strategy Opportunity
To provide a core reward for the role. There is no formal maximum limit and, ordinarily, salary increases
will be broadly in line with the average increases for the wider GSK

Set at a level appropriate to secure and retain high calibre individuals
needed to deliver the Group's strategic priorities. workforce.
However, increases may be higher to reflect a change in the scope
of the individual's role, responsibilities or experience. Salary
adjustments may also reflect wider market conditions in the

geography in which the individual operates.

Operation

Individual's role, experience, performance and independently
sourced data for relevant comparator groups considered when
determining salary levels.

Details of current salary levels are set out in the Annual report on

Salary increases typically take effect in the first quarter of each year. .
remuneration.

Salaries are normally paid in the currency of the Executive Director's

home country. Performance measures

The overall performance of the individual is a key consideration
when determining salary increases.

Benefits No material change
Purpose and link to strategy role, Executive Directors are also entitled to car travel and may be
Levels are set to recruit and retain high calibre individuals to execute accompanied by their spouse/partner on business trips. Other
the business strategy. benefits include expenses incurred in the ordinary course of
Operation business, which are deemed to be taxable benefits on the individual.
Executive Directors are eligible to receive benefits in line with the Benefit provision is tailored to reflect market practice in the
policy for other employees which may vary by location. These include,  geography in which the Executive Director is based and different
but are not limited to, car allowances, healthcare, life assurance/ policies may apply if current or future Executive Directors are based
death in service (where not provided as part of the individual's in a different country.

pension arrangements), personal financial advice and contractual
post-retirement benefits. In line with the policy for other employees,
Executive Directors may be eligible to receive overseas relocation
allowances and international transfer-related benefits when required.

Opportunity
There is no formal maximum limit as benefits costs can fluctuate
depending on changes in provider cost and individual circumstances.

Executive Directors are also eligible to participate in all-employee Details of current benefits and costs are set out in the Annual report
share schemes (e.g. Share Save and Share Reward Plan), under on remuneration.

which they are subject to the same terms as all other employees. Performance measures

In order to recognise the high business travel requirements of the None.

Pension No material change
Purpose and link to strategy UK:
Pension arrangements provide a competitive level of retirement — 20% of salary contribution to defined contribution plan and further
income. 5% in matched contributions subject to any relevant cap and in
Operation line with implementation principles for other members of the plan;
Pension arrangements are structured in accordance with the plans or o ) -
operated in the country in which the individual is likely to retire. Where ~ — 20% of salary cash payment in lieu of pension contribution.
the individual chooses not to become a member of the pension plan, us:
cash in lieu of the relevant pension contribution is paid instead. Eligible for the same benefits as other US senior executives:
Executive Directors in the UK are entitled either to join the defined — Cash Balance Pension Plan and Supplemental Cash Balance
contribution pension plan or to receive a cash payment in lieu of Pension Plan, including Executive Pension Credit, provide maximum
pension contribution. contribution of 38% of base salary across all pension plans.
Where an individual is a member of a GSK legacy defined benefit — GSK 401(K) plan (formerly the US Retirement Savings Plan) and
plan, a defined contribution plan or an alternative pension plan the Executive Supplemental Savings Plan with core contributions
arrangement and is subsequently appointed to the Board, he or she of 2% of salary and bonus and matched contributions of 4% of
may remain a member of that plan. salary and bonus.
Opportunity Global: ) ) .
The policy for all current Executive Directors and new external — Eligible for appropriate equivalent arrangement not in excess of the

recruits is: US/UK arrangements.

Performance measures
None.
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Future policy table continued

Annual bonus

Purpose and link to strategy
To incentivise and recognise execution of the business strategy
on an annual basis.

Rewards the achievement of stretching annual financial and
strategic business targets and delivery of personal objectives.

Operation

Financial, operational and business targets are set at the start of
the year by the Committee and bonus levels are determined by the
Committee based on performance against those targets.

Individual objectives are set at the start of the year by the Committee
and performance against those objectives is assessed by the
Committee.

Executive Directors are required to defer 50% of any bonus earned
into shares, or ADS as appropriate, for three years.

Deferred bonus shares are eligible for dividend equivalents up to
the date of vesting.

Change

The Committee may apply judgement in making appropriate
adjustments to bonus outcomes to ensure they reflect underlying
business performance.

Clawback and/or malus provisions apply as described on page 140.

Opportunity
The maximum bonus opportunity for Executive Directors is 200% of
salary. For threshold performance, the bonus pay-out will be nil.

For target performance, the bonus payout will be 50% of the
maximum opportunity.

Performance measures

Based on a combination of financial targets and individual/strategic
performance objectives, with the majority of the bonus assessed
against the financial measures. The weighting between different
measures will be determined each year according to business
priorities.

Further details, including the measures to be used in the financial
year, are provided in the Annual report on remuneration.

Selection of annual bonus measures

The annual bonus is designed to drive the achievement of GSK's
annual financial and strategic business targets and the delivery of
personal objectives.

Performance Share Plan (PSP)

The majority of the annual bonus opportunity is based on a formal
review of performance against stretching financial targets with the
remainder of the bonus subject to a balanced scorecard of strategic
and individual targets which are aligned to the company’s key
objectives for that financial year.

Change

Purpose and link to strategy

To incentivise and recognise delivery of the longer term business
priorities, financial growth and increases in shareholder value
compared to other pharmaceutical companies.

In addition, to provide alignment with shareholder interests, a
retention element, to encourage long-term shareholding and
discourage excessive risk taking.

Operation

Conditional awards are made annually with vesting dependent on
the achievement of performance conditions over three years and
are subject to an additional two-year holding period.

Awards are eligible for dividend equivalents up to the date of
vesting and release.

The Committee may adjust the formulaic vesting outcome (either
up or down) to ensure that the overall outcome reflects underlying
business performance over the vesting period.

Clawback and/or malus provisions apply as described on page 140.

Opportunity
The normal maximum award limits that may be granted under the
PSP to an individual in any one year are set out in the table below:

In 2017, the award to the CEO will be 550% of salary.
% of salary

CEO 650
CFO 400
Other Executive Directors 500

Performance measures

Based on a combination of financial, share price related and
strategic performance conditions which are aligned to the
company'’s strategic plan. Up to 30% of awards will vest at
threshold performance. Further details, including the performance
targets attached to the PSP in respect of each year, are provided
in the Annual report on remuneration.

Selection of long-term incentive measures

The Committee selects performance measures which focus
Executive Directors’ long-term remuneration on the delivery of GSK's
key strategic priorities over the longer term. In addition to setting
robust targets, the Committee has implemented a number of
safeguards to ensure the targets are met in a sustainable way and
performance reflects genuine achievement against targets and
therefore represents the delivery of value for shareholders.

For each performance measure, the impact of any acquisition or
divestment will be quantified and adjusted for after the event.

Any major adjustment in the calculation of performance measures will
be disclosed to shareholders on vesting. The Chairman of the Audit
and Risk Committee and other members, who are also members of
the Remuneration Committee, provide input on the Audit & Risk
Committee's review of the Group's performance and oversight of

any risk factors relevant to remuneration decisions.

Details of the rationale behind the performance measures selected
and how they are calculated are set out in the Annual report on
remuneration.
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Future policy table continued

Legacy arrangements — Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (DABP) Removed from 2017 onwards
Purpose Performance measures
To incentivise and recognise delivery of longer term business Outstanding matching awards are subject to the same measures as
priorities and to provide alignment with shareholder interests and awards made under the PSP in any given year.
encourage long-term shareholding. Further details of outstanding awards are provided on pages 122
Operation and maximum opportunity and 135 of the Annual report on remuneration. No matching awards
For bonus payments up to and including the bonus in respect will be made under the DABP in respect of bonus from 2017
of 2016, Executive Directors were required to defer 25% of onwards.

any bonus earned into shares for three years. They could also
voluntarily defer up to an additional 25% of any bonus earned.

These deferred shares were matched up to a maximum of 1:1 subject
to the achievement of performance conditions over three years.
Matching awards were conditional shares or nil-cost options and
eligible for dividend equivalents.

Share Ownership Requirements Increase in requirement for CEOQ
To align the interests of Executive Directors with those of Executive Directors are also required to continue to satisfy these
shareholders, they are required to build and maintain significant requirements for a minimum of 12 months following retirement from
holdings of shares in GSK over time. The requirements for each the company.

Executive Director are as follows:

% salary
CEO 650
Other Executive Directors 300

Clawback and malus No change

In the event of a ‘triggering event’ (e.g. significant misconduct by way  In respect of each financial year, the Remuneration Committee will
of violation of regulation, law, or a significant GSK policy, such as the  disclose whether it (or the Recoupment Committee) has exercised
Code of Conduct), the company will have the ability to claw back up clawback or malus. Disclosure will only be made when the matter has

to three years’ annual and deferred bonuses as well as vested and been subject to public reports of misconduct, where it has been fully
unvested LTls. In addition, if a participant in the new 2017 PSP or resolved, where it is legally permissible to disclose and where it can
DABP, which shareholders are asked to approve at the 2017 AGM, be made without unduly prejudicing the company and therefore

is subject to an investigation, then the vesting of their awards may be  shareholders.

delayed until the outcome of that investigation. Additionally, where there has been continuity of responsibility

A separate Recoupment Committee has been established to between initiation of an adverse event and its emergence as a
investigate relevant claims of misconduct. The Recoupment problem, the adverse event should be taken into account in
Committee exercises this authority for the wider employee base. assessing annual bonus awards and LTI vesting levels in the year
It comprises of senior executives with relevant oversight and the problem is identified and for future periods. The Remuneration
appropriate experience, including the Senior Vice President, Global Committee (or Recoupment Committee) may make appropriate
Ethics and Compliance, and the Senior Vice President & General adjustments to individual annual bonuses as well as grant and

Counsel. vesting levels of LTl awards to reflect this.
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Approach to recruitment remuneration

The Committee determines the remuneration package of new
Executive Directors on a case-by-case basis depending on the
role, the market from which they will operate and their experience.
Total remuneration levels will be set by reference to a relevant pay
comparator group and, where appropriate, will allow for future
development in the role.

It is expected that new Executive Directors will participate in short
and long-term incentive plans on the same basis as existing directors.
However, in exceptional circumstances, the Committee reserves the
flexibility to set the incentive limit for a new Executive Director at up

to an additional 50% of the existing limits.

The Committee retains this flexibility in recognition of the high
levels of variable pay in GSK's global pharmaceutical competitors.
However, the Committee will only use this flexibility when it is
considered to be in the best interests of the company and its
investors.

Pension arrangements for any external recruit as an Executive
Director will be as set out in the Remuneration policy table on
page 138.

Other benefits will be provided in line with the policy for existing
Executive Directors.

Where required to meet business needs, relocation support
will be provided in line with company policy.

For any internal appointments, entitlements under existing
remuneration elements will continue, including pension
entitlements and any outstanding awards. However, where not
already the case, internal appointments will be required to move
to Executive Director contractual terms, including termination
provisions.

The Committee is mindful of the sensitivity relating to recruitment
packages and, in particular, the ‘buying out’ of rights relating to
previous employment. It will therefore seek to minimise such
arrangements. However, in certain circumstances, to enable the
recruitment of exceptional talent, the Committee may determine
that such arrangements are in the best interests of the company
and its shareholders. Such arrangements will, where possible,
be on a like-for-like basis with the forfeited remuneration terms.
Arrangements will therefore vary depending on the plans and
arrangements put in place by the previous employer and may be
in the form of cash or shares and may or may not be subject to
performance conditions. Explanations will be provided where
payments are made as compensation for previous remuneration
forfeited.

The remuneration arrangements for any newly appointed Executive
Director will be disclosed as soon as practicable after the
appointment.

The following policy and principles apply to the roles of Chairman
and Non-Executive Director.

Chairman

Fees will be set at a level that is competitive with those paid by
other companies of equivalent size and complexity. Fees will be
paid partly in shares.

Non-Executive Directors

Fee levels for new Non-Executive Directors will be set on the

same basis as for existing Non-Executive Directors of the company.
Subject to local laws and regulations, fees will be paid partly in
shares.

In the event of a Non-Executive Director with a different role and
responsibilities being appointed, fee levels will be benchmarked and
set by reference to comparable roles in companies of equivalent size
and complexity.
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Loss of office payment policy

The company does not have a policy of fixed term contracts. Generally, Notice period on termination by the employing company or the
contracts for new appointments will expire in line with the applicable Executive Director is 12 calendar months.

policy on retirement age, which since 2009 has been 65. The ability to impose a 12-month non-compete period (and a
Contracts for existing Executive Directors will expire on the dates shown non-solicitation restriction) on an Executive Director is considered
on page 124. important by the company to have the ability to protect the Group's

intellectual property and staff. In light of this, the Committee
believes that it would not be appropriate to provide for mitigation

. in the contracts.
Termination of employment

In the event that an Executive Director's emplovment with the company terminates, the followina policies and pavments will apply.

Element of
Remuneration Loss of office payment policy
Termination payment Termination by notice: 12 months’ annual salary payable on termination by the company (pro-rated where part of the notice period is
worked). No termination payment is made in respect of any part of a notice period that extends beyond the contract expiry date.
A bonus element is not normally included in the termination payment. However, the terms of the contracts seek to balance commercial
imperatives and best practice.
Redundancy: As above, for termination by notice. In the UK only statutory redundancy pay will apply. In the US, general severance
policy does not apply.
Retirement, death and ill-health, injury or disability: No termination payment.
LTl awards PSP and DABP matching awards are governed by the plan rules as approved by shareholders. For awards made prior to the
approval of the 2017 PSP and DABP rules, the following provisions will normally apply:
Termination by notice: Unvested awards will lapse.
Redundancy and retirement: Generally, awards will continue to vest over the original timescales, subject to the original performance
conditions. Awards made in the last 12 months are forfeited.
Death, ill-health, injury, disability or any other reason: Generally, performance will be assessed following the end of the financial
year in which cessation of employment occurs and awards will vest up to 12 months following cessation. Awards may be pro-rated
for time.
For awards made under the approved rules of the 2017 PSP, the following provisions will normally apply:
Termination by notice: Unvested awards will lapse.
Redundancy, retirement, death, ill-health, injury, disability or any other reason: Generally, awards will continue to vest over the
original timescales subject to performance and pro-rated for time.
In the event of a change of control, PSP and DABP matching awards will vest, taking into account performance to date and normally
taking into account the proportion of the performance period that has elapsed. Alternatively, the awards may be exchanged for new
awards.
Annual bonus Termination by notice by individual: If an individual serves notice and the termination date falls before 31 December, the bonus is
forfeited.
Termination by notice by the company, redundancy, retirement, death, ill-health, injury or disability: If the termination date falls
during the financial year, eligible for pro-rated on-target bonus (if employed on 31 December, bonus payable based on actual results).
DABP deferred DABP deferred bonus awards are governed by the plan rules as approved by shareholders. For awards made prior to the approval of
bonus awards the 2017 DABP rules, the following provisions will normally apply:
Termination by notice: Awards will vest in full on the date of termination or original vesting date as determined at the date of grant
Redundancy, retirement, death, ill-health, injury, disability or any other reason: Generally, awards will vest in full on the original
vesting date.
For awards made under the approved rules of the 2017 DABP, the following provisions will normally apply:
Termination for gross misconduct: Generally, unvested awards will lapse
Any other reason: Generally, awards will vest in full on the original vesting date.
In the event of a change of control, awards will vest or may be exchanged for new awards.
Benefits Generally, benefits will continue to apply until the termination date. The Committee may make payments in connection with an existing

legal obligation or in respect of any claim related to the cessation of employment. This may include fees for outplacement assistance,
legal and/or professional advice.

Termination by notice by the company and retirement (US executives): In line with the policy applicable to US senior executives,
the Chairman, Global Vaccines may become eligible, at a future date, to receive continuing medical and dental insurance after
termination/retirement.

Termination by mutual agreement

In certain circumstances, it can be in the best interests of the company for the Board to manage proactively succession planning and the development of the
senior talent pipeline. In such circumstances, the Board may therefore agree that an Executive's departure will be by mutual agreement. In order for this to apply,
the Committee will need to be satisfied that the Executive has demonstrated performance in line with expectations, where required they should have contributed
to an orderly succession, and they should have completed at least 20 years' service with the Group on the termination date. In the case of an Executive Director,
they would then be treated as a ‘good leaver’ for the purposes of GSK's long-term incentive plans. If the termination date falls during the financial year, they
would be eligible for a pro-rated on-target bonus and if they are employed on 31 December, the bonus payable would be based on actual results.
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Loss of office payment policy continued

The Committee does not anticipate the exercise of discretion
provided by the PSP and DABP plan rules in respect of termination
payments in a manner which would benefit an Executive Director.
However, there may be unforeseen circumstances where this is in
the best interests of the company and its shareholders. Where it

is necessary to exercise discretion, explanations will be provided.

Where an Executive Director leaves the company, the Committee
will carry out an assessment of the individual's performance and
conduct over the time in role. If it is determined that the individual's
performance or conduct was contrary to the legitimate expectations
of the company, the Committee reserves the right to apply
appropriate mechanisms such as clawback or reduction or lapsing
of outstanding incentive awards (malus), to ensure that any
termination payments are in the best interests of the company

and its shareholders (see page 140).

Differences between remuneration policy for Executive Directors and other employees

When setting remuneration levels for the Executive Directors,

the Committee considers the prevailing market conditions,

the competitive environment (through comparison with the
remuneration of executives at companies of similar size, complexity
and international reach) and the positioning and relativities of pay
and employment conditions across the broader GSK workforce.

In particular, the Committee considers the range of base salary rises
for the workforces of those parts of GSK where the Executive
Directors are employed. This is considered to be the most relevant
comparison as these populations reflect most closely the economic
environments encountered by the individuals.

The same principles apply to the Remuneration policy for Executive
Directors and other employees although the remuneration offered
to Executive Directors under this policy has a stronger emphasis
on performance-related pay than that offered to other employees
of the Group.

— Salary and benefits (including pension) are tailored to the local
market.

— The annual bonus plan applies to the wider employee population
and is based on business and individual performance.

— A combination of performance-related and restricted share plans
apply to the wider employee population.

— All-employee share plans are available to employees in the UK,
including the HM Revenue & Customs approved UK Share Save
and Share Reward Plans.

While employees are not formally consulted in respect of the
Remuneration policy, the company conducts regular employee
surveys which include feedback on remuneration matters.

In the wider organisation, we have aligned our performance

and reward systems with our values and since 2014, our
performance system formally evaluates employees on both ‘what’
they need to do and ‘how’ they do it. Also, for our most senior
people we dis-incentivise unethical working practices using a
clawback mechanism that allows us to recover performance-
related pay.
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Scenarios for future total remuneration

The charts opposite provide illustrations of the future total
remuneration for each of the Executive Directors in respect of the
remuneration opportunity granted to each of them in 2017 under the
policy. A range of potential outcomes is provided for each Executive
Director and the underlying assumptions are set out below.

All scenarios:
— 2017 base salary has been used.

— 2016 benefits and pension figures have been used for the CFO,
i.e. based on actual amounts received in 2016 in respect of the
ongoing policy. As the new CEO and President, R&D were not in
role during 2016, the benefits value for each is based on the value
of benefits (excluding pensions) provided in 2016 to the current
CEO and CFO respectively.

— The amounts shown under value of PSP awards are based on
the relevant multiples for 2017. They do not include amounts in
respect of dividends reinvested and do not factor in changes to
share price over the vesting period.

Fixed:
— None of the pay for performance (annual bonus and PSP) would
be payable.

Expected:
— For the annual bonus, it is assumed that target performance is
achieved.

— For the PSP awards, threshold levels of vesting are assumed.

Maximum:

— It is assumed that the annual bonus would be payable at the
maximum level and that the awards under the PSP would vest
in full.

Emma Walmsley, new CEO (£000)

10,000
£8.85m
0
6000 62%
6,000
4,000 £3.80m
39% 23%
2,000 £1.33m 26%
- 100% 350 15%
0
Fixed Expected Maximum
Simon Dingemans, CFO (£000)
6,000 £5.52m
55%
4,000
£2.56m
2,000 31%
£1.0m 30% 7%
Fixed Expected Maximum
Dr Patrick Vallance, President, R&D (£000)
8,000
£6.49m
6,000 60%
4,000
£2.85m
2,000 37% 24%
£1.08m 27%
0 ) 9
. -100/0 36% 16%
Fixed Expected Maximum
M Fixedpay ~ M Annualbonus B PSP
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Operation

Chairman’s fees

To provide an inclusive flat rate fee that is
competitive with those paid by other

companies of equivalent size and complexity

subject to the limits contained
in GSK’s Articles of Association.

There is no formal maximum. However, fees are reviewed annually and set by reference
to a review of the Chairman’s performance and independently sourced market data.

The Committee is responsible for evaluating and making recommendations to the Board
on the fees payable to the Chairman. The Chairman does not participate in discussions in
respect of his fees.

Fees can be paid in a combination of cash and/or GSK shares or ADS via the Non-Executive
Directors’ Share Allocation Plan.

As with the Chairman, fees are reviewed annually and set by reference to independently
sourced data.

The Chairman and CEO are responsible for evaluating and making recommendations to the
Board on the fees payable to the company's Non-Executive Directors.

A minimum of 25% is delivered in the form of GSK shares or ADS. Using the Non-Executive
Directors’ Share Allocation Plan which delivers the shares or ADS to the Non-Executive

Basic fees As above Director following retirement from the Board.
To compensate Non-Executive Directors
(other than the Chairman) for taking on
Supplemental additional Board responsibilities or Additional fees for Committee Chairmen, the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director,
fees undertaking intercontinental travel. Science and Medical Experts and intercontinental travel.
Travel and subsistence costs for Non-Executive Directors are incurred in the normal course of
business in relation to meetings on Board and Committee matters and other GSK-hosted
events. For overseas-based Non-Executive Directors, this includes travel to meetings in the
UK. In the event it is necessary for business purposes, whilst not normal practice, Non-
Executive Directors may be accompanied by their spouse or partner to these meetings or
events. The costs associated with the above are all met by the company and, in some
To facilitate execution of responsibilities and instances, they are deemed to be taxable and therefore treated as benefits for the Non-
Benefits duties required by the role. Executive Director.
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Remuneration policy report continued

Operation and scope of Remuneration policy

The proposed Remuneration policy (Policy) is set out on pages 138
to 146 of the 2016 Annual Report and it is intended that the Policy
for GSK's Executive and Non-Executive Directors will apply from
the close of the company’s Annual General Meeting on 4 May 2017
after it has been submitted by the Committee for approval by
shareholders.

The Committee has written this Policy principally in relation to the
remuneration arrangements for the Executive Directors, whilst taking
into account the possible recruitment of a replacement or an
additional Executive Director during the operation of this Policy.

The Committee intends this Policy to operate for the period set out
above in its entirety. However, it may after due consideration, seek
to change the Policy during this period, but only if it believes it is
appropriate to do so for the long-term success of the company,
after consultation with shareholders and having sought shareholder
approval at a general meeting.

The Committee reserves the right to make any remuneration
payments and/or payments for loss of office (including exercising
any discretions available to it in connection with such payments)
notwithstanding that they are not in line with the Policy set out
above where the terms of the payment were agreed:

(i) before the AGM on 7 May 2014 (the date the company's first
shareholder-approved Directors’ Remuneration Policy came into
effect);

(ii) before the Policy set out above came into effect, provided that the
terms of the payment were consistent with the shareholder-approved
Remuneration policy in force at the time they were agreed; or

(iii) at a time when the relevant individual was not a Director of the
company and, in the opinion of the Committee, the payment was
not in consideration for the individual becoming a Director of the
company. For these purposes ‘payments’ includes the Committee
satisfying awards of variable remuneration and, in relation to an
award over shares or ADS, the terms of the payment are ‘agreed’
at the time the award is granted.

Performance Share Plan and Deferred Annual Bonus Plan awards
are subject to the terms of the relevant plan rules under which the
award has been granted. The Committee may adjust or amend
awards only in accordance with the provisions of the plan rules.
This includes making adjustments to reflect one-off corporate
events, such as a change in the company’s capital structure.

The Committee may also make minor amendments to the Policy

set out in this report (for regulatory, exchange control, tax or
administrative purposes or to take account of a change in legislation)
without obtaining shareholder approval for such amendments.

Statement of consideration of shareholder views

The Committee engages in regular dialogue with shareholders and
holds annual meetings with GSK's largest investors to discuss and
take feedback on its Remuneration Policy and governance matters.

The annual meetings were held in December 2016, at which Urs
Rohner, the Committee Chairman, shared updates on remuneration
matters in the last 12 months and proposals for 2017 onwards.
Further shareholder consultations were carried out in February

and March 2017 by the Committee Chairman on the proposed
Remuneration policy. The Committee took into account the feedback
from shareholders in determining the Policy which shareholders are
being asked to approve at the AGM on 4 May 2017.

Basis of preparation

The Directors’ Remuneration Report has been prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and The Large and
Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports)
(Amendment) Regulations 2013 (the Regulations). In accordance
with the Regulations, the following parts of the Annual Report on
Remuneration are subject to audit: total remuneration figures for
Executive Directors including further details for each element of
remuneration (salary, benefits, pension, annual bonus and long-term
incentive awards); Non-Executive Directors’ fees and emoluments
received in the year; Directors’ interests in shares, including interests
in GSK share plans; payments to past Directors; payments for loss of
office; and share ownership requirements and holdings, for which the
opinion thereon is expressed on page 156. The remaining sections
of the Directors’ Remuneration Report are not subject to audit nor
are the pages referred to from within the audited sections.

The Directors’ Remuneration Report has been approved by the
Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Urs Rohner
Remuneration Committee Chairman
13 March 2017
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Directors’ statement of responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,
the Remuneration report and the Group financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

UK company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors

are required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted
by the European Union. In preparing the Group financial statements,
the Directors have also elected to comply with IFRS as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Under company
law the Directors must not approve the Group financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group and its profit or loss for that period.

In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are
required to:

— select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

— make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

— state that the Group financial statements comply with IFRS as
adopted by the European Union and IFRS as issued by the IASB,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
Group financial statements; and

— prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless
it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue in
business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time

the financial position of the Group and to enable them to ensure that
the Group financial statements and the Remuneration report comply
with the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Group financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2016, comprising principal statements and supporting notes,

are set out in ‘Financial statements’ on pages 158 to 231 of this
report. The responsibilities of the auditors in relation to the Group
financial statements are set out in the Independent Auditors’ report
on pages 149 to 157.

The Group financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2016 are included in the Annual Report, which is published in
printed form and made available on our website. The Directors are
responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Annual Report
on our website in accordance with UK legislation governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements. Access to
the website is available from outside the UK, where comparable
legislation may be different.

Each of the current Directors, whose names and functions are listed
in the Corporate Governance section of the Annual Report 2016
confirms that, to the best of his or her knowledge:

— the Group financial statements, which have been prepared
in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and IFRS
as issued by the IASB, give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group; and

— the Strategic report and risk sections of the Annual Report,
which represent the management report, include a fair review of
the development and performance of the business and the position
of the Group, together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that it faces.

Disclosure of information to auditors
The Directors in office at the date of this Annual Report have each
confirmed that:

— so far as he or she is aware, there is no relevant audit information
of which the company’s auditors are unaware; and

— he or she has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken
as a Director to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware
of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance
with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Going concern basis

Pages 53 to 78 contain information on the performance of the
Group, its financial position, cash flows, net debt position and
borrowing facilities. Further information, including Treasury risk
management policies, exposures to market and credit risk and
hedging activities, is given in Note 42 to the financial statements,
‘Financial instruments and related disclosures’. Having assessed the
principal risks and other matters considered in connection with the
viability statement, the Directors considered it appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial
statements.

Internal control

The Board, through the Audit & Risk Committee, has reviewed the
assessment of risks and the internal control framework that operates
in GSK and has considered the effectiveness of the system of
internal control in operation in the Group for the year covered by

this Annual Report and up to the date of its approval by the Board

of Directors.

The UK Corporate Governance Code

The Board considers that GlaxoSmithKline plc applies the principles
and complies with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance
Code maintained by the Financial Reporting Council, as described

in the Corporate Governance section on pages 80 to 110. The Board
further considers that the Annual Report, taken as a whole, is fair,
balanced and understandable, and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group'’s position and
performance, business model and strategy.

As required by the Financial Conduct Authority’s Listing Rules,

the auditors have considered the Directors’ statement of compliance
in relation to those points of the UK Corporate Governance Code
which are specified for their review.

Annual Report

The Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2016,
comprising the Report of the Directors, the Remuneration report,
the Financial statements and additional information for investors, has
been approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by

Philip Hampton
Chairman

13 March 2017
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to the members of GlaxoSmithKline plc

Report on the Group financial statements

Our opinion
In our opinion, GlaxoSmithKline plc's Group financial statements:

— give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs at 31
December 2016 and of its profit and cash flows for the year then
ended;

— have been properly prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRSs") as adopted by the
European Union; and

— have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Separate opinion in relation to IFRSs as issued by the IASB

As explained in note 1 to the Group financial statements, the Group,
in addition to applying IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,
has also applied IFRSs as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB).

In our opinion, the Group financial statements comply with IFRSs as
issued by the IASB.

What we have audited
The Group financial statements, included within the Annual Report,
comprise:

— the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2016;

— the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement
of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

— the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended;

— the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended; and

— the notes to the Group financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the
Annual Report, rather than in the notes to the financial statements.
These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are
identified as audited.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the
preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law and
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and applicable law.

Our audit approach

Context

The context of our audit is set by the Group's activities in 2016.
Having reduced the extent of finance transformation in 2015 because
of the completion of the three-part transaction with Novartis, the
Group increased the pace of change in 2016, with a number of
markets migrating onto the Group’s common enterprise-wide
resource planning platforms (ERP’) or moving financial transaction
processing and accounting services to business process
outsourcing locations (‘BPQ’) and to in-house business service
centres (‘BSC’) as well as establishing two new BPOs in Europe and
one in Asia. The Group also migrated to a new consolidation platform
(BISON) and implemented a new system for tracking intercompany
inventory transfers and calculating intra-group unrealised profit in
inventory (IPT). As a result, transformation of the Group's finance
processes is included as an area of focus in our 2016 report.

In addition, the Group has made certain changes in 2016 to its
agreements with Pfizer and Shionogi in respect of the non-controlling
interest each holds in ViiV Healthcare. These changes, together with
remeasurements to ViiV and other acquisition-related liabilities, had a
significant impact on the corresponding accounting and valuation
judgements and have therefore also been included as an area of focus.

Our other areas of focus have been refined to reflect developments
in the Group’s business including continued competitive pricing
pressure and discounting in the US and the resolution of the
investigation into the Group’s commercial practices by the SEC-DoJ.

Overview

Materiality

— Overall group materiality: £260 million which represents 4%
of profit before tax adding back certain items (‘adjusted profit
before tax’) (2015 — £200 million).

Audit scope

— Our audit included full scope audits of 15 reporting components
with specific audit procedures performed at a further 45 reporting
components.

— Taken together, the components at which audit work was
performed accounted for 71% of consolidated revenue, 71% of
consolidated profit before tax and 73% of adjusted profit before
tax and covered all components that individually contributed more
than 2% of revenue, profit before tax and adjusted profit before tax.

Areas of focus
— Rebates, discounts, allowances and returns in the US
Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines business

— Carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets

— Acquisition-related liabilities

— Uncertain tax positions

— Litigation

— Finance transformation

— Investigations into the Group's commercial practices

The scope of our audit and our areas of focus
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (‘1SAs (UK & Ireland)).

We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing
the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. In
particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective
judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting
estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future
events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also
addressed the risk of management override of internal controls,
including evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the
directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to
fraud, and the risk of fraud in revenue recognition. Procedures
designed and executed to address these risks included use of data
enabled auditing techniques t